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H.R. 3703—THE HOUSING FINANCE
REGULATORY IMPROVEMENT ACT—PART I

WEDNESDAY, MARCH 22, 2000

U.S. House of Representatives,
Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Securities,

AND Government Sponsored Enterprises,
Committee on Banking and Financial Services,

Washington, DC.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 10:05 a.m., in room

2128, Raybum House Office Building, Hon. Richard H. Baker,
[chairman of the subcommittee], presiding.

Present: Chairman Baker; Representatives Leach (ex officio),

Lucas, Jones, Ryan, Sweeney, Biggert, Terry, Roukema, Cook,
Riley, Kanjorski, Velazquez, Bentsen, Weygand, Waters, C.

Maloney of New York, J. Maloney of Connecticut, Hooley, Jones,
Capuano, Hill, and Vento.
Chairman BAKER. I would like to call the Subcommittee on Cap-

ital Markets of the House Banking Committee to order. The pur-
pose of our hearing today is to receive testimony from regulators
of the Government Sponsored Enterprises and to consider the im-

plications of H.R. 3703, legislation introduced intended to enact a
new regulatory format for Government Sponsored Enterprises. I

think it appropriate at the outset to set the circumstance in which
this hearing will be conducted, at least from my perspective.

It is not held with a belief that the current financial condition
of Government Sponsored Enterprises is in any way in jeopardy.
They have enjoyed tremendous economic opportunity over the last

decade. All are well funded, all are well managed, and all operate
very successfully in today's marketplace. This hearing is not an at-

tack on Government Sponsored Enterprises. I believe that if they
conform to the mission statement in their charter, they provide a
valuable public service.

It is not an effort to create or enact an unwarranted, unneeded,
complicated regulatory scheme. It is, however, an effort to insure
there is competent regulation on the activities of these enormous
£ind extremely complex entities. I would point out that in 1992, the

Congress acted with the creation of the office of OFHEO and re-

quired that entity to construct a stress test for the sole purpose of

determining capital adequacy of these enterprises.
Regrettably, as we meet here today eight years later, that stress

test has not yet been implemented. My understanding is that one
GSE has actually asked for a two-year extension to consider the po-
tential implications of the implementation of that stress test. I am
still learning a great deal about the GSEs, but know the basics
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about finance. Whenever I go in for a loan, the bank examines my
personal statement, my collateral, makes a very difficult decision

and then, at some future point, extends the credit, but capital and
financial condition come first.

I find the GSE circumstance to be just the opposite. Since 1992,
when we said as a Congress "establish a method to identify and es-

tablish if capital adequacy is there," over $2 trillion of debt has
been extended by the GSEs as we are here today, and we still can-
not objectively determine whether by regulator analysis whether
the GSEs are adequately capitalized. That is unacceptable. This

hearing will be followed by others. There will be no intent to rush
to judgment. I certainly hope that there will be constructive sug-
gestions to follow from all interested parties as to how this can best
be constructed and certainly understand that our modest proposal
can be perfected in a number of ways.

I am particularly pleased this morning that the Chairman of the
full committee, Jim Leach, has joined us and I would like to recog-
nize the Chairman at this time for any remarks he would like to

make.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Richard H. Baker can be found

on page 138 in the appendix.]
Mr. Leach. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think your hearing out-

line is very thoughtful. These are issues that Congress has an obli-

gation to review on a continual basis. We set up the housing GSEs
for a public purpose. They have served the purpose, in many re-

gards, very well, but one of the real questions we all have to think

through is what are the rules at any given point in time. And there
are issues of stress tests that this subcommittee should review.
There are also issues of competitive advantages in the market-

place even if one accepts the stress test that has been put on the
table, because even with that stress test, the housing GSEs can le-

verage capital more than their competitors. This gives them an
enormous competitive advantage in the marketplace on leveraged
capital, as well as on the simple fact that they can, particularly at

given points in time, purchase capital for less than their competi-
tors.

Issues have been raised, as the Chairman well knows, about the
role of these GSEs and the total debt that they are issuing relative
to Treasury bills. The Chairman has indicated and set out charts

showing that at a possible point in time in the next three or four

years, there will be more housing GSE debt than Treasury debt.
But I would like to stress a second issue and that is that competi-
tors of GSEs—commercial banks—are now holding, on the average,
housing GSE securities almost equal to their capital.
And that means, if you think of the too-big-to-fail doctrine, that

if one of these GSEs fails, the Government is in an awkward posi-
tion that will have a gigantic rippling effect on the banking system.
This is another reason why prudential levels of capital have to be
looked at very carefully. Now we are all fortunate as a society that
these are well-run institutions. If they were not well run, we would
be in a real pickle. And so we have to congratulate the leadership
ofboth of these GSEs.
And, finally, I would just conclude by saying that one of the les-

sons in the last decade appears to be that the powers that these
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institutions have been given, coupled with the excellent manage-
ment of the institutions, means that if they expand their authori-
ties beyond the housing area, they have advantages in those areas.
That raises the whole question of mission and that is something
that I am pleased that your subcommittee has decided to look at

carefully.

Anjrway, I want to thank you for your very thoughtful leadership.
Whether one agrees or not from any Member's perspective with
conclusions that you have drawn in the bill that I co-sponsored
with you, the fact is as a committee these are issues that just de-
mand review, and frankly, on a continual basis. Thank you, sir.

Chairman Baker. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. I do

very much appreciate your willingness to co-sponsor the measure
and would also point out that Senator Phil Gramm, the Chairman
of the Senate Banking Committee, has commented that this is just
a modest first step, but in only the way that Senator Gramm can
say it. We are stumbling along over here tr3dng to get it right, and
I think we look forward to working with the Senator as well on his
areas of concern and coming to some conclusions in this, but thank
you for your interest and your support.
Mr. Kanjorski.
Mr. Kanjorksi. Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to

speak briefly about H.R. 3703, the Housing Finance Regulatory Im-

provement Act, the subject of today's hearing. Let me begin my re-

marks by once again commending the Chairman for his leadership.
In H.R. 3703, he has developed a legislative proposal certain to pro-
voke considerable public debate about the future regulation of the

housing Grovemment Sponsored Enterprises, or GSEs.
He has also focused our subcommittee in recent years on a num-

ber of public policy issues affecting the operations of GSEs. Last

year, for example, I worked closely with him to finally enact legis-
lation to reform the operations and mission of the Federal Home
Loan Bank System. Additionally, as a result of the Chairman's ini-

tiative, our subcommittee held several hearings in the 105th Con-
gress on the effectiveness of the Office of Federal Housing Enter-

prise Oversight, the Department of Housing and Urban Develop-
ment, and the Federal Housing Finance Board in pursuing their re-

spective mission compliance oversight and safety and soundness
supervision objectives.
The Chairman also requested and received a series of reports

from the (General Accounting Office about the operations of the cur-
rent GSE regulators. Then, after building a substantial legislative

history about the performance of the GSE supervisors, the Chair-
man introduced H.R. 3703 in the 106th Congress, a bill designed,
among other things, to create a single overseer for the housing
GSEs.
From my perspective, we need to have strong, independent regu-

lators that have the resources they need to get the job done. More-
over, as one of the few remaining Members of the subcommittee
who experienced the Congressional battle to resolve the savings
and loan crisis, I am acutely aware of the need to protect taxpayers
from risk. It is in the public's interest that we maintain a strong
regulatory regime over Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal



Home Loan Banks. I am, therefore, pleased that our current GSE
regulators are operating increasingly more effectively.

Additionally, our Nation's current system for housing finance is

not only extremely successful, but it is also the envy of the world.

Almost 67 percent of Americans own the homes in which they live.

This success, however, should not stop us from asking whether and
how we can do a better job of increasing home ownership rates. We
should always examine ways by which we can lower mortgage rates

and improve regulatory efficiency.
That said, we should move forward cautiously in this area. The

Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act
of 1992 is only now beginning to produce its intended results. By
the end of this year, OFHEO hopes to finalize its djmamic risk-

based capital standard for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. That rule

will further help to protect taxpayers against systemic risk. HUD
will also complete its work on updating the affordable housing
goals for the two enterprises. These goals, as I understand, will

force the GSEs to aggressively increase lending in underserved
areas. Finally, the Finance Board is developing the many regu-
latory changes needed to implement the Federal Home Loan Bank
Modernization Act of 1999. The creation of a single regulator at

this time could delay all of these important activities. Furthermore,
pursuing significant legislative changes could upset the housing fi-

nance marketplace. Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal
Home Loan Banks all help to lower mortgage rates for consumers.
We must work to ensure that our work does not raise those costs

for consumers or inappropriately discourage investors.

In closing, I hope that we are not on a fast track toward marking
up this legislation. There is no pressing need for reform at this

time. We should, however, carefully, deliberately, and objectively
proceed in examining the public policy issues related to the mission

compliance and safety and soundness regulation of GSEs. I look
forward to debating the merits of this legislation.
Mr. Chairman, as an aside, over the last several days I have met

with many of the representatives of the various interests affected

by this legislation. Because of the complicated nature of these rela-

tionships, I urge the Chairman to consider holding hearings in a
different mode, such as a round table discussion, or perhaps a de-

bate, where the various entities could come in and debate some of
the issues that we are going to have to resolve.

And I think that would have two salutary effects. One, it would
clearly inform a large portion of the Membership of this committee
who have not gone through these issues before. Two, it would give
us on a real time basis the opportunity to have issues proposed and
then a response quickly proferred. That way, we could really cut
to the chase of the matter. So I would urge in future hearings that
we think about broad round table discussions where all the inter-

ested parties are brought to bear and have an open debate on the
issue.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Paul E. Kanjorski can be found
on page 146 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Kanjorski.
First, to comment about your work with me on Home Loan Bank.

Together we worked about a decade to go from the starting blocks



to the finish hne. The point is we finally made it, although I hope
our clock doesn't run quite that long. I am confident together we
will make the finish line on this one. I would welcome comment
from all parties. In fact, having encouraged the GSEs and all inter-

ested groups to give written comment about their perspectives on
the legislation and renew that this morning and certainly will con-
sider every possible method to get information before the Members.
You are very correct. This is complicated business. It is very im-

portant business. And we do not wish to do anything that adversely
impacts housing markets. I would restate the obvious though.
Somebody needs to stand between the taxpayer and the debt if

things don't continue to work as well as they are and that is an
extraordinarily large potential liability. I share your view of the

1980's, having come from one of the States that was unfortunately
one of the most hard hit by that series of events and would remind
the gentleman we do not wish to revisit those days for lack of regu-
latory oversight, and I know he shares that view.
Mr. Sweeney.
Mr. Sweeney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would like to see

unanimous consent to revise

Chairman Baker. Without objection.
Mr. Sweeney. And I will submit a formal statement. As a rel-

atively new Member and understanding the complexities of the
issues attended here, let me just say that I am thankful that you
are having this hearing, because I think it is absolutely proper and
correct that this subcommittee engage in the oversight of the hous-

ing GSEs. I also will operate under a couple of premises while

keeping an open mind. Before we agree to do anything here I would
like to be sure that we are not jumping to address problems that
are not there; and second, any effort undertaken should encourage
innovation and fair market competition. I congratulate you on hold-

ing these hearings and I look forward to participating.
[The prepared statement of Hon. John E. Sweeney can be found

on page 148 in the appendix.]
Chairman BAKER. Thank you very much.
Mrs. Roukema.
Mrs. Roukema. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Again, I would ask

unanimous consent to have my full statement in the record.

Chairman Baker, Without objection.
Mrs. Roukema. And I do want to extend congratulations to you

for raising this very legitimate subject and it is worthy of examina-
tion by this subcommittee and by the fiill committee as already has
been stated by a number of Members. I also want to acknowledge
that the proposal certainly raises relevant questions about the
three regulators. Consolidation of these regulators is something
which must be carefully considered, as has already been very care-

fully pointed out by other Members here today.
But while the current system appears to cry out for regulator

consolidation, I will acknowledge what the Chairman has already
acknowledged and that is that we need to move slowly and care-

fully with full examination. First of all, as has been noted, I be-

lieve, the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act has made significant changes to

the statutory scheme for the GSEs and the Federal Home Loan
banks. The changes in membership, capital and expanding collat-



eral that is eligible for advances were among the most important

changes of that legislation.
And again while consolidating regulators might not appear to

pose any risk, there is the question of unintended consequences, as

I think several Members have all pointed out. I don't want to be-

labor that point, but we do really have to look at and have an ex-

amination of the real world experience of Gramm-Leach-Bliley and
see whether or not we need to fix any of these unintended con-

sequences before moving on to consolidation.

That having been said, however, I think we have mutual motiva-
tions here. I believe that we are all committed to doing the best

and right thing without unintended consequences. There is a poten-
tial negative impact on the American dream of home ownership, as

properly has been pointed out. I think all here recognize that we
are at an all-time high in terms of home ownership. We want to

continue building on that American dream. In considering doing
what Mr. Baker is proposing here, we are faced with the question:
if it isn't broke, don't fix it.

I think that is too simplistic. Many people have said that in ad-

dressing this question. I do think we can accept the fact that none
of us want to do any harm. We will apply the "do no harm" prin-

ciple to this. I am very happy, Mr. Chairman, that you have raised
the issue. There are a lot of legitimate concerns as have already
been outlined with respect to safety and soundness in capital
standards and these are the things that we are initiating a long—
well, if not a long, certainly an in-depth study with all relevant in-

formation before we move ahead here.

But you have made a good step—an excellent step, if not a giant
step—perhaps one could say, in the right direction and opening up
this legitimate subject. But again I expect this Congressional re-

view process to be a thorough one and I hope I can say we will do
no harm to the American dream of home ownership. Thank you
very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Thank you. Chairwoman Roukema. I certainly

appreciate your courtesies and continuing interest in this ipatter.
Mr. Cook.
Mr. Cook. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would ask unanimous

consent to have my full opening statement put into the record.

Chairman Baker. Without objection.
Mr. Cook. I want to say we are particularly pleased that one of

the important GSEs, Fannie Mae, has established a very important
and new presence in my hometown, Salt Lake City. At the same
time, I want to commend the Chairman for some thoughtful ques-
tions that are clearly being brought forth in this proposed legisla-
tion. I am most interested in getting the benefits of this hearing
to know exactly what kinds of regulations are appropriate and nec-

essary if that needs to be the case and I just WEint to commend you
for holding these hearings.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Merrill Cook can be found on
page 142 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much, Mr. Cook.
Mr. Hill.

Mr. Hill. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And I would just like to
echo the comments of other Members. We are living in the best of



times. Some people would say these are the good old days, a period
of unprecedented prosperity. Home ownership is at record levels.

To a great extent interest rates are at also record low levels. But
I think this is an appropriate time to examine the risks and the

regulatory framework for these GSEs and make sure that when the
inevitable business cycle turns the other way we don't get caught
not understanding what the risks were and what the situation was
so I would commend the Chairman for holding the hearing and
look forward to the testimony of the witnesses.
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much, Mr. Hill.

Mr. Riley, did you want to make an opening statement?
Mr. Riley. No.
Chairman Baker. At this time I would like to recognize our first

witness for the hearing today. And a special word of thanks. I

know that special efforts were made to meet our schedule and for
that I am grateful. The Under Secretary of Domestic Finance, Gary
Grensler, who will give us his views with regard to the current GSE
safety and soundness issues. Thank you and welcome.

STATEMENT OF HON. GARY GENSLER, UNDER SECRETARY
FOR DOMESTIC FINANCE, DEPARTMENT OF THE TREASURY
Mr. Gensler. Mr. Chairman, Representative Kanjorski, Chair-

man Leach, and Members of the subcommittee, I appreciate the op-
portunity to testify on the supervision and regulation of Grovem-
ment Sponsored Enterprises. My prepared remarks are divided into
four parts. First, a little background on GSEs. Second, GSEs' role
in the capital markets. Third, a general approach the Treasury has
taken to mitigating systemic risk. And then, fourth, turning my
thoughts to the Administration's views on the bill.

With your permission, Mr. Chairman, I would like to submit my
full written remarks for the record, but summarize it, if that would
be all right.
Chairman Baker. Certainly. Without objection.
Mr. Gensler. The Nation's interest in a vital housing market is

strong, and the three housing GSEs have done much for home own-
ership in this country. Our capital markets are the most competi-
tive and efficient in the world and generally operate without the
Government providing differential treatment among financial insti-

tutions. Government Sponsored Enterprises are an exception to

this general approach. The Govemment provides them with bene-
fits to affect market outcomes.
The potential benefits they bring to the particular market must

be balanced, therefore, against potential systemic risk and effects

on market competition. And reconsideration of this balance is ap-
propriate from time to time as financial conditions change. With no
particular problems on the horizon this is an ideal time to review
the status of GSEs. The Federal Government initially created GSEs
to provide credit to illiquid thrifts and to provide assistance to the

secondary market for mortgages.
Much has changed, however, since this early history. Our capital

markets have developed increasingly sophisticated techniques and
tools for financing mortgages. Today, the GSEs are large, sophisti-
cated financial institutions. Similar to other financial institutions,
they hold and manage risk. They are owned by the private sector.
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They have large balance sheets and are leveraged. And in these

ways the GSEs are very similar to other large financial institu-

tions.

The GSEs' growth has been aided by numerous benefits derived

from their Federal charter. Congressional Budget Office, GAO, and
the Treasury have consistently identified three advantages pro-
vided to the GSEs.

First, the GSEs continually operate with significant funding ad-

vantages over other private companies in equal or better financial

condition. While various estimates vary on this, my written testi-

mony shows benefits of between 20 and 40 basis points.
Second the GSEs operate with less equity capital per dollar of

debt than other financial institutions. On average the two, Fannie
and Freddie, have about $32 of debt for any dollar of equity capital
and the Home Loan Banks have about $19 of debt per dollar of eq-

uity capital. This compares to other financial institutions where
banks and thrifts tend to have about $11 or $12 of debt per dollar

of equity and securities firms that are more highly levered at about

$25 of debt per dollar of equity capital.

Third, the GSEs receive direct cost savings as a result of exemp-
tions from SEC registration fees and State and local taxes.

These advantages are significant in the marketplace in which the
GSEs operate. And, again, the U.S. capital markets are the most

competitive and efficient in the world. Relatively small advantages,
even measured in single basis points, can allow firms to earn high-
er returns and potentially dominate their markets.
The GSEs now control a central position in the mortgage market

and an increasing share of U.S. debt markets. The three housing
GSEs' debt was $1.4 trillion at the end of last year. This is large
on any relative scale. It is roughly the size of the entire municipal
bond market, which includes the debt of all 50 States and all local-

ities in this country. It is now more than half of the $2.7 trillion

of outstanding, privately-held marketable Treasury debt.

If one added the $1.2 trillion of GSE guaranteed mortgage
backed securities, GSE's involvement in the credit market ap-

proach is the size of the Treasury market. Based on recent trends
and growth forecasts of the companies, GSE debt is likely to double
in the next five years, approacWng $3 trillion by 2005. This would

surpass the Treasury debt market some time in the next three or
so years.
The GSEs have become the dominant institutions in the sec-

ondary mortgage market. As of year end 1999, Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac owned or guaranteed roughly 63 percent of all out-

standing conforming conventional mortgages. GSE debt is also a

significant portion of banking assets. As of mid- 1999, banks held
over $200 billion of GSE debt and also had approximately $350 bil-

lion of mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by those GSEs.
Banks' holdings of GSE debt represent over one-third of their

total capital. While banks are not permitted to hold more than 10

percent of their capital in any corporate bonds or not more than 15

percent lending to any one borrower, GSE debt is exempt from
these various restrictions. And as you can see from the numbers,
it is likely that many banks' exposure to any one GSE have that
is beyond those limits. As the GSEs continue to grow, issues of po-
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tential systemic risk and market competition become more rel-

evant.

Treasury's general approach to mitigating systemic risk and cap-
ital markets emphasizes the role of the private sector. The public
sector does have various roles. I would like to identify three that
are consistent with long-standing Treasury views. First, we must
create an environment in which market discipline can work effec-

tively. Promoting market discipline means crafting Grovemment
policy so that creditors do not rely on Grovemment intervention to

safeguard them against loss.

Second, promoting the maximum degree of transparency, and,
third, maintaining the competitiveness of the system itself. Pro-

moting competition lessens systemic risk in any sector of the finan-

cial market, and the dominance of one or two firms can lessen com-

petition and the efficiency of the market pricing mechanism.
Mr. Chairman, I appreciate your efforts to highlight these issues.

I now turn in summary to the legislative proposal. H.R. 3703 pro-
motes private market discipline by repealing the housing GSEs'
conditional line of credit with the Treasury. The dollar amount of
these lines of credits are now a mere fraction of the GSEs' actual

borrowings. For example, since its line of credit was established at

its current level in 1957, Fannie Mae's mortgage holdings have in-

creased over 300 times.

Therefore, any function the lines of credit perform at this point
is purely symbolic. Repealing the lines of credit would be consistent
with the Congressional requirement that GSE securities clearly
state that they are not obligations of the U.S. Government. The bill

will also promote private market discipline by authorizing the ap-
pointment of a receiver to resolve a troubled institution, the same
authority that other Federal regulators have, and by repealing the
Home Loan Banks superlien authority.
The bill contains provisions that increase transparency, which we

believe would increase the efficiency of markets. We also believe

that the provision calling for the GSEs to be annually rated by an
independent rating agency is an improvement over current law.
The bill contains provisions promoting market competition as

well. Limiting new activities of GSEs could limit their scale, in-

crease their focus on mission-related activities and decrease the
risk exposure.
The bill also highlights an important issue, the potential for

problems at one financisil institution to cause instability in markets
or to cause problems for other institutions. As I noted earlier, GSE
debt obligations are exempt from the banks' investment security
limits or banks' loan to one borrower limits. We believe that Con-

gress should seriously consider the best way to repeal such excep-
tions with sufficient transition periods to prevent any market dis-

ruption.
The bill also addresses the regulatory structure for the GSEs. We

believe that the standard for regulation and the tools available to

the regulator are issues of primary importance. But the identity of
the regulator is important as well. And we agree with you, Mr.
Chairman, that it may be appropriate to have common regulators
for the three housing GSEs. We also believe that the supervision
of the GSEs should be the duty of the Executive Branch of Grovem-
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ment, which is charged with economic poUcy, both banking and

housing poUcy.
ResponsibiUty for regulating financial condition could be placed

with an agency responsive to those in the Executive Branch who
oversee the soundness of the financial system. Experts in housing
could supervise mission.

Mr. Chairman, if I may conclude, the economy and the financial

markets are strong. The GSEs play a central role in the Nation's

housing and debt markets. With no particular problems on the ho-

rizon, this is an ideal time to review the supervision and regulation
of the GSEs.
Thus, your subcommittee is providing a valuable service by

thinldng through the best framework for overseeing these enter-

prises. These are important matters of public policy that require
balanced, thoughtful review by all interested parties.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Gary Grensler can be found on

page 151 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. I really appreciate

your testimony. Mr. Kanjorski and I will make sure every Member
gets the summary of your observations. I think anyone listening

understanding the scope of obligations the GSEs now represent in

the current financial market and fully understanding our current

regulatory capacity, would have to have some concerns, not about

today, but about tomorrow. Some have characterized H.R. 3703 as
a "solution looking for a problem" or "if it isn't broke, don't fix it"

approach.
I would like to respond to those observations with this question.

What was the financial condition of Fannie Mae from 1979 to

1984?
Mr. Gensler. Mr. Chairman, as I said in my written testimony,

there was a time in the early 1980's when Fannie Mae found,
based upon movements in interest rates, that on a mark-to-market
basis they were insolvent. Again at this point in time we don't see

particular problems on the horizon, but we do think it is appro-
priate to consider the balance of public benefits that these GSEs
provide to the market and at the same time consider the risk to

the financial system as a whole.
Chairman Baker. I share that view exactly. I was merely point-

ing out that to understand the future one must look at the past.
It is not something that is impossible nor altogether improbable
and to act without some concern about future business cycles is, in

my view, somewhat irresponsible. Looking to the future, we have
a chart to your right, Mr. Secretary, which describes in graphic
form what you said in your testimony with regard to the potential
future GSE debt growth as opposed to the publicly-held Treasury
debt.

I think your testimony was a bit more progressive than our chart
as it turned out. I think you indicated that it would be about 2003
when the GSE debt would surpass that of the Treasury. If you
were to make some very large assumptions and that you were Sec-

retary of the Treasury five years from this date and you were sit-

ting in this committee room responding to questions from some
troublemaking Congressman and look at these numbers that are

represented by that chart where GSE debt would have not only
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surpassed, but exceeded Treasury debt by significant measure,
would that be cause for concern given current regulatory con-
straints?

Mr. Gensler. I think that the chart that you have, which com-

pares housing GSE debt versus publicly-held Treasury debt and in-

cludes some forecast into the future, is illustrative of the central

role that the GSEs have come to be not only in the housing finance

market, but in the debt market as a whole. And with the very good
fortune of the economy and the fiscal discipline that this Adminis-
tration and this Congress has been able to share, the Treasury debt
is declining.
On the chart I presume, I can't see the small print, that it is

based on our publicly-disclosed
Chairman Baker. That is correct.

Mr. Gensler. ^Administration's forecast, publicly-held debt

today is about $3.6 trillion and would be declining along that path.
I was referring in my testimony to privately-held marketable debt,
which we do not forecast publicly. Privately-held marketable debt
does not include debt that is also held as savings bonds that is not
marketable and is held by the Federal Reserve. So in my testi-

mony, I was referring to the about $2.7 trillion in privately-held
marketable debt and what might likely occur, which is why GSE
debt would cross that line maybe a year or so before.

But I think this is an illustration of the central role that these
GSEs may come to be and why it is appropriate from time to time
for this subcommittee to look at their supervision and regulation.
It is also why we look at certain aspects of your bill in the context
of how to mitigate systemic risk. We think it is appropriate to look
at ways to mitigate that risk by promoting private market dis-

cipline, promoting transparency, and promoting competition.
Chairman Baker. Thank you. Another question with regard to

potential systemic risk relating to loans to one borrower. As I un-
derstand it today, a bank cannot extend to one individual or cor-

poration credit which exceeds 15 percent of capital and that in

some instances there are financial institutions, credit unions, for

example, with old agency paper as part of their tier one capital in

the case of a bank. I am told that there are financial institutions

of which in excess of 70 percent of that portfolio is agency debt,
that there are significant numbers of institutions, perhaps as many
as 30 or 40 percent, which have over half of that portfolio in agency
debt.

How do we reconcile the concerns that regulators must have had
when the 15 percent loan to one borrower limit was set as against
the GSE's ability without constraint to occupy that level of con-

centration in a bank portfolio? Isn't that a terrible oversight on our

part?
Mr. Gensler. Mr. Chairman, I think you have done a valuable

service to highlight this issue in your bill. We think that in pro-

moting private market discipline it would be appropriate with suffi-

cient transition periods so not to disrupt markets, to repeal these

exemptions. These limits were put in place to promote the safety
and soundness of the banking system, there are various limits, but
15 percent loan to one borrower limit is for the banks.
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And we think it would be appropriate as there are numerous
banks and credit unions, even though we don't have as good statis-

tics on the credit unions, that do hold in excess of that 15 percent

limit, and there may be some, as you say, that hold as much as—
I think your number was 70 percent—of their capital in GSE debt.

Chairman Baker. One last question, because I am already well

over my time. Can you tell me this morning that the United States

Government does not extend its full faith and credit to GSE debt?

Mr. Gensler. I think that Congress has actually stated that

GSE debt is not guaranteed by the U.S. Government and such a
statement is actually contained in the prospectus and on the face

of the debentures of all GSE debt.

Chairman Baker. If we were concerned about the failure of

LTCM and systemic risk, which caused the intervention of the Fed
some months ago, am I to believe that if we had an agency dif-

ficulty that would not be a similar response?
Mr. Gensler. I think from Treasury's consistent philosophy, we

think it is best to promote private market discipline, and that pri-
vate market discipline means that investors and creditors should
not only bear the fruits of their investments, but also bear the risk

of those investments. And Grovemment policy should be crafted in

such a way that private creditors do not come to believe that the
Government would in any way bear for them the losses that they
may take from their decisions in the private markets.
These are private sector firms and we look at this consistent with

other financial institutions.

Chairman Baker. I appreciate your testimony and all your cour-

tesy. Thank you.
Mr. Kanjorski. The market for GSE paper is rather, I think, se-

cure, relative to the unsecured paper market. If we were to discour-

age further debt in mortgage lending by the GSEs, where would
that investment money flow? Is it going to purchase back Grovem-
ment securities, in your opinion? Would you rather see it flow to

credit card notes as opposed to mortgage money?
Mr. Gensler. Congressman, I think you are absolutely right.

Part of that chart, the Treasury debt line is very much good news.
It represents the shared view of the Administration and Congress
that contributing to net national savings and preparing for our fu-

ture by paying down the debt is very positive for the economy. The
GSEs contribute to a very strong housing finance market and we
share your view that it is important for that finance to continue
and the msu-kets to be strong.

I think that this chart is just highlighting that over time the
GSEs may come to be even more central to the capital markets.
Mr, Kanjorski. Mr. Secretary, the point I am trying to make is

that eventually if we carry that line out, we hope that around 2013,
if the President's projections are correct, there will be no publicly-
held Treasury debt. So at that point, all other debts are going to
look like they are terribly expansive. But on the other hand, if we
apply the formula that if the market is held relatively tight in its

growth potential from this point on to 2013, actually before that,
2008, the domestic product of the United States would double, and
the amount of money available for securities is going to more than
double, so these funds are going to have to flow somewhere.
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The question is whether we are leaning towards hysteria when
shown two lines, one coming down, and the other one going up, and
not realizing that the policy discussions that we have to have here
is where would the preference of the country and public policy be
as to the placement of funds available in the marketplace? How
much can flow into venture capital? What can go into product and
investment? What can go into consumer credit? I for one, if given
the choice of increasing my credit line and being sure that the con-

sumer credit will be similar at the GSE line, I would prefer to take
the GSE line over the consumer credit.

Mr. Gensler. I think that it is a very positive step in paying
down the Treasury debt and that will free up money and credit for

all sectors of the economy. Our general approach is really that the

private sector is best to price and allocate that capital and certainly

Congress has noted with regard to the GSEs that it is appropriate
to have Grovemment sponsored enterprises to facilitate credit in the

housing markets and the housing GSEs have contributed signifi-

cantly to the housing markets. I share your view that it deserves

thoughtful and balanced consideration over time as this discussion

goes forward.
Mr. Kanjorski. Concomitantly with that problem, of course, is

the consumer debt, and a lot of consumer debt is being consolidated
in equity loans. I just came from a bankruptcy course given at the

Congressional Research Service, and heard some of the financing
rearrangements being made of interest chsirges as high as 20 and
25 percent on home equity loans for lower-income people who are
in financial difficulty. If the GSEs carry on with their process of

maximizing home ownership, at what percentage point would you
think is our maximum level of home ownership? And finally then,
is there perhaps another method to discipline the private market
as to prevent overcharging and allow support for home equity
loans?
Mr. Gensler. Administration policy has been that, again, it is

best to promote private markets only where there is clear market
failure, might it be appropriate to consider new activities for these
GSEs or for even potentially new GSEs. And I think that is what
Congress did when they created these GSEs many years ago, ad-
dress clear market failure. We think there should be a high bar be-

fore moving to new activities beyond the ones already articulated
in the charters.

Mr. Kanjorski. So part of the undertaking of this subcommittee
should be to re-examine all those underlying formulas as well as
what products can be developed.
Mr. Gensler. We think it is, from time to time, appropriate to

look at the missions of any GSE so that they are focused, because
it really is in a sense an exception to an overall philosophy we have
in the capital markets and in this country of promoting the private
sector. While recognizing that the GSEs have a mission, we think
it is appropriate for Congress to look at it from time to time and
to have a regulatory function that allows innovation on a real time
basis. We think it is important these firms be able to innovate and
be flexible with regard to their mission, and we share that view,
because I think they have provided a great service there.
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But, also, from time to time, look at assessing "is this mission
the appropriate mission?", or, as you suggest, maybe possibly

broadening it, or maybe doing something in the other (firection. But
that is re^ly for Congress to decide.

Mr. Kanjorski. There were proposals. Regarding one of my ear-

lier questions on the interest rate for refinancing packages, some-
times I think just getting users 20 or 25 percent. Does the Admin-
istration have any policy as to whether we should re-examine the
Bush-D'Amato proposal of limitation of interest rate at some point
in the future if urdfeddered activity in the market occurs? I mean,
there is an abundant sum of money out there and if we limit GSEs
from concentrating on the housing market, that money will flow
somewhere and it could very easily start channeling itself into con-

sumer debt, particularly opening up the underserved market. The
least-able to sustain that level of debt in our society will experience
extremely high rates.

I suspect anyone will lend money if the interest rate is high
enough. Are we getting ourselves into a control mindset where
Congress is going to have to start dictating limitations? And should
we?
Mr. Gensler. I think in terms of access to capitsd, we think our

economy is strong, but we should always be focused to make sure
that all Americans are able to access the capital markets or access
the banking system. We have done much in the Administration to

try to broaden access and information. And I would also say com-

petition, and as you have noted, sometimes the low-income or mod-
erate-income Americans don't have that same access, but if we can
promote access to the banking system and access to competitive
capital markets, that would be a very good thing to move forward.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Kanjorski. Just to clarify, I

am not concerned about the fantastic enhancements in housing
markets. As Capital Markets Chairman, I am only worried about
concentration of assets in one industry and concentration of invest-
ments by banks. If you took GSE off that chart and put the word
"Microsoft" or put "Chase" or put "IBM" and you saw the amount
of dollars held by that institution. I remember persuasive argu-
ments made by the gentleman and others about how big banks are

going to run everj^hing in the United States if we do this mod-
ernization proposal in some form or fashion.
And my point here is that we do not have the regulatory com-

petency, in my view today, to fully comprehend their market risk
£md that is all that this is in pursuit of. I don't want the GSEs nor
anyone else to take this hearing as what they are doing is bad or

they are doing it poorly. That is not it at all. This is a forward look
down the road and do we have the ability if that chart comes to

reality to understand our exposure, and I honestly don't think we
are there.

Why don't we recognize Mr. Sweeney. We will have him for his
comments and then we will recess for the vote and come back.
Mr. Sweeney.
Mr. Sweeney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will have a very brief

question in an attempt as a new Member of this subcommittee to

try to understand better capital markets. In boiling this issue

down, Mr. Secretary, the question is what are the risks and do they
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rise to the level that we need to act? In light of that, and in light
of Mr. Baker's p>oint that some institutions hold agency debt as
over half of their capital, could you play out a scenario for me re-

luctantly, as I guess you would be, on what those risks are and ex-

plain to me where the private sector risks are the greatest?
Mr. Gensler. I think it would be best not to try to deal with a

hypothetical, but what I think is all financial institutions, banks,
security firms, insurance companies, GSEs, as part of their man-
date in the private sector, seek to hold and manage risk. The GSEs
do that and do that well, but still the nature of the financial sys-
tem is that there is risk by the holding and managing of risk in
financial institutions.

Our general approach to managing—or I am sorry, our general
approach to mitigating risk, is to promote transparency, to promote
market discipline, promote competition. It is only in that light, that

general light, when these issues have been raised by Chairman
Baker's bill, that we have looked at some of these issues and found
some of the provisions of the bill we believe help promote trans-

parency or help promote the private market discipline.
And while the economy is strong and housing finance is strong

to take a thoughtful and balanced discussion of this at this time
is appropriate as was done in years past in this subcommittee and
may well be in years in the future.

Mr. Sweeney. The economy is strong and stable at this point,
but if we were to undergo market changes, specifically, market
changes in interest rates, explain to me what you would foresee oc-

curring within the GSEs and within the overall market.
Mr. Gensler. I couldn't speculate on any one GSE, because it

may not relate to interest rates rising or falling. These are very
complex financial institutions as are banks and as are security
firms. Very large sophisticated financial institutions are subject to

a number of risks. Interest rate risk is one, as you have identified,
credit risk is another. Something that is also true of large financial
institutions is liquidity risk, the risk of when markets adjust, can
you sell or buy your portfolio.
The history of markets has shown that there is also an intersec-

tion of these risks which relates to scale and liquidity. So for all

financial institutions it is appropriate for regulators to look at how
we mitigate some of those systemic risks through appropriate su-

pervision and regulation.
Mr. Sweeney. I thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will jdeld back my

time knowing that we have to go to vote and I have to go to an-
other meeting. I again thank you for the hearing.
Chairman Baker. Thank you for your participation. The hearing

will stand in recess pending the vote. We will return as quick as
we can, Mr. Secretary.

[Recess.]

Chairman Baker. When the hearing recessed, Mr. Sweeney had
just completed his remarks and Mr. Weygand, you would be up
next if you would like to be recognized for comment.
Mr. Weygand. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would Uke to ask the

Secretary just a couple of brief questions more on philosophy and
direction that was probably an echo of my colleague, Paul Kan-
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jorski's, Mr. Secretary. The chart that you have provided us, the

chart on our left, indicates a change in direction with regard to

debt. I apologize for coming in late. We had a previous meeting, but

is it your position that this is not the direction we should be going
in philosophically with respect to the Treasury regarding our debt?

Mr. Gensler. With regard to Treasury debt it is very much the

philosophy of the Administration that we want to bring down
Treasury debt, our national debt, and contribute to net national

saving and contribute to the economy.
Mr. Weygand. And isn't it true that we have been working to-

ward and talking about reducing the debt, not only Treasury debt,
but overall Government debt, which provides more liquidity, more

money in the marketplace for private investment in other ventures
and that has been our goal. So isn't it philosophically the direction

the Administration and most of us here have been taking anyway?
Mr. Gensler. I think that it is very much the philosophy of this

Administration and shared with the Congress that paying down
the national debt contributes to the economy through freeing up,
and as we might say crowding in the rest of the market. I think
that the context of—this was actually the Chairman's chart—is just
that we think that it is appropriate from time to time for Congress
to look at the balance, the balance of promoting housing, which we
do very well in this Nation, and the benefits that are given to the

GSEs, the various statutory benefits.

That balance should consider on the other side issues of the risk

to the financial system and issues of market competition. And it is

best to do that when the economy is strong and when housing fi-

nance is strong. That is why we appreciate the opportunity to talk

here today.
Mr. Weygand. I do not disagree with the concept of periodic re-

view to see if the balance is proper, the diversity is proper, and
that things are not going wrong, but isn't it true that our philos-

ophy has been that by reducing the debt we allow for more money
to be in the marketplace to be used for mortgages with regard to

home improvement loans and a host of other things, so we there-

fore have encouraged this philosophy that is illustrated on the
Chairman's chart?
Mr, Gensler. We have encouraged the top line for sure, and in

ways we have encouraged the bottom line, but I just noted in my
testimony earlier there are various benefits, funding advantages
and leverage advantages and cost advantages that the GSEs have.
And in our capital markets they are so efficient that even modest

advantages can allow financial institutions to come to dominate
their markets, and I think that is just what is highlighted on the
bottom line.

Mr. Weygand. Again, excuse me for not being here earlier, and
I haven't read your full statement, but are you taking the position
that the bill before us, H.R. 3703, is something that you are en-

dorsing and promoting?
Mr. Gensler. We have really looked at the bill in a context of

Treasury's general philosophy of mitigating systemic risk, pro-
moting transparency, promoting market discipline and competition.
There are a number of aspects of the bill that we think help in that

regard. We think it is appropriate for the subcommittee to have a
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thoughtful review of this and really bring in all the parties who
have an interest collectively of mitigating systemic risk.

Mr. Weygand. And, last, in today's situation, todaj^s conditions,

today's marketplace looking toward the future, five or ten years
down the road, are the regulators currently overseeing GSEs doing
an inappropriate job or do you feel that there are presently prob-
lems within the existing regulations that would warrant a more
immediate change toward H.R. 3703, or should there just be an on-

going discussion of how we can best make sure the market is not

only competitive, but also promptly secured?
Mr. Gensler. I think that there is not a problem on the horizon,

but I think because of the significant change in the scale, scop>e,

and centrality of the GSEs to the capital markets, it is appropriate
to assess the balance moving forward.
Mr. Weygand. And you think they, the GSEs, are getting too big

and too central for your preference?
Mr. Gensler. No. I just think that there are aspects of pro-

moting the markets in the financial system that from time to time
are appropriate to look at. We think that the Chairman's bill high-
lights a number of those l.hat may be worthy to move forward on.

Also, we do think that it is very important that the regulator
should finalize the risk-based capital standards and get those out

promptly.
Mr. Weygand. Thank you, Mr. Secretary.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Weygand.
Just to clarify on one of Mr. Weygand's questions and your re-

sponse, this is not a trick question seeking an endorsement, but it

is a clarification of points of concern. I recognize there may be con-

cerns by HUD and others about the mechanism of the regulatory
structure. Put that aside for the moment. Are there any other sug-
gested aspects of H.R. 3703 that are a problem to Treasury at this

point?
Mr. Gensler. Mr. Chairman, we have identified in our testimony

a number of attributes that we support, some that we think are

worthy of further and serious consideration to help mitigate sys-
temic risk. I think that in terms of the regfulatory structure we
share some of the attributes. We think that mission regulation
could be best served by being within the aegis of the experts on

housing, and the financial condition regulation could be under
some other oversight. So I think with regard to that we do have
some different thoughts. We did not actually catalog each and
every aspect of the bill.

Chairman Baker. Let me follow up to make it clear for Members.
I will transmit to you a formal request recognizing that the HUD
mission governance issue is not a subject of debate. We understand
the position there. But on the regulatory safety and soundness as-

pects of the legislation, I will write and ask you for a response if

there are any asp>ects of that with which Treasury has difficulty,
and you will be prepared to respond to that.

Mr. Gensler. As always, as Congressional requests come in, we
respond to them. Absolutely.
Chairman Baker. For the subcommittee's benefit, I want them

to know that is on its way. Thank you.
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I am going to try to do this in recognition of those who came
first. Mrs. I^ukema has been very patient here for most of the

hearing and she would be next to be recognized.
Mrs. ROUKEMA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate that, but

you just asked my question. You and I have been thinking about
the same issues. I want to ask Mr. Grensler if he would be more

specific in terms of his evaluation of this regulatory structure. It

appeared to me that you neither support nor oppose this regulatory

proposal. You rather talked around it.

I don't mean that you are trying to avoid the issues. We all rec-

ognize that there is a complexity to this. I would join Mr. Baker
in submitting that question to you for a specific answer. Do you
want to comment further now?
Mr. Gensler. If I might. We believe the standard of regulation

and the tools available to the regulator are issues of primary im-

portance. The identity of the regulator is important as well. We
focus much of our thoughts on the standard and the tools. With re-

gard to the bill, we think that it may be appropriate to have a com-
mon regulator for the three GSEs, but have mission regulation led

by those in the Executive Branch who are expert on housing and
to have financial condition regulation, at least be responsive to

those in the Executive Branch that have responsibilities with re-

gard to the soundness of the financial system.
We look forward to any review of this. We think any review of

this should be thoughtful and balanced and bring in all the inter-

ested parties. These are important broad matters of public policy,
and we have tried to lay out broadly what we think on the com-
bined regulator issue.

Mrs. RouKEMA. Well, let us use your answer as the vehicle for

further questioning. A little more amplification would be appre-
ciated and would be the basis for our future inquiries and working
together with Treasury on this subject. I have heard what you said
about mitigating systemic risk. I certainly have recognized the im-

portance of addressing systemic risk as well as recognize that there
has to be promotion of competition, private market discipline, and
increasing transparency. Can you spell out how do we do that in
a couple of those areas?
Mr. Gensler. The bill suggests in terms of transparency that we

could call for having independent rating agencies Euinually rate the
GSEs. We think that this could be an added benefit, not only to

promote the private sector market discipline, but also to provide
regulators with an independent view as to the financial condition
of the GSEs. There are also various flexibilities built in to the bill

with regard to making public disclosures with regard to the GSEs.
We think that though
Mrs. Roukema. Are all these adequate or would you go further?
Mr. Gensler. Well, in two cases we have actually have sugges-

tions. One is with regard to what was earlier referred to as the

banking system's exposure, credit exposure, to GSEs. It might be

appropriate to work with Congress to have a sufficient transition

period to find a way to bring the GSEs into the consistent scheme
that we have for the banking system under those loan to one bor-
rower and investment limits. Also, in a much smaller point, we
have made a suggestion about bank exam fees.
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Mrs. ROUKEMA. All right. Well, we will look forward to further

in-depth discussions on these issues. As I said in my opening state-

ment, and I repeat now, that safety and soundness and the mitiga-
tion of systemic risk is essential. We can't, however, be just talking
in generalities. We have to be quite specific. I look forward to your
specific comments. There are other questions that I might bring up
at another time. Thank you.
Mr. Weygand. If the gentlelady would 3deld.
Mrs. RouKEMA. I would be happy to yield.
Mr. Weygand. I would just like to follow up with the gentlelady

from New Jersey's first questioning about detail and specificity re-

garding recommendations from the Treasury. I think it is ex-

tremely appropriate in this discussion that we are having about

regulation. As I hear from you, Mr. Secretary, you are talking
about a body that would actually oversee the development of mis-

sion. It would be that body who would oversee policy with regard
to safety and soundness and then regulators.

This leaves a lot of unanswered questions about what you are ac-

tually telling us you would recommend with regard to H.R. 3703.
I would truly hope that you could come back to us as quickly as

possible with specific suggestions. If indeed you don't have a form
or a structure that you would heartily endorse, but only a discus-

sion about the possibilities, we would like you to be specific about
those as well. It would be extremely helpful to us, because I think
the Chairman is trying, in this legislation, to streamline or simplify
the regulation, but what you have just outlined is indeed three dif-

ferent bodies or entities overseeing them all over again.
And that would be, I think, some concern to the Chairman. Not

necessarily to me, but perhaps to the Chairman and I think we as

a body should know what direction you are suggesting we follow.

Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mrs. Roukema, for yielding to Mr.

Weygand.
Mrs. Roukema. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. I think Mr. Bentsen is next. I am not sure. I

don't know the order of Members' arrival on the Democrat side. I

will just proceed in order if that is OK unless somebody objects.
Mr. Bentsen.
Mr. Bentsen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Gensler, I have a couple of questions. I think, first of all, this

is a rather broad bill that the Chairman has introduced and it

raises a lot of questions. I don't think we can take this bill lightly
at all. But I have some questions about your testimony. First of all,

and I know this is just for comparison purposes, but I have got to

tell you that I thinJt the comparison of U.S. Treasury debt to the

debt of the GSEs is really apples and oranges.
You are talking about debt that is used for operational purposes

in terms of the U.S. Treasury debt. It certainly has been for the
last eighteen or twenty years. And it is sovereign debt, as well,

compared to debt that is used arguably for capital formation pur-
poses in the acquisition of mortgages for portfolio purposes. And so

I am not sure that there is a comparison there to be made. Now
the question may be that you are trying to get at is have the GSEs
just become too big, given all of the benefits that they have.
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And that may be more where our topic should be, but I think

this, and I know the Chairman has made this debate as well, I just
thiii this is apples and oranges. And it may look good, but I don't

think it is comparable. I think your comments with respect to eq-

uity to debt are reasonable, although the GSEs arguably have a
different portfolio than banks would have. They have a different

portfolio, because they are not carrying commercial loans in their

portfolio and they have a different portfolio than securities firms

would have, because they carry marketable securities, securities

firms and marketable securities, as you know, some are more mar-
ketable than others given what is going on.

But I am particularly surprised by the Treasurj^s comment, and
I think this is new, that you believe that we ought to repeal the
line of credit that the GSEs have with the Treasury, and even

though it is only a small amount, $2 billion or $2.5 billion com-

pared to their overall capital, it seems to me that it is still a rather

significant statement that the Treasury is making about that. I

mean, in my mind, and I think you would agree with this, that is

the whole essence of their AAA rating that they enjoy right now.
In the past, when this subcommittee has looked at it and when

rating agencies have looked at it, I think we have come where
Moody has finally said that they thought on their own Fannie and
Freddie would have probably a AA-minus rating, which is not a
terrible rating, but certainly a far cry from a AAA rating. And your
own testimony says it is worth 30 to 40 basis points, I think, or

certainly some spread there.

And you raise questions about the concentration of GSE debt
held as assets by commercial banks and whether or not that is

something that ought to be looked at as well. But at the same time
that you are saying that there would certainly be some fallout if

we were to repeal, in effect repeal Fannie and Freddie's market
rating and that would put pressure on them and put pressure on
banks that hold their bonds in their own portfolio.
So I think we need to think about this and I think that we really

ought to let Mr. Falcon and OFHEO do their job and let us see
what happens and then come back and look at this. So I don't real-

ly have a question for you, but I guess it is more of a comment,
but I would hope we wouldn't move too fast and I would hope the
Administration or the Treasury Department would not push too
hard on the Chairman's legislation at this time until we see what
OFHEO comes up with on their risk analysis that they are doing
and then perhaps come back.
But I think also that Treasury might come back to us and tell

us whether or not you think the GSEs have gotten too big and
there is a need to completely restructure the secondary mortgage
market. That is all I have, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. I don't think I will ask you to co-sponsor it,

but we will keep an open mind. The only thing I would like to point
out on the chart, you are correct, it is apples and oranges, but the
problem is the GSEs will make it apples and apples. As there is

less Treasury debt for people to invest in, they have to have a place
for liquidity and safety to park that money. It will either be Fannie
benchmarks or Freddie reference notes.
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And I can't tell you today, and I don't think anybody in this room
can tell you with great certainty, that we have an objective criteria

to assure taxpayers of the agency's financial adequacy. I am not

suggesting there is a problem. I am just saying we don't have the
tools to do that properly and that is what H.R. 3703 is about. So
it is not to preclude that chart from happening. It is to make sure
when it does you can tell your constituents you know what is going
on. That is really what it is about.
Mr. Cook, you were next, I think, in arrival.

Mr. Cook. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank Mr.
Gensler for his informative testimony. And again looking at the
chart of GSE debt versus Treasury debt and the fact that in just
a couple of years it is going to probably be larger than Treasury
debt and if we project that out to even 2010 it might be massively
larger. And I would like to get your opinion as to whether GSE
debt i? going to replace Treasury bills and Treasury debt as the
benchmark for investment in bond markets. And, if so, doesn't that

really imply some need to really look at this whole regulatory ques-
tion?

Mr. Gensler. The U.S. financial markets are competitive, the
most innovative of the world. We think that as Treasury debt de-

clines it is very good for the economy as a whole, and it promotes
many sectors of the economy as Congressman Kanjorski and others
were mentioning earlier. We think that markets are innovative and
will find a smooth transition to other referenced securities and de-

rivatives. They have already done that to some regard.
And many other large corporate issuers beyond the GSEs are

also assessing and looking to promote their securities as bench-
marks. We believe the financial markets will sort that out in a
smooth way over a long transition.

Mr. Cook. At the same time, I do think that one of the hazards
of a whole lot of new regulation is the fact that each one of these
GSEs is different. Freddie Mac is different than Fannie Mae and
it is certainly different than the Federal Home Loan Bank in terms
of the rules and even the purposes and the conditions and functions
and so forth. And I guess what I am asking is if there needs to be

significant and new regulation how do we take care of those dif-

ferences? If you could comment on what the major differences the

regulators would have to be concerned with in terms of those two
or three major GSEs.
Mr. Gensler. I think you raise a good point. We stated in the

longer prepared remarks that we think that Congress has laid out
different charters for particularly the Home Loan Bank System and
the other two housing GSEs and if one were to move forward in

consolidating or combining these regulators that it would be impor-
tant for Congress to be very specific as to the mission of the var-

ious GSEs and to focus that mission on the intent of Congress.
The Home Loan Bank System pursues its mission more through

lending to banks and thrifts and the other housing GSEs pursue
their mission differently. And those distinctions, even if one brings
together the regulators, may be appropriate to maintain as they
have been in the past.
Mr. Cook. And then just kind of one final technical question. Is

the Federal tax treatment both for corporations or individuals pret-
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ty much the same in all the different GSE debts and compared to

Treasury or what are the—if you could just maybe outline the sig-

nificant difference, if any, between how they—a holder of the debt,
how the tax—certainly Treasuries are not taxed at State levels and
so forth. I just wonder does that apply also to the

Mr. Gensler. Let me make sure I get this technically right. I

think this will answer the question. The interest on the bond-
holders Federal Home Loan Bank debt is tax exempt at the State

and local level. That is not the case with the other GSEs.
Mr. Cook. I think more evidence of probably the difference in

terms of regulations. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Cook.
Ms. Waters.
Ms. Waters. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Let me per-

haps ask some questions that may have been asked before, but I

need a little bit of clarification. Are the GSEs sound? Are we faced
with GSEs presenting a particular kind of risk that I don't under-
stand? Would you describe for me or answer for me is there a prob-
lem with the GSEs in terms of their management at this time?
Mr. Gensler. Congresswoman, we don't see a problem on the ho-

rizon. The economy is strong and the housing finance market is

strong. These entities have, as we can note in the testimony, strong
performance and strong growth, and they manage their risks as
other financial institutions manage risks in a sophisticated man-
ner. I think that all that we have noted in our testimony is that
a lot has changed since 1992 when Congress last took these issues

up in a broad legislative package.
Ms. Waters. Before you go on, I just wanted to get that on the

record and to have that understood. There is no problem and that

they are managed well. As a matter of fact, since I have served on
this subcommittee I have come to understand that they are ad-

mired, because of the way they have managed these GSEs and the

way that they have been able to demonstrate that they can manage
them well, they can provide the product, and they can make money
for the investors. That is kind of the American way, isn't that

right? Isn't that what everybody, all businesses, would like to do?
Mr. Gensler. All businesses would like to have the performance

that these entities have had. These entities also pursue a public
mission that this Congress and prior Congresses laid out, and they
have certain Government benefits that help in their performance.
Ms. Waters. We understand that. We understand the reason for

their existence. And one of the things I have come to appreciate
about them is the access that we have in trying to work with them
to meet the needs of our constituents. I just had a big hearing in

my district by ACORN. Are you familiar with ACORN?
Mr. Gensler. Yes.
Ms. Waters. And it was about predatory lenders and subprime

lenders and what is happening in communities such as part of my
district where many of the subprime lenders are taking advantage
of my constituents and I am working with Fannie Mae in par-
ticular to really strengthen and expand opportunities to support
these mortgages. So I don't see any problem. We have access to
them. They are managed well. And I just don't want anyone to lis-

ten to this hearing or to go away thinking that there is a problem
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or there is some kind of risk that exists at this time. Now let me
ask, are you famiUar with FM Watch?
Mr. Gensler. Yes.
Ms. Waters. Do you know who they are?

Mr. Gensler, Yes.
Ms. Waters. You know they are worried about competition?
Mr. Gensler. I am not famiUar with all of their worries, but I

have read some of their papers.
Ms. Waters. Well, why do you think they are in existence and

what do you think their stated mission is?

Mr. Gensler. I haven't read their mission.

Ms. Waters. You have got to know. I mean this is your business.

This is one of the most t^ked about attempts to limit the abilities

of the GSEs to expand or to do what they do and that is why this

is something I think we should concentrate on today. You know, in-

creasingly I find myself in a position here in Congress in the mid-

dle of fights.
On the one hand, we have those who tout the American way and

let the marketplace work and tout what competition is all about,
but then we have those entities that when they find that they are

not doing as well, they come to Gk)vemment and they ask for more

regulations so that they can place themselves at a better advan-

tage. Now I know I sound like a Republican right now talking
about these regulations. I can't imagine having to take up the Re-

publican arguments about the marketplace and about getting rid of

reg^ilations that attempt to create some advantage for one side or

the other, but that is what this seems like to me.
Mr. Gensler. Well, I think, Madam Congresswoman, if I may^

the GSEs have significant benefits in funding advantages, capital

advantages, and cost advantages. Treasury looks at all financisd in-

stitutions to determine how can we help promote the financial sys-

tem by promoting transparency, private market discipline, and

competition. And it is in that context of how we mitigate systernic
risk. And there are times when we can benefit the system by miti-

gating systemic risk through prudent steps that lessen uncertainty
and promote the economy.
Ms. Waters. But it is impossible to mitigate what does not exist

and so we are talking about anticipating possibly something that

may happen in the future that we have got to design mitigation for.

And, you know, it seems to me that when we talk about trans-

parency, just last week in the subcommittee we approved the

Hedge Fund Disclosure Act that specifically refrained from requir-

ing hedge funds to submit such information based on the notion

that it is proprietary information. We put the hedge ftinds at a

competitive disadvantage.
Nobody wants to give away its formula for success. People don't

just give it away. And if those who want to compete with them
want to compete with them, they got to come up with a better

mousetrap and I don't want to be used to do that. So I guess what
I am saying to you is I appreciate the role that you play £ind the

concerns that Treasury must have, but we don't have a problem
here.

Chairman Baker. Would the gentlelady yield?
Ms. Waters. Yes, I will yield.
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Chairman Baker. Thank you. We have a series of votes and I

want to ask for a response, if I may, before we recess, I just want
to make sure I understand the gentlelad/s concerns. We from time
to time disagree on poUcy.
Ms. Waters. Yes.

Chairman BAKER. Are you suggesting
Ms. Waters. To say the least.

Chairman Baker. Sometimes we work together. Are you sug-

gesting that my legislative effort is in some way tied to Fannie
Watch?
Ms. Waters. Well, here is what I am suggesting.
Chairman Baker. If you can just give me a yes or no.

Ms. Waters. I am suggesting that it may be and you may not
know it.

Chairman Baker. Well, I can fully assure the lady I have worked
on this proposal for about a year with representatives of every fi-

nanciad regulator, the GAO, the CBO, and at no time have I vetted
this proposal with any representative of Fannie Watch nor am I a

dupe of Fannie Watch nor do I appreciate the lady's
Ms. Waters. I have not accused you
Ms. Jones. Will the Chairman yield?
Chairman Baker. It is not my time. It is the gentleladj^s time.

Ms. Waters. It is on my time. Reclaiming my time.

Chairman Baker. I would point out her exceeded time, but she

may continue.
Ms. Jones. Will the gentlelady yield for a moment?
Ms. Waters. Yes, I will yield.
Ms. Jones. Mr. Chairman, we are not suggesting that you are

connected, but I would wish that you would have one of your staff

people turn on the web page of FM Watch and read what it says
on the web page about your legislation. You may not think it is

connected, but I suggest you read it.

Chairman Baker. If the gentlelady will continue to yield, I would
suggest she read the Treasury testimony of this morning, which is

your Administration, which says this proposal is well-founded and
reasonable, and I thank you for both your comments.
Ms. Jones. You asked were you being connected with FM-what-

ever-it-is, and I am just suggesting that you read the website.
Ms. Waters. Now reclaiming my time.
Chairman Baker. No, your time is exhausted. We are down

to

Ms. Waters. Unanimous consent for one additional minute.
Chairman Baker. The gentlelady is recognized.
Ms. Waters. Thank you very much. I am suggesting—first of all,

let me be clear. I am not suggesting that you are a dupe. I am not

suggesting that you are canning the water for, I am not suggesting
that you have met with them and you have worked out a deal, I

am not suggesting any of that. But what I am suggesting is FM
is out there and it is formed and organized for one reason, it wants
to limit the competition so that it can be at better advantage to
seek some of the same markets that these GSEs have. That is a
fact of life.

And so we don't have any risk. We don't have any unsoundness.
We don't have GSEs that are unstable. We only have them that are
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performing, performing well, and doing a pretty good job. Now I

want to tell you I have my differences with them from time to time
and I am pushing them and I want them to expand to be able to

provide more mortgages for poor people.
I am not saying that they are eveiything that I want them to be,

but what I am saying to you is that in a time when we should all

be worried about spreading out this wealth and making sure that
all communities have access to the opportunities so there can be
more mortgages, more capital flowing. We should be dealing with
that and not doing the business that will enure to the benefit of
the FM Watch, because that is all that this does.
Mr. Kanjorski. Will the gentlelady yield?
Ms. Waters. Yes, I will yield.
Mr. Kanjorski. I know that the gentlelady was not here for all

the opening statements and comments, and I would just say that
I guess if we look around this room and read some of the web
pages, we probably could conclude that this is a battle of the Ti-
tans. But in reality, I think it is an opportunity to slowly examine
these issues and that commitment has been extracted from the

Chairman, and that this is not something that is going to move
very quickly, and probably not in the form that it has been drafted.
This hearing is merely a platform to examine issues.

Ms. Waters. Well, reclaiming my time, yes.
Mr. Kanjorski. I am very supportive of the distressed commu-

nities in the need for fairness.

Ms. Waters. Sure.
Mr. Kanjorski. This may give us an opportunity to use the

GSEs to accomplish just that.

Ms. Waters. Reclaiming my time, if I may, and you have been
very generous, Mr. Chairman. I really do appreciate it.

Chairman Baker. Just remember.
Ms. Waters. I will. But reclaiming my time, why don't we have

a series of hearings, why don't we take them out into the country,
why don't we have legislation that is now being produced to

anticipate
Chairman Baker. If the gentlelady will give me just a moment.
Ms. Waters. OK. All right.
Chairman Baker, We are getting close to our vote time here.
Ms. Waters. OK.
Chairman Baker. If I had suggested reform and didn't have a

specific proposal, criticism would be leveled. It is a generic hodge
podge of unformed suggestions that make no sense cobbling to-

gether, and how can we give you a response if you don't have a spe-
cific idea? What I placed before the Treasury and the other regu-
lators, from whom eventually we will hear some time in this com-
ing week, is a specific proposal for their review and comment.

I even circulated it to the CEOs of Fannie, Freddie and the Home
Loan Bank. We have visited with anybody who said, "Baker, what
are you up to?" This is not a sneak attack. It will not move fast,
but I want to assure the lady I am going to do everything possible
to see this proposal move forward in some fashion, because wheth-
er you agree with me or not, the ultimate end game of all of this
is to continue the GSEs to perform their public mission, which, by
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the way, I don't think you think they do all that well, based on

what I read in the paper recently.
Ms. Waters. They are doing better than these predatorial lend-

ers.

Chairman Baker. I got information that might surprise you. But,

second, that they do not engage in activities which present un-

known risk to future taxpayers without at least us asking the ques-
tions. Am I to understand that we are to let any business enter-

prise engage in such massive scale of activity and not ask the ques-
tions? We may not like the answers. We may not agree at the end
of the day. But what is being presented here is merely a mecha-
nism by which competent regulators can inform you and me as to

what actions we may need to take in the future.

So, understanding that the gentlelady is not suggesting that I

am being manipulated by the free market forces and

understanding
Ms. Waters. I would not ever suggest that.

Chairman Baker. that the lady suggested additional hear-

ings, which we certainly will have. I think Members will be prob-

ably quite tired of hearings by the time I get finished. I just want

you to understand when this is at the end of the path, your Admin-
istration is finding some merit in this proposal, and I intend in

some manner to offer it for your consideration.

Ms. Waters. If I may, and I know that my time has
Chairman BAKER. Everybody's time has expired. We are

really
Ms. Waters. Mr. Chairman, Mr. Chairman, you just supported

the bill that restructured banking
Chairman Baker. I actually wrote that bill.

Ms. Waters. that handed the opportunity for banking to get
into every business that it wants to.

Chairman Baker. With regulation.
Ms. Waters. You took down the walls.

Chairman Baker. With regulation.
Ms. Waters. You did all of that, and I remember your argu-

ments were quite different.

Chairman Baker. No, they weren't. No, they weren't.
Ms. Waters. In relationship to banking and modernization than

they are now when you talk about the original mission. I can tell

you what the original mission of banks was.
Chairman Baker. The gentlelady is raising an issue which we

clearly have differences on. My policy on Grovemment regulation for

enterprise, GSEs is consistent. We will debate this ad finitum for

coming months. We should stand in recess pending the vote and re-

convene.
Mr. Under Secretary, I appreciate your continued patience. We

will return.

[Recess.]

Chairman Baker. Mr. Secretary, while we are awaiting the re-

turn of Members, I am told we will have about thirty minutes to

an hour likely before the subcommittee is interrupted again for

votes. I would just like to revisit some of the ground that has been
plowed haphazardly this morning.
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The principal concern prospectively is concentration in individual

institutions, concentration in the broader capital market, and in-

suring regulatory capacity to assess potential consequences of that
concentration. Is that a fair statement?
Mr. Gensler. I think so, sir. I think also that it is the balance

of the benefits, the benefits of promoting the public missions that
these institutions do, and as many Members have said, do effec-

tively. And the balance vis-a-vis the risk that you have just identi-

fied to the financial system either as articulated by systemic risk

or by the risk to market competition. And as time changes and fi-

nancial market changes, the appropriateness of reconsidering that
balance.
Chairman Baker. And with regard to, I call it loan-to-one-bor-

rower limit, from my perspective, that is the most immediate and
concerning issue. Would it be appropriate for us to look beyond
studying that case, either make the current loan limits to one indi-

vidual applicable to the GSEs, do we do that over a period of time
or do we simply give the regulator the authority to continue to

monitor and make recommendations in the future? How on that
scale of progression are you suggesting we should move today?
Mr. Gensler. The exposure limits or loan to one borrower limits

are one of the important protections of the safety and soundness
of the banking system. We think that it is appropriate to take a
very serious look and actually bring all borrowers, including GSEs,
under those same consistent limits to help mitigate risk in the

banking system. We think you would want to take that step over
sufficient time and transition, make sure to thoroughly consider all

points of view, and have all parties comment on it, but we think
it is an appropriate goal.
Chairman Baker. Thank you.
Mr. Hill has returned and he was next for recognition.
Mr. Hill. I presume, Mr. Chairman, it is for the customary thir-

ty minutes as the last exchange was?
Chairman Baker. Absolutely, as long as you have a slightly dif-

ferent perspective on the circumstances.
Mr. Hill. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Gensler, I am trying to—I guess I would say that this bill

contains lots of good ideas, probably some not-so-good ideas, and I

think the Treasury's testimony seems to suggest that it supports
some of them, perhaps not all of them. I am trying to get a sense
of what the problem is here and then focusing on what the solution

ought to be and what the goal ought to be as a consequence of that.
And it seems in your testimony what you said was that in es-

sence, because of the size of the GSEs now and their dominance to
the market or the extent of their market share that there is greater
systemic risk and there is greater risk to them as a consequence
of that.

Mr. Gensler. I think. Congressman, that is right. I would add
that our capital markets are so efficient that with good manage-
ment small advantages can be used to dominate markets and to

grow rapidly. And so the advantages that Congress has bestowed
upon the GSEs in pursuing their mission has both promoted that

mission, but at the same time, those advantages would suggest
that the GSEs growth would continue and that their growth would
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be faster than the economy and faster than the markets them-
selves.

Mr. Hill. Those are two separate issues as I would see it. One
is are these risks so large that they are not manageable or are we
not adequately managing them or are we not regulating them suffi-

ciently that they are adequately managed. That would be question
one. And then the other question is are these advantages such that

it either stifles competition or limits competition that will cause a

greater concentration of market share in the GSEs.
I presume from what you just said that you believe that those

advantages will further give them further advantage and increase

market share.

Mr. Gensler. I think that has been the history of capital mar-

kets, particularly with good management, that those advantages
will lead to increased market share.

Mr. Hill. Are there some costs associated with this mission too?

Are there some disadvantages that go with the mission that Con-

gress has given to these GSEs?
Mr. Gensler. I think it is. I have chosen to use the word on be-

half of the Administration of balance, because there are benefits

provided to the GSEs, and there are benefits in our housing finance
market and great innovations that have come forth from these
GSEs over many decades. But at the same time the balance of

what the scale of these institutions will be and what it does to mar-
ket competition should be considered.
Mr. Hill. But the goal here is to maintain some balance. Per-

haps you are suggesting it is imbalanced now. Are you suggesting
it has to be rebalanced, is that what you are saying?
Mr. Gensler. I think that thoughtful consideration is appro-

priate from time to time. As I understand it, the last time that

Congress took this up was in 1992 and since that time the GSEs
have close to quadrupled in size. They now are about 63 percent
of the conventional conforming mortgage market. And so it is ap-
propriate to look at it as I am sure you will be wrestling with for

years to come.
Mr. Hill. Groing back to the chart that everybody has made ref-

erence to, we are not arguing here that we want to have fewer

mortgages. You are arguing here just simply that the amount of
GSE debt is going to grow faster in proportion to the overall econ-

omy.
Mr. Gensler. Let me speak as a technical matter, if I might for

a minute, because I had a chance at one of the breaiks to read the
footnotes on the Chairman's chart. The debt represents here is the
debt of the three GSEs. In addition to this and somewhat separate
from this they guarantee mortgage-backed securities in the mar-
ketplace of about $1.2 trillion.

This debt is growing. As they purchase mortgages and hold them
within their portfolio, and as the dialogue continues, I think this
chart should not suggest something about their guarantee busi-
ness. This is more, this chart here, about their portfolio business.
Mr. Hill. Mr. Chairman, if you can indulge me one last question.

Going to this line of credit question, and I think that it is an admi-
rable goal to make clear to investors that the securities backed by
the GSEs are not guaranteed by taxpayers, but this line of credit
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isn't the typical kind of line of credit. I mean the GSEs can't just
draw upon this line of credit any time they want to on the basis
of what they think their need is. Is that a correct understanding?
Mr. Gensler. That is correct, sir. It is actually written into stat-

ute that the Treasury Secretary has authority to purchase securi-

ties.

Mr. Hill. The question I have with respect to that if we were
to repeal that is simply this: are there circumstances under which

you think that it may be an advantage for Treasury to be able to

add liquidity to the system through the GSEs that would be prohib-
ited if we repealed that provision?
Mr. Gensler. The line of credit, at least for Fannie Mae, was put

in place actually when Fannie Mae was part of the Government
and kept in place as they were put out into the private sector. But
it is really at this stage such a small number. As we said, these
institutions have grown so significantly since their lines of credit

were put in place that it has, at this stage, not a true ability for

Treasury to use.

I would also note Treasury does not have such ability with any
other financial institution, so our consistent approach is to look at

financial institutions similarly to promote private market discipline
and promote private markets to be a moderator on risk-taking as

best they can.
Mr. Hill. So eliminating this provision isn't going to weaken the

system in any way in your view or weaken Treasury's ability to re-

spond to a crisis that might occur? It has not ever been used, is

that correct?

Mr. Gensler. It has not ever been used in a crisis. There was
one time as I understand it in the 1970's that it was used with re-

gard to Freddie Mac in a small proportion, I think at that time ac-

tually to promote a mission goal, but I haven't researched that well

enough.
Mr. Hill. Thank you very much.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Hill.

Mrs. Maloney.
Mrs. Maloney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and welcome, Mr.

Gensler, and thank you again for all your diligent work with all of

us on the financial modernization bill. And, Mr. Baker, I look for-

ward to working with you on this bill although I do have some

questions. The GSEs actually have played a very important role in

the city that I represent. New York, and as my colleagues are

aware, home ownership in the United States is extremely strong,
and the GSEs have played a role in that.

We are now at over 70 million families owning their own homes,
yet at the same time we have room for a great deal of improve-
ment. Home ownership rates for minority groups trail those of

whites by more than 20 percent and as the mission regulator of
Fannie and Freddie, Secretary Cuomo's recent decision to increase
their affordable housing goals I believe is a tremendous step for-

ward in addressing this serious problem and disparity.
The Secretary's decision and action demonstrates one of the

achievements of the 1992 GSE Act by splitting regulatory oversight
of the GSE's public mission and oversight of safety and soundness
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between two regulators. The Act seeks a balance between the two

objectives. I support the Chairman's objective of simplifying and

strengthening regulation, but I think we have to be aware of unin-

tended consequences of a sweeping rewrite of GSE, particularly in

light of OFHEO's finally completing their risk-based capital stand-

ard.

And just last year, as part of modernization, we passed signifi-

cant reforms to the Federal Home Loan Bank System for which
substantial credit is due to the Chairman and the Ranking Mem-
ber. And I agree with Mr. Bentsen that it might be more appro-
priate to see how the new risk-based capital rule and the post fi-

nancial modernization of the Federal Home Loan Bank System op-
erates before we redraft their total regulatory structure. But I have
some specific questions on the bill. Do you believe there would be

any impact on mortgage rates from H.R. 3703?
Mr. Gensler. Congresswoman, I just want to start and thank

you also, because the experiences that we had with this entire com-

mittee, and I know that we talked a lot on financial services legis-

lation, was productive and it is good to be back together.
Mrs. Maloney. You were terrific at 9:00 in the morning and at

4:00 in the morning, all those meetings, but it is good to see you
again.
Mr. Gensler. Gk)od to see you. Thank you. I think that you are

correct to say that housing finance has been benefited in this coun-

try by the GSEs pursuing their mission. The issues that we are dis-

cussing here today—how to lower risk, and how to lower uncer-

tainty
—are always part of the sound promotion of our financial

system. I think that that is what is important. To the extent that
we can lessen risk and lower uncertainty in the markets, that
tends to lower interest rates.

Specific provisions in the bill that are consistent with Treasury
philosophy of lowering risk should be better for the markets as a
whole. I could not predict what it would do for particular markets
or particular segments, but I think overall that it is good for the

system.
Mrs. Maloney. So you think it may lower mortgage rates?
Mr. Gensler. I don't know, and as a Treasury official we are

schooled not to predict what will happen in specific markets, but
in terms of the soundness of the financial system our overall ap-
proach has been promoting transparency, market competition, and
private sector discipline. History tells us as we promote those, we
tend to lessen uncertainty for the overall system whether it be one
sector or another.
Mrs. Maloney. The bill would require GSEs to gain approval

from the newly created regulatory board for any new program. It

is beyond argument that the new regulator would therefore be
more intimately involved in approving programs than is the case
in the current system where there actually is no approval system.
Is there a danger that the Government's increasing involvement in
GSE's daily business that the markets could perceive a Govern-
ment guarantee to be explicit, which would increase a systemic
risk?

Mr. Gensler. I think that it is important that the GSEs be able
to pursue their mission in an innovative and competitive way, but
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at the same time they should stay focused on that mission as Con-

gress clarifies what that mission is to be. There are benefits in

funding and leverage and other benefits that the GSEs have and
so I think that Congress has been careful to only provide those ben-

efits to accomplish a focused mission.

We do think that we would want to make sure that people can
be innovative and focus on the mission, but at the same time not

to be able to use those benefits beyond the mission. And I think
that that is an appropriate role for the mission regulator, to be

helpful that people are focused on mission, not beyond the mission.

Mrs. Maloney. But have they had examples in the past of pro-

grams that are beyond the mission? I am not aware of any.
Mr. Gensler. The challenge, it is a good, but hard challenge, is

as a private sector firm maximizing one's opportunities. If one has

advantages by the Government, these various advantages of being
able to borrow at cheaper rates with higher leverage ratios, that

the motivation will always be to maximize the opportunities and
that is what we want the private sector to do. But as Congress has
bestowed certain advantages, even small advantages can be used
in many other markets and so I think Congress has spoken that

you would want it to be focused on the mission, not in other mar-
kets beyond the mission.

Chairman Baker. Can you wrap up, Mrs. Maloney?
Mrs. Maloney. Pardon me?
Chairman Baker. Can you wrap up?
Mrs. Maloney. OK. My time is up.
Mr. Gensler. Oh, I am sorry.
Chairman Baker. Ms. Hooley.
Ms. Hooley. Yes, thank you. Mr. Secretary, I apologize. I have

been in and out today, but part of my problem as I am sitting here

listening to this is I guess I need to understand the problem. You
know, what are we trying to do? Are we trying to reduce the risk?

Are we tr5dng to—there was a chart up earlier, are we trying—or

maybe the same chart is up. I just don't have my glasses on. Are
we trying to reduce the debt? Are we trying to rein in GSEs? What
are we trying to do? What is your perception of what we are trying
to do in this particular piece of legislation?
Mr. Gensler. I think to lessen the risk of the financial system,

recognizing that the GSEs have bestowed upon them from Con-

gress certain benefits, and that those benefits in the very competi-
tive capital markets we live in can be and generally will lead to in-

creased market share and increased dominance. Now the history of

the GSEs is they performed well. Housing finance in this country
is very strong.
At the same time there is a balance of bestowing these Govern-

ment benefits and recognition that growth and scale itself can raise

issues of risk to the financial system and risk to market competi-
tion. We have looked at it through the lens of mitigating risk, miti-

gating systemic risk, and that is through the same way we look at

it for other financial institutions.

Ms. Hooley. Do you think the current arrangement actually
adds to the riskiness of the GSEs?
Mr. Gensler. I think by bestowing Government benefits on any

financial institutions you add to their ability to grow and dominate
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markets, that in and of itself, when one or two firms come to domi-

nate a particular sector of the financial markets the pricing mecha-
nism is at risk, the pricing mechanism within that capital market.
Also other financial institutions who do not have those advantages
can tend to take on risk themselves.

Taking on risk is sort of left to less profitable businesses as they
do not have the advantages that the Grovemment bestows. Still

though, as I say, if we focus and as you focus on the mission, we
want people to be innovative in that mission and manage their

risks within that mission.

Ms. HOOLEY. Just a quick follow up. There are agencies where

they have come under one regulator, but have two totally different

missions that have gotten into trouble, because it is hard some-
times to serve both of those missions under one regulator. Do you
see that as a problem occurring under the proposal in this legisla-
tion?

Mr. Gensler. I think that the challenge that you highlight is one
that we do address in the testimony a bit. We think it would be,
if there are efficiencies to bringing the regulators together, bene-
ficial that Congress clearly lay out the GSEs' specific missions as
it was earlier said the Home Loan Banks pursue their housing mis-
sion differently today than Freddie Mac or Fannie Mae. We must
also make sure that the GSEs stay focused on their intended mis-

sion, particularly because Congress has provided Grovemment ad-

vantages to achieve that mission,
Ms. HoOLEY. So you think under the new regulation it is going

to bring down the debt?
Mr. Gensler. I am sorry?
Ms. HoOLEY. Under the new regulator, do you see that bringing

down—I mean if you look at those lines, do you see that bringing
down the debt?
Mr. Gensler. We really focused on recognizing there is this

growth and how can we help mitigate risk. I don't know whether
this line will be higher or lower than that line, but regardless of
where these lines are, I think our duty at Treasury is to highlight
those ways to mitigate risk such that regardless of whether this
line is a little higher or a little lower there is less risk in the sys-
tem.
Ms. Hooley. Can there be less risk under the current system?
Mr. Gensler. I think that again reconsideration is appropriate.

It should be thoughtful and balanced, and all parties should be in-

volved, but reconsideration is appropriate from time to time as fi-

nancial conditions change. Since the early 1990's, the size of the
GSEs has quadrupled. It is likely to double in the next five years
and so just that in and of itself makes it appropriate to take these
matters up in times when the economy and housing finance is

strong. This is the time that I think we would all rather be dis-

cussing this than if the opposite was true.
Ms. Hooley. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Ms. Hooley.
Mr. Kanjorksi wants a minute.
Mr. Kanjorski. Mr. Secretary, because we are expanding some

of those missions to take into consideration economic development,
community development, infrastructure development in distressed
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communities, it is only reasonable to assume that we can look for-

ward to the cooperation of Treasury in revisiting the issue of eco-

nomic development and the use of GSEs toward that end?
Mr. Gensler. We look forward to working with you and the

whole committee on discussion of these important matters of public

policy. I know that Assistant Secretary Apgar also from HLFD is

going to talk about the mission and the regulation in that regard
as well.

Mr. Kanjorski. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Ms. Waters.
Ms. Waters. Unanimous consent to submit my statement for the

record.

Chairman Baker. I wouldn't object to a thing.
Ms. Waters. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. You are quite welcome. Without objection all

Members' statements will be made part of the record.

Mr. Secretary, I thank you for your long-suffering patience. We
are going to recess. I notify the panel members of the second panel
we will reconvene as soon as we return from this vote.

[Recess.]

Chairman Baker. The hearing reconvenes, and we welcome our

second panel of witnesses to the subcommittee hearing this morn-

ing. I am told, although I don't know how reliable the information

is at this point, we have an hour before we can expect to vote, and
I would hope if we continue on we might be able to conclude the

hearing within that hour period.
Our second panel is composed of William Apgar, Assistant Sec-

retary for Housing, Department of Housing and Urban Develop-

ment; Armando Falcon, Director, Office of Federal Housing Enter-

prise Oversight; and Bruce Morrison, Chairman of the Federal

Housing Finance Board. I welcome all three of you gentlemen here

this afternoon and look forward to your remarks.

Secretary Agar, would you care to proceed?

STATEMENT OF HON. WILLIAM APGAR, ASSISTANT SEC-
RETARY FOR HOUSING, FEDERAL HOUSING COMMISSIONER,
DEPARTMENT OF HOUSING AND URBAN DEVELOPMENT
Mr. Apgar. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Representative Kanjorski

when he returns, other Members of the subcommittee. I am pleased
to be here today on behalf of Secretary Andrew Cuomo to testify

on the effect of regulation of the Government Sponsored Enter-

prises or GSEs. The Secretary has delegated to me much of the re-

sponsibility for insuring that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the two

GSEs, are fulfilling their public mission responsibilities.
As we have heard, these two enterprises enjoy considerable ad-

vantage over their private sector competitors and HUD is com-
mitted to achieving their public responsibilities. The intent of my
testimony today is that HUD is doing its job and has proven to be

an effective regulator of the GSEs, yet we believe regulatory over-

sight of the GSEs can be enhanced and to the extent the provisions
in H.R. 3703 strength and regulatory oversight they merit careful

attention.
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Before providing some specific comments on the bill, let me re-

view our current regulatory initiatives. First, of course, I would like

to comment on our regulation relative to the affordable housing
goal. As you understand, last year Secretary Cuomo announced

plans to substantially increase the Congressionally mandated af-

fordable housing goals that will require Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac to purchase as many as $2.4 trillion in mortgages over the

next ten years providing affordable housing opportunities to 28.1

million low- and moderate-income families.

So this is an aggressive expansion of the affordable housing goals
and we think that merits serious attention by all Members. Sub-

stantially higher goals will require that beginning next year a large
share of the activity of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac will benefit

families of low- and moderate-income. The new goals will substan-

tially increase access to housing capital in many of our Nation's un-
derserved communities and underserved groups.

Additionally, the department has been active recently in mount-

ing the most extensive fair lending review of the automated under-

writing systems of the two GSEs. HUD initiated this first review
in the fall and it is now well underway. In light of the importance
of the GSEs' underwriting standards and growth of their auto-

mated systems in determining whether families realize the dream
of home ownership this review is timely and essential.

After much discussion and recognizing the need for protecting
important proprietary information, Fannie Mae has provided re-

quested information and negotiations are still underway with
Freddie Mac. We think this information that we are receiving will

allow us to effectively evaluate these important automated under-

writing systems. Unlike other areas of HUD regulations, where I

have chief responsibilities, the automated underwriting review is

the responsibility of the Assistant Secretary for Fair Housing and
Equal Opportunity and she shares that duty with our general coun-
sel.

We have other areas of regulatory oversight that I would like to

highlight. We are also active in the review of new program activi-

ties. Recently HUD requested information on a number of GSE ini-

tiatives including their mortgage insurance initiatives and their

various Internet activities to see if they are operating within the
context of the charter, in the public interest and with an eye to

safety and soundness.

Finally, we are active in reviewing their non-mortgage invest-

ments. We know this has been a particular concern of Chairman
Leach. HUD issued an Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking on
this topic and we have a major study underway to guide us in how
to effectively monitor the GSEs' activities and non-mortgage invest-
ment arena. And last, but not least, we are busy trying to insure
that there is availability of public information on GSE activities.

We maintain an extensive public use database containing informa-
tion about GSE activity and we begun to release additional tabula-
tions of GSE activity to better inform the public of the activities of
these two entities.

With respect to the specific legislation, it is our general feeling
that the existing structure works well and we believe that is

backed up by our record of achievement in oversight activities in
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recent years. But at the same time, we believe that it can be im-

proved upon and we welcome the opportunity to work with the sub-

committee on enhancing overall GSE oversight. In creating the

structure, Congress recognized the importance of establishing Cabi-
net level emphasis on GSE oversight and insure that there was
consistency with respect to GSE oversight and its link to overall

housing policy.
At the same time, the recognition of the separate and important

role of safety and soundness regulations through OFHEO, we
think, was well taken. H.R. 3703 includes a number of helpful com-
ments to enhance GSE regulations that we believe are worthy of

careful consideration. These include the authority to assess GSEs;
the full cost of the regulation, including mission regulation; clari-

fying and strengthening HUD's existing authority to review new
program activities; and further Congressional directions for limita-

tions on GSE non-mortgage investment.
In my written statement, I outline these in more detail. We think

in each area those elements of the bill that can enhance overall

GSE oversight are well taken. In addition, my written testimony
addresses some issues relating to fair lending enforcement. H.R.
3703 would have HUD retain its general authority in this area over

the GSEs. However, as we read the bill, the enforcement activity
for this authority, which currently resides with OFHEO, would be
transferred to the new entity and we are concerned that this would

fragment our regulatory oversight in this important area of fair

lending and think we need to continue to work to clarify that as-

pect of the oversight of the GSEs.
In conclusion, we believe that HUD is providing strong and effec-

tive mission regulations of the GSEs. The current structure is

working well and it is having a valuable impact on affordable hous-

ing markets. At the same time we readily acknowledge that, given
the changing market conditions over time, there may be a need for

revision to the existing GSE regulatory oversight structure as was

suggested by Secretary Gensler.

So, in the meantime, Secretary Cuomo and I look forward to

working with the subcommittee as we build on the strengths of the

current system and make the needed adjustments to make it work
better in the future.

[The prepared statement of Hon. William Apgar can be found on

page 162 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. We appreciate your

testimony.
Our next witness is Director Falcon, who I understand returns

for the first time since your appointment to your old banking
haunts, so welcome back.

STATEMENT OF HON. ARMANDO FALCON, JR., DIRECTOR,
OFFICE OF FEDERAL HOUSING ENTERPRISE OVERSIGHT

Mr. Falcon. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It is indeed a pleasure
to be back here in the room of the House Banking Committee. I do
have nothing but fond memories of my time here serving on this

committee. I must say I appreciate the opportunity to appear be-

fore you today to discuss H.R. 3703, the Housing Finance Regu-
latory Improvement Act. Mr. Chairman, I first want to commend
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you for your ongoing commitment to ensuring the best possible

oversight of the GSEs and reiterate my support toward achieving
these things.
You and Representative Kanjorski have brought real leadership

to GSE issues in general, and I look forward to working with you
and your colleagues on the full committee to ensure the best pos-
sible oversight structure for the enterprises. As you know, since

OFHEO began operating in 1993, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
have doubled in size to over $2 trillion in assets and mortgage-
backed securities guaranteed. The need for strong oversight is more
critical now than ever before.

As Congress considers the changes you have proposed, I want to

assure you that there is a very strong regulatory system already
in place. OFHEO works well as a safety and soundness regulator
for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. The only major shortcoming,
which I will address later in my testimony, is OFHEO's lack of fi-

nancial independence.
OFHEO's top-notch examination program consists of an annual

comprehensive risk-based assessment of the health and manage-
ment of the enterprises.

Also, as I am sure you are aware, we are moving expeditiously
to implement a final risk-based capital rule. Mr. Chairman, I take

your comments in your opening statement to heart. The risk-based

capital rule is unacceptable and I make no excuses on behalf of
OFHEO. I only want to assure you that my focus here is to get the

job done and that is my number one priority at OFHEO to finalize

the risk-based capital rule.

OFHEO also conducts sound and authoritative research and
analysis which enables us to become even more proactive in our

oversight of the enterprises. While the current system is working
well, that doesn't mean it can't be improved. Consolidation of the

safety and soundness regulation of the housing GSEs could lead to

even stronger oversight, if done properly. However, the consolida-
tion of mission regulation with safety and soundness regulation is

not essential for OFHEO or its successor to properly fulfill its safe-

ty and soundness responsibility.
The lack of mission oversight does not hinder OFHEO's effective-

ness or ability to do its job. Any need OFHEO may have to be in-

formed about developments in mission regulation can be satisfied

through the open lines of communication that exist between
OFHEO and HUD. Nor has mission regulation suffered. Secretary
Cuomo and Assistant Secretary Apgar have demonstrated their

strong commitment to fulfilling HUD's mission oversight responsi-
bility.

I have several comments to make on H.R. 3703. The structure
and authorities of the regulator created under the bill would main-
tain and, in some ways, even improve oversight of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac. As provided for in your bill, more disclosure and
transparency of the enterprises' activities would serve to increase
the efficiency of the secondary mortgage market.
OFHEO already contributes toward this goal by disclosing the re-

sults and conclusions of our comprehensive annual risk-based ex-
aminations. In addition, the bill would require the regulator to ob-
tain annual credit ratings for the enterprises from rating organiza-
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tions. OFHEO obtained such a rating in 1996. With adequate fund-

ing, regular updates of this type could provide more information to

investors about the enterprises' financial condition.

The bill also reflects prudent public policy by providing for an ap-
pointment of a receiver for a GSE when necessary. The absence of
such provisions serve to weaken market discipline by reinforcing
the market's perception that the enterprise securities are implicitly

guaranteed by the Government.
I would like to address the regulatory structure contained in the

bill. I believe that a single agency head is preferable to a board.
This structure has proven effective and efficient for OFHEO.

First, the single agency head focuses accountability on one indi-

vidual rather than on diffusing accountability among numerous
board members. Second, a single agency head unifies day-to-day
management of the agency in one person, which avoids the confu-

sion, dissension, and gridlock, which might sometimes be associ-

ated with boards. Also, a single agency head allows the agency to

move quickly in reacting to the risks of the companies that it regu-
lates.

Whatever Congress decides on the final structure of the new
agency, I know you will agree that the bill should do everything
possible to ensure the success of the new agency. To that end, I

strongly believe that the bill's transition period needs amending.
First, the nine-month period, I believe, is far too short. I would rec-

ommend that the bill include a longer, more practical transition pe-
riod.

During this period, the duties and functions of the existing agen-
cies could be combined, allowing the integration of the agencies be-

fore the management assumes responsibility. This is especially crit-

ical if the new agency is set up under a board structure, because
it would allow the new board to inherit a fully integrated agency.
Finally, this longer transition would accommodate a more orderly

merging of the technological and regulatory infrastructures of the

agencies.
Mr. Chairman, I would like to end with one final point, which

I believe is critical to the success of OFHEO. I share your view that

safety and soundness regulators need to be free of the uncertainty
and inflexibility of the annual appropriations process. This is why
I wholeheartedly support the bill's funding mechanism. I feel very
strongly that the current situation of subjecting OFHEO to the ap-

propriations process is simply bad public policy.
That is why I ask this committee to remove OFHEO from the ap-

propriations process. This would put us on par with all other safety
and soundness regulators. I want to be clear that this change
would in no way remove OFHEO from appropriate Congressional
oversight. OFHEO would continue to be subject to the oversight of

this committee and would still have to meet all annual statutory

reporting requirements. Removing OFHEO would simply provide
me with the flexibility I need to respond quickly to changing condi-

tions, especially a deteriorating one, of the enterprises or the mar-
ket.

I want to thank you for your support of our previous budget re-

quests as well. I want to also thank you for taking the lead on this

appropriations issue. I hope that with our combined efforts we will
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achieve this goal this session. I would like to end by thanking the

subcommittee again for the opportunity to testify this morning. As
I stated, OFHEO is adequate to the test, but that does not mean
that improvements cannot be made. I am committed to working
with the Congress and this committee to ensure that the system
for regulating the Government Sponsored Enterprises is as strong
as possible.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Armondo Falcon Jr. can be
found on page 171 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much. We appreciate your

presence here today.
Returning again after many visits and as a former Member, wel-

come, Bruce Morrison.

STATEMENT OF HON. BRUCE MORRISON, CHAIRMAN,
FEDERAL HOUSING FINANCE BOARD

Mr. Morrison. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman, and to

you, Mr. Kanjorski, as well and to other Members of the sub-
committee. It is my pleasure to be here and I look forward to shar-

ing some viewpoints on H.R. 3703 and related topics, but let me
start by asking that my written testimony be included in the record
and that that testimony also include my prior testimony in 1997,
which addressed this subject as part of the subcommittee's earlier

consideration of regulatory structure.

Chairman BAKER. All testimony of all witnesses will be made
part of the official record without objection.
Mr. Morrison. I also want to thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Mr.

Kanjorski, in particular, for your leadership that led to the enact-
ment of the Modernization Act for the Federal Home Loan Bank
System last fall. As you know, this was a project with a long time
in preparation and the success which was achieved last fall is due
to both of you and your cooperation and your diligence in pursuing
it, and it is very much appreciated.

I want to report to you that the Finance Board has taken very
seriously the job of implementing that legislation. We have in proc-
ess all of the regulatory changes that are required. Many of them
have already become final. By April 12, we will have proposed reg-
ulations or issued final regulations for all aspects of statutory
change in that legislation except for the capital provisions. The cap-
ital provisions will be proposed in regulatory form toward the end
of May and we expect to meet the statutory deadline in November
for final regulations.
As I committed in a letter to the Congress—to the Chairman of

the House and Senate conferees—at the time we had been con-

sulting with Members and Member staff in that process, we wel-
come any input from Members of this subcommittee as we go
through this regulatory process. In particular, I want to point out
that we are about to propose regulations modifjdng the collateral
that can be accepted by the Federal Home Loan Banks.
This is important for two particular reasons. One, it will allow

small institutions a much broader access to the advances of the
Federal Home Loan Bank System and it will allow all banks great-
er access to advances to support economic development lending, be-
cause real estate collateral much more broadly than previously will
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be available to support advances. So in both of those ways the goal
of the Congress in expanding the reach of the Federal Home Loan
Bank System to Main Street credit needs will be benefited, and we
are moving as expeditiously as possible consistent with safety and
soundness to implement those changes.
Now with respect to H.R. 3703, I think the most important thing

to be said is that I very much support the goal that I know you,
Mr. Chairman, have and I think that is shared by your colleagues

regardless of what their views are on the details. That goal is that

the regulation of GSEs needs to be efficient and effective. It should
not be so intrusive as to interfere with their accomplishing their

mission. It should make sure that they are safe and sound and it

should also make sure that they are accomplishing the mission
that Congress intends on behalf of the American people.
There can be focuses on individuals in particular roles and indi-

vidual administrations in talking about this issue. I think we
should separate ourselves from those kinds of discussions. Any in-

dividual can make the best of a particular structure, but the struc-

ture should be refined to maximize the ability of whomever may
come and go through these positions to see to it that effective GSE
regulation results.

In my experience in five years as Chairman of the Finance

Board, I must say that the challenges of mission regulation are

great. This is not a popular subject with the regulated entities. The

regulated entities think of themselves as private corporations and

they find regulation of their mission to be intrusive no matter how
efficiently it is done. It is also the case that safety and soundness
needs to come first, and that mission regulation has always to be

consistent with safe and sound operation.
For that reason, I am a supporter of the kind of regime that we

have at the Finance Board where safety and soundness and mis-

sion are conducted by the same agency. That is not to say that

HUD is not pursuing mission aggressively in its current structure

nor that OFHEO is not sensitive to mission when it regulates safe-

ty and soundness of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. It is just that

either there are conflicts and they need to be resolved and they are

harder to resolve in separate agencies or there aren't conflicts and
therefore there is no reason to have them separated.
Mission itself is the touchstone of what makes a GSE different

from ordinary private corporations. They don't have different incen-

tives from other corporations in terms of seeking profit. They do

have different responsibilities in exchange for their public benefits.

It will never be easy for a Government regulator to urge that these

kinds of institutions do more than they are doing to accomplish the

public purposes for which Congress organized them, nor will it ever

be easy to draw lines around what they can and can't do. And yet,

those are the distinguishing features of the existence of a GSE.
The stronger the regulator, the more respected by the Congress

and by the regulated entities, the better we will do at that hard

job. I must say that I think this is a relatively underdeveloped area

of regulatory expertise and all of the agencies involved could be im-

proved in that regard. So anything that can be done structurally,
or in terms of attracting the very best people, or in terms of im-

proving the tools, or in terms of clarity from the Congress, will all
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contribute to what I think we all share as the goal. When Govern-
ment gives enterprises benefits, they want to see the benefits pass
through to the iWierican people and not see them stop along the

way for shareholders.
The fundamental difference between a GSE benefit and corporate

welfare is that the benefit ends up with the ultimate consumer and
doesn't stop along the way. That is our challenge. It is a structural

one and it is a regulatory one. I think that this legislation is in-

tended to work on that problem and I commend you, Mr. Chair-

man, for taking that on, as difficult as it is.

Let me conclude by saying one other thing about GSEs and what
the Congress is faced with. There has been a lot of discussion about
the graphs. Some folks in this town want to do away with GSEs.

They think that they are a distortion of the marketplace. I think

they are a choice by the Congress to focus resources in areas that
are important to the American people, and I don't think we ought
to be pursuing a strategy to try to get rid of GSEs.

I think what we ought to be pursuing is a strategy that sees to

it that the American people get the benefits that come from the
lower costs. Some of the things in your legislation and some of the
additional things that have been talked about this morning have
the risk of raising costs without really conferring any additional

benefit. I refer for one particular to the repeal of the superlien en-

joyed by the Federal Home Loan Banks.
The superlien is an efficient way in which the Federal Home

Loan Banks gain a superior claim to collateral. If they didn't have
that, they could still gain that superior claim by recording or phys-
ically holding each and every piece of collateral that they took as

security. That would cost everybody a lot more money. It wouldn't

change the fact that the Federal Home Loan Banks' claims were
superior to FDIC's. So by doing that you would not advance the

goal of changing the priorities in going after assets in a failure, but
what you would do is raise the cost of advances and raise the cost
of borrowing by member institutions.

I don't think that is the right way to get at that kind of concern.
There may be other ways to get at it, but I would avoid that. There
are some who are proposing a step-by-step approach to raise the
cost of GSE operations in the hope of leveling the playing field be-
tween GSEs and non-GSE private firms. If the goal is to reduce the
risk to the taxpayer, I don't think it will accomplish the purpose.
The risk to the taxpayer comes from the size and importance of
these enterprises and that will not go away, because you take away
some of the marketplace advantages.
The loss of marketplace advantages will mean higher cost for

consumers. That is not your goal, and I don't think that ought to

be the goal. If you are concerned about too-big-to-fail, you should

worry about how to scale down the size of the assets of the enter-

prises which can be done consistently with passing through the
cost benefits to the consumer. If that is the concern, then that

ought to be where the work is done.
The last thing we should do is raise the cost for the consumer

and still have the taxpayer on the hook, because that is a lose-lose

proposition. And some of the proposals that are being made would
lead in that direction. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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[The prepared statement of Hon. Bruce Morrison can be found on

page 177 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. I thank all of you for your testimony. I would

like to start with a question I asked Under Secretary Gensler.

If we take regulatory structure off the table so that that is an
unresolved issue; if we add to that list, for purposes of this panel,
the question surrounding superlien status for Home Loan Banks,
can each of you identify any other concerns as in your regulatory

capacity that are contained in H.R. 3703 as either ill-advised; you
feel should not be supported by the committee; or do you find the

balance of the proposals basically safety and soundness rec-

ommendations to be an acceptable or constructive approach?
Mr. Apgar.
Mr. Apgar. With respect to the new program review, H.R. 3703

would require the regulator to make affirmative finding of the

GSEs before they undertake new activity. We think that is good.
HUD currently has the authority to review programs. What we are

concerned about though is that the H.R. 3703 limits this review to

mortgage-related programs and does not address the GSEs' pursuit
of other activities that may or may not fall within their charter, so

we think there needs to be some clarity.

We do appreciate the fact that this expansion and clarification of

the new program review authority, but we are worried about its

limited nature specified in the bill.

Chairman Baker. On that point, has HUD ever declined a new
product request of a GSE?
Mr. Apgar. We have done four reviews. In one instance our ef-

forts were overtaken by Congress that explicitly acted overtaking
our regulatory authority. We are currently doing a series of explo-
rations about new activities. We have asked the GSEs to provide
it and they have responded with information about their involve-

ment in mortgage insurance-related activities, their involvement in

Internet lending activities.

In the case of Fannie Mae, we are asking them to provide us in-

formation about an initiative they have with Home Depot, a pilot

program for home improvement loans, and with respect to Freddie

Mac, we are asking about a new homestead buying center, which
is a real estate brokerage effort, all of which we think at least on

the surface posed the question of whether they are within the char-

ter boundaries, whether they represent an effective public policy or

whether they raise safety or soundness concerns, which is the three

criteria we use for doing a new program review.

Chairman Baker. For example, on the Home Depot pilot, as I

understand it, it is limited in scope today, but the constructive ele-

ments of it, I believe, is that Chevy Chase Bank would agree to fi-

nance home improvement items at the Home Depot store. If a fel-

low wants to add on a sunroom or put in a Jacuzzi, Chevy Chase
would extend the credit at the point of sale, and then the paper
would be purchased by Fannie at the end of the line, is that cor-

rect?

Mr. Apgar. Yes, that is a rough description of the pilot. In our

mind, it raises safety and soundness issues and raises other issues

of whether it is consistent with the charter.
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Chairman Baker. In some cases I understand that the extension

of credit would not necessarily be secured by a home mortgage, it

would just simply be a consumer extension.

Mr. Apgar. Yeah, it is on that boundary of consumer lending
which we are concerned about. Clearly, this is risky business. This

type of lending can experience losses.

Chairman Baker. I just wanted to bring it to the subcommittee
Members' attention as to the types of business expansion that are

being considered. For example, two years ago there was a life in-

surance product that was suggested by Fannie Mae which
Mr. Apgar. Which was withdrawn.
Chairman Baker. Yes, but my point is that some have suggested

that having any approval process would require disclosure of pro-

prietary business activity that would be to the consumer's disin-

terest. Chairman Morrison, is it correct that Federal Home Loan
Bank has a new product approval process and how does that work?
Mr. Morrison. Yes, we have had one for what we call pilot pro-

grams and that has worked in terms of both a submission process
for legal authority and also a safety and soundness review before
actual operations. We are expanding the scope of that as part of

our collateral expansion process. So I certainly believe that a new
activity approval process can work. It requires clarity of mission so

you know whether it is inside or outside of the line. And it requires
efficiency.
And I don't know whether the publication in the Federal Register

is a good idea or not. That is in the bill. But such a process must
require that things can move rapidly enough so that it is not a bar
to innovation.
Chairman Baker. And to return to my original question, is there

any other item in the legislation which you want to bring to our
attention this morning that is problematic?
Mr. Morrison. I would identify the repeal of the Treasury line

of credit in this way. As Mr. Gensler explained, this really just
vests discretion in the Secretary of the Treasury to buy these secu-
rities. Therefore, it is not a compulsion to do so, and as he said,
it is largely symbolic since the size of the credit line is wholly in-

sufficient to deal with any real problem in any of the enterprises
at this point.
That being the case, this is about sending signals. So if the sig-

nal is that there is less connection between the Federal Govern-
ment and the GSEs, then I would assume the markets would raise
the price. I put that in the same category as the superlien. Before

you raise the price, you ought to figure out where you are going
and whether you are going to change the reality

—which I say
today is that the Federal Government could not stand idly by while
one of these enterprises went bust. Anybody who believes that, you
know, believes in the tooth fairy.
That being the case, the last thing you want to do is be sitting

with that potential risk and raising the price to consumers along
the way. Then you are not getting the benefit of what the implied
guarantee actually is delivering right now to the American people,
which is a half to three-quarters of a percentage point lower mort-

gage rates than they would have otherwise.
Chairman Baker. Thank you.
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Mr. Falcon.
Mr. Falcon. Mr. Chairman, I view these issues through the lens

of a safety and soundness regulator, so I would defer to my col-

leagues on commission issues. But there are some positive things
in the bill, which deal with greater disclosure and transparency in

the activities of the enterprises. I think those can only enhance the

safety and soundness of the enterprises. There is an additional pro-
vision, which would remove the enterprises' line of credit with

Treasury. They each have a $2.25 billion line of credit with the

Treasury.
Given that they are combined assets and not balance sheet as-

sets over $2.1 trillion, that is largely a symbolic line of credit and
so I don't think it would have a major safety and soundness im-

pact. I think it is largely a question for the subcommittee to deter-

mine whether or not that symbolic role of that line of credit should

stay or go.
Chairman Baker. Thank you. I do have a different view on the

importance of that symbolic gesture and the pricing of that risk in

the market explicitly for that reason to ensure that there is some
measure of protection understood by those investors. But one other

question
Mr. Apgar. Mr. Chairman, if I might.
Chairman Baker. Yes.
Mr. Apgar. I just wanted to mzike sure I was clear on our con-

cerns about the fair lending provisions. The GSE oversight that we
have gives certain authorities relative to fair lending. The way I

understand the bill those authorities will remain with HUD, but
the enforcement action would go to the new entity. We feel that
that would divide our fair housing oversight function both on the
GSEs and as it relates to other market players, then we need some
clarification on how the fair housing piece of this would work.
Chairman Baker. That was understood, but I appreciate you for

clarif5dng. We do have other Members and I don't want to go on
at length. I have one just final thing that I would like to ask Mr.
Falcon. With regard to the promulgation of the stress test, how far

away are we? I have been asking now for eight years, and I hope
that we are not going to extend the review period unnecessarily.
Are we nine months away? A year? Eighteen months away?
Mr. Falcon. Mr. Chairman, I can assure you you won't be ask-

ing for another eight years. I can say that safety.
Chairman Baker. I can assure you that too.

Mr. Falcon. We are in the process of going through the com-
ments we received on risk-based capital proposal and depending on
the amount of work that is required in terms of adequately re-

sponding to each and every comment that we receive, and we re-

ceive thousands of pages of comments on this proposal, we will

have to assess how much modification might be appropriate to the
rule in response to comments in order to produce the best possible

capital rule.

It is my hope, Mr. Chairman, that after going through these com-

ments, I hope that we can get done before the end of the year. I

say that at great risk, because I don't like missing deadlines and
the agency has missed deadlines before. So, but that is my hope.
It all depends on the nature of the comments and the amount of



44

work that is required to modify the rule in response to the com-
ments.
Chairman Baker. And let me for the record say all the reasons

for delays and unmet expectations do not lie at the feet solely of

OFHEO, and I certainly do intend to try to help with the appro-

priations resolution as best we can notwithstanding the outcome of

this legislation.
Mr. Kanjorski.
Mr. Kanjorski. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Let me start at the

very top.
I think, Mr. Morrison, in your testimony you talked about some

people in this town who do not like GSEs, and that there probably
is some maturity level that a GSE gets to where it warrants privat-
ization. Does anybody think that we should look at privatizing
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac as we did with Sally Mae? Are we
at that level where they are mature institutions? And if we did pri-

vatize, would that lessen in any way the implicit full faith and
credit support? In other words, would they be too-big-to-fail even
if they were private institutions?

Mr. Morrison. Well, I am not a fan of privatization myself. First

of all, we need to be clear on what true privatization actually
means. Obviously, all the capital is privately-held today. There are

many private aspects of GSEs to start with. But if you could ring
out all of the public benefits that are different, you would have two

problems.
One, you would also at the same time wring out all the benefits

the consumer gets from those lower costs, so you would raise prices
in this marketplace. Some people would say that is appropriate, be-

cause there is too much emphasis on housing. I don't happen to

agree with that. But the other thing you would get is two enor-

mously well endowed enterprises with enormous ability to domi-
nate the marketplace. So you might end up with still having a kind
of dualopoly power while you had given up any basis to require any
public benefit. That wouldn't seem to be a very good outcome.
So I think a much better approach than privatization is to focus

on competition in the delivery of the GSE benefit. That is what we
think we are doing with Mortgage Partnership Finance and other

mortgage purchase programs: creating a third way of delivering the
GSE benefit, which—^by bringing a new form of competition—will

mean the pricing will be as sharp as it can be, and, therefore, will

be most likely to benefit the consumer.
And I think there are other strategies one can pursue to make

the "too big" part of the "too big to fail" equation less of a problem.
The debt needs of the enterprises, including the Federal Home
Loan Banks, can be made less of a problem. That is why we focus
so much on the arbitrage issue, because we think that the balance
sheet should be used for assets that actually deliver the goods to

the consumer.
So I guess what I would say that is the problems are worth con-

sidering. Privatization is unlikely to be the remedy that politically
or economically will do the most good.
Mr. Kanjorski. Let me move to the next question then. If we do

not privatize, obviously there is an importance with the mission
and it seems to me as public policy is concerned, the mission state-
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ment of these entities are more than Hkely determined by who is

President of the United States and who is in the majority of the

Congress. If we were to create a single regulator and merge the

mission control and safety and soundness regulation under one sys-

tem, would we not be divorcing these entities from the representa-
tives of the people or the President?

Mr. Morrison. Well, I don't think so. First of all, the Congress
ultimately writes the charters. By the same token, nothing Con-

gress writes can ever be precisely tailored to everything that will

come afterwards. So, there need to be regulatory interpretations.
Whether you have a director or a board there

Mr. Kanjorski. What about the independence of that charter?

Mr. Morrison. Well, if you are concerned—I think independence
within limits is what you want. No entity should be independent
from the byplay between the Congress and the President.

Mr. Kanjorski. Well, are we not talking about a structure simi-

lar to the Federal Reserve? Is that not somewhat divorced from the

influence of Congress?
Mr. Morrison. I think what is in H.R. 3703 is very similar to

the structure of the Federal Housing Finance Board. It is a five-

person board. The only real difference is that the Secretary of the

Treasury would be joined with the Secretary of HUD on such a

board. That is very different from the Fed. We operate certainly
under Congressional oversight and we have Executive Branch

input today both from HUD and on an informal basis from the

Treasury.
Mr. Kanjorski. I know we never have any difficulty filling these

spots on the Board, because we have such great cooperation be-

tween the Administration and the Congress, but is competition not

likely to happen if we create an independent agency?
Mr. Morrison. There is no question that filling boards, certainly

filling our board, has been an adventure throughout my five years
on the board. And that very much might argue in favor of what Mr.

Falcon had to say about the possibility of having an independent

agency with a single head. All of these choices have up sides and
down sides and I don't think any of them is perfect and ultimately
it is the wisdom of the Congress that will govern.
Mr. Kanjorski. I take from your testimony, Mr. Morrison, that

if we did not have the GSEs, particular Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac, the private sector would not have, and could not have, an en-

tity as we do today for a real secondary market.

Mr. Morrison. Well, there is no question that the secondary
market would never have been developed to the degree it has with-

out the leadership that came initially within the Executive Branch.

Fannie Mae was originally an Executive Branch agency. It was like

Ginny Mae is today, a corporation within the Government. And the

first securitization really came from there and then Freddie Mac
when it was first developed was really very closely overseen by the

Federal Home Loan Bank Board.

So in all of these developments, and in what we have today, the

private sector has gotten a marketplace with the assistance of the

public sector. The question now is to make sure that the public
benefit continues to exist from this very well developed market.
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Mr. Kanjorski. I know my time has expired, Mr. Chairman. I

just want to ask Mr. Morrison a question that Mr. (Jensler an-

swered. Will you cooperate with us as we get an opportunity to re-

examine the expansion of the mission for the Federal Home Loan
Bank System in taking larger roles in economic development, com-

munity development and infrastructure development in the dis-

tressed areas of the country?
Mr. Morrison. Yes, as you know, I personally am very sup-

portive of the Federal Home Loan Banks' taking a much more ag-

gressive role with respect to that kind of economic development. I

think the collateral change that you and Mr. Baker were very im-

portant in enacting will contribute greatly to their ability to do so.

Mr. Kanjorski. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Ms. Velazquez.
Ms. Velazquez. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Apgar, first I would like to thank you and Secretary Cuomo

for the time that you have taken with the Hispanic Caucus to up-
date us on your oversight of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. In con-

junction with HUD's oversight, you have recently expressed con-
cern about Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac's record in helping serve
minorities. The housing GSEs argue that H.R. 3703, if enacted, will

stifle the ability to develop innovative products and this in turn
will hamper their ability to assist minorities in achieving home
ownership. Do you think this is a valid argument?
Mr. Apgar. No. I think that there are many opportunities today

that exist within the confines of their charter to better serve mi-

norities, low- and moderate-income folks, underserved communities
broadly. We propose an aggressive new goal for them to meet and
we think within the basic confines of the primary mortgage market
and their role as secondary mortgage lenders, there are ample op-
portunities. We do not believe they need to reach out into new pro-

gram areas. We do not believe they need to necessarily go into

subprime lending or many other areas of expansion in order to

meet these higher goals. It is a question of working hard.
I take the GSEs at their word that they have embraced these

higher goals and I perceive that over the next couple of years we
will see a substantial expansion of their involvement in under-
served communities to the benefit of minorities across the country.
Ms. Velazquez. Franklin Raines, the Chairman and CEO of

Fannie Mae, recently stated that HUD's proposed rules, affordable

housing rules, for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are tougher than
CRA requirements for financial institutions. In fact, he referred to

the proposed rules as "CRA requirement on steroids." Obviously,
you believe the proposed rules are reasonable and necessary. Could
you explain to the subcommittee why that is the case, specifically
how will the proposed rule help insure that Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac purchase loans in underserved neighborhoods?
Mr. Apgar. Well, I saw the comment about the "CRA on

steroids." All I can say with respect to that is Chairman Raines has
also stated many times, including at joint appearances with Sec-

retary Cuomo, that these goals are doable and he welcomes the op-
portunity to push his company toward expanding their lending in
this arena. Again, we have done a careful analysis of the market-

place and we have looked at the kinds of loans that private lenders
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are making and there is ample opportunity for Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac to increase their presence in these marketplaces.
We note that both companies have initiated new programs to

achieve that and most recently of course Fannie Mae has com-
mitted itself to a substantial increase in its lending across the
board. So we think it is doable and we welcome working with them
to expand opportunities in underserved communities.
Ms. Velazquez. If Congress enacted H.R. 3703 into law this

year, could that delay HUD's efforts to finalize the affordable hous-

ing goal for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac?
Mr. Apgar. We are very concerned about the timing and the

transition. As Mr. Falcon said, there is a major safety and sound-
ness rule underway. There is GSE affordable housing rule in place
and we would be careful about the transition period. It is our inten-

tion though to have our affordable housing rule finished and in

place before the end of the year so it would affect it that way.
But we do believe that HUD has demonstrated its record as

being an effective regulator. We believe that—we share the view
that Secretary Grensler mentioned that we need to have coordina-

tion in the housing policy arena and to the extent to which we have
mission regulation it ought to be coordinated with those who are

knowledgeable about housing policy and we think that is HUD and
Secretary Cuomo I think has demonstrated that capacity to use his

authority in the GSE regulations as part of development of an over-

all housing policy for the Nation.
Ms. Velazquez. Thank you, Mr. Apgar.
Mr. Falcon, as you know, this legislation will create a new five-

person board combining all the representatives from the current

regulatory agencies, but the bill does not integrate the different

rules and functions of the current agencies. Doesn't this proposal
seem to encourage a confusing bureaucratic situation that has the

potential to detract from the safety and soundness activities of the
board?
Mr. Falcon. I think it is critical to make this happen properly

if it is Congress' will to make this happen that there be an ade-

quate transition period to make sure that you don't run into these

types of problems, I believe one of the things that the bill would
do would be to require that OFHEO's risk-based capital standard
be applied or some variation of it to Federal Home Loan Banks. To
try to do that at the same time that you are merging the agencies
and trying to put in place a new management structure for the

agency would be very difficult and would make it, I think, difficult

to properly integrate the different administrative functions, every-

thing from payroll systems to staff and operation of the agencies.
Ms. Velazquez. Thank you. I just have one more question,

please. Mr. Morrison, the bill under consideration is called the Reg-
ulatory Improvement Act. There is no question that the bill will

change the regulatory structure for the housing GSEs. The ques-
tion is whether this change will be an improvement. In your opin-
ion, would this legislation improve on the current regulatory struc-

ture, and if so, in which ways? If not, where does this bill fall

short?
Mr. Morrison. Well, I think my sense is that it is the intention

of the authors of the bill to improve regulation. I think there are
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a number of ways in which what is proposed here could do so. And
the aspects of it that I think would be specific improvement are the

coordination of policy for housing GSEs in one place. These entities

are in the same business. One operates primarily at the primary
level and the other two at the secondary level, but they are in the

same business and different regulatory policies affecting them lead

to unequal results.

And to the extent that they can be coordinated, that will be bet-

ter. That doesn't mean that the current structure lacks any coordi-

nation, because Mr. Apgar serves on the Finance Board and that

provides a level of coordination. There is informal communication
and coordination all the time among the agencies. So we are not
in any crisis. This is really a future-oriented question.

I think that there are risks whenever you make changes in Grov-

ernment organization and you can get a mess. I think Mr. Falcon
has been quite eloquent on that point, about what the risks are.

So I think the Congress ought to think about this question not in

a "What do we need to do tomorrow?" way, but rather "What would
we like this structure to look like five years from now? What are
we likely to see on those charts in five years?" and "What would
we like to be in place?"
And if more consolidation and coordination is your choice, and

that would be my choice if I were sitting in your seat, then plot
a way to get there so you don't have the down sides. Resolve all

of the competing concerns and move in that direction. There is no
need to act precipitously. There is no crisis out there. This is about

refining something, but no one should underestimate what we are

talking about here.

We are talking about trillions of dollars of assets under manage-
ment in twelve Federal Home Loan Banks and two secondary mar-
ket enterprises. It is a huge part of our economy and it doesn't look
that way when you see three regulators here, each with his hand
on one part of the system.
Ms. Velazquez. Thank you. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Just a little bit of equal time on the question

of performance, Mr. Apgar. Ira Peppercorn, your predecessor, ap-
peared before the subcommittee on July 30, 1996 and made a state-

ment with regard to his observations about performance where in

that time period of review low income borrowers accounted for 8.3

percent of GSE's purchasers of home mortgages compared to 13.5

percent of mortgages originated by commercial banks.
Underserved neighborhoods accounted for 20.3 percent of GSE

mortgage purchases compared to 26 percent of commercial banks.
I remember reading something in recent weeks of your comments
with regard to the practices of Fannie and Freddie in meeting mi-

nority needs. I don't know given the press reports of it how accu-
rate those comments were. Do you stand by what I believe to be

your observation about the performance of GSEs and minority
lending and is it not in fact a more historic problem rather than

just a recent revelation with regard to how they compare with the
commercial banking industry?
Can you speak to that, because I know Ms. Velazquez has a real

interest in seeing these institutions perform and my point is they
might can be doing a little better.
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Mr. Apgar. Yes. A lot of the discussion was about their perform-
ance relative to the overall banking and mortgage lending in gen-
eral. The reason we are raising the goal is, because we perceive

they can do more, that in fact we see that among minority lending
in general they tend to lag the market, but there are particular
areas where they lag even more so.

We pointed out in the rule, although I have to admit it is in an
obscure table deep in the bowels of the rule that in fact when you
look at the overall record of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac for Afri-

can American lending and for Hispanic lending both of their share

of business in those arenas are less than the performance of banks,
thrifts and other mortgage lenders, and so we stand by those facts.

I think our focus on the rule is they can do better. The rule is

to encourage them to do better and by all admissions they have
committed to doing better so that is looking forward we think

where we will be heading.
Chairman BAKER. Just to put a fine point on this, commercial

banks over the duration of analysis of regulators looking at percent
of portfolio to African Americans have out-performed the GSEs
every year for which I have been given data.

Mr. Apgar. That is correct, even up to the most recent period for

which we have the data.

Chairman Baker. Thank you.
Mr. Bentsen.
Mr. Bentsen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and let me first of all

welcome my fellow Texan, Mr. Falcon, to the panel. I apologize for

not being here when you started. And I have to tell you, Armando,
it is interesting to sit up here and see a list of questions that we

might ask you. I am sure that you never had any opportunity to

prepare these when you were staff some time ago, but I am going
to stay away from those.

I do want to follow up on the Chairman's line of questioning and
also some comments that Mr. Morrison just made. And I don't

know if the Chairman is implying perhaps we ought to apply the

Community Reinvestment Act to the GSEs to see if they do a bet-

ter job.
Chairman Baker. No. I was just merely pointing out that mak-

ing a $4 billion profit last year hasn't translated into loans to mi-

norities.

Mr. Bentsen. But I guess you could say that the CRA has had
some impact on banks and their lending into minority neighbor-
hoods. Mr. Apgar, obviously we all know that HUD and the Sec-

retary have been engaged in a war of words with the GSEs, par-

ticularly with Fannie and Freddie over their minority lending pri-

marily to African Americans and Hispanic Americans. And you
have a rule that you are proposing now to increase their targets
for that lending.

In your opinion, were Congress to enact the legislation that the

Chairman is holding the hearing on today, particularly repealing
the line of credit and potential credit market impact that could

have on the GSEs, would you view that as being counterproductive
to the rule that HUD is proposing at this point in time or do you
think the GSEs could swallow both the changes that are provided
for in the bill being discussed today and what HUD is proposing?
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Mr. Apgar. I would echo Secretary Grensler's comments with re-

spect to the Une of credit along with the Chairman. We think it is

largely symbolic. We think that its elimination would reinforce

what everyone believes to be the case that there is no explicit Grov-

emment guarantee, but I think that that change particularly will

affect their cost of funds and therefore will have no effect, in my
opinion, on their capacity to meet the GSE affordable goals.
Mr. Bentsen. Now it is my understanding, and I thought I had

it with me today and I don't though, that one of the rating agen-
cies, I believe it was Mood/s Investor Service, had said without
this implicit guarantee that is assumed through that line of credit

that Fannie or Freddie would go from a AAA to a AA-minus. As
I told Mr. Gensler still a pretty good rating, nonetheless that would

clearly affect their pricing and affect the pricing of their products,

pricing of their debt and the pricing of their products. But you
don't think that would have any impact on the targets that
Mr. Apgar. Well, again I just echo Mr. Gensler's comments that

there are other facts in terms of assuring the overall stability of
the system that have positive effects and that those would tend to

work in opposite directions so again we do not perceive that there
is a major issue relative to this bill as relates to achieving afford-

able housing goals.
Mr. Bentsen. So from HUD's perspective you would agree with

Treasury, Congress ought to go ahead and just repeal that and
move away from the implicit guarantee for Fannie and Freddie?
Mr. Apgar. Right. We try to be one Administration and so we

share the Treasury's view on the line of credit. They have expertise
in that area that far exceeds mine. And again the specific question
concerning mission regulation, we don't see a conflict there.

Mr. Bentsen. Mr. Morrison said we should not act precipitously
in this. There is not a crisis at hand, but we ought to be thinking
long term, because of the size of the GSEs combined including the

bank, the Home Loan Banks. Mr. Falcon's agency has spent the
last several years, seven years, I guess, developing a risk-based

capital model for Fannie and Freddie, that is in the final stages
now at least of the rulemaking procedure and we will by the end
of the year I guess get a feel for where OFHEO believes the GSEs
are from a creditworthiness standpoint.
Would it be in your opinion, Mr. Morrison, appropriate that we

should wait for OFHEO and review that Mr. Falcon is doing with
his agency before passing any legislation that would change the
overall regulatory structure?
Mr. Morrison. Well, I don't think you have to necessarily wait,

nor do I think you have to necessarily act before that time. What-
ever you do, you ought not to interfere with OFHEO concluding its

process of finalizing that rule and putting it into effect. Nor should

any change similarly affect what we are doing at the Finance
Board to write a new risk-based capital scheme for the Federal
Home Loan Banks, which is due out by November 12. No change
should be managed in such a way to interfere with those goals,
which are more important than how the boxes go together in the

Grovernment, more important to the safety and soundness of the
GSEs.
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So does that mean you can't consider the question of what would
be the best way in the long run to oversee those capital rules, to

bring those capital rules into conformity? They theoretically should
be the same, but they can't be, because OFHEO was given a very

tight set of statutory rules that they must follow in writing
—rules

that are different from ours. So five years from now all three hous-

ing GSEs should probably have comparable capital rules, but they
won't in the short run, and they probably never will if they are not

under the same regulatory scheme.
Mr. Bentsen. Mr. Chairman, with your indulgence, can I just go

back real quick to Mr. Apgar? And, Armando, I am sorry to leave

you out of all this what my questions are. Are you saying HUD
doesn't—Mr. Grensler, if I recall, said that there would be—there is

a pricing differential that occurs, because of the rating and presum-
ably without this implicit guarantee. I think this is right that

Fannie and Freddie would lose their current AAA rating. Now I

don't know whether HUD agrees with that or not. That would be

my first question.
But second of all, are you saying that if there was a 30 or 40

basis point pricing differential that that would not have—^you all

don't believe that would have any material effect on Fannie and
Freddie's ability to service the lower income market?
Mr. Apgar. First of all, you presume that there will be a sub-

stantial change. He outlines scenarios in which there would be off-

setting factors which would mitigate any interest rate change. But

again it is a matter of what share of their business is oriented to-

ward low- and moderate-income borrowers. We do not perceive that

in many instances affordable lending is any more less the profit-

making than mainline business is a question of developing extra

business systems, the outreach and the context.

We have done extensive studies on the margins, if you will, that

can be earned by doing affordable lending and they hold up quite

nicely. So while it may affect their overall business activity their

proportion of activity that is devoted to low- and moderate-income
folks we don't think it would necessarily be affected.

Mr. Bentsen. If we cut off their line of credit, why not just cut

them off completely and spin them off completely. Let them break

up whatever and- let them go on and do their business as they will.

I mean what connection do we have to them after that?

Mr. Apgar. We perceive that our capacity to encourage them to

engage in outreach to low- and moderate-income borrowers is en-

hanced by their current quasi-Govemment status. As a purely pri-
vate entity, we think that they would move even further away from
affordable lending than they are today.
Mr. Bentsen. What quasi-Government status do they have once

they have no implicit guarantee?
Mr. Apgar. They have the oversight. They have the safety and

soundness reviews. They have an association with the Cjovemment
from its historical

Mr. Bentsen. But in reality, and I don't mean to be argumen-
tative, but in reality banks have the oversight and they have the

safety and soundness review, but the only difference would be the

long-term association, but the Government would
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Mr. Apgar. And we best be clear, we are talking about securities

which on their face say this has no Government guarantee, yet the

market perceives that, because of the association of the entity his-

torically with the Government, its Government roots, its Federal

oversight through its board structure and other things that they
have some guarantee. How that psychology change, because of the

S3mibolic change, I remain to see.

Mr. Bentsen. Well, I don't completely agree with that, but my
time has expired.
Chairman Baker. Thank you. Let us take the flip side of that

just for an observation, a little equal treatment time on the other

side here. Why don't we just take the implicit guarantee and make
it explicit. If all the benefits that are flowing to the market are

good for consumers by having the implicit guarantee and the line

of credit to the Treasury, why not just put this sucker in the Treas-

ury Department and say it is a nationalization of home mortgage
debt in this country? Why don't we really make mortgages cheap?
What do you think about that?

Mr. Morrison. Would you like an answer?
Chairman Baker. Yeah, I really would. I mean the logic here is

that by having the implicit guarantee, the line of credit, we are

doing good things here, we are making home mortgages available

to everybody, it is cheap, it is the way to go. Let us just put it on
the record.

Mr. Morrison. As the Chairman knows, we do that with the
FHA program and with the VA program.
Chairman Baker. Yeah, but I am saying let us bring everybody

to the party.
Mr. Bentsen. If the Chairman will 5deld. The only point that—

and the Chairman makes a very good point, and I guess my point
is I think we are looking at this bill and not having a discussion

about the broader issue before us, which I don't know if this is the
intent or not, as to whether or not we are decided that the GSEs
have gotten too big and it is time for us to move away from them.
And here it seems to me we are maybe taking a back door ap-

proach to that. If we are going to have that discussion, let us have
that discussion.

Chairman Baker. I am with you. Let us open all the doors. Let
them all come down. Mr. Morrison, would you care to

Mr. Morrison. Well, let me make clear that what I am about to

say doesn't speak for anybody but yours truly. There is an attempt
to somehow shuffle around this implied guarantee question. There
is no question that the markets infer a guarantee. That is a fact.

Mr. Bentsen is absolutely correct that Moody's has said that they
wouldn't give a AAA to Fannie or Freddie if they didn't feel that

the Government support was there because of their capital levels

and other such things.
So it is there. And it doesn't serve a purpose to pretend that that

isn't what is going on in the market. So when you make a decision,
whether it be the Treasury line of credit or something else, you are
faced with the question of what is the market going to think when
you do that. And I think Congress is stuck with the reality. How-
ever it c£ime to pass, if various kinds of Government assistance are
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removed, that is going to have cost impacts. And you are just going
to have to decide which risks you want to take in that regard.
The fact is that when there was a problem in deposit insurance,

as there was in 1989, what Congress decided to do was just what
you just said, go from that implied backing to full faith and credit.

So I suggest if there ever is a problem with GSEs, you could figure
out how it is likely to come out. But the real issue is that the con-
cern ought to be the "too big to fail" issue. In other words, what
are the taxpayers signing up to and are there ways to run the GSE
businesses to stop maximizing the amount of debt and the size of
the assets in the portfolio?
And then whether they are "too big to fail" or not, they won't be

so big and the taxpayer risk won't be so great. And I think that
discussion—which has not been reached yet, but which I know that

you and your colleagues are up for—is worth having. When I go
elsewhere in the world and talk about housing policy, I find that

everyone wants what we have been able to achieve by the sleight
of hand of implied guarantees. Everybody asks "How do we get an
implied guarantee for our debt so that we can support housing in

our country?" The answer that those countries are all given is that
"the full faith and credit of your government is the best you can
do if you want to replicate this." So the American people have got-
ten a bargain here. I don't know that anybody ought to want to

mess with it, given its success.

Chairman Baker. Let me characterize it this way. I am a co-

signer as long as every other member on Fannie's debt and if that

helps get better prices to our constituents, I will co-sign. I just
don't want my phone to ring making good on that partial obligation
of mine to pay off their debt in case things don't work out right.
Mr. Morrison. Which is the question of the quality of the regu-

lation that you get.
Chairman Baker. That is it.

Mr. Kanjorski. Mr. Chairman, if we are going to get into that
issue—and it is not a bad issue to get into, I would like to know
the distinction between the implicit full faith and credit support
and too-large-to-fail. I do not see a distinction. And, quite frankly,
if we are going to open that up, are these multi-trillion dollar

banks too large and are they getting an implicit underwriting of
the taxpayers? In fact, would we not bail them out as the Federal
Reserve did in the Long-Term Capital Management situation?

Chairman Baker. Let me reclaim regular order here. I started
this mess and I apologize, but I just kind of got overcome by some
of the arguments.
Ms. Waters.
Ms. Waters. Let just ask a few quick questions so I can make

sure I understand. Mr. Apgar, now Fannie Mae does not originate
loans, right? They are originated by lenders, is that right?
Mr. Apgar. That is correct.

Ms. Waters. Now these lenders can sell the loans or keep them,
is that right?
Mr. Apgar. That is also correct.

Ms. Waters. Some of these loans don't carry any mortgage in-

surance, is that right?
Mr. Apgar. That is true.
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Ms. Waters. Which prohibits Fannie from being able to take

them if they are not insured, is that right?
Mr. Apgar. That is also true.

Ms. Waters. Now all of this data in this discussion that was in

the papers about African Americans, have you seen that data?
Mr. Apgar. Have I seen it?

Ms. Waters. Do you review the information that Fannie Mae
submits and are you privy to what was in the voluminous informa-

tion for review that is submitted by Fannie Mae?
Mr. Apgar. OK Now we have to be careful here. With respect

to their performance of GSE affordable housing
Ms. Jones. Excuse me. Would you put the microphone in front

of your mouth so I can be sure I understand everything you say,

please? Thank you.
Mr. Apgar. OK. I am not sure what voluminous data you are

talking to. They submit to us very
Ms. Waters. OK. What is your role in fair lending enforcement?
Mr. Apgar. I have no role in the fair lending
Ms. Waters. You have no role in fair lending enforcement, but

you
Mr. Apgar. I do have a role in reviewing the performance under

GSE goals, which includes performance in meeting the needs of un-
derserved communities. The data that was presented in here was
not a part of the fair lending review. It is part of our overall over-

sight of Fannie and Freddie relative to

Ms. Waters. So you establish goals?
Mr. Apgar. We establish goals.
Ms. Waters. You establish goals for African Americans?
Mr. Apgar. No, we do not. We establish goals for low income

folks

Ms. Waters. Why don't you establish goals for African Ameri-
cans? You spoke about what Fannie Mae is not doing in relation-

ship to African Americans, did you not?
Mr. Apgar. We did.

Ms. Waters. Well, if you don't have any goals, what is your role

in insuring that African Americans are outreached to or have ad-

vantage of getting the Fannie Mae product? I mean what
Mr. Apgar. Well, the underserved area goal, which is defined by

a combination of low income status
Ms. Waters. No, I am not talking about underserved. The article

was about African Americans.
Mr. Apgar. Well, if I can explain how increasing the underserved

area goal will directly benefit minorities. It is proportioned
Ms. Waters. No. I said the discussion was specifically about Af-

rican Americans, and I am really interested in African Americans.
Mr. Apgar. Fair enough. A proportioned large share
Ms. Waters. So I want to know why you don't have goals, and

if you don't have goals, how do you determine whether or not
Fannie Mae is meeting goals?
Mr. Apgar. OK The goals were identified by legislation as part

of the 1992 Act. They prescribed what goals we can impose on
them. We track
Ms. Waters. On what?
Mr. Apgar. On Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.



55

Ms. Waters. For African Americans?
Mr. Apgar. No. There is no specific African Americsin goal. The

Congress in its wisdom concluded it was not
Ms. Waters. How do we determine whether or not Fannie Mae

is meeting African American goals?
Mr. Apgar. They report to us their information on their lending

and we compare their lending to other lenders in the area and we
note that their performance among African Americans lag other

lenders in the market area.

Ms. Waters. OK. All right. And that is good. I don't mean to be

mean, you know. I am just like this. Let me ask you this. Did you
do these kinds of comparisons. Remember when I first started talk-

ing the other day, I talked about subprime lenders at mortgage
companies with extraordinary fees lending to people in ways that

only cause them to be foreclosed on?
Mr. Apgar. Yes.
Ms. Waters. Now are you putting those in the category of people

that you compare Fannie Mae with
Mr. Apgar. No.
Ms. Waters. who are making these loans in these under-

served communities that you think are kind of majority African
American?
Mr. Apgar. No.
Ms, Waters. Who, tell me who these others are that are doing

so much better?
Mr. Apgar. Who are these others? The thrifts, depository institu-

tions, others who have presence in African American communities.
Ms. Waters. Such as? I live there. Tell me. I know something

about this. Tell me who they are.

Mr. Apgar. Banks.
Ms. Waters. Which banks?
Mr. Apgar. I can get you a list.

Ms. Waters. Bank of America? Nation's Bank? Wells Fargo? Tell

me which ones.

Mr, Apgar. Depository institutions in general often in response
to their CRA obligations. We can get you a list of

Ms. Waters. Did you see the latest information on the seven

largest banks that serve Southcentral Los Angles and the number
of loans they made in 1999?
Mr. Apgar. I haven't seen the evils of Southcentral. I have seen

national data.

Ms. Waters. If you are comparing, sir, if you are comparing, you
ought to know what is being done. CRA activists, Greenlining and
the others, Greenlining in particular, came out with a study that
showed what the seven largest banks did, in 1999, in Southcentral
Los Angeles. Do you know how many loans they made? 49.

Mr. Apgar. OK.
Ms. Waters. In Southcentral Los Angeles.
Mr. Apgar. I would suggest that they ought to do more lending.

Other depository institutions are.

Ms. Waters. Well, let me suggest something to you. The reason
I engage you is this. You know, in some instances—well, we are

constantly burdened with the fact that we must struggle to get the
best that we can get from all of these institutions. If you were privy
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to what happened in the Bank Conference Committee where we
were doing banking modernization and the fight that we put up on

CRA, then you understand that the African American community,
the underserved community, they are not doing well.

They are not being serviced in ways that we think make good
sense, but what I don't want you to do, because there is this com-

petition fight between the FM Watch and Fannie Mae people who
want to reduce the competition, want to kill off Fannie Mae's abil-

ity to do what it is doing, afraid of Fannie Mae expanding, all of

that. I don't want you to come in here and point the finger at the

only GSE that we have real access to, GSEs who meet with my mi-

nority banks and who purchase paper in ways that I don't think
others would do.

I again mention to you we have access. I can't get the CEOs of

the major banks that own the subprime lending operations. I can't

do very much about the mortgage entities that charge exorbitant

fees and are foreclosing on my constituents day-in and day-out. So
I don't want Fannie Mae to be diminished in any way, because it

is responsive. I want them to expand their lending. They are going
to try to meet these 50 percent goals.
And so I don't know what this is all about. And I think that Mr.

Morrison, I think it is, said it best, no matter what you do, you've

got to keep your eye on what is good for the consumer. I don't care

about this fight and some may be here, and I am not suggesting
you are, because I don't know who is, but I will find out, some may
be here trying to protect the so-called participants in the FM
Watch.

But, my business is to look out for the consumers. And again, let

me just say to you, this information that was unveiled did not take
in a lot of the factors such as the ones that I have raised with you
about who the banks are selling the paper to, whether or not the
bankers are—some of them are keeping it in their portfolios and
how the mortgage entities are getting more than I would like to see

them with sometimes.
And so this data really doesn't mean an awful lot. What is impor-

tant to me is that the Government takes an interest in making
sure that we keep at this thing of trying to get the underserved
communities served. And let me just close by sa3dng these advan-

tages that we keep talking about, we don't talk about the restric-

tions and when I look at the banks and the thrifts, I see that they
have to have—they are under the national charter. The deposits
are guaranteed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government.

They have access to the Fed window. They have access to the
Federal Home Loan Bank advances. Look, they are all covered in

some way. They are all covered in some way. They are all con-

nected to the Government in some way. We are guaranteeing. And
so let us not try and pretend.
Chairman Baker. Can you begin to conclude?
Ms. Waters. Well, I guess I must, but
Mr. Apgar. Mr. Chairman, if I could make just a reaction to

Chairman Baker. If Ms. Waters has wrapped up. Ms. Waters.
Ms. Waters. Well, let me just conclude by saying I am particu-

larly addressing myself to you, because of your role in the discus-

sion about loans to African Americans by Fannie Mae, and I par-
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ticularly took a look at what your role was and what your involve-

ment is and tried to make a determination about whether or not

you had the facts and you had the data, you had the information.
And I have come to the conclusion that there was a lot that was
not discussed in coming to this conclusion. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Ms. Waters.
Mr. Apgar, I know you wish to respond. Let me bring up one set

of facts, which I believe you did make available in your defense. If

I am correct, your observation is that approximately 5 percent of
the conventional mortgage market, not the subprime lenders
Mr. Apgar. Subprime, correct.

Chairman Baker. We are talking about traditional banks and fi-

nancial institutions. About 5 percent of the conventional mortgage
business went to fund loans for African Americans. In the same
timeframe approximately 3.2 percent of Fannie Mae's loans went
for African Americans' purposes, while 3 percent of Freddie Mac.
Now can you speak to Ms. Waters' concerns and address the points
I have just raised?
Mr. Apgar. Yes. You just read the numbers off of my chart,

which I was about to state and then the issue is what is this per-
formance. I believe it is not for lack of tr3dng. I know there is great
leadership in both companies in trjdng to work on this, particularly
Fannie Mae. But again, the idea that they are captives of the pri-

mary market I think is not correct to say.
I would be happy to come work with you and show you the

names of many people who would sell loans to them and enhance
their service to African American communities if they were allowed
the flexibility of the underwriting that they think would help them
make these business connections. So there are many mortgage in-

surers and others who would be able to expand their outreach in
the African American communities if Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
were more flexible in their underwriting circumstances.
With respect to banks and thrifts, there are many banks who

have portfolio loans which they would like to recycle if they could

get favorable terms for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in order to

buy those loans. That would free up capital to expand their lending
in minority communities so it is not a question of them doing noth-

ing, it is a question of can they do more and by all agreement we
think they can do more. And Chairman Raines and Leland Retzel
have agreed that they could reach out and do more. That is why
they have embraced the goals and that is why we think we are

moving forward in a solid direction.

Chairman Baker. If I can, let me suggest this proceeding for us.

We just had bells. Mrs. Maloney and Ms. Jones have been very pa-
tient and waiting. Can I call on Mrs. Maloney now for a full five

minutes. That will give us down to the five-minute bell and then
just a quick wrap up and we will be happy to let you go.

Mrs. Maloney.
Mrs. Maloney. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have been tremen-

dously successful in the district that I represent and really in New
York City in providing loans for all kinds of people. They have real-

ly helped to grow home ownership, which I feel is an important so-

cial goal. But one of the things about the bill that I have a question
about is the approval of new GSEs program.
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And to give one example, I approached Fannie back in 1998, be-

cause I don't have homes in my district. Everybody Uves vertically.

They are either in an apartment or a co-op or condominium. I said,
'Tou are doing great things to help Harlem and Historia and other

areas of the city." Actually, Historia is in my district, but East Har-
lem used to be in my district and they were providing all kinds of

loans there. I said, "But you are not doing anything for the low-

income people in Central Manhattan."
Within six weeks, they came back and devised a program to pro-

vide loans for co-ops and condominiums and have proceeded to

grow home ownership dramatically. And to tell you the truth, I was
very impressed that they had that type of flexibility to come back
with a program that was really tailored to the economic problems
or challenges of the district that I represented.
And my question is, when you change the new products and put

them not under HUD, but under this new regulatory agency or
whatever it is going to be, this new regulator, and then you add
120 days to make such determinations, I am concerned that you
wouldn't have the same type of flexibility and quick market re-

sponse. What if this new regulator said, "Oh, no, we don't think

you should be giving loans to co-ops and condominiums."
So, I just want to ask about that. And the oversight now—or

rather the approval of new programs, seems to be working fine now
in HUD, is that not true?
Mr. Apgar. Yes. I think
Mrs. MALO>fEY. So why have this change, why have this change

to this other regulator?
Mr. Apgar. The example you give is in the arena that you sug-

gest, the mortgage lending condominiums or cooperatives, that is

clearly within the four quarters of this charter and would not re-

quire new program review. The new program authority is when
they begin to venture outside of traditional boundaries of their ac-

tivities, engage, for example, the sale of distressed properties, en-

gage in home equity lending or other types of activities that are dif-

ferent from the mortgage lending.
And I do share with you the concern that we don't want to make

this process cumbersome and so I think all the commentators sug-
gested that maybe the notice and comment feature of the rule as
the legislation has specified may limit the flexibility to respond
quickly and that would not be the desired effect. But clearly there
has to be some mechanism to establish whether or not, given their

advantages in the marketplace, they are sticking to thas focused
arena of expanding home ownership opportunity.
Mrs. Maloney. But, doesn't HUD have a review now? How long

does it currently take HUD to complete reviews of new programs,
and are there any problems that necessitate such a change now?
Mr. Apgar. We do have the current authority to review new pro-

grams. What we don't have is any requirements that they alert us
ahead of time before they initiate a new program and so, quite
frankly, we read about new activities in the paper and then we
begin to inquire. We think there should be some clarification of the

obligation of the GSEs to notify us when they are considering a
new activity and give us at least a preliminary chance to review
that before going ahead with a yea or nay.
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But in the case that you suggest that the condominium lending,

triple-decker lending are all kinds of things within the clear man-
date of providing mortgage capital that would challenge either ours
or any perspective new program review authority.
Mrs. Maloney. Who is here from OFHEO, Mr. Falcon? What

steps is OFHEO taking to ensure that taxpayers will not be asked
to salvage insolvent GSEs?
Mr. Falcon. We have a very, I think, state of the art capital in

the works, as well as our examination program. I think our exam-
ination program look at every possible aspect of the enterprises,
market risk, interest rate risk, corporate governance of the

enterprises
Chairman Baker. I hate to intercede, but begin to wrap up, be-

cause I want to make sure Ms. Jones gets her opportunity if you
can.

Mrs. Maloney. OK. Well, I tell you, Mr. Chairman, you said let

everything hang out there. Why not expand the mission to include

Kiddie Mac? They have been successful in home ownership. Maybe
they can do the same for day-care and help the building of day-care
which is so desperately needed throughout our country. Seriously.
I mean I know that is a goal that you support. Maybe that is some-

thing we could look at.

Chairman Baker. I would bet if this legislation moves forward,

you would have people mighty willing to talk about it.

Ms. Jones.
Ms. Jones. Unfortunately, I missed my first opportunity because

we had a vote and when I got back you were on to the next panel
so I would ask unanimous consent to include my opening statement
in the record, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Absolutely.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Stephanie Jones can be found

on page 143 in the appendix.]
Ms. Jones. We wouldn't be here, Mr. Apgar, Mr. Falcon and Mr.

Morrison, if Fannie Mae wasn't doing a heck of a job, Freddie Mac,
and they are out in the market doing wonderful things. Talking
about too-big-to-fail, correct?

Mr. Apgar. They are doing remarkable things in the market-

place.
Ms. Jones. And the question I asked you was, we would not be

here discussing too-big-to-fail if they weren't doing such a great job.
That is a yes or no?
Mr. Apgar. They are big. Yes, that is part of the hearing pur-

pose. I believe we would be here anyway
Ms. Jones. Mr. Falcon.
Mr. Apgar. I am sorry.
Ms. Jones. I don't have much time, so I am taking short an-

swers. Mr. Falcon, is that correct?

Mr. Falcon. Yes, they are well-run, healthy companies.
Ms. Jones. Mr. Morrison.
Mr. Morrison. And the same is true of the Federal Home Loan

Banks.
Ms. Jones. The GSEs, excuse me. I didn't mean to leave every-

body else out, but it made my question much shorter. So here we
are, we've got three GSEs doing a great job and we are deciding
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now that regulation is the important thing to do, because we are

afraid we may end up like we were in the thrift situation. Yes?
Mr. Apgar. Yes.
Mr. Falcon. Yes.
Mr. Morrison. And they are growing much faster than the

thrifts.

Ms. Jones. OK. And they are growing much faster, but as of yet
their performance has been wonderful, yes?
Mr. Falcon. Yes.
Ms. Jones. Yes?
Mr. Apgar. Not in affordable housing
Ms. Jones. But my question really is—I am laying a record,

because
Mr. Apgar. That was a no for me.
Ms. Jones. ^because all these questions-
Mr. Morrison. I think you are going to have to let us answer

and the answer is they could do better.

Ms. Jones. I don't have—^the answer is that they are doing a

good job. My next is they could perhaps do better, but right now
they are doing a good job, yes, Mr. Morrison?
Mr. Morrison. They could do better.

Ms. Jones. OK. Well, unfortunately I don't have enough time to

do my great cross examination of you, so I am going to leave you
alone and move on to something else. I am concerned, because as
we talk about how Fannie Mae gets in the position to buy the flexi-

bility of underwriting and you raised the issue that they ought to

be more flexible when they are underwriting and have more favor-

able terms to purchase other people's mortgages, is that correct?

Mr. Apgar. That is correct.

Ms. Jones. I sat in my office, for the record, I am the Chair of

Housing for the Congressional Black Caucus. I am from the City
of Cleveland and the 11th Congressional District of Ohio, and I sat

in my office with Fannie Mae representatives and a representa-
tive's metropolitan strategy group and discussed the very issue you
are discussing. And one of the things that was raised by the Fannie
Mae representative is, if it is a home loan that does not have mort-

gage insurance, Fannie Mae can't buy that, fair?

Mr. Apgar. That is correct.

Ms. Jones. Do you think that could be a factor in the amount
of purchasing that Fannie Mae does from certain companies?
Mr. Apgar. If it is a low down pajonent mortgage they need to

have some form of credit enhancement. My sense is that they can
enhance their flexibility and enable them to have more
Ms. Jones. Answer the question. The question was, do you be-

lieve that could be a factor in determining whether or not Fannie
Mae would have a better record in purchasing some of those loans
since they do not have the mortgage insurance?
Mr. Apgar. It could be.

Ms. Jones. Thank you. What did you want to say?
Mr. Falcon. I simply want to make the point, Congresswoman,

that mortgage insurance is one of only three credit enhancements
that is required for mortgages to be purchased which have a loan
valuation of greater than 80 percent. If it is below 80 percent mort-

gage insurance is not required.
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Ms. Jones. Let me also say that I would encourage Federal agen-
cies to not be in the newspaper pointing fingers at one another
about issues that impact affordable housing in our communities,
because when it happens like that it puts a bad face on all Federal

agencies, and as we sit here pointing fingers at Fannie Mae. As
much as I love Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, the people in my
community are more distressed as a result of HUD having prop-
erties in our community where they have been administered by
poor landlords and then the landlords drop a property back on
HUD and HUD can't find another buyer.
And you know the property I am talking about in the City of

Cleveland, Mr. Apgar, and I am still waiting to hear about that.

So let us not get in the public pointing fingers at who is doing a

good job or who is doing a bad job. Let us talk about how we can
do a better job and increasing affordable housing in communities
across the country. I yield the balance of my time, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much, Ms. Jones.
I am going to sum up very quickly. I appreciate all of your cour-

tesies and participating. I would point out that H.R. 3703 contains

eight legislative proposals, of which three have been the subject of
discussion in the course of today's hearing with representatives of

OFHEO, the Federal Housing Finance Board, HUD, and the Under
Secretary of the Treasury.

I take great comfort in the fact that there is some meritorious
content in this legislation and would point out that the GSEs can
do better, not only from a mission compliance perspective, but from
a safety and soundness perspective although all three are well

funded, well capitalized and we believe are being operated very
safely. This legislation is about the future. And for those who do
not wish to even look, I am frankly shocked. For those who do not
wish to know the facts, I am rather perplexed.

I think that the discussions that I propose to have over the com-

ing months will shed more light on what should be the appropriate
course of action for this Congress and this subcommittee to take.

I am committed to make sure that taxpayers are not at the end of
a long dark tunnel that leads to their requirement to pay off debts
of investments they had no hand in.

Likewise, I want to make sure that we do not inadvertently
make sure that the cost of housing goes up. I think the two are not

mutually exclusive. I think we can have sound regulation, afford-

able housing and we can allow the GSEs to engage in new products
as they deem appropriate. But to fail to take on this obligation and
to stick our head in the proverbial sand and wait for the inevitable

to occur will not happen on my watch. Thank you.
Ms. Jones. Mr. Chgiirman, I can't allow you to end the hearing

with saying that that is what Members on the other side of this

subcommittee are doing.
Chairman Baker. No, I am not saying the other side. I 2im

saying
Ms. Jones. Members on the other side of the subcommittee don't

have their heads in the sand.
Chairman Baker. If the gentlelady will

Ms. Jones. I didn't interrupt you, Mr. Chairman. I am saying to

you that
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Chairman Baker. I know, but the reason why-
Ms. Jones. Members on this subcommittee do not have their

heads in the sand and they are not saying that regulation isn't im-

portant, but they are sa3dng that why do you need regulation when
you don't have a dilemma? And I just want the record to be clear
that our heads are not in the sand, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. I don't know where they are, but I will tell you

this. Members on both sides

Ms. Jones. Mine is on top of my head.
Chairman Baker. Members on both sides have their observations

about this legislation and I am entitled to mine, Ms. Jones.
I am sorry she had to leave. I would like to continue this on, but

for the sake of winding this up, I appreciate your courtesies, your
input. It has been most helpful and I am convinced we will come
to a favorable legislative conclusion. Thank you very much.
[Whereupon, at 2:30 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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TUESDAY, MAY 16, 2000

U.S. House of Representatives,
Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Securities

AND Government Sponsored Enterprises,
Committee on Banking and Financial Services,

Washington, DC.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 9:30 a.m., in room

2128, Raybum House Office Building, Hon. Richard H. Baker,
[chairman of the subcommittee], presiding.

Present: Chairman Baker; Representatives Leach, ex officio,

Manzullo, Ryan, Sweeney, Biggert, Terry, Toomey, Roukema,
Royce, Paul, Cook, Riley, Kanjorski, LaFalce, ex officio, Bentsen,
Sandlin, Waters, C. Maloney of New York, J. Maloney of

Connecticut, Hooley, Mascara, and Jones.
Also Present: Representatives Watt and Clyburn.
Chairman Baker. The hearing will come to order. I want to

facilitate the progress of the hearing this morning. I do not want
to unnecessarily keep our witnesses here all day, as I know there
are many questions.
Despite what my staff told me, I always knew that a good, robust

discussion of systemic risk would be a crowd-pleaser, and I am glad
to see so many of you here. I would like to outline the process. I

consulted with Mr. LaFalce about limiting opening statements to

three minutes. We will adhere strictly to the five-minute rule. And
on our side, I will recognize Members by the order of arrival to the
subcommittee.

I would look to Mr. Kanjorski, who I understand is on his way
momentarily, to give the order of recognition on his side. And it is

without any objection; that will be our process for the hearing this

morning.
And the opening statement time is three minutes, so you can

start the clock on me if you like.

This is a very important hearing. It literally is a battle over huge
fortunes. And I do not mean FM Watch v. GSE Shareholders. I

speak to the potential liability of taxpayers if everything is not run

perfectly. The potential for systemic risk is enormous.
Circumstances today appear great for the GSEs. They are well

managed, extremely profitable, all is well. But it is my responsi-

bility, and I do believe that of Congress, to ensure that adverse
business conditions do not bring on circumstances that could result

in economic loss.

(63)
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In 1992, when Congress created OFHEO, the agencies were large
and complex. Today, they are very large and very complex, yet
OFHEO is still pursuing implementation of the stress test to gauge
agency capital adequacy. Should we wait another decade to initiate

sound regulatory oversight? What are we to say to our grand-
children and those who follow when GSE paper has replaced Treas-
uries as the benchmark for financial transactions, when every bank
and pension fund has enormous investment in securities, and hous-

ing demand goes down while interest rates go up?
No Government Sponsored Enterprise should be above examina-

tion. To have suggested that holding a hearing was to result in

206,000 families being denied home ownership is about as reckless

as it gets in my opinion. I wonder how many hundreds of thou-
sands Chairman Greenspan will impact with his expected an-
nouncement this afternoon? And should we expect the same criti-

cism to be leveled at the Federal Reserve? I don't think so.

This is an important process, and I emphasize "process." There
will be more hearings. Everyone that wants to be heard will be

heard, and we will be in no rush to judgment. Many responsible
voices have already supported this legislative effort. I want to ex-

press my appreciation to the Home Loan Bank system for their

constructive approach and willingness to support legislation with

appropriate modifications. I want to also express appreciation to

the management of Freddie Mac, who have engaged in discussions
over the past weeks and have given concrete suggestions that could
lead to consideration of legislation.

I also want to express my appreciation to HUD and the Treas-

ury, both of whom found elements of the bill worthy of support, but

again, with modification. These opinions were issued also under
very harsh criticism.

This is a process, a process that will result in legislation, legisla-
tion that will ensure stability over the long haul for the secondary
market. But most importantly, the legislation should do all that is

possible to minimize potential of systemic risk. At all costs, I do not
want a Fannie benclmiark or a Freddie security to go the route of
an LTCM investment. It is a far more important issue than share-
holder return. If one of these big guys stumbles, they will crush us
all.

[The prepared statement of Hon. Richard H. Baker can be found
on page 196 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Mr. LaFalce.
Mr. LaFalce. I thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am only an ex-officio

Member of the subcommittee, and I appreciate the opportunity to

make a few remarks at the opening of the hearing.
Two out of three Americans own their home today. That is a

record home ownership rate. And this tremendous success story is

in no small measure a result of governmental initiative in fostering
strong mortgage markets through the creation and maturity of

FHA, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan
Bank system.
As we discuss legislation that proposes to fundamentally reform

our Federal regulation of GSEs, specifically Fannie Mae, Freddie

Mac, and the Home Loan Bank system, I believe it is critical that
we do not either intentionally or inadvertently harm our very sue-
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cessful mortgage markets which are the envy of the world. We are

barely into the new regulatory regime we put in place in the 1992
GSE Act, and the GSEs have been both successful and effective.

Clearly, nowhere near a consensus exists with respect to the
issues raised by H.R. 3703. I think it would be inappropriate and
unwarranted for Congress to take any action this year. I think that
the hearings are important, but they should not be followed by a
rush to judgment and any quick markup.
At the same time, I believe it is always appropriate for our sub-

committee to discuss the vitally important issues attendant to

GSEs. In spite of the most explicit Federal warning, the GSE debt
is not backed by the full faith and credit of the Federal Govern-
ment. We have an obligation to continuously assess any potential
risk that these institutions take, balancing any proposals to reduce
risk with any potential negative impact on consumers.
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are a demonstrable source of af-

fordable fixed-rate mortgage loans in the conventional market. The
Federal Home Loan Bank system provides liquidity and reduces in-

terest rate risks to enable our financial institutions to make afford-

able fixed-rate loans. Combined, they provide reassurance that

mortgage credit will be readily available through good economic
times and bad, through both strong and weak credit markets.
There are a number of issues for consideration as we ponder this

in the future. First, what is the best regulatory structure? The bill

before us would envision a fundamental alteration in our regu-
latory structure. Without prejudging this issue, I would simply say
that our public policy objective should be to have the most profes-
sional regulatory staff, as free as possible from political inference
and influence, including not being subject to the annual appropria-
tions process and committed first and foremost to protecting the

taxpayer.
The second issue relates to the controversy swirling around the

so-called "implied guarantee." Again, without getting into the pros
and cons of this issue, there is an explicit statement in the law and
in every offering made by the GSEs that there is no guarantee, and
I believe our primary responsibility should be to ensure strong reg-
ulation so that the issue of the Federal Government ever having to

step in is moot, remote indeed.
And finally, there is no escaping the fact that there is an emerg-

ing concern on the part of competitors over the scope and activities

that GSEs, and Fannie and Freddie in particular, are engaging in.

We need to balance the concerns of these competitors against the
benefits to the consumers of GSE involvement.

I will confess a prejudgment on this. I am sympathetic to Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac involvement, for example, in the subprime
market, provided their risks are quantifiable and done in a safe

and sound manner and there are proper capital reserves.

As predatory lending abuses proliferate, and as some of us in

Congress have initiated legislation to curb these abuses, I believe

there is great potential for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to provide
affordable mortgage credit to families and individuals with blem-
ishes on their credit record. It is arguably better to have these

lenders, who promise to adhere to non-abusive lending guidelines,
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making loans to consumers than to have more questionable lenders
do so.

So I look forward to today's and other hearings on the GSEs, but
I urge our subcommittee to tread most cautiously before reaching
any conclusions or before even considering legislative action.

I thank the Chair very much.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. LaFalce.
I would restate the rule for the purpose of the hearing today,

since Members have arrived after we started. There was agreement
to limit opening statements to three minutes. We will abide by the
five-minute rule, and Members will be recognized on both sides by
the order of arrival at the hearing.
Mr. Kanjorski has agreed to that for recognition on his side as

well.

I would like to recognize at this time cosponsor of the legislation,
H.R. 3703, and Chairman of the full committee, Jim Leach.
Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Leach. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I appreciate your leader-

ship on this issue.

Let me just stress that from a congressional perspective, it is

clear that caution has to be the watchword. But there can never
be intransigence if it is the status quo that is precipitating radical

change in the marketplace. I think we are all going to have to be

cognizant of the fact that GSEs were set up to serve and com-

plement the market and not become the marketplace itself; and for

that reason, I personally think Congress is going to have to be very
vigilant to assure that Fannie and Freddie stick exclusively to the
home mortgage market, that the Farm Credit system and Farmer
Mac stick exclusively to agriculture, and that the Federal Home
Loan Banks make advances to member institutions, rather than
loans or equivalents in their own right.

I have three very precise concerns this morning. One relates,

again, to the arbitrage activities of all of our GSEs, and particu-

larly Freddie Mac and Farmer Mac, as well as the totality of the
Federal Home Loan Bank system. And the argument for liquidity
is not a very powerful argument in the case of the volume that is

currently taking place in arbitrage activities in these institutions,
which I believe is an abuse of public powers.

Second, I am very concerned about the Federal Home Loan Bank
system and the movement to reduce capital. Now is a time to be
concerned for adequacy of capital, not to reduce it to 3 percent. The
fact that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have weaker capital stand-
ards than commercial banks is no excuse for the Federal Home
Loan Bank system to weaken its capital; and in some regards the
movement is to a weaker standard than Fannie and Freddie, which
I think is very, very dangerous at this time.

And, finally, I would stress within the Federal Home Loan Bank
system that the new draft rules on stock tradability lack any re-

straint on concentration. And what is prospective with these new
draft rules is the prospect or the possibility that a single entity
could come to control a Federal Home Loan Bank, which I think
would be highly undesirable. This could take a cooperative system
and make it the captive of a single institution, whether it be a

bank, an S&L, or a division of an investment bank or an insurance
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company. Even though it is not contemplated by statute, I guess
conceivably Fannie or Freddie could buy a Federal Home Loan
Bank; and I would stress the frightfulness of that prospect, because
Federal Home Loan Banks don't pay Federal tax, Fannie and
Freddie do not pay State taxes, both of which are presumptive and
powerful circumstances. And if you could balance the two, it would
be a real tax umbrage, let alone power play, in the marketplace.
So with regard to stock tradability, in the strongest possible way

I would call upon the system to think very carefully about putting
limits on what entities can control, or if any entity can control

more than a very modest percentage of stock.

I thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Mr. Kanjorski.
Mr. Kanjorski. Thank you very much. Thank you for the oppor-

tunity to speak briefly before we begin the second hearing on H.R.

3703, the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act.

In our last meeting in March on this legislation, we heard from
the present regulators for the housing Groverment Sponsored Enter-

prises, or GSEs, as well as the U.S. Department of the Treasury.
During my opening remarks at this hearing, I noted that we should
move forward cautiously in considering this bill. This will ensure
that we maintain the delicate balance that has led to 67 percent
of U.S. families owning their homes.
Another issue that I raised in my March statement was consider-

ation of the effect on the marketplace of these hearings. As noted
in the Wall Street Journal and other news sources, our capital mar-
kets experienced disruptions in which the cost of funds for Fannie

Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan Banks increased in

the days following our initial hearing. According to these accounts,
the spread, or the difference in yields between GSE debt and ten-

year Treasuries, increased by as much as 14 basis points. Spreads
on mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac also grew wider.
As we proceed today, we must renew our efforts to ensure that

we do not accidentally raise home ownership costs.

Mr. Chairman, as I indicated in my letter of March 31 to you,
we should not move precipitously on this complex and important
set of policy issues by attempting to legislate in the 106th Con-

gress. We should instead continue to use H.R. 3703 as a focus for

our oversight activities.

In the weeks following our last hearing I have also had the op-

portunity to meet with many of the parties affected by this legisla-

tion, including those who support, those who oppose, and those who
remain neutral on the bill. During these discussions, I have heard

many reasons for and against moving ahead. Many of the argu-
ments for and against the bill appear credible when made on their

own merits or without someone testing their basis. In my opening
remarks at our last hearing, I suggested that we should convene
a roundtable discussion with the interested parties. This will allow

us to better understand the need for and the implications of this

legislation on our housing finance system.
I still believe that a roundtable discussion is the most appro-

priate forum for our consideration of this issue. A roundtable dis-
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cussion would force the participants to challenge each other's as-

sumptions and assertions in an open environment. It would also

provide us with greater insights than would testimony that has
been vetted and sterilized through the clearance process.
A roundtable debate would further allow us more fully to educate

Members about the substantive issues involved in this debate. In

addition, it would address the real effects this legislation would
have on the housing and finance marketplace.

In closing, I hope that as we continue to consider these important
issues, you will join me in working to lower home ownership costs.

I also hope that for our next hearing you will invite all interested

parties to participate in a roundtable debate. That way, we can
have a free, fair, and vigorous deliberation on the future role of

GSEs in our housing finance system.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Paul E. Kanjorski can be found

on page 208 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Kanjorski.
Does any other Member desire—Mr. Ryan.
Excuse me; I am going to break my own rule. It ought to be Mr.

Riley first and then you.
Mr. Riley.
Mr. Riley. Mr. Chairman, in the interest of time, and I think we

have got a lot of people who would like to ask questions today. I

will save my comments for later. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Riley.
Mrs. Maloney.
Mrs. Maloney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, for calling this sub-

committee to meet to review issues relating to the U.S. mortgage
finance system, the most successful of its kind in the world.
At our last hearing in March, FHFB Chairman Bruce Morrison

made the important point that other countries have had great dif-

ficulty in attempting to duplicate the success of a United States

mortgage finance system. Outside the U.S., fixed-rate, long-term
mortgages are a rarity. In the United Kingdom down payments of
20 percent are required and interest rates vary as lenders' bor-

rowing costs change. Lenders in France routinely require 30 to 40

percent down on fixed-rate loans. Japanese loans are made at sub-
sidized rates with down payment requirements of 40 percent.

I believe the goal of this subcommittee should be to make further

improvements in the U.S. mortgage market and build on the suc-

cess of the housing GSEs. I would like to see Fannie and Freddie
have the authority to buy child care loans. This is an area where
there is a market failure similar to that that Fannie and Freddie
solved in housing.
We really must tread carefully to avoid any unintended con-

sequences. Unfortunately, it would appear that certain comments
from the subcommittee's March hearing had the effect of increasing
spreads between Treasuries and GSE debts. It is vitally important
that markets be reassured that we are moving slowly and thought-
fully.
This is not to say that the home mortgage market could not be

improved. Certainly efforts to combat predatory lending are worthy
topics for the subcommittee. We should also be working to increase

minority home ownership rates.
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At an appearance last week at the National Press Club, one of
our witnesses, Fannie Mae Chairman Franklin Raines, acknowl-

edged that red-lining sometimes still occurs, saying that it is a re-

sult of too few lenders competing for business in minority commu-
nities. When the chairman of Fannie Mae, whose company benefits
from buying loans, says there are too few competitors in a potential
market, I believe the Banking Committee should investigate the
reason for this market disconnect.
Mr. Chairman, our mortgage market is far from perfect, but we

must be very careful not to make changes where it works very well
unless we can be certain that there is a real problem with a work-
able solution that does not generate negative unintended con-

sequences. Thank you very much.
Chairman Baker. Thank you.
Mr. Ryan,
Mr. Ryan. Mr. Chairman, I first would like to say how much I

appreciate your holding this series of hearings. Addressing the

tough questions raised by Government Sponsored Enterprises has
not been an easy task, and you have done this Congress a great
service, I believe, by treading where very few have been willing to

go.
In my view, these issues we are discussing today are probably

the most important issues we in the Banking Committee will be

addressing the remainder of this Congress and most likely in fu-

ture Congresses. We find ourselves at a turning point in the finan-

cial markets. The volume of U.S. Treasury debt in capital markets
is falling, and the volume of debt issued by Fannie Mae and the
Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Bank has increased to

the point where Treasury Under Secretary Gensler stated to this

subcommittee that: "GSE involvement in the credit market is ap-
proaching the size of the Treasury market." The Treasury now tes-

tifies that GSE debt may surpass publicly-held marketable Treas-

ury debt in the next three years.
When Congress created these GSEs decades ago, I doubt that

anyone thought that they would reach the point of matching the
U.S. Treasury debt in the markets. It is now the responsibility of

Congress in 2000 to determine what this means for our country
and the future obligation of taxpayers.

In our view, the GSE issue is a very complex one. Fannie Mae,
Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Banks have played a
vital role in creating the housing market from which all of our con-
stituents have clearly benefited. All of us support a vibrant housing
finance system for working families. In fact, I think it is very im-

portant at the outset to say that just because some questions have
been raised as to some aspect of GSE operations, it does not mean
that they are against home ownership or want to raise its cost.

Likewise, we should not assume that anyone wants or plans a tax-

payer bailout of a GSE. Let us all assume that everybody in this

debate is acting in good faith and with the best interest of home
buyers and taxpayers equally at heart.

The reason I think these hearings are so important is that the
issues involved do not lend themselves to simple or easy answers.
In Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, we have giant, shareholder-owned

companies that are now, the two of them alone, bigger than the en-
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tire thrift industry. The Federal Home Loan Banks are coopera-
tives, but their members are private companies too. As these agen-
cies issue more and more debt, we need to be asking serious ques-
tions about the benefits they receive, the benefits they pass on to

home buyers, and the risks they pose to taxpayers.
I do not know yet what Congress should do, if an3^hing, but the

one thing I do know is that this is an important issue with serious

implications for home buyers and taxpayers alike. I think the
Chairman's bill has properly put this issue on the agenda, and I

look forward to a careful and comprehensive review of GSEs today
and into the future.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much, Mr. Ryan.
Mr. Watt, did you choose to make a statement?
Mr. Watt. No. I thank you, Mr. Chairman. I am not a Member

of the subcommittee. I just came to listen. So I do not have any
comments.
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much, sir.

Any other Member desire—Mrs. Jones.
Mrs. Jones. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Good morning. Chair-

man Baker, Ranking Member Kanjorski and Members of the sub-
committee. I ask unanimous consent that this full statement be in-

cluded in the record.
I would like to associate myself with the comments of my col-

leagues, Mr. LaFalce and Mr, Kanjorski. We £ire here this morning
to discuss H.R. 3703. The sponsors of this bill suggest that it is de-

signed to improve regulation and supervision of the housing GSEs.
It is my hope this morning that we will be able to discuss the
issues surrounding this legislation and the challenges that it pre-
sents, not singularly to GSEs, but to the ability of future home
buyers to secure homes and for others to obtain affordable housing.
Housing, we know, is a key public policy concern. It was a con-

cern in 1968 when GSEs were formed and it is a concern even
today. In cities and suburbs nationwide, there is still an affordable

housing crisis. There are citizens, including the ones in the 11th

Congressional District of Ohio, which I represent, that are strug-
gling with skyrocketing rents as well as inadequate housing stock.

GSEs were established to address this problem.
And it is not as if Congress has not done an3i;hing since 1968 to

regulate them. In 1992, we passed the Federal Housing Enterprises
Financial Safety and Soundness Act that mandated Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac, I quote: "to lead the mortgage finance industry
in making credit available for low- and moderate-income families."

From my understanding, they are fulfilling this mission; thus, I am
glad that we have representatives from these three GSEs to be able
to make their own case.

I applaud the Members of this subcommittee for providing an op-
portunity for a balanced view of the issues surrounding this legisla-
tion.

Let me be clear. I need to correct the National Journal statement
relative to my legislative position. I support affordable housing and
increased home ownership, be it Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, mort-

gage lenders, and so forth, and I want home ownership for all

Americans.
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I questioned at the hearing the last time we were here one agen-

cy's questioning another with regard to the effect they have on
home ownership in America. I am proud to be an African-Amer-

ican, but every time I open my mouth, I do not just speak for Afri-

can-Americans. I represent a congressional district that is very di-

verse, and everyone needs housing.
I realize that putting a family into a home is much more than

originating a mortgage, automated underwriting systems, or im-

plicit or explicit relationships. Putting a family into a home pro-
vides a family with, in many instances, its first real asset or even

provides a legacy for future generations. Home ownership, I be-

lieve, is one of the first key steps to true empowerment. Thus, we
cannot take this process lightly or this legislation lightly.

As our Nation transforms itself from industrial base to an infor-

mation technological power, we, as Members of the subcommittee,
have championed public-private partnerships as well as market in-

novation; and I sense we have taken a different approach with re-

spect to GSEs.
I have a lot more that I would like to say. I will leave the rest

for my questioning. Thank you.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Stephanie Jones can be found

on page 205 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Mr. Sweeney.
Mr. Sweeney. I will also seek to have my full statement entered

into the record.

Let me just say this. I was not here for part of the past delibera-

tions in 1992, when the charter revisions were last made; and I

recognize, as I did at the last hearing in March, our need for over-

sight in this area, and I will reiterate that I am hesitant to con-

clude that congressional action or reforms are needed at this point
in time.
But I want to thank the panelists for being here. I thank those

on the panel who have worked with us since last March to begin
to develop some constructive ideas, and I think we are developing
some constructive ideas, and I look forward to your testimony.
Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much, Mr. Sweeney.
[The prepared statement of Hon. John E. Sweeney can be found

on page 211 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Ms. Waters.
Ms. Waters. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and Mem-

bers.

Well, I suppose it is usually in order to congratulate the Chair

for holding a hearing. I cannot do that this morning. As a matter

of fact, I am a little bit agitated about the fact that we are here.

While I recognize that there are many, many problems that con-

front us that we must deal with as public policymakers, I do not

take kindly to being basically used in a market share war, where
all of us make pronouncements day in and day out about laissez-

faire capitalism and allowing the marketplace to work. I am begin-

ning to believe that most us do not really believe that, particularly
as we pursue these hearings.
Let me just share with you what my agitation is about. A recent

Wall Street Journal headline read, and I quote: "Rates on Mori-
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gages Behaving Strangely, Fail to Come Down." And the story is

quite simple. Wall Street experts say that based on historical mar-
ket conditions, interest rates in the past weeks, and I quote:
"should be significantly below 8 percent," but according to the Wall
Street Journal: "Again, the threat of legislation or some other gov-
ernmental action in turn, has helped keep prices of mortgage-
backed securities lower and 3delds higher."
So I suppose what we have is one of the most respected financial

publications in America confirming that the mere threat of this bill

that is the subject of this hearing is keeping interest rates higher
than they should be. In other words, the bill, Mr. Chairman, that

you proposed, is already raising costs for American homeowners
and keeping potential homeowners out of business.

Chairman Baker. Would the gentlewoman 5deld briefly on that

point? I will give you an extra 30 seconds, so I am not chewing up
your time.

I think if we were to read the whole article, in its entirety, the
reason cited for the inability of rates to drop was the repurchase
of debt by the Treasury Department, not the committee hearing
process. And I think that that document stated that.

I thank the gentlewoman for yielding.
Ms. Waters. Certainly, Mr. Chairman, but let me say that I

have talked now with any number of people who are worried that

precisely what was described in the Wall Street Journal article is

true.

Now, let me just continue. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are two
of the strongest companies in the country. Fannie Mae ranks 26th
and Freddie Mac 62nd on the Fortune 500 list of top American
companies. Currently, Fannie Mae holds more than $19 billion in

capital. In its 1999 report to Congress, the Office of Federal Hous-

ing Enterprise Oversight, the congressionally appointed safety and
soundness regulator for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, found both

Enterprises to be financially sound and well managed. OFHEO also

stated that Fannie Mae exceeds safety and soundness standards in

every category.
In 1997, at the request of OFHEO, the rating agency Standard

& Poor's evaluated Fannie Mae and assigned them an AA rating
in terms of their risk to the Grovemment, a rating only a handful
of institutions meet. Additionally, in July 1999, Fortune Magazine
named Fannie Mae the second-best company for employment in the

country for Asian Americans, African Americans and Hispanic
Americans.
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are GrOvemment Sponsored Enter-

prises, as we know. They are congressionally chartered, but share-
holder-owned corporations. They enjoy federally granted benefits in

support of their important public purpose which is to increase na-
tionwide access to residential mortgages by developing and sup-
porting a secondary mortgage market for housing finance. Fannie
and Freddie pass their federally granted value on to mortgage bor-

rowers in the form of lower interest rates.

According to a June article in Money Magazine
Chairman Baker. I hate to ask you, but can you begin to wrap

up?
Ms. Waters. Unanimous consent for 60 seconds.
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Chairman Baker. Without objection, certainly.
Ms. Waters. According to a June article in Money Magazine,

American soaring home ownership rates and the reduction in down
payment requirements are evidence of Fannie's and Freddie's bene-
fits to American consumers. Similarly, in a 1996 Congressional Re-
search Service report, stated that comparison of mortgage rates in

conforming and non-conforming markets have led analysts to con-
clude that the presence of the GSEs has lowered mortgage rates
between 25 and 50 basis points. Lower mortgage rates result in

thousands of dollars saved for American consumers.
I cannot complete my statement, I don't have enough time, but

I guess the question I am raising is, what is broken and what are
we trying to fix? Why have we taken the argument of FM Watch,
a group of subprime lenders who simply do not want to compete
with Fannie and Freddie, and simply are concerned that they are

going to bring new products for our consumers that will lower the
cost of mortgages?

I do not like being in the middle of this fight. I do not think it

is fair, Mr. Chairman; and I just must put that on the record.

Chairman Baker. Thank you, Ms. Waters.
Mrs. Roukema.
Mrs. Roukema. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I do want to com-

mend you. Despite what the previous speaker, our colleague, said,
I do want to commend you for this hearing. This is the second

hearing, I believe, on this very important issue. I believe that it is

important to all of us, and certainly all the homeowners that are
out there. After all, what we are discussing is the "American
Dream," and we are not going to abandon that.

But I would like to make the point, Mr. Chairman, that we are
not going to take precipitous action on your bill. I think you have
confirmed to Members of the committee that you will move very
slowly. It is a highly complex subject. I, for one, as well as others
who have already spoken on this, have said that we have to exam-
ine it thoroughly and understand all the consequences; and it is ab-

solutely essential that we understand the complexity of this and
not take precipitous action.

So I am very pleased to hear what you said in your opening
statement, Mr. Chairman. However, there are other issues that

have already been outlined, but that I did not hear; and I want to

stress—even if it has already been said, I do want to stress to the
GSEs who are here today about the question of mission creep. As
a general rule, they are not supposed to be competing with the pri-
vate sector, except where explicitly authorized by Congress. I know
there are real concerns about Freddie and Fannie expanding their

lines of business. Just to state a couple of instances, some are sug-

gesting that they are getting into real estate brokerage, consumer

lending, mortgage insurance, and other areas which arguably are
not part of their mission. I hope we could address those questions
today, because they are central to the debate and review we are

doing here.

At the same time, I want to acknowledge that there is a potential
liability to taxpayers if their actions are not well managed on the
other side of the question.
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So I am very pleased to be here today and to carry on as part
of our obligation here in subcommittee to fully explore the pros and
cons of this essential issue about how we assist homeowners in a
safe and sound manner through the proper capital standards.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Marge Roukema can be found

on page 210 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you, very much Mrs. Roukema for your

participation and your leadership on this and other issues.

Mr. Bentsen.
Mr. Bentsen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
First of all, Mr. Chairman, even though you and I do not always

agree, or we agree on some things and not others in the same legis-

lation, I want to commend you for holding these hearings. I think—
while I have some problems with your legislation

—I think you have
been thoughtful in the process. I would encourage my colleagues
not to make up your minds quickly on this legislation. I think we
need to look at the facts.

First of all, we also have to remember that Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan Bank system are not

something that came about on their own. This is something that

Congress created over time. We established the laws, we have had
charter reviews, and now there are some who are saying what we
have done may have been a mistake, or we have allowed the mon-
ster to grow too big. So let's be cautious in our approach.
Second of all, I would say that I thought the previous hearing,

and particularly the comments from the Under Secretary Gensler,
were really quite stunning. And I would concur with Ms. Waters
that it did create a market reaction, because regardless of how
much disclosure Fannie or Freddie put on their documents with re-

spect to Grovemment guarantee, I strongly believe—and I had the

opportunity to work both with and against Fannie Mae in the

mortgage markets before coming to Congress—^but, I strongly be-

lieve that the capital markets believe that there is some implicit

guarantee on the part of the Federal Government.

Now, I know that both these gentlemen will tell us today that

there is none, that they are adamant about it, and they are being
correct in their statements, but the market believes otherwise. And
as such, I think we should consider that going forward.

We cannot, on the one hand, or we should not on the one hand
be taking something away that affects the value of these companies
which have done a pretty good job, quite frankly, for the mortgage
market, and at the same time be reigning them in. We will have
to make a choice. If we choose to do anything at all, we will have
to make a choice of either going one direction or the other, but you
can't go both ways. And, unfortunately, I think the way the bill is

currently drafted, it goes both ways.
And with that, I do commend the Chairman, my colleague from

Louisiana, and I appreciate him holding these hearings.
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much, Mr. Bentsen. I appre-

ciate your remarks.
Mr. Toomey, do you choose to make a statement?
Mr. Toomey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
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Very briefly, I would just make the observation. I don't believe
there is any question the market believes there is an implicit guar-
antee of the debt of the Government Sponsored Enterprises. And
as such, I am reluctant to conclude that the market is completely
wrong when it is virtually unanimous in its conclusion. I would be-

lieve that a guarantee has inherent value, and if there is inherent
value in such a guarantee, then it seems to me that the value
should be compensated; and the form of the compensation presum-
ably is the value of improving access to home mortgages. But there
is a cost to that, and the cost is this cost of the implied guarantee,
and I think it is important to evaluate whether there is a proper
return for that cost.

And so it is very useful to have this hearing today, I think, and
I thank the Chairman for pursuing this so that we have an oppor-
tunity to discuss the various activities, how those activities relate

to the profitability of the firms, but also how they relate to the mis-
sion of the Enterprises. Because it goes to the question of whether
or not the cost borne by the taxpayer is properly being com-

pensated.
So I want to thank the Chairman for conducting these hearings,

and I look forward to the testimony of the witnesses. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Thank you Mr. Toomey.
Does any other Member desire to make an opening statement?

Let me get my list here. Mr. Terry is next by time of arrival, then
Mrs. Biggert, and then Mr. Cook.
Mr. Terry.
OK, Mrs. Biggert.
Mrs. Biggert. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I first want to com-

mend you for holding another hearing on this very important issue.

The Government Sponsored Enterprises have helped make the
American dream of owning a home a reality for hundreds of thou-

sands of families throughout the country. For example, the Home
Loan Bank of Chicago has invested over $32 million in housing
loans in my district, while Fannie Mae has provided mortgages for

some 60,000 families in the Illinois 13th Congressional District

alone.

Despite this good work, I do have some concerns about the GSEs'

large debt obligation, and wonder whether legislation may be nec-

essary to protect taxpayers from another bailout crisis, should an
economic downturn occur. On the other hand, I am not sure that

the regulatory process contemplated in H.R. 3703 would allow the

innovation that the GSEs will need to be able to adapt easily to the

changing mortgage market of the future.

So, therefore, Mr. Chairman, I look forward to the testimony of

the panelists and anticipate a very spirited and educational ques-
tion-and-answer period. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Does any Member on the Democratic side

choose to make an opening statement?
If not, Dr. Paul you are next and then you, Mr. Cook.
Dr. Paul. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I want to thank you for

holding these hearings.
These are certainly very important. This problem has been

around for a good while. There are some in the financial media
that have been talking about this for a long time, talking about a
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ticking time bomb. There are some others who think it might be
a little too late to do much about it. But the implicit guarantee is

obviously something that needs to be discussed and dealt with.

I am interested, though, in a little bit more than just the appar-
ent debt that the GSEs have accumulated, but the relationship of

this accumulation of debt through monetary policy.
For the GSEs to go out and borrow these huge sums of money,

into the trillions, it could not be done without pushing up interest

rates, without a generous Federal Reserve policy of keeping inter-

est rates low, because when you subsidize something, you get more
of it.

And, of course, it has been beneficial to the housing industry; we
have had good times in housing. But it is also the substance of

which bubbles are made. So there should be a concern about this.

This huge obligation that we have will be met. I think it will be

very difficult for us to walk away from it. I think it is implicit that

something will be done if trouble hits, and that is bothersome to

me.
But it is also bothersome to me in the monetary policy sense that

since last fall our Federal Reserve has decided not only to make
credit generously available for the GSEs to borrow, they are lit-

erally monetizing this. They are bu3dng up GSE papers and holding
them as an asset which they can use as a collateral against Federal
Reserve notes. And not only that, there has been an increase in for-

eign central banks' holding of this GSE paper as well.

So, first, we create a lot of credit to make these loans available,
and then we literally turn around and buy them back at the Fed-
eral Reserve level, which has monetized them. So this is a huge
bubble that we have built. And at the same time, we allow our
banks to borrow these without any reserves set aside, which en-

hances their ability to increase their credit within the fractional re-

serve banking system.
That is the area that I have concern about, and I hope to address

that in the question-and-answer session.

Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Thank you. Dr. Paul.

Any Member on the Democrat side?

If not, Mr. Cook.
Mr. Cook. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would just like to make

note that America's home ownership rate is at an all-time high of

68 percent. While the hard-working American public deserves the
lion's share of credit for this, I would like to express my apprecia-
tion to the witnesses scheduled to appear today for the supporting
role they have played in making all of this possible. The institu-

tions they represent certainly have all played critical roles in the
home ownership process and have all helped to make America's

housing finance system the envy of the world.
Mr. Chairman, I have no problem discussing the regulatory

issues affecting Grovemment Sponsored Enterprises. The manner in

which GSEs are regulated is clearly within the purview and juris-
diction of this subcommittee. And I want to express my hope that
we can carefully analyze the impacts that this legislation will have
on the entire housing finance industry and the capital markets.
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But I am very troubled and not sure of the intent of having GSEs
pubUsh the details of each new mortgage product they seek to

produce in the Federal Register for public comment. I am not sure
how hampering their ability to innovate would make a difference
for homeowners.
Fannie Mae has opened a Utah partnership office in my district

for the purpose of offering flexible and innovative mortgage prod-
ucts which lenders can offer on a neighborhood-to-neighborhood-
basis. I think clearing those new products through the layers of
HUD bureaucracy in Washington is concerning to me.
We are well aware of how inefficient HUD can be at times, and

with this in mind, it should give us cause for concern. With a

healthy economy, high mortgage loan demand, and the current

good management of the housing GSEs that are in sound operating
condition, now is a good time to examine these entities and their

position in our current financial system; and I commend you, Mr.
Chairman, for holding this hearing to discuss the role of GSEs.

I will have a number of questions about the scope and intent of
H.R. 3703, and I look forward to hearing the views of the witnesses
on how consumers stand to benefit from this legislation.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Cook. If no further Members

desire to give an opening statement, I would proceed to our wit-

nesses.
I would like to first call on the CEO of Fannie Mae, Mr. Franklin

Raines, who of course was the former Director of 0MB in the Clin-

ton Administration, a very accomplished individual.

And let me assure you, Mr. Raines, that all my comments and
discussions concerning future issues with regard to Fannie are in

no way intended to reflect on your management or your com-

petency in your role as the chief operating officer. In fact, my con-

cerns are aimed some years down the road—when there is no

longer a Franklin Raines; and I would bet some would say, "I hope
that is when Baker is not in Congress too"—that there might be

problem on the horizon that neither one of us would choose to see,
nor can we forecast.

But inevitably, business cycles are that. So it is with that per-

spective of containing systemic risk that I have made my remarks
and proposed H.R. 3703; and I have appreciated your willingness
to come by the office and talk about the issue. I look forward to

working with you.
We would be pleased to hear your testimony.

STATEMENT OF FRANKLIN D. RAINES, CHAIRMAN AND CEO,
FANNIE MAE

Mr. Raines. Thank you very much Mr. Chairman. Thank you for

that kind introduction. And let me also thank the Members of the
subcommittee for this opportunity to meet with you here today.

I have submitted extensive written testimony which I would ask
be included in the record.

Chairman Baker. Our witnesses' testimony is included in part of

the official record, without objection.
Mr. Raines. So I will just summarize that more lengthy testi-

mony in my oral statement.
Before I begin, let me
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Chairman Baker. I am sorry, Mr. Raines, I apologize. I meant
to say, I said it long ago, but to the extent possible, can your testi-

mony be under ten minutes, as a goal?
Mr. Raines. Yes, I will try to make it as quick as possible. I will

shoot for that as a goal.
Let me say that the housing finance system today is very strong.

It is vibrant, it is safe and sound, and it serves consumers better

than ever. And this is due in no small part to the careful scrutiny,
sound judgment and constructive action that Congress has taken
over many years.
The outcome of Congress' long-standing commitment to home

ownership is that millions of families have achieved the American
dream. The benefits of the astounding growth of home ownership
have rippled out to improve the wealth of average families, the
health of communities and the strength of the U.S. economy. We
all want to keep this success going, so it is entirely appropriate for

Congress to have oversight hearings on the safety and soundness
of the secondary mortgage market today, and Fannie Mae wel-
comes this oversight.

I am pleased to be here, Mr. Chairman, because there is a good
story that deserves to be told. The U.S. housing finance system is

the best in the world, the most efficient and effective ever devised.

The American Dream of home ownership is more alive and achiev-
able and inclusive than ever. The national home ownership rate
has just set a new record of over 67 percent. The housing market
is robust. The housing industry is strong, and for consumers, it has
never been easier or more possible to buy a home.
Behind this success story is the secondary mortgage market.

What this market does is to attract billions of dollars of private
capital from all over the world to provide mortgage lenders with a

steady flow of funds to lend to all communities, under all economic

conditions, at the lowest rates in the market with zero risk to the
Government. The secondary market ensures that a home buyer will

never hear her lender say, "I'm sorry, we are out of money to lend."

Keeping the supply of mortgage funds up also keeps the cost of

mortgage funds down, which means more families can afford to

qualify for a home loan.

The secondary market also makes consumer-friendly mortgages
possible. In America, we take the long-term, fixed-rate mortgage
for granted, with down payments as low as 5 and 3 percent. Last

year, 66 percent of all conforming mortgages originated in the
United States were thirty-year fixed-rate loans. Outside our coun-

try, this kind of mortgage is a rarity.
In Canada, they have the rollover mortgage where the rate is

fixed during the first one to five years with a prepayment penalty
equal to three months of interest. The fixed term in Spain is usu-

ally one year. In France, 80 percent of all mortgages have variable
rates. In Grermany, you can get a fixed rate for five to fifteen years,
but you cannot refinance during this period without paying a huge
penalty. And in Germany, the down payment is typically 30 to 40

percent. In Japan, you have to put down effectively 50 to 60 per-
cent in order to buy a home.
There is a simple reason why the low down payment, long-term,

fixed-rate mortgage is so common here and uncommon elsewhere.
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Most countries do not have a secondary market to buy or guarantee
loans that lenders originate, so the lender requires the consumer
to pay more up front and more each month if mortgage interest
rates rise. Overseas, the U.S. secondary mortgage market is consid-
ered some kind of miracle.

Fannie Mae is proud of that, but we know where the credit be-

longs. It was Congress that created the secondary mortgage mar-
ket. It was Congress that chartered Fannie Mae and later Freddie
Mac as private shareholder-owned corporations, so Congress de-
serves the lion's share of the credit for the successes of the sec-

ondary market and the housing finance system today.
What Congress did turned out to be absolutely brilliant. It cre-

ated a system that harnesses private enterprise and private capital
to deliver the public benefit of home ownership. And it maximizes
this public benefit while minimizing the public risk, and without
spending a nickel of public funds.
Then in 1992, Congress improved on its work. After the thrift

and banking crises and reforms. Congress wanted to make sure
that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac were fulfilling their housing
mission in a way that was financially safe and sound. After two
years of hearings, several Government studies and much discus-

sion, Congress passed a 140-page bill called the Federal Housing
Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992. In effect,

Congress strengthened both sides of our equation. The 1992 Act in-

creased the public benefit we provide, and it decreased the possi-
bility of public risk even more.

Let's look at increased public benefit. The 1992 Act gave Fannie
Mae and Freddie Mac the toughest affordable housing goals in the
financial services industry. Under our housing goals set by HUD,
we have to meet specific percentage of business goals. For example,
starting next year, we have to devote at least 50 percent of our
business to families living at or below their area median income.
That is up from 30 percent when the law took effect in 1993.
But Fannie Mae has always viewed our HUD goals within our

own more dramatic goals. In 1994, Fannie Mae pledged to provide
$1 trillion of financing to 10 million underserved families by the
end of the year 2000. We met that goal last month, and imme-
diately pledged to provide $2 trillion to 18 million families before
this decade is over. We call this new pledge our "American Dream
Commitment."
These efforts have transformed Fannie Mae. We exceed our HUD

goals every year. We have increased our lending to low-income fam-
ilies by 28 percent, to African American families by 31 percent, and
to minorities as a whole by 16 percent. Last year, we provided $46
billion in financing to over 400,000 minority families.

Fannie Mae is now the Nation's largest affordable housing com-

pany. We lead or match the primary market in serving low-income
or minority families even though we do not originate a single mort-

gage. We rely on lenders to originate the loans, so we help lenders
reach these consumers and get them approved.
Reaching these new markets, if not done right, could be more

risky. But Congress in 1992 gave us a new structure to reduce our
risk. First, Congress gave us our own specialized safety and sound-
ness regulator, the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight,
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known as OFHEO. OFHEO conducts regular on-site safety and
soundness exams. They have an office in our building and a lot of

regulators on the job. OFHEO has 26 examiners for two compa-
nies—a 13-to-l ratio. In comparison, the FDIC has one-third of one
examiner for each bank that it regulates. And our financial regu-
lator is the only one that discloses the results of our exams to the

public.
In our most recent exam, it reported and I quote: "In all cat-

egories, Fannie Mae exceeds safety and soundness standards."
These safety and soundness standards, also found in the 1992 Act,
are the most rigorous in the financial services industry. Unlike the

simple leverage standard that banks use, where they hold a ratio

of capital to assets, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have a risk-based

capital standard with a stress test. It requires us to hold enough
capital to actually survive a worst-case scenario. Now, let me ex-

plain, because this test is unusual.
The stress test assumes that interest rates either rise or fall by

up to 600 basis points and stay there for ten years. Then it takes
the worst credit losses that the United States has suffered in the

past twenty years in residential mortgages, which was a portion of

the oil patch in the 1980's, and then this devastating scenario is

applied nationwide and assumed to go on for ten years.
But we are still not done. We then have to add 30 percent of cap-

ital for management risk. So we must hold 130 percent of the cap-
ital necessary to survive this ten-year test.

Now, how tough is this standard? According to one study, if the

devastating stress-test scenario in our capital requirements ever
came to pass, thrifts would deplete their capital base in five to

seven years and become insolvent. By year ten, Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac might be the only major holders of mortgage assets

in America still standing. Fannie Mae's charter confers certain ben-
efits that help us meet our Federal requirements to be in all mar-
kets under all conditions. But also Federal bank charters confer
certain benefits to banks such as access to the Fed window, and di-

rect, not implied. Government backing through the Federal guar-
antee of deposits.
We can also measure how Fannie Mae passes its benefits to con-

sumers every day. All you have to do is look in the Saturday Wash-

ington Post, in the real estate section, at the mortgage rate charts

and compare the left column, the conventional conforming rate,
with the right column, the jumbo rate. The left column is the mort-

gages that we back, which are always cheaper than the column on
the right.

Right now, a Fannie Mae-backed mortgage is about $19,000
cheaper over the term than a jumbo loan that is $1 over our loan
limit. And we also have a loan for borrowers with slightly impaired
credit that is about $20,000 cheaper than the loan they might get
in the subprime market. And what is even more surprising is that
a Fannie Mae-backed mortgage is even about $21,000 cheaper than
a Government-backed FHA or VA loan.

During the 1990's, we estimate that we directly saved consumers
at least $20 billion by lowering mortgage rates, and that is count-

ing the market impact we have on jumbo and other loans bought
by others by driving down conventional rates. The way Fannie Mae
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is regulated and the business that we are in makes our company
uniquely safe and sound.
Chairman Baker. Can you begin to wrap up, Mr. Raines?
Mr. Raines. I will, Mr. Chairman.
Our asset, the mortgage, is one of the safest. We only invest in

one type of asset, mortgages. We do not buy commercial real estate.
We do not buy junk bonds. We do not buy Danish bonds. Just one

homely asset. And we have one job and that is to manage risk.

Last year, we paid out one-half of our gross revenue, $6.4 billion,
to manage risk. And it is worth it.

During the thrift crisis, we kept our credit losses at 5 basis

points, 5 cents for every hundred dollars, while banks paid out 86
cents for every hundred dollars. And right now our losses are as
low as 1 basis point, one cent for every hundred dollars.

Over the last twenty years, there have been financial difficulties

for fifteen industries, the mortgage insurance industry, the banking
industry, the thrift industry. The savings and loan industry cost

$125 billion. The banking industry cost their insurance fund $36
billion. Fannie Mae suffered losses in the 1980's, though it never
became insolvent. It righted itself without costing the Government
one penny.
Mr. Chairman, let me summarize by sa5dng just a couple of

words about the subcommittee's actions with regards to the pro-

posed legislation. The question before the subcommittee is whether
the 1992 Act should be modified. And we welcome this question. As
I said, congressional oversight has helped to create the strong sys-
tem we have today. But as for the legislation that has been pro-

posed, we have submitted in our written statement a section-by-
section analysis, and we would be delighted to answer any ques-
tions about that analysis. In our view, however, there is no part of
the bill, as proposed, that improves the system or improves upon
what Congress achieved in the 1992 Act.

Let me emphasize that our concern is not with congressional
oversight, the hearings of this subcommittee or proposals to im-

prove the housing finance system. Our concern is with any actual

change in the law that would weaken our charter or impose regu-
latory burdens that would raise our costs of providing capital to the

housing finance system.
Thank you, Mr. Chairmsm and Members of the subcommittee. I

look forward to discussing these issues with all of you.
[The prepared statement of Franklin D. Raines can be found on

page 214 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Raines.

The next witness is the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of
Freddie Mac, Mr. Leland Brendsel.
And let me say for the record, Mr. Brendsel, over the past weeks

I have been working with some of your senior management folks,

getting concrete suggestions for modifications that possibly could
lead us to legislation that the organization may not strenuously ob-

ject to, and I just
—whether the outcome of that is productive or

not, I simply want to say thank you for those efforts.

And we welcome your remarks.
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STATEMENT OF LELAND C. BRENDSEL, CHAIRMAN AND CEO,
FREDDIE MAC

Mr. Brendsel. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. And good morning,
Congressman Kanjorski, Members of the subcommittee. Thank you
for inviting me to be here today. I welcome the opportunity to talk

to you about Freddie Mac and the tremendous benefits and the
work that we have done and we are doing for America's families,
home buyers and renters.

Congress created Freddie Mac in 1970 with a special purpose
and a vital role. And I think that the dramatic improvements for

home buyers since then is a great success story and a great testa-

ment to that vision for Freddie Mac in 1970.
I believe our ability to continue meeting our mission rests on

maintaining the confidence of the markets and of the Members of

this subcommittee and the United States Congress. And I certainly
want to work with this subcommittee on achieve this objective.
Freddie Mac's role is, and always has been, to link families in

the Nation's communities with the global capital markets. The
mortgages we buy are mortgages on people's homes, and obviously
they are high-quality, low-risk assets, because they are backed by
people's homes. And the securities we issue attract investors world-
wide to finance America's housing.
For thirty years, Freddie Mac has been at the forefront of inno-

vation. From the standardization of mortgage documents, now ac-

cepted, which occurred in the 1970's, to the development of auto-
mated underwriting systems, new technology of the 1990's, we
have reduced the time, we have reduced the costs, and we have in-

creased the availability of mortgage loans.

Freddie Mac's single-handed creation of the market for conven-
tional mortgage securities back in the 1970's and the development
of a global investor base for our debt securities today is further re-

ducing mortgage costs and expanding housing opportunities.
Freddie Mac has opened doors to home ownership and housing

for low-income families and for minority families. In fact, we have
now financed homes for more than 25 million families in America
since our beginning. The result, as already said, is the Nation's

highest home ownership rate ever, and a housing finance system,
as said by Chairman Raines, that is the envy of the world. And by
any measure, our success is evident, whether you look back in his-

tory or you look at parts of the market we do not serve today, or

you look at other countries. Any way you look at it, the market we
serve does a far better job for home buyers than the market we do
not.

Now, I think it is appropriate for Congress and for this sub-
committee to examine Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae and the Fed-
eral Home Loan Bank systems, and to ensure that future genera-
tions of home buyers, as well, enjoy these benefits. Indeed, over the
next decade, America's families will need another $6 trillion to fi-

nance their homes, including more than $2 trillion for first-time

home buyers.
Some of Freddie Mac's competitors think this can be accom-

plished without a vibrant, without a growing secondary market.

They bear the burden of proof, I think, that uprooting this tremen-
dous housing finance system would benefit America's home buyers
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and renters. But there is no way that they can meet this standard,
so instead, they distort the record.

I would Hke—in my brief minutes that remain, I would like to

set the record straight on three points. First, it has been suggested
that Freddie Mac can continue to meet our public mission without

issuing debt securities. The reality is that debt financing is essen-
tial to meeting our mission and is becoming even more important
as the number of new home owners grows. Our use of both mort-

gage-backed and debt securities has enabled us to build a diverse
investor base, first, within the United States and now internation-

ally. The benefit is lower costs for home buyers and tremendous
stability for the mortgage market.

Indeed, the fall of 1998, most recently, is a prime example, when
capital markets were in turmoil, but the mortgage market that
Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae serve worked flawlessly. There was
no disruption whatsoever.
And by funding mortgage purchases with both our mortgage-

backed and debt securities, we save millions of dollars in interest,
and American families can count on the availability of mortgage
credit whenever and wherever they need it.

Now, the second distortion is that we represent another thrift

crisis in the making. The reality is that Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae are specialists in the management of the risk of making or

purchasing and funding home mortgage loans. And Freddie Mac is

one of the strongest financial institutions in the country. We pio-
neered the development of automated tools that enable us to accu-

rately assess mortgage credit risk and help families avoid fore-

closures. We pioneered the development of mortgage securities,
callable debt and the use of other financial instruments that enable
us to match the maturities of our assets and liabilities.

Not only is Freddie Mac highly skilled at managing risk, we are

extremely well capitalized for the risk we take. We hold enough
capital to withstand ten years of severe adverse economic condi-

tions, much like the Great Depression. The difference between
Freddie Mac and the thrift industry could not be more stark. As
you know, thrifts in the 1980's were funding long-term mortgages
with short-term deposits and then took on more and other kinds of

credit risks. And even today, the thrift industry is nowhere near
the capital strength of Freddie Mac. We commissioned a recent

study by industry experts that calculated that the thrift industry
would have to triple its capital to meet our risk-based capital
standard as proposed.
Now, we also asked another expert, one probably well known to

you, Bill Seidman, former Chairman of the FDIC. We asked him
to review our risk-based capital standard, and he concluded that if

it were applied to other financial institutions, it would be, and I

quote: "devastatingly stringent." I ask that both reports be placed
in the record of this hearing. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Without objection.
[The information can be found on page 294 in the appendix.]
Mr. Brendsel. The fact is, if thrifts held as much capital relative

to risk as Freddie Mac does, there would never have been a thrift

crisis.
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The third distortion about Freddie Mac is that we engage in ac-

tivities that are beyond our charter. What are we accused of? We
are accused of using the latest technology to reduce the time and
cost of getting a mortgage loan made by lenders, our customers. We
are accused of responding to lenders who want to sell mortgages
over the internet. And we are accused of trjdng to improve the

practices in the subprime sector.

All these activities make mortgages more affordable, streamline
the mortgage process, and open doors to home ownership, and all

these activities are squarely within our charter, support our public

purpose, and have tangible benefits to consumers, home buyers and
renters.

Finally, I would like to say a few words about your desire to en-

sure a strong, independent and effective safety and soundness reg-
ulation for Freddie Mac. We share this objective, but we do not
think H.R. 3703, as introduced, is the way to achieve it.

So let me again express my desire for the Congress to have con-

fidence that Freddie Mac is meeting our very important mission in

a safe and sound manner. Again, we would be happy to work with

you to achieve this important objective. We are committed to mak-
ing the world's best housing finance system even better for Amer-
ica's families.

Again, thank you for the opportunity to appear today, and I wel-

come any questions that the subcommittee may have.

[The prepared statement of Leland C. Brendsel can be found on

page 266 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Brendsel, for your remarks

and for your willingness to work with us in the days ahead.
Our last witness is the Chairman of the Council of Federal Home

Loan Banks, Mr. Curtis Hage.
Welcome. It is a pleasure to have you with us.

STATEMENT OF CURTIS L. HAGE, CHAIRMAN, COUNCIL OF
FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANKS

Mr. Hage. Good morning. Chairman Baker, Congressman Kam-

jorski and Members of the subcommittee. My name is Curtis Hage;
my bank is Home Federal Savings Bank of Sioux Falls, South Da-
kota. It is one of the 7,400 owner banks in the Federal Home Loan
Bank system.
For disclosure purposes, I should mention that I wear several

hats. I am a member of the board of directors of the Federal Home
Loan Bank of Des Moines. I am the Second Vice Chair of America's

Community Bankers, and I currently serve as Chair of the Council
of Federal Home Loan Banks. I am here today on behalf of the
Council.

I am here to tell you that partnership with the Federal Home
Loan Bank of Des Moines is very important to our bank's success.

Moreover, our success is important to the twenty communities,
small and large, that we serve in South Dakota.
Mr. Chairman, and Congressman Kanjorski, I would like to take

this opportunity to thank you both for the extraordinary efforts you
put forth to enact legislation to modernize the Federal Home Loan
Bank system. Without your leadership and efforts, the Federal
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Home Loan Bank System Modernization Act of 1999 would not
have come to fruition. This is an important Act.

First, the legislation decentralized management of the Federal
Home Loan Banks, local governsince decisions are most effective if

made at the local level;

Second, leveling the playing field of membership status was an
important and appreciated change;

Third, the addition of small business and farm loans as eligible
collateral for smaller community financial institutions provides
needed access to more funding; and

Finally, thanks to this legislation, the capital structure of the
Federal Home Loan Bank system is being revised for the first time
in sixty-eight years. This is an extremely important and dramatic
revision. If carefully crafted with coordination and support from the
Federal Home Loan Bank members, it can improve an already
strong system.
Again, Mr. Chairman, we want to emphasize how constructive

you were in the legislative process over the last several years, and
we know that your intentions with H.R. 3703 are constructive as
well.

Your staff has remained in communication with our offices rel-

ative to our issues of concern. In fact, modifications suggested by
your staff would significantly alter our areas of concern. If such
modifications are adopted, I believe the Council of Federal Home
Loan Banks would not have objection to favorable consideration of
H.R. 3703. With that as the context, I would like to make three key
points this morning and ask the subcommittee to reference my
written testimony on the specifics of H.R. 3703.
The first point is that the Federal Home Loan Bank system is

unique. It is a child of the Depression, designed to partner with
local financial institutions starved for liquidity and, thus, unable to

lend. The Federal Home Loan Banks' liquidity mandate is no less

important today than it was seventy years ago. But now, in addi-

tion to being vital tools for housing finance liquidity, they are also

vital community lending and development tools. In fact, Federal
Home Loan Banks, through their members, build communities.
Because of this important function, and because our members'

funding needs are growing, the Federal Home Loan Banks are

f
rowing. The 1990's saw the mutual fund industry explode to over
7 trillion. A great deal of that growth came from deposits in local

banks.
In spite of this massive deposit drain, banks and thrifts continue

to provide credit to their communities through the advances pro-
vided by the Federal Home Loan Banks. This dependable, low-cost

source of funds supports the continued lending role of community
banks.
We note with great concern that after the last hearing you held

on this subject, the rate spreads on GSE debt jumped substantially
and our fund costs increased. Clearly, the Treasury line of credit

needs to be handled cautiously.
A second key point is that the Federal Home Loan Banks operate

in a very safe and sound manner. We are subject to annual safety
and soundness exams. We have, by regulation and practice, an ex-

tremely low tolerance for credit- and interest-rate risk. In fact, the
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system has never experienced a credit loss. Two reasons for that

great track record are that the Federal Home Loan Bank advances
are fully collateralized and we have statutory lien protections for

that collateral.

H.R. 3703 proposes removing this protection in Section 138. In
our view, that removal would be problematic and serve no purpose.
Current law requires the Federal Home Loan Banks to secure

their loans with specified collateral. Rather than identifying, as-

signing, or perfecting that collateral, which would be a costly and
time-consuming process, well-capitalized community banks and
other portfolio lenders may use a blanket lien to cover their entire

portfolio of eligible collateral. This is a practical and efficient way
to hold down the costs of advances and the administrative burdens
for the community bank, the consumer, and the Federal Home
Loan Bank.
Furthermore, in the event of a loss by a financial institution, the

super lien, like a perfected lien, would have first claim on the failed

bank's assets. Removing the super lien would not, as some purport,
place the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation in a better posi-
tion in the event of a bank failure. Without the super lien, the Fed-
eral Home Loan Banks would perfect their security interests and,
thus, have a first claim on the assets.

Finally, the third point I wanted to make today, is that the big-

gest job facing the Federal Home Loan Bank system is the

daunting task of capitzd restructuring. The sweeping capital

changes brought by the Modernization Act require Federal Home
Loan Banks to prepare and implement a new capital structure.

Many complex issues and decisions need to be made and broadly
understood to create a sound, new, permanent capital structure.

Therefore, with all due respect, changing the regulator of the
Federal Home Loan Bank at this time would be most problematic.
We are also concerned about the limitations Section 111 of H.R.
3703 would impose. We prefer assurances that limitations would
not be arbitrary or counter to good, safe and sound balance sheet

management. The Federal Home Loan Banks' loss-free record is

due in great part to the flexibility that management has had his-

torically to manage their balance sheets in difficult times.

The housing finance market is cyclical, which means our advance
business is also cyclical. Mortgage-backed securities are a financial

management tool that is a low-risk and readily tradable commodity
used by our members every day. The finance board currently limits

our purchase of MBSs to three times capital. We believe that limi-

tation is sufficient to focus the Federal Home Loan Banks on their

mission.
We believe that the legislation should respect the need for flexi-

bility, allowing MBS as a mission-consistent tool to ensure safe and
sound business management. Without a safe and sound balance

sheet, no advances will be made, no affordable housing grants will

be made and no members will join the system.
As we restructure our capital to provide for a strong and flexible

home loan bank system, we envision a capital structure that will

allow the banks to meet the lending needs of the communities and
customers that we serve.



87

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my statement, and I would be

happy to address any questions the subcommittee may have.

[The prepared statement of Curtis L. Hage can be found on page
323 in the appendix.]
Chairman Baker. Thank you very much Mr. Hage. And I do ap-

preciate the staffs willingness to converse with us on substantive
modifications to the proposal that might wind up in a legislative

approach which you would fmd acceptable, and I do appreciate that

very much.
Mr. Raines, it has been stated here several times already this

morning, but would you confirm the view that the securities issued

by Fannie Mae are not backed by the full faith and credit? This is

stamped on the face of the security; is that correct?

Mr. Raines. It's stamped on the face of all of our offering docu-

ments, as required by law, that they are not backed by the full

faith and credit of the United States and they are solely the obliga-
tions of Fannie Mae.
Chairman Baker. And if down a distant road you are no longer

CEO and I am not in Congress, circumstances develop where we
have a soft housing market, interest rates have skewed up, difficult

circumstances, let's say as in the 1980's, net worth insolvency is

imminent, in the workout of that difficulty, would you expect inves-

tors of securities to take a haircut in the workout before you get
to the taxpayer?
Mr. Raines. Well, Mr. Chairman, the circumstances in which

Fannie Mae would reach any kind of insolvency are such that the

country would be in a devastated condition. All the thrift industry
would be gone. The banking industry would be gone, and so we are

talking about a very extraordinary circumstance.
Chairman Baker. Sure.
Mr. Raines. But what I can say is, as you know, if that were to

occur, we would expect that our regulator would implement the

provisions that are included in the 1992 Act. The 1992 Act provides
the procedures by which, if Fannie Mae were to have impaired cap-
ital, the regulator would step in and begin to take actions, includ-

ing putting the company into conservatorship. And given the li-

quidity of our assets, we would expect that we would see an orderly
elimination of the problem as our assets were sold off, given their

great liquidity. One of the big differences between Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac and a thrift or a bank is that we invest in highly liq-

uid assets that are easily sold into the marketplace. So as long as

liquidity in the general marketplace exists, then Fannie Mae would
be able to adjust its book position to whatever capital it had.

But I want to stress, it would take very devastating cir-

cumstances for that to occur. And that is exactly what our capital
standard does; it says you must be protected even if these dev-

astating circumstances occur.

Chairman Baker. Sure. But the question was, would investors be

required to take a haircut in such insurmountable, unlikely, impos-
sible circumstances? Would that be the logical order before we get
to the taxpayer in trying to understsind what is the implicit guar-
antee worth and when do we get to the taxpayer's pocketbook?
Mr. Raines. Well, Mr. Chairman, I don't believe you ever get to

the taxpayer's pocketbook. I believe our current regulatory struc-
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ture and capital structure protects taxpayers in all conceivable
events. Our investors are protected by the assets that we have.

They are protected by the extraordinary equity in American homes.

They are protected by the billions of dollars of mortgage insurance
that we have purchased. And then they are protected by our cap-
ital.

Chairman Baker. I do not dispute that today. But this is going
back to 1979-1983 kind of conditions, when it did happen. There
was an insolvency technically, and forbearance of the Congress did
enable a workout to occur.

Mr. Raines. There was never an insolvency of Fannie Mae.
Fannie Mae has never been insolvent. Not once.

Fannie Mae suffered losses in the early 1980's. They were signifi-
cant losses. Fannie Mae righted itself without any assistance from
the Federal Grovemment. Fannie Mae was able to modify its busi-

ness activities and to right itself.

But the 1992 Act is what ensures that the early 1980's won't

occur, because our capitalization is so much higher.
Chairman Baker. I am going to stick to the five-minute rule and

try to apply it to myself as well.

Since Fannie Mae is so well capitalized, so well managed and so

profitable, wouldn't the repeal of the line of credit be purely S5an-
bolic and that is all? It does not equal one week's trading. Why is

the repeal of the line of credit such a big deal to you?
Mr. Raines. It is not a question of whether it is a big deal to us;

it is a question of investors. And I agree with you that it is sym-
bolic, but symbols are very important.

Investors look to see whether there are certain entities in the
United States that qualify to issue debt in what we call the agency
market. And the agency market in the U.S. is not made up of (gov-

ernment agencies. It is made up of privately owned companies who
have been asked to serve a public purpose. And so that is the vast

majority of entities who issue in that market. And investors look
for the indicia of, are you or are you not eligible to issue in this

market. And this market is between Government securities and or-

dinary corporate securities, a lot closer to the ordinary corporate
than it is to Government.

If you begin to take away indicia of eligibility in that market, you
can undermine your ability to sell into that market. And the whole

array of criteria that we have, and indicia that we have, are like

a woven cloth. Can you take out one thread? Well, certainly. Does
it have the potential of beginning to unravel the entire cloth? Abso-

lutely.
So that is the issue. It is symbolic and if it has no cost to the

Government, the question we would raise is, why take the risk?

Why take the risk that investors would begin to see that something
has fundamentally changed in the relationship of all of these
issuers and the entity that chartered them?
Chairman Baker. One financial question just on product expan-

sion. I understand the pursuit of home ownership helping to facili-

tate for individuals who otherwise would be excluded from the

process. But to enter into a pilot project basically with Home Depot
to finance Jacuzzi purchases and sun room expansions does not

really facilitate home ownership. That is, at best, at the fringe of
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home equity lending. Why would Fannie want to engage in that

type of market activity?
Mr. Raines. We don't.

Chairman Baker. You have a pilot program with Chevy Chase
Bank that does that. Chevy is the one that extends credit; they in
turn sell the paper to you. Is that right?
Mr. Raines. No, that is not right. The Chevy Chase example is

an excellent example where a small bank decided to compete with
a giant company. Chevy Chase Bank, a local bank in Washington,
wanted to compete with the General Electric Company for the busi-
ness of Home Depot, and they came to Fannie Mae and said
"Would you be our partner in competing? And what we want to

compete on is, Home Depot wants to help people remodel their
homes. And what they would like to do is provide them not only
materials, but also a contractor and the loan to help them finance

improvements to their homes."
So they came to us and said, "Will you help us compete?" So little

Chevy Chase Bank went and competed against GE and beat them.
They provided lower interest rates and better service.

Chairman Baker. Because they were partnered with you guys,
though. Was that not somewhat a costing advantage?
Mr. Raines. No, it was not a costing advantage. What was the

real costing advantage was that the Chevy Chase turned out to be
much more efficient than the giant corporation. They beat the giant
corporation. The giant corporation was none too happy.
Chevy Chase never had an agreement with us to sell spa loans

to us. It does not today. It was never part of any arrangement. It

has always been on home remodeling.
There is a separate business, in that Chevy Chase competed with

the giant corporation to provide those kinds of loans, which Chevy
Chase would have kept in their own portfolio. There has never
been any suggestion that they were selling those loans to us.

Chairman Baker. But you do buy the home remodeling paper?
Mr. Raines. We have bought second mortgages for thirty years.
Chairman Baker. Right. In other words, stated differently.

Chevy Chase extends the credit which they turn to you and sell the

paper for home improvement. At question is, is the spa home im-

provement or is it aluminum siding? Is that how you break it out?
Mr. Raines. No, Mr, Chairman, I don't think anyone would say

that putting in a Jacuzzi would constitute something that you
would put a mortgage on the house for.

What we are talking about is honest Americans who cannot af-

ford to have big-time contractors come and do their home improve-
ments, so they go to Home Depot where they can get the materials
much less expensively, where they have someone to help them pick
out an honest contractor; and what they want is to be able to get
their loan in the same place. They do not want to have to go and
find out that they cannot get a loan.

Here is a company trying to help the average family, because for

most families this is how they improve their homes. They don't sell

them and move off to a fancy neighborhood. They fix them up.
And I think what Chevy Chase Bank did was outstanding, the

fact that they beat a giant multinational corporation. We should be

proud of that. It showed great initiative on their part, and I think
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we did what we were supposed to do, which is to respond to the

primary market; when they have a new idea and they come to us
for help, we should help them.
Chairman Baker. Excellent explanation. I still understand the

principal operation is slightly different.

It reminds me of the television commercial where the actor is

sajdng to the golfer, "Pick a number between one and a billion."

And he says, "seven" and he says, "You're good; you're very, very
good."
You are good, Mr. Raines, in explaining your position.
Mr. Kanjorski.
Mr. Kanjorski. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
My first question is, would you discuss—particularly Fannie Mae

and Freddie Mac—the size of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac debt
relative to Treasury debt, and whether it is valid to compare the
two?
Mr. Raines.
Mr. Raines. Well, as you know, I spent a fair amount of time

worrying about the Federal debt in recent years, and I consider it

to be one of the major achievements of both the Administration and
this Congress that we are now actually reducing the Federal debt.

But the comparison of our debt to the Federal debt is something
I have never quite understood. Because if the Administration and
Congress are successful in paying off all of the outstanding pub-
licly-held debt, then every financial institution in America will

have more debt outstanding than the Treasury, because the Treas-

ury will have zero outstanding.
In reality, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac do not create new debt.

All we do is finance debt that is already outstanding. We can only
buy a loan that has already been made. And when that loan was
made, the lender borrowed short term to make that loan. When
they sell the loan to us, all we can do is borrow long term. They
pay off the debt they had, but we still have just that loan that is

outstanding. So we do not add to the outstanding debt of the coun-

try at all.

Comparing us to the outstanding Treasury debt, I assume, is an
implication that our debt is guaranteed in some way, and therefore,
that that is an additional obligation of the Government. I hope that

my testimony, and I hope Leland Brendsel's testimony, made very
clear, that any obligation of the Government—^financial obligation
to Fannie Mae's debt is tenuous at best. And in my time as the

Budget Director, I never ran into the budget concept of an implied
guarantee. There is noplace in the Federal budget where we charge
for an implied guarantee. There is noplace that we count up im-

plied guarantees. We charge for real guarantees.
And even if there were a real guarantee of Fannie Mae's debt,

under existing budget accounting rules, the cost would be zero, be-

cause there is no conceivable defeult under the credit scoring rules
that the Grovemment uses for complete guarantees.

So, I have never understood this argument, other than it is to

compare us to a big number and to say that our debt is a big num-
ber, which we admit. But we operate in a big market. There are

$5 trillion of mortgages outstanding. The one thing we know is that
even if the worst fears of our critics were realized, we could never
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have more than $5 triUion of debt outstanding, because that is all

of the mortgages that exist.

Mr. Kanjorski. Mr. Brendsel.
Mr. Brendsel. Congressman, if I could summarize this way, the

decline of Treasury debt and the increase of Freddie Mac obliga-
tions, and Fannie Mae's, is good news. It is good news for the Na-
tion. On the one hand, with the prosperity in the economy, with the
sound fiscal management, Treasury debt is declining. On the other

hand, with the sound economy, with the growing economy, home
ownership rates are rising and, with that, mortgage loans that en-
able people to buy those homes are rising, and the business for

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae.
After all, all of our obligations, really nearly all of our obliga-

tions, are mortgage loans on people's homes. And they are what is

backing all of our securities that we issue in the form of mortgage-
backed securities or in the form of our debt obligations outstanding.
And behind that is equity on people's homes, their down payments,
and the growing equity.
As a result, I think it is great news. It is apples and oranges to

compare Treasury debt with Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae debt.

And, indeed, as Chairman Raines has already said and I said in

my opening remarks, frankly, we are one of the strongest financial
institutions in the country, if not the world, because of the fact we
are in this one line of business.
There is no risk of insolvency and loss to the taxpayers, and in-

deed there is no guarantee to the United States taxpayer sur-

rounding any of our obligations.
So with that, I am not certain what else I could say, Mr. Chair-

man.
Mr. Kanjorski. Mr. Hage, what would the effect on the housing

financing marketplace be if the Federal Home Loan Bank system
were not involved? What if the Federal Home Loan Bank system
were chartered or commissioned to do something else, primarily
economic and community development?
Mr. Hage. I am not sure I heard all the question, Mr. Kanjorski.
Mr. Kanjorski. What kind of impact would occur on the housing

finance marketplace in the United States if the mission of the Fed-
eral Home Loan Bank was redirected out of housing and toward
economic and community development?
Mr. Hage. The impact in some respects would probably be mini-

mal, because community banks today are heavily engaged in eco-

nomic development lending. We are the source of credit for Main
Street businesses, farms, and other economic units of production in
our local communities.
The increasing role and value of the Federal Home Loan Bank

system, due in large measure to the expansion of eligible collateral

in the bill just passed, allows and gives banks even greater power
to continue to provide that source of economic lending in our com-
munities, as well as continue our housing lending.

If the mission or the definition of mission were changed to be

very narrowly defined and forced a focus on economic development
at the expense of housing, that would be a mistake.
Chairman BAKER. Thank you, Mr. Kanjorski.
Mr. Riley, you are next.
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Mr. Riley. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Thank you gentlemen. I

enjoyed your opening statements.
But I am somewhat concerned, especially, Mr. Raines, with some

of the rather bold statements concerning both this bill and the tes-

timony of Under Secretary of the Treasury Gary Grensler. On a
number of occasions, Fannie has called this bill "anti-housing" and
continues to state that the bill would increase mortgage rates.

Fannie called Gary Gensler's testimony regarding the issue on this

bill as "inept, irresponsible, and unprofessional."
We know that Fannie apologized for those remarks. However, a

week later, Fannie said that Gensler's comments had cost 208,000
families a chance at home ownership.

I would like to point your attention to a chart, if you would, over
here. I hope you can see it that far away. The chart tracks thirty-

year fixed conventional mortgage rates for the period of February
25, 2000, through May 11, 2000.
This bill was introduced on February 29th of this year. The week

before the bill's introduction, the average thirty-year fixed conven-
tional mortgage rate was 8.31 percent. The week after the bill's in-

troduction rates actually fell on average down to 8.27. One week
after Gensler's testimony, rates had fallen by 1 basis point. In fact,

rates either fell or leveled off until over three weeks ago when the
financial world began to speculate that there would be an increase

in the Fed funds rate.

I guess my question is, the Federal Reserve and Alan Greenspan
have raised the Fed rate 165 basis points in the last year, and it

is anticipated they will probably raise them again today a quarter
to one-half a point. It would seem to me that those rate increases

would have much more of a direct effect on your cost of funds than

anything in this legislation.
That being the case, would Fannie characterize the Fed as being

antihousing or irresponsible? Does Fannie accuse the Fed of bar-

ring hundreds of thousands of Americans from home ownership?
And if not, why are these comments reserved only for those that

merely want to raise the issue of increased scrutiny for GSEs?
Mr. Raines. Congressman, let me repeat what I said in my open-

ing statement, that we do not find any objection to oversight activi-

ties. We believe what this subcommittee is doing is entirely appro-

priate and timely. We also have no objection to our regulators or

other agencies exercising their responsibility to ask questions and
make proposals. That has never been our concern.

Our concern is that if legislation is passed that actually changes
our charter and causes our costs to go up, then that will have a

negative impact on home buyers.
All of us have to deal with the circumstances of the markets as

we find them. Rates may go up and rates may go down. The Fed
may find, for good and sufficient reasons, that they have a need to

slow down the economy or to speed up the economy. The question,

though, is, should housing suffer an additional burden? Should
rates be higher than they otherwise would have been?
So we do not ask that the monetary policy be directed solely to

expanding home ownership. Monetary policy has to have a much
broader purpose, but we shouldn't do an3^hing that adds on top of
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that additional costs that otherwise wouldn't be there. And that is

our only concern.
Mr. Riley. Well, there was certainly dialogue or rhetoric that

was coming out of Fannie for the last two or three months that
seemed to be directed specifically at this bill. And I think it is a
little disingenuous on Fannie's part to say that this bill, or Sec-

retary Gensler's testimony, had cost 200,000 Americans the oppor-
tunity or the ability to own a home, or to say that the basis of any
increase in mortgage prices was because of some bill that we are

only considering here. And I think that if there is going to be an
attempt by this Congress to work with your organization to try to

effect any kind of change, any kind of systemic risk change that we
might think is appropriate, I believe Fannie is going to have to not

only be a participant in the process, they are going to have to lower
their rhetoric somewhat to the point that we are not accused of try-

ing to damage home ownership in this country.
Mr. Raines. Well, I don't think that there is any doubt that we

need to have a very considered view of any proposal, such as the
bill before the subcommittee today. And I don't believe we have
ever accused this subcommittee, or any Member of this sub-

committee, of trying to damage home ownership.
But, I think it is also important to remember that we are asking

investors around the world every day to invest billions of dollars

in American homes. And we are asking them to buy debt that will

be outstanding for a long time. And we are asking them to do that
on an understanding of what the arrangements are behind that
debt. They have a right to have some stability in those arrange-
ments. They have a right to know what they are getting them-
selves into.

So our concern, as I said, has to do with what is happening to

the actual charter. If there is a proposed change to the charter that
will change the arrangement in a way that is unfavorable to our

ability to raise funds for home ownership, then we think we have
an obligation to point that out. And it is a very fragile arrangement
that exists in the marketplace and the capital markets now have

many opportunities to invest their funds. They do not have to in-

vest in home ownership in the United States. They could invest in

home ownership in their own countries, but they have chosen to in-

vest their dollars in home ownership in the United States; and we
are simply sa3dng that we need to exercise care in changing the ar-

rangement that has worked so well that it has induced them to in-

vest so much. And be sure that we are willing to assess the risk

appropriately.
Chairman Baker. Your time has expired, Mr. Riley.
Mr. Brendsel. Congressman, Mr. Chairman, may I make a com-

ment here?
Chairman Baker. Please.

Mr. Brendsel. Freddie Mac happened to be in the markets the

day of that hearing, marketing a debt security. And, indeed, we
have experienced significant success over the last few years in ex-

panding our investor base worldwide to foreign markets; approxi-

mately a third of our debt securities are now purchased by inter-

national investors.



94

And, indeed, when we were in the markets that day, I was in our

trading room watching the offering, and I saw the impact on the
market of our offering. It really did disrupt the market. It caused

confusion, I would say "uncertainty" among investors—probably in-

vestors that do not know this system as well, do not know the en-

tire process, the entire committee and legislative process.
And indeed, all I could say is that regardless of the specific rea-

sons, I have no doubt that the uncertainty created by how some of

those comments were handled really was concerning to investors.

I might also add that if you look at some other statistics, some
other charts, they would show a somewhat different story, not in

terms of conventional mortgage rates, but, for example, if you were
to compare rates on Government—Treasury, Government-guaran-
teed, mortgage-backed securities, Ginnie Maes, compared to

conventionals, you would see again the impact of recent events.

Mr. Riley. Mr. Chairman, will we have an opportunity to make
a second round?
Chairman Baker. Yes, sir. If you can stay, we will have a second

round.
Mr. Riley. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Mr. LaFalce. I'm sorry, he is not here.

Mrs. Maloney. Nope.
Mr. Watt, do you want to get in on this? No?
Mrs. Jones.
Mrs. Jones. I am not used to getting to ask questions this quick-

ly. I was sitting back here.

Chairman Baker. That is OK. You do not have to.

Mrs. Jones. No. I am going to ask some questions now. I want
to start with Mr. Hage.
Can you discuss for me the impact of having H.R. 3703 lump all

three GSEs into one category in terms of regulation, and so forth?

Mr. Hage. We believe there are distinct differences in terms of

the Federal Home Loan Bank structure and the organization of

Freddie and Fannie. The Federal Home Loan Bank is a cooperative

organization, not a stock—privately funded like Freddie and
Fannie. Membership functions in the Federal Home Loan Bank
system by members having access to and using the product that we
offer—^the focus, I believe, is different. The mission is different, and
the way we achieve it is different.

Mrs. Jones. So, therefore—short answers, because I only have
five minutes, go ahead—do you oppose or support this lumping to-

gether?
Mr. Hage. We would oppose lumping together.
Mrs. Jones. OK. That was a good short answer. Thanks.
Let me go now to Mr. Raines and Mr. Brendsel.
There has been a lot of discussion and debate about your auto-

mated underwriting system. Some entities have complained that

your systems leave out potential homeowners. Could you respond?
Short as you can, guys. Come on.

Mr. Brendsel. I, in fact, think that automated underwriting sys-
tems have had the benefit and will continue to have the benefit of

further reducing costs, making the system fair, more objective; and
indeed our experience has been that it expands the opportunities
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for home ownership when combined with the human judgments
that go along with those automated underwriting systems.
But there is no doubt it reduces costs and increases the avail-

abiUty of mortgage credit, particularly as you try to expand into

low-income neighborhoods where the cost related to making a mort-

gage loan and financing it in the secondary market is so very im-

portant.
Mr. Raines. There is no question that Fannie Mae's desktop un-

derwriting system has expanded the range of loans that we pur-
chase. We have found underwriters who will say that we had no
idea Fannie Mae would purchase a particular loan.

But also we have introduced a whole series of products that we
would not have felt comfortable introducing unless we had a Desk-

top Underwriter helping us to assess the risk. So we believe that
automated underwriting has been a valuable tool for expanding
availability of mortgage credit to many people who would otherwise
not have qualified for it.

Mrs. Jones. Talk for a moment about a complaint by some of

your detractors, or people in the industry, about mortgage insur-

ance and the position of Fannie Mae that you have to have mort-

gage insurance in order for them to purchase or for you to purchase
these loans.

Mr. Raines. Well, as I mentioned before, mortgage insurers are

key risk-sharing partners of ours. In 1994, in fact, when we ex-

panded the range of loans that we would buy to include loans with
as little as 3 percent down, in other words, to help to protect us

against a relatively new risk for us, we expanded the requirement
for mortgage insurance. We said you had to purchase more mort-

gage insurance for a loan such as that.

When I became Chairman, after I came back from the Grovem-

ment, we had just completed a study that identified we did not
need as much mortgage insurance as we had required in 1994; our

experience base had grown and we did not need as much coverage.
So we reduced that coverage.
When we increased the coverage, I don't remember there being

any complaints from the mortgage insurance industry. But when
we reduced the coverage, when we said you don't have to buy as

much coverage, we got a lot of complaints from the mortgage insur-

ance industry. They were disappointed that we were not requiring
that their product be bought as frequently. And because 80 percent
of the mortgage business product involves insuring either loans

that Freddie Mac buys or Fannie Mae buys, this is a market of

some importance to them. We are essentially their market, because
we are required to use it in this part of our charter.

But the accusations of our trying to get into the mortgage insur-

ance business are, of course, false. We don't intend to do mortgage
insurance. We are their customer. We only want them to give us
the best products that are available at the lowest possible costs to

meet our risk-sharing needs.

Mrs. Jones. Can I go one more question?
Chairman Baker. One more quick one.

Mrs. Jones. OK. Deal with, for a moment, the issue of mission

creep.
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Mr. Raines. I can do that very quickly if you put up chart num-
ber 20.

Mission creep appears to be a concept that I am not quite sure

exactly what it means, since we have a charter that sets our mis-
sion and we have regulators who enforce the charter. But the best
answer to mission creep with regard to Fannie Mae is to look
where our assets are. And if you look to see what our assets are,

they are exactly what you would expect of a secondary mortgage
company. Eighty-eight percent of our assets are single family mort-

gages, 2 percent are multifamily mortgages, the remainder is cash
and liquid assets which every financial institution is required to

have, and that is about 8 percent of our assets. We do not have any
mission creep assets that are on our books.
So I am not sure what it means, unless what they mean is that

you used to buy only certain kinds of mortgages, and now you are

buying other kinds of mortgages. We used to buy only mortgages
with 20 percent down; that is true. We now buy mortgages with as
low as 3 percent down. We used to require perfect credit; that is

true. We now say you do not have to have perfect credit. We used
to have most of our mortgages come from outside of central cities;
that is true. We now have a lot coming from inside central cities.

If that is what they mean by mission creep that we are doing,
then I would simply point them to the charter that this committee
voted on in 1992, which mandates that we try to extend our service
to all parts of the mortgage market.
Chairman Baker. Can we wrap up here, please? If we can, we

will do a second round. People have been here for so long, I hate
to make them wait longer.
Mr. Ryan.
Mr. Ryan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I enjoyed the testimony.
I had a different line of question planned, but I was intrigued

with your line of questioning with Mr. Riley, my colleague, the fact

that the introduction of this bill purportedly raised the cost of

mortgages.
I think a representative of your company, Mr. Raines, at a con-

ference in front of the mortgage bankers, said that the mere intro-

duction of this bill has caused an increase in your cost of funds,
which I understand is low relative to private entities, and caused
an increase in the cost of home purchasing for average Americans.

In a recent National Journal article, it said that Fannie's and
Freddie's return on equity in 1995 and 1999 was 24 percent com-
pared to 15 percent for large banks, 12 percent for tluifts and in-

surers, and 17 percent for securities firms over the same period.
Now, this consistent earnings growth and return on equity is

wonderful. I think you should be proud of that. That is a good
thing. That is what private companies should be doing. But we are
also assuming that then Fannie has been passing on the profits to

its shareholders, regardless of the cost of borrowing funds, which
is what an entity should be doing.
Getting to the point of whether or not the introduction of this

bill, this kind of discussion, raises the cost of home buying, isn't the
answer also included in whether or not you are interested in pass-
ing the costs on to the consumers to protect that 25 percent profit

rate; or is it really fair to say that this legislation would make in-
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terest rates increase if you make the ultimate decision on either

using your return on equity to keep rates low, passing them
through to keep rates low, or enhancing shareholder wealth?
Which comes first is the question.
In my opinion, from watching your give-and-take with Mr. Riley,

it would seem that your mission and your capability is to offset any
of these increases in the cost of funds by using more of your return
on equity, or a greater percentage of your Government subsidies,
keeping rates low rather than hitting that 25 percent target.
Mr. Raines. Mr. Ryan, we do not believe that the mere introduc-

tion of this bill raised interest rates. We believe that the investor

community had great concern that legislation such as this might be
enacted. It is the enactment—not the introduction, not the discus-

sion, the enactment of legislation is what investors are concerned
about. Since they have to buy debt and hold it for a long time, they
have to make their own calculation what are the chances it is going
to be enacted. So it is the enactment that is the concern.
In terms of our income—and I think this is an important point;

and I know you share the view that all additional costs, all taxes,
all regulatory burdens on corporations are not paid for by the cor-

porations, they are paid for by consumers—the important point
here is, what is happening with our profits?
The assumption in your question was that we write a check to

the shareholders for our profits. Indeed, 28 percent of our pretax
profits last year went to Federal income taxes, 50 percent went to

increases in our capital required to meet our strict capital require-
ment, 22 cents on the dollar actually went to shareholders. So our
shareholders basically have taken the view, "keep the money in the

company, keep doing your job, keep serving your mission."
So it is not accurate that somehow we can translate profits into

overcoming an impact in the market caused by the legislation.
The last thing I would simply say is that the cost of mortgages

is not set by Fannie Mae, and it is not set by Freddie Mac; it is

set by the markets. When lenders take our mortgage-backed securi-

ties, we do not sell them to the market, they do. So the price they
get is given to them by the market. The price that we have when
we buy out of the market is set by the market. And so all of us
are having to ensure that the market works well, and we simply
have to react to what the market gives us.

Mr. Ryan. Mr. Raines, I would like to switch now. I am inter-

ested in this debt issue and this debt debate we seem to be having.
We are in the middle of a big chart war, it seems, these days.

I see in your testimony in chart 19 you talk about the debt that
Freddie and Fannie have, and I would like to go to the issue of re-

purchasing your own mortgage-backed securities. I believe, in 1993,

you started doing that with a fairly steady pace. Some critics of the

GSEs argue that when Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac issues debt to

repurchase its MBSs from the private sector, it is unnecessarily in-

creasing the risk to taxpayers, that that is excess debt that does
not go toward fulfilling your mission statement, and that it is debt
that is unnecessarily borne by taxpayers with this implied credit

that we obviously have various opinions on.

Isn't the issue not how much debt is outstanding in the economy,
which is, I think, what your chart 19 shows. Isn't the issue how
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much GSE debt has been issued and whether that debt, the excess

debt, whoever's measurement that may be, is needed to meet your
GSE mission?
So my question is, is the debt that you incur from repurchasing

mortgage-backed securities above and beyond what you need to ful-

fill your mission? I don't think this panel is saying any GSE debt

is bad. I think the panel is concerned about some GSE debt, on top
of your critical mission debt, is an unnecessary risk posed to the

taxpayer and goes beyond and above what your original mission
fulfillment is.

Chairman Baker. We will have to wrap up with—and let Mr.
Raines answer fully, but I suggest that we have one vote. At the

conclusion of Mr. Raines's remarks, we will briefly recess.

On the Democrat side, Mrs. Waters, you would be up next for a

question if you can make it back after the vote, and we will just

pick up at that tempo.
Mr. Raines.
Mr. Raines. I can answer now?
Chairman Baker. Yes.
Mr. Raines. Put up number 2. I will do this quickly so you can

go vote. It is an excellent question, and I think it is one that we
need to have clearly understood if the functioning of the secondary
market is to be understood.

First, we try to offer investors the kind of securities they most

want, because if we offer them the kind of securities they most

want, they will charge less money. And not all investors are cre-

ated equal; some investors like to have all of the volatility along
with the additional income you get from a mortgage-backed secu-

rity. There is volatility, because people can repay that mortgage at

any time, and therefore it is hard to decide what that is worth.
And so some investors will want mortgage-backed securities, but

there is a limited number of them.
There are other investors who say, I do not want all of that vola-

tility. I am willing to take a little bit of what we call "optionality"
in my debt, but I don't want a lot. And for them, we offer our call-

able debt. And others will say, I do not want any optionality; I

want it paid back on a particular date exactly on that date. And
for them we offer our bullet debt.

So we offer investors what it is they want, because if we do not

offer what they want, they will charge us more money.
Mr. Ryan. How does that deal with you repurchasing your own

mortgage-backed securities and whether or not that transforms
into your reaching your mission statement?
Mr. Raines. Excellent question, and that is the second chart.

Mr. Ryan. A lot of charts in this.

Mr. Raines. Old habits.

This one shows what we believe to be our fundamental role. Our
fundamental role is to transform the risks that are inherent in con-

sumer mortgages into the kind of risk that investors want. And the

question has come up, are we increasing the debt as we do that?

And let me just walk you through the process, if you will; it will

take me less than one minute.
This shows an example of a lender originating a billion dollars

in mortgages. So we have a billion dollars of debt that has now
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been created and that lender has gotten a short-term loan from
their bank to pay for that. They swap those for mortgage-backed
securities which is the predominant way it is done. They say
Fannie Mae, here are the loans; you give me mortgage-backed secu-
rities.

They hold those securities or they sell them to Wall Street. Wall
Street now takes out a short-term loan, pays the lender for the

mortgages. That lender pays off their warehouse loan. The market
still has that same billion dollars of debt outstanding, that same
billion dollars financed by a billion dollars. Wall Street sells part
of that to Fannie Mae and part of it to other investors. So we buy
a part of it, and other investors buy a part of it, and then we issue
debt to pay off Wall Street, and the other investors don't pay off

Wall Street.

So here we are. There is still a billion dollars of loans out-

standing. There is still a billion dollars of debt that has been used
to invest in them. There is no new debt.

Mr. Ryan. I think that is a very accurate statement and I agree
with what you just said.

I guess the question is, it is the difference between your owning
your mortgage-backed securities at an implied taxpayer risk versus
a private-sector holder of your mortgage-backed securities. I don't

think the issue is increased total debt in the market.
Does it increase your debt and, therefore, implied taxpayer risk?

Mr. Raines. We guarantee the mortgage-backed securities just as
we guarantee our debt. So it does not matter in terms of the risk

to Fannie Mae whether or not it is in the form of a mortgage-
backed security or debt. It is the same guarantee on both.

So if you believe there is a risk in there, it is the same risk no
matter what form it is in. In fact, we would argue that Fannie Mae
is a better holder of the mortgage risk, because we have so much
more data, so much greater ability to hold it, that the risk to the

system is actually reduced; because if these loans were being held

by your local thrift or your local bank, who have lesser ability to

manage them, there is more systemic risk than if they are held by
Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac. And remember, those are institutions

that have Federal guarantees, whereas we do not.

Mr. Ryan. I think the Federal guarantee—excuse me.
Mr. Brendsel. If I may conmient, there are two other points I

would make that relate to this. One is the natural investor for call-

able debt is sometimes different than the natural investor for a

mortgage-backed security. Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are always
in the process of finding who is the most attractive investor for a

particular kind of security.
Chairman Baker. If I may interrupt, we are down to five min-

utes.

Mr. Brendsel. The second issue would be whether or not this af-

fects anything about the safety and soundness of Fannie Mae or

Freddie Mac.
Chairman Baker. We will come back to this explanation when

we come back. We are down to five minutes on the vote. We will

be right back. Thank you.

[Recess.]
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Chairman Baker. If I may ask individuals to please take seats,

we will reconvene our hearing. Mr. Brendsel, when we suspended
our activities here, Mr. Ryan was in an exchange. I think he would

request the ability to restate his question and then have you re-

spond from the start.

Mr. Ryan, you are recognized.
Mr. Ryan. I am sorry we cut you off before the vote happened.

We wanted to make our vote.

The question is, and I saw
Chairman Baker. Excuse me. If I could get those back doors

closed, it would help with the noise so that the witnesses are able

to hear properly.
Mr. Ryan.
Mr. Ryan. The question, and it is a very simple one—I think this

is very fascinating. You had the chart that showed the callable, the

bullet, and the mortgage-backed security debt. And tell me if I am
misparaphrasing you, Mr. Raines; the riskiest debt was the mort-

gage-backed security debt, correct?

Mr. Raines. I think it would generally be considered as having
the greatest volatility and greatest optionality.
Mr. Ryan. The question is, does the issuance of mortgage-backed

securities and the repurchasing of your mortgage-backed securities

put another person into a home, period? Does that advance the goal
of home ownership and put another person into a home? That is

question number one.

Question number two is, if it does not put another person into

a home, is that not excess debt above and beyond the debt that is

needed to put people into homes or to fulfill the mission of the

GSEs, the primary mission of which is the secondary market?
Mr. Raines. An excellent question. And I think the answer is

very clear that the operation of our portfolio is vital to our achiev-

ing the reduction in interest rates that we achieve in the market-

place. Because when we buy mortgage-backed securities, we are

one of the investors who are adding to the demand for mortgage-
backed securities. Without our buying the mortgage-backed secu-

rity, interest rates would be higher, because the demand for mort-

gage-backed securities would be less.

And it was never shown so well as it was shown in the fall of

1998, when the number of people who wanted to own mortgage-
backed securities disappeared, and billions and billions and billions

of dollars of existing mortgage-backed securities came into the mar-
ket.

So, if you were trying to buy a home in October of 1998, if

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac had not had mortgage-backed port-

folios, you would have seen interest rates in the United States soar,

and it would have prevented people from getting a mortgage in Oc-

tober of 1998.
So the operation of our portfolios is vital in maintaining the flow

of capital and achieving that 25- to 50-basis-point reduction in in-

terest rates.

Mr. Ryan. I clearly understand that the operation of the portfolio
is critical to that mission.

Is the operation in the portfolio specific to the issuance and re-

purchase of mortgage-backed securities in and of itself critical to
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fulfilling that mission, meaning putting another person in a home
that otherwise would not be put into a home?
Mr. Raines. Absolutely, because there is a distinction that some

critics have made between our buying a whole loan and buying a

mortgage-backed security. And they would say if you buy a whole
loan, that is OK; but if you buy a mortgage-backed security, that
is not OK.

It is a false distinction, because all mortgage-backed securities

are groups of whole loans. So it is exactly the same activity when
loans are put in mortgage-backed securities by lenders and sold to

investors, that is, the vast majority of loans in our marketplace are

put in mortgage-backed securities first.

They are not sold to us as whole loans. The vast majority are put
into mortgage-backed securities. And so when we buy them or any-
one else buys mortgages, they are predominantly buying them in

mortgage-backed securities, not as an individual loan.

Chairman Baker. Mr. Ryan, can you wrap it up now?
Mr. Ryan. One more point, if I could, Mr. Chairman.
So you are saying, by the GSEs repurchasing mortgage-backed

securities, that contributes to lowering interest rates as opposed to

a private entity bujdng those mortgage-backed securities? Is that
what you said?
Mr. Raines. The key distinction, you said "repurchase." The idea

of repurchase implies that we would be the one who sold the mort-

gage-backed securities. But it is the lender who sells them; we only
buy them essentially when other reinvestors do not want them.
Mr. Ryan. I think you mentioned $493 billion, everyone com-

bined, in 1999. That $493 billion purchase of mortgage-backed se-

curities are mortgage-backed securities that otherwise would not
have been purchased by the private market; is that essentially
what you are saying?
Mr. Raines. No. What we are saying is, if you add the bid of

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac into that market, we make the value
of that mortgage-backed security higher and the interest rate

lower. The market would have cleared at some level, but it would
have cleared at a much higher interest rate. By our buying them,
we are clearing that market at a lower interest rate to the con-

sumer.
So the loans would have been bought by somebody.
Mr. Ryan. They would have been bought, but the effect would

have been higher interest rates?

Mr. Raines. The effect would have been higher interest rates.

Mr. Ryan. This is fascinating. I understand that I am out of

time, but thank you.
Mr. Baker. Ms. Waters would be next, but she is not present, so

I recognize Mr. Sweeney.
Mr. Sweeney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I thank our guests for their testimony. I have a couple of ques-

tions I would like to address to the panel regarding just to get a
sense of your position on oversight and risk management and what
is proper, and I would like very brief answers, and then I would
like to make a point before I conclude.

Mr. Hage, you mentioned in your testimony that the task of cap-
ital restructuring is going to be quite a daunting task, and it will

\



102

indeed present the greatest challenge to you. Could you very briefly

give me some of the key points?
And you also mentioned the need to maintain flexibility, and I

think it does go to the heart of the whole notion of whether we
need to reform and in what particular areas we need to, whether
it needs to be a macro or micro approach. Could you give some key
points on flexibility, what your greatest concerns would be in terms
of loss of flexibility if we were to move forward with this legisla-

tion?

Mr. Hage. The Federal Home Loan Bank system historically has
been a closed capital system. By that I mean, the member has to

put capital into the system whether or not they use it. The new
definitions of capital and the new requirements of capital under the

financial modernization bill have changed that in a positive way,
but also in a significant way. The challenge is to construct the cap-
ital in a way that is salable to its members, so they will in fact buy
the capital, and yet achieve the flexibility of utilization of capital

by members so that if they are not using the system, they are rede-

ploying that capital.
Mr. Sweeney. And it aids, as you said in your testimony, that

the regulatory process currently provides enough protection to en-

sure that the Federal Home Loan Banks are sufficiently capital-

ized, correct?

Mr. Hage. I believe it does, yes.
Mr. Sweeney. OK.
Mr. Brendsel, I understand, and we have heard it a couple of

times, that you have worked with the Chairman and his staff, and
I am suspecting that we pretty much agree, or you pretty much
agree that promoting great market discipline transparency is an
overall goal that you would sign on to in support?
Mr. Brendsel. Absolutely.
Mr. Sweeney. And I want to thank you, because your staff" has

been very helpful.
Mr. Brendsel. Thank you.
If I could add to that, I have always supported a very strong

safety and soundness regulator, independent and credible. I frankly
do not believe that the bill as currently structured would enhance
those basic principles.
With regard to the transparency and the availability of informa-

tion to the market, to investors about our business and risk man-

agement practices, I would actually also like to mention something
additional. In fact, I believe that Freddie Mac is a leader in trans-

parency and disclosure about our business activities and risk man-

agement practices.

Indeed, we recently asked for an independent review by
PricewaterhouseCoopers of our disclosures, and they have recently

completed that review. I am in the process of obtaining a written

copy of it, but I can give you the bottom line conclusion.

They took the top institutions, banking and financial institutions

in the country, regarded for being best practices in disclosure; they

compared our disclosures against those—^to the marketplace, to in-

vestors—and they ranked us in the top third. Top three.

Mr. Sweeney. You also—Freddie Mac has also recently an-

noiuiced antipredatory lending practices. Maybe you could briefly
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give us some of that information and your rationale. And be brief,
because I need get to Mr. Raines with some questions.
Mr. Brendsel. With regard to—I'm sorry?
Mr. Sweeney. The antipredatory lenddng guideUnes that you

have just initiated.

Mr. Brendsel. Yes, we have explored the subprime sector, and
in particular, in addition, lending activities in parts of that sector.

Indeed, there are good parts and there are bad parts of that sector;
and in fact, we became troubled with some of what we saw, and
we commissioned—in fact, we conducted a thorough review of those

practices. And we recently issued guidelines to our lenders, first of

all, requiring credit reporting on all of their borrowings.
Mr. Sweeney. I would like to stay with you, but I am running

out of time.
Mr. Raines, I am hopeful that your people read the testimony or

read the statement that I made at the March hearing and under-
stand that my position has been very substantially one that I have
been quite hesitant to move forward here, because I'm not certain

that the system is broken and I do not want to try to fix something
that isn't. But I need to make that point to you.
You have said three times in your testimony that oversight is

key to safety and soundness, and you said that you are concerned,
not with these hearings, but with actual change. And yet my office

has been barraged by constituent letters, mailgrams of this nature,
e-mails. One such e-mail reads as follows: "Last week I received a

telephone call from an individual who stated that he was with the
Fannie Mae Foundation, seeking my agreement to join the founda-
tion in opposing H.R. 3703. I also have received substantial mail
from those on the other side."

I have a couple of questions. One is, I would like to know where

you obtained the list that you solicited this kind of constituent

mail. Second, to what Members did you do this? And thirdly, as a
freshman Member of Congress, my office is often burdened beyond
the norm. This certainly causes me great concern, and I am not one
who was necessarily moving precipitously, if you felt Members
were, and I do not quite understand your tactic.

Mrs. Roukema. Will the gentleman yield?
Chairman Baker. If I may, Mr. Sweeney, so he can see to re-

spond, I ask that the boxes be moved.
Mr. Sweeney. That is the problem I have now in my office with

a lot of things I need to do, because I have to respond to those let-

ters.

Mr. Ryan. Could I ask unanimous consent to move the boxes to

the right, so we could see Mr. Raines as he gives his answer?
Chairman Baker. Mr. Sweeney, have your staff remove the

boxes.
Mr. Raines. I feel like the judge in "Miracle on 34th Street"

when they brought in the letters to Santa Claus and put them on
the judge's desk.

Mr. Sweeney. Well, this is no miracle.

Mr. Raines. Democracy is a wonderful thing.
Chairman Baker. Mr. Raines, you have a moment or two to re-

spond. Mr. Sweeney has expired his time.

Mr. Raines. Mr. Sweeney, I am delighted to respond.
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We have been absolutely thrilled anytime we have asked for sup-

port for Fannie Mae and our activities at the response we get

throughout our industry and throughout the Nation. And we did,

in fact, contact constituents in virtually all of the districts of Mem-
bers of this subcommittee, and perhaps beyond this subcommittee,
and asked them to express their support for us and their concern

about this bill.

Mr. Sweeney. Where were those lists obtained?
Mr. Raines. We bought them from commercial houses who have

lists of homeowners in yours and other districts. But the tone of

these letters I think is exactly appropriate, and let me read just the

first two paragraphs:
"I wanted to rush you a quick note and let you know how much

I appreciate all you are doing on behalf of homeowners and for

home ownership in America today. Home ownership in America is

at an all-time high, and that is due in large part to the policies

that you and other Members in Congress have supported in recent

years."
Mr. Sweeney. Reclaiming my time, let me make this final point.

You made the statement earlier that '*We have never accused any
Member of trying to damage home ownership", yet in this letter

you, as well, say, "However, there is a bill today that has already
had negative impact on mortgage costs."

That directly contradicts what you have said to Mr. Riley and to

Mr. Ryan and to other Members. And I, as a Member who I think

was more in the middle on this than any other Member, that may
feel that there is not a need of great change, am offended by that.

Mr. Raines. Mr. Sweeney, I think this letter is very clear. It does

not accuse any Member of tr5dng to hurt home ownership. It does

say that this bill can have that effect. And it is not just Fannie
Mae that believes this bill can have that effect; there are many
people in the housing industry—certainly, I cannot believe that you
are saying that we cannot critique the bill.

Chairman Baker. Mr. Sweeney, can we can wrap it up?
Mr. Sweeney. Let me suggest this, that if there has been an ad-

verse impact on the market, it may not simply have been the hear-

ing or the testimony of any of the witnesses in March; it may also

be as a result of the actions of Fannie Mae, and I caution that you
go very slowly here.

Mr. Raines. With all due respect, I think that we are prepared
to accept any criticism that we deserve. But just to be very clear

on this letter, this letter does not criticize a witness; it does not

criticize a T^ember
The letter says very clearly, "There is a bill, H.R. 3703, that has

already had a negative effect."

So we have tried to be very, very careful about the kinds of

things that we say, and we try to be very, very careful here that

our objection is to a bill that we hope will not be enacted. It is not

to a hearing, not to a Member, not to a witness, not even to an

idea; but it is to a bill.

Chairman Baker. Mr. Raines, I do not want to arbitrarily con-

clude the discussion, but in fairness to Members we do need move
on to others who have been waiting some time. And I think it is

clear, the only persons to whom any correspondence may have ref-
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erence would be myself and Chairman Leach as offerers of the bill.

That would be it, as I have read the letter that has been trans-
mitted.
So I understand the issue and I am comfortable with it.

Ms. Waters, you are next.

Ms. Waters. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman and Mem-
bers.

First, I would like to compliment both Mr. Raines and Mr.
Brendsel for their testimony today. I think that you have, in the
best way that I have ever witnessed in this subcommittee, ex-

plained who you are, what you do, how you do it; and many Mem-
bers who are sitting here today are understanding for the first time
some of the intricacies of how you work and why now we all, I am
sure, understand, based on your testimony, that you are at no

great risk.

But I do think there is one little thing needs to be cleared up,
and I am going to ask you to do that so that we can put this ques-
tion about whether or not there was an increase in interest rates
to rest.

I am very clear that what you have said is that there was an in-

crease in the cost of the money that you borrow. I think the pre-
vious chart that was put up by my colleague on the other side of

the aisle tried to compare that to the interest rates in the market,
rather than looking at the cost to you.
You need to explain, I think, that, yes, there was this increase

in the cost of borrowing and that you did not pass it on in any way.
But there is a difference between what they show and what the ex-

perience was that was described by both you and the Wall Street

Journal and other publications.
Will you please illuminate on that and explain, so that the Mem-

bers of the subcommittee understand the difference and we can all

be clear about it?

Mr. Brendsel. Well, let me start on this, and as I said before
in this hearing, this morning, we were in the market that day. We
did see an increase in the cost of our borrowings, and in fact we
saw an increase in the yields on our mortgage-backed securities

relative, for example, to Grovernment-guaranteed mortgage-backed
securities. There is no doubt in my mind that that is reflected in

mortgage rates.

Now, there are other things that influence mortgage rates, the
Federal Reserve actions that are influencing mortgage rates that

you actually observe and record. In fact, I am not certain where
this particular source of information came from.

Chairman Baker. That is the Freddie Mac home page posting on

Thursday.
Mr. Brendsel. But we do conduct a survey of mortgage lenders,

and we study this a lot. And as everyone knows, there are a variety
of influences on mortgage rates that cause them to change over
time.
But it did increase our costs. It did increase 3delds on mortgage-

backed securities and contributed. Otherwise, mortgage rates

would have been lower would be a different way of saying it.

Ms. Waters. Thank you very much. I would like to get this on
the record.
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I have been one of the greatest critics of Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac; and on more than one occasion, we have faced off about every-

thing from ads to statements, studies, you name it. And I am going
to continue to do that, so I don't want anybody to think that some-
how I am going to support Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac in whatever

they do.

I want you to put more money into my community. I want you
to buy more of those loans in the secondary market. I want you to

expand the way that you operate so—I mean, I want it to be under-
stood that I think that it is incumbent upon all of us to make sure
that we get the best that we can get for our constituencies. And
for all of those who are involved in FM Watch, I would like to have
the opportunity to interact with you and have you interact with my
constituents in the same way that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
have been doing.
So even though today I support you 100 percent in saying that

there is nothing wrong here, there is nothing that needs to be

fixed, and that, yes, if there is an implied thought in the overall

community that somehow you are Government-backed, and if that

inures to all of our benefit, that is fine. But as you said, I cannot
calculate any implications and that is that.

But let me just close by saying that I can tell you that you have
done well here today and let me tell you what the measure should
be. Not my simply saying so, but when the Chairman admits it. He
does not admit that very easily and when he compliments you, you
can take it to the bank.
Thank you very much.
Chairman Baker. I think that was a compliment. Thank you.
Chairman Leach, you would be recognized.
Mr. Leach. Thank you very much.
Mr. Hage, in the proposed rules that are circulated by the over-

sight board for the Federal Home Loan Bank system, a stock will

be tradable in such a manner that a single entity will be able to

control an individual Federsd Home Loan Bank.
Do you think this is appropriate or inappropriate?
Mr. Hage. As the capital rules are being suggested and proposed

and the notion of capital being more fluid than it has been in the

past, there are serious questions that need to be addressed. It is

of concern that—the notion that larger shareholders would have
the power to control the system by the quantity of stock that they
would own and be able to vote. It has also been a long-standing
concern of those large members, who have had a large amount of

stock, that have been denied the right to vote their stock. It is a
matter that has merit on both sides and has concern on both sides.

Mr. Leach. Let me stress to this subcommittee a couple of as-

pects about privilege, that this panel suggested we should maintain
the status quo. One is that the Federal Home Loan Bank system
is federally untaxed. Under the rules that are being promulgated
within it today, an entity could take it over and therefore take ad-

vantage of its untaxed status. That is not the intent of anyone that

I know of in the United States Congress, and it is an aspect that

this subcommittee is obligated to comment upon.
Second, as Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae well know, both are ex-

empt from the payment of State taxes. Fannie Mae is the most
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profitable institution per employee in the United States of America.
Freddie Mac is the second most profitable institution in America of

any kind. And yet you are privileged from the payment of State in-

come taxes.

So let me ask, is that fair, Mr. Raines?
Mr. Raines. The determination to exempt Fannie Mae from the

payment of State income taxes is, I think, grounded in public policy
and not meant to favor the companies. But, it was one of the things
that Congress did to ensure that mortgage finance could flow at the
least expense, but I think, more importantly, was a concern that
if you allowed the State in which we were located to levy a tax on
us, that that would simply be a way to export that tax around the

country. Whatever State that was would be able to collect a tax on
all mortgages in the United States without their own constituents

feeling a proportionate share of the burden.
So I believe, as a matter of public policy, that exemption was

there to prevent that from occurring, to prevent one State from

being able to collect taxes from around the whole country and bring
them all into any one State.

From the standpoint of the company's activities, you know, we
probably could engage in the same activities that other companies
do to minimize taxation. Our effective tax rate is higher than that
of most companies, because we cannot engage in the kind of activi-

ties, such as leasing and other things that can drive down your tax
rate. So even with the exemption from paying State income taxes,
our effective tax rate is higher than most of the tax rates of our
critics. And I doubt that they would want to switch with us in

terms of whose effective tax rate they would like to have.

Mr. Leach. Let me ask a second question on arbitrage activities.

The Federal Home Loan Bank system leads the country in arbi-

trage. Fannie and Freddie are very high; Farmer Mac, on a per-

centage basis, is number one. So let me just ask your judgment on
another GSE.
Do you think it is credible for Farmer Mac, a Government Spon-

sored Enterprise of approximately $50 million in capital, to have
several billion dollars in arbitrage activity?
Mr. Brendsel, is that appropriate?
Mr. Brendsel. I can't speak with regard to Farmer Mac knowl-

edgeably. I can say that we do not engage in arbitrage activities.

Mr. Leach. You have never engaged in arbitrage activities?

Mr. Brendsel. We have never engaged in arbitrage activities.

Mr. Leach. Well, you may recall getting a letter from me a few

years back in which it was pointed out that on an instantaneous

basis, that is, within seconds, Freddie Mac had taken down a given
amount of money on a multiyear Grovemment basis and purchased
a Philip Morris bond. Is that not arbitrage?
Mr. Brendsel. That is not arbitrage.
Mr. Leach. What is it?

Mr. Brendsel. Let me explain. Put Philip Morris off to the side.

Clearly, that was an error in judgment about the particular
name that one invests in, given the amount of, I think, discredit

it brought to what we are doing. We do make investments that are

non-mortgage—in non-mortgage assets. They are a very small, but
essential part of our mission. They are used to manage the cash
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flow as well as to hold a small amount of capital in reserve to

support
Mr. Leach. How is that managing cash flow if you buy a bond,

the same duration, at the exact same moment that you take down
Government money? Your access to the Government borrowing ca-

pacity? Is that anything except your stockholders taking the dif-

ferential, which in the general term of art is considered arbitrage,
although maybe in your definition it is a good investment in the

Philip Morris bond?
I mean, is buying a Philip Morris bond, is that part of your man-

date as a Grovemment Sponsored Enterprise in housing?
Mr. Brendsel. Holding a small amount of our assets in high-

quality, low-risk investments
Mr. Leach. Long-term, this was a long-term bond.
Mr. Brendsel. I can't recall the particular maturity of that bond.

A vast majority of the maturities of our non-mortgage investments
are short-term, ninety days or less. They are high-quality, triple A
rated. They are done for purposes of managing the cash flows of
the corporation and holding a capital contingency in reserve so that
we can liquidate that investment and step into the mortgage mar-
ket. And indeed we have shown historically that is indeed what we
do.

We will, when we need the capital, step in; if we cannot go out
into the capital markets and raise it, we sell off an asset, this small

contingent reserve, and go into the market to buy mortgages and
mortgage-backed securities.

Chairman Baker. Mr. Chairman, I am reluctant to do this, but
do you have one more to wrap up, sir?

Mr. Leach. No, sir.

Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I hope you do not
remember that.

Mrs. Roukema, are you back? No.
Mr. Manzuilo. I am sorry. I don't know what I am doing. I was

looking at the wrong list.

Mrs. Maloney is next.

Mrs. Maloney. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Some critics of GSEs have charged that you are not doing all you

are capable of doing to increase minority home ownership. Some
have argued that banks actually serve a higher percentage of mi-

nority borrowers than the GSEs. Is this true? Is this a result of the
GSEs only being able to buy loans that originators choose to sell

them?
And I ask anyone to comment.
Mr. Raines. I would love to start on this one.

Fannie Mae has had a policy over the last decade of ensuring
that we focus on those who have not benefited from home owner-
ship over this period. And we believe that we and the entire sec-

ondary market have been successful in beginning to make progress
on the extraordinarily low home ownership rates that exist in the

minority community in the United States. Virtually all minority
communities in the United States have home ownership rates
below 50 percent, whereas the white home ownership rate is

around 73 percent. And we have made tremendous progress.
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The chart that we have up here shows the actual change in our
business mix over the period from 1993 to 1999 where you can see

that our loans to African Americans are up 31 percent over that

period; loans to all minorities up 16 percent. And loans to whites
have actually declined in that period in our book of business. So
we have made extraordinary progress over this time.

I have pledged over the next ten years that we are going to in-

vest over $400 billion in moving up minority home ownership rates.

We are committed to that as a company, and I believe that we will

achieve that goal.
Mr. Brendsel. If we could leave that same chart up and I could

talk to it for Freddie Mac at least.

Indeed, Congresswoman, as you said, we are in the secondary
market. We do buy loans from originators; we do not make those

loans directly. Nevertheless, that is not an excuse for any perform-
ance or lack thereof, and we are always trying to do better. In fact,

I am very proud of Freddie Mac's record of service and particularly
the progress in our record of service.

We could always get into debates over statistics and numbers
and trying to compare the performance of one market to another,
and primary to a secondary, and there is a lot of misinformation
out there. But let me just say that our focus is to reduce the costs

of getting the mortgage loan, the down pajnnent, the closing costs,

mortgage rates; develop innovative new products, outreach, edu-

cation for minority families, potential home buyers. And indeed the

statistic that I remember from our own that stands out is that

since 1993, our purchase of loans that were made to African Amer-
ican families have increased by over 50 percent since 1993.

Mrs. Maloney. Thank you.
Would you like to comment?
Mr. Hage. Thank you, Congresswoman.
The Federal Home Loan Banks, through their affordable housing

program, are deeply involved in making loans and grants, actually,
to low-income people of all neighborhoods and of all sections of our

country. In 1998, we awarded $199 million. Over 230,000 imits of

housing were funded since 1989. We are the largest single contrib-

utor to Habitat for Humanity affiliates in helping them rebuild

homes and put families in homes.
So affordable housing is indeed a very strong part of the Federal

Home Loan Bank program enhanced by our AHP funding. We are

also supported by the activities of our members in individual com-
munities who make loans daily.

Mrs. Maloney. Thank you.
I would hke to ask Fannie and Freddie, what are the ramifica-

tions of automated underwriting for minorities? Specifically, how
do you ensure that automated underwriting is not so strict that

borrowers with unorthodox credit histories are shut out?

Mr. Raines. Well, one of the most important implications of auto-

mated underwriting for minorities is that, for the first time, we
have a tool to eliminate explicit racial discrimination. The auto-

mated underwriting does not know what your race is, does not

know what your accent is, does not know what where you live. It

underwrites your application, based on criteria that in Desktop Un-
derwriter we have validated as being racially neutral.
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We have done an enormous number of tests to determine that
the factors that we use are racially neutral; and indeed we have

published the fourteen factors that we use in our system so that

everyone can look at them and judge them. We also ensure that we
are only looking at those things that predict default in mortgages
and do that quite accurately.

But, we do not rely on automated underwriting solely. We always
use automated underwriting to approve borrowers, but it can never

disapprove someone. All it can do is refer them to a human under-
writer. And we have a number of loan programs that explicitly take
into account unorthodox credit histories where someone may not
have the same credit cards and other things that would show up
in the normal credit reporting, but they have diligently paid their

rent and utility bills.

So we allow alternative underwriting standards to be used by
human underwriters to be able to respond to the great diversity
that we find out in the community.
So automated underwriting really is a way to reduce discrimina-

tion, speed up the process, and indeed free up the human under-
writers to work on the harder cases, because they do not have to

work on the easier cases, because our system exists.

Mr. Brendsel. We began developing automated underwriting
systems back in the early 1990's. We have a database of roughly
twenty million mortgage loans that we have purchased. In addi-

tion, we got a lot of data from other sources and developed what
I think is an outstanding automated underwriting system.
But we do not rely on that, in and of itself, exclusively. Like

Fannie Mae, we combine that with human judgment, human re-

view such that no one is ever turned down because of a simple
score.

In addition, to add to that, some of the—clearly some families
have impaired credit histories that an automated underwriting sys-
tem may penalize them for. It is because of the ostensive predict-

ability of it. But what we have done is develop some additional

mortgage products and programs like—what we call Credit Works
that enables a family to go through a credit counseling education

program and at the same time get a loan at a prime rate and give
the family the chance to demonstrate that they can manage their

credit and make their mortgage payment; and we have been very
pleased with that type of product.
And indeed, I might also add that it is those types of innovative

products and programs that would be, I think, interfered with by
this particular legislation. Because it would require prior approval
of all those innovative mortgage products by a regulatory process
that would only stifle innovation and increase costs.

Chairman Baker. Mr. Brendsel has exhausted your time, Mrs.

Maloney, by a considerable amount.
Mr. Manzullo.
Mr. Manzullo. Thank you.
On May 2, 4 and 9 my office also received anon3rmous boxes full

of 500 envelope-sealed form letters expressing opposition to this

bill. Two thousand letters in two weeks catches anyone's attention,
but something did not smell right; so I had my staff call thirty of
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the people who had written in. The first nine people knew nothing
about the letter.

I then came across several constituents who remembered receiv-

ing a telephone call about having their name placed on a petition
to Congress about decreasing the cost of home ownership and hav-

ing Congress lower interest rates. Three of those constituents did

not recall who contacted them, but they thought it was a not-for-

profit affordable housing group.
Many constituents clearly remembered who contacted them:

Fannie Mae, the Fannie Mae Foundation, and the Coalition for

Homeownership. Some constituents received a copy of the letter

with their name on it from the Coalition for Homeownership, and
three had explicitly told them not to send the letter, but they did

anyway. Some received a copy of the letter and had never been con-

tacted about anyone sending the letter. Finally, some persons said

that the name on the letter was a relative who had never lived at

that address and they could not figure out how the name got at-

tached to the address.
Most of my constituents were upset that their good name had

been used by your company. I am upset also. No one knew that the

letter was being sent on their behalf on a specific piece of legisla-

tion.

I have several questions, Mr. Raines, to ask you. What role has
Fannie Mae's corporate headquarters played in this lobbying effort

and exactly who makes up the Coalition for Homeownership?
Mr. Raines. Congressman, we are quite direct about our involve-

ment in contacts with Members here. We authorized the phone
calls to be made. We asked people to authorize the sending of the

letters. We were very explicit, and I can read to you the script that

was used.
Mr. Manzullo. Who is the "we"?
Mr. RAI^fES. Fannie Mae.
Mr. Manzullo. What about the Coalition for Homeownership?
Mr. Raines. We expressly said that the Coalition is sponsored by

Fannie Mae. There is no deception of anyone.
Mr. Manzullo. I just called your headquarters before I came

here. I asked to speak to somebody from the Coalition of Home-

ownership, and no one had any idea what that organization was.

Mr. Raines. Congressman, I am the Chairman of Fannie Mae. I

am telling you we are the sponsor of the Coalition. You will be

learning more about the Coalition as time goes on.

Mr. Manzullo. I hope not the way that we did. I mean, did you
contract with anybody to get commercial lists for this?

Mr. Raines. Absolutely.
Mr. Manzullo. With whom do you contract?

Mr. Raines. I don't know the name of the contractor.

Mr. Manzullo. How much did you spend?
Mr. Raines. I don't know. Congressman.
Mr. Manzullo. Could you give us that information before the

day's end?
Mr. Raines. I can get you that information. Congressman. But

the implication you raise that there is anything wrong with a com-

pany seeking support and asking supporters to send letters to Con-

gress.
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Mr. Manzullo. You contacted my constituents, and three of
them expressly told you not to use their names and you did. And
you are telling me there is nothing wrong with that?
Mr. Raines. Congressman, I would be very happy to go and

check to see any cases where anyone's name was used, unauthor-
ized.

Mr. Manzullo. I want you to send letters to 2,000 of my con-
stituents apologizing for using their good name. This is bogus lob-

bying.
Mr. Raines. Congressman, I reject that notion thoroughly.
Mr. Manzullo. You don't have to reject it. You are not the one

being lobbied; I am. These are my constituents.

Mr. Raines. You are also being lobbied by our opponents, who
also have letters coming to you.
Mr. Manzullo. We got letters from no one else. No one else.

Mr. Raines. You may be the only Member of the subcommittee
then who did not get letters from anybody else.

Mr. Manzullo. Did the Foundation play any role in this?

Mr. Raines. Absolutely not. Absolutely not.

Mr. Manzullo. So you see nothing wrong in using people's
names without their permission?
Mr. Raines. I do see something wrong with that. I say that in

each and every one of these cases that I am aware of, we got their

permission.
Now, that is not to say
Mr. Manzullo. I have 2,000 people in my congressional district

and would like you to call every single one of them and get
verification in writing that they authorized to you use their good
name to lobby me on your behalf. Would you be willing to do that?
Mr. Raines. We would be happy to go back
Mr. Manzullo. Every single one. And not at taxpayers' expense.

At your own expense.
Mr. Raines. Congressman, we would be happy to go back and

contact each and every one of them to verify that they, in fact, have
the position that they said over the telephone was their position.
Each one of them was sent a copy of the letter that was sent to

you. Each one of them has a copy of that letter. Each one of them
was told exactly
Mr. Manzullo. There are people who sent letters from addresses

that do not even live there. I don't know where you got your com-
mercial lists.

Mr. Raines. Maybe you have got a better list than we have got.
Mr. Manzullo. I do not appreciate that.

What I do appreciate is this. I represent 700,000 people. They do
not like to have their names used wrongly for the purpose of a

bogus lobbying effort. And I reject those 2,000 letters. Most of them
have no idea what is going on with this bill, and you used their

good names to try to have some grass-roots effort, and I am telling

you it is not working.
Chairman Baker. Mr. Manzullo, your time has expired. We do

have a vote pending.
I would like to give Mr. Raines any opportunity he would like to

respond further.
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Mr. Raines. Well, my response is simply this. We will ask for

support from people in the United States to support the secondary
market. We will ask them to contact their Members to express
their point of view. If any letter came to you that was not an accu-

rate expression of the views of a constituent, I'm sorry for that, and
we will endeavor in the future to ensure that that does not occur.

The thing I cannot-
Mr. Manzullo. Then you are going to-

Mr. Raines. Congressman, please, please, if I could just finish.

The thing we do reject is the idea that we can be attacked, that
we can suffer these kinds of attacks and not call on support. You
can reject the support; we do not say that you have to respond. But
we do have a right to solicit people to come to our aid on a matter-

before the Congress, and that is what we have done.
Mr. Manzullo. Then solicit it with integrity.
Mr. Raines. And we tried to do that.

Mr. Manzullo. Then you failed.

Mr. Raines. That may be your view, Congressman. We believe

we tried very hard to do this.

There is nothing secret about what we have done. We have been

up-front in everything we have done, and we intend to continue to

try to make our case in the best way we can.

Chairman Baker. Mr. Raines, we do have a vote pending. I hate
to ask your patience and long suffering. When we get back, Mr.
Bentsen would be next up in the line of questions.
We will recess and try to return as quickly as possible. Thank

you.

[Recess.]

Chairman Baker. I would like to call our hearing back to order

agsdn, and ask everyone if they would please take seats, and we
will reconvene. Thank you.
When we recessed, Mr. Bentsen, you were next up, so please pro-

ceed. Sorry.
Mr. Bentsen. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It has been very inter-

esting. I have a number of questions. I do want to make a couple
of observations as well.

First of all, I want to remind my colleagues, none of whom are

here, but I want to remind my colleagues with respect to this issue

of Fannie or Freddie mortgage-backed securities and/or debt be-

coming a new store of value or interest rate of record as the Fed-
eral debt goes down. Members should not be too alarmed by that.

Chairman Greenspan testified before the full committee earlier

this year, and I raised the question with him as to what would be-

come the new debt instrument that we would look at to peg inter-

est rates off of if, in fact, we paid down the national debt over the

next thirteen-or-so years, and he said there would be other issues

in the market that would be found. And the mortgage-backed secu-

rity market clearly is a somewhat more stable entity. So it

shouldn't come as a great surprise, I think, to Members that this

may be one factor. Whether or not that has a nefarious impact on
the rest of the market I think is highly questionable.

I would ask both Mr. Raines and Mr. Brendsel if you could an-

swer a few questions for me. One is, there has been a great deal
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of discussion with respect to your debt about the leverage and cap-
ital ratios as compared to commercial bank debt and to securities,
SEC capital ratio requirements, and even derivative arbitrage oper-
ations.

My personal feeling is that you were talking a little about by ap-
ples and oranges, but I would like you to address that and what
quality of the security is with the debt issues.

Second of all, there is a concern about imminent demand on the

part of the GSEs; thus, as long as we are able to issue debt at fa-

vorable rates, because of the implicit Federal guarantee, therefore,

you have money in search of assets to invest in. What is your opin-
ion of that?
Mr. Raines made one comment that he thought the upper end of

the market would be $5 trillion, assuming that you acquired every
mortgage loan that was outstanding, if you could elaborate on that.

If you could give me a breakdown in your asset base of single fam-

ily mortgages versus home equity lending and home improvement
lending, to what extent does this non-traditional product make up
the part of your asset base? And then if you would add to that the

question, following up on what Chairman Raines said, regarding
non-mortgage-related investments, what percentage of your assets
are non-mortgage-related investments and how liquid are they? Do
you have a liquidity test for that?
Mr. Raines. Let me take a crack at it first. We do not believe

there is an unlimited market for our debt. Our debt resides be-
tween Government and corporate, and we do not possess an unlim-
ited market. Indeed, as we try to issue more debt, the cost of that
debt goes up, and as the cost of that debt goes up, we cannot afford
to buy mortgages. So we are constantly working all the time, trying
to expand the market for our debt. It is bought on its merits, and
the market understands the merits of our debt compared to other

debt; and we have to work as an issuer very hard to find expanding
sources of fluids to invest in our debt. So we, like any other issuer,
are limited by the appetite of investors.

In terms of the growth of Fannie Mae and its role in the market-

place, we have grown about 1 percent of market share a year over
the last ten years. My goal is to grow another 1 percent a year over
the next three-and-one-half years. Ultimately, we do not know
what our share of the market will be, because we don't know how
competitive other players in the market will be over time. Right
now, for example, banks are very competitive, because the market
has moved toward an adjustable rate mortgage market where they
have the lion's share of that business. So in a given market, we
may be more competitive or not competitive. So I have no idea
what the ultimate position will be thirty, forty or fifty years from
now, as the mortgage markets develop.

In terms of our non-traditional product, by far, thirty-year fixed
rate mortgages is our largest product. But we have had second

mortgages for many years. The percentage of those has gone up
slightly in the last few years. We expect it to continue to rise

slightly in coming years as second mortgages become more popular
among homeowners who are seeking to improve their homes.
With relation to the liquid assets, I put up a chart earlier that

showed that about 8 percent of our assets are liquid assets that are
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held as our liquidity portfolio. We have an internal limit set by our
board of directors of 15 percent of our assets. We have, in fact,

drawn down our percentage of liquid assets since 1998, as the de-

mand in the marketplace for us to be out buying mortgages in-

creased. So we have reduced our liquidity portfolio from what had
been its peak now down to 8 percent. That is all very liquid assets,

typically AAA, short-term securities where we could go and sell

today, get the cash, and use that for bu3dng mortgages imme-
diately. So that is a very, very small percentage of our base, but
one that any financial firm is required to have in terms of liquid
assets.

Mr. Brendsel. Let me take a crack at those three questions,

Congressman. First, with regard to our debt, the size of its growth
over time, the extent of its growth and so forth, we expect that the

mortgage, talking about the total mortgage market in terms of

mortgage debt outstanding, over the next few years our forecast is

that total mortgage debt outstanding in the Nation, rising from the

$5 trillion number, will grow in the neighborhood of 8 percent. In-

deed it has been growing slightly higher than that within the last

few years, but our anticipation is right around 8 percent.
I expect that Freddie Mac as a share of that or its own growth

rate in terms of its holdings of mortgages, financed both by mort-

gage-backed securities and debt, will grow slightly more rapidly,

maybe a couple of percentage points more. That would mean that,

for example, as a percentage of total mortgage debt outstanding

today, Freddie Mac is slightly smaller than Fannie Mae, we have
about 17 percent of that share. We are likely to rise to 20 percent
or so; in five years, 20 or 21 percent.
With regard to how the split occurs between mortgage-backed se-

curities and debt financing, that depends on investor preferences
and investor demand for the types of instruments they want to

hold, it depends on, frankly, our success in developing a new inter-

national base for some of our securities, particularly for what we
call our reference notes and bonds. I don't expect that

Mr. Bentsen. On that point quickly, this was raised earlier, the

question of buying back MBSs for your account. Is that purely a

pricing issue as to whether or not you hold the mortgages in your
own portfolio backed by your corporate debt, versus buying the

mortgage-backed security through the market?
Mr. Brendsel. Yes, while it strictly depends on the cost of fi-

nancing once you take any differences in risks into account. Indeed,
as we approach this, we approach it in the way that

Mr. Bentsen. The risk difference is an interest rate risk, it is not

a credit quality risk, right?
Mr. Brendsel. That is correct.

Mr. Bentsen. I think that wasn't made clear earlier.

Mr. Brendsel. Indeed, the way we manage our debt finance

portfolio, there is only modest differences with regard to interest

rate risk between that and a pass-through financing, and it is all

taken into account in terms of how closely we match our assets and
liabilities and, ultimately, the amount of capital that is held

against that. Indeed, when you go to the risk-based capital rule as

proposed in the 1992 legislation that is currently under develop-
ment in a proposal by OFHEO, it carefully considers how that port-
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folio will respond to changes in interest rates in the economy as
with regard to credit risk, any change in credit risk as well.

As a result, the conclusion out of that is that we are highly cap-
italized, we are safe and sound, and as I said in my opening state-

ment, the risk-based capital rules, as proposed by OFHEO, would
subject us to a much more stringent capital standard to support
both or all the risk of the business, including management oper-
ation risk, than that imposed on thrifts or, in fact, any other mort-

gage financial institution in the country.
With regard to home equity, second mortgage loans and so forth,

we have, like Fannie Mae, purchased second mortgage loans for

years, going way back at least to the early 1980's. I don't have the

precise number in front of me. I would be willing to provide it to

you, but I could say that it is less than 2 percent of our total mort-

gage portfolios, second mortgages, and home equity at the current
time.

Finally, with regard to non-mortgage investments, there was
some discussion about that earlier; we hold—any of our assets, I

might say, must meet the dual test. One is, in support of mission
and the purpose for which Freddie Mac is chartered, legally author-

ized, and second of course, obviously being approved by—that in-

vestment policy being approved by the board of directors. Cur-

rently, any non-mortgage investments as a percentage of our total

mortgage portfolio, asset portfolio, is roughly 3 percent, and that is

really held for purposes of liquidity and capital contingency to en-
able us to step into the mortgage market at any time.

To maybe give you an idea on the liquidity, we are constantly in

the process of collecting cash flow, cash payments from our mort-

gage servicer and moving them on through to investors, investors
in mortgage-backed securities as well as our debt. In any given
month, that number that flows through may be $15 billion or $20
billion, and obviously that has to be invested, even on a short-term

basis, in highly marketable, highly liquid securities, and that is one
of the purposes of our liquidity portfolio, in addition to capital con-

tingency.
Chairman Baker. The gentleman's time has expired.
Next would be Mr. Toomey.
Mr. Toomey. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
I had a series of questions for Mr. Raines, if I could. First let me

thank the witnesses for joining us today. I guess I would like to

discuss the issue of the implicit guarantee and specifically I guess
I would start by asking, do you believe that there is an implicit

guarantee of the financial performance of Fannie Mae on the part
of the Federal Grovemment?
Mr. Raines. I don't believe that the Federal Government has en-

tered into any such commitment to investors that there is a guar-
antee for investors of our debt. What investors expect is two things:
one, that the Federal Government, having chartered us, will ensure
that we are regulated in such a way that we will be able to meet
our obligations in a timely way; two, they expect that we are
such—having chartered us in the secondary mortgage market, that
we are an important aspect of housing policy, and therefore, there
will not be a matter of indifference to our continuing to operate in

a safe and sound way. Therefore, we will continue to qualify to be
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in that agency market between Grovemments and corporates. I

think that is what people expect. I think that is what most people
mean when they say implicit guarantee. I don't mean that people
really think that someone can walk up to the United States Con-
gress with one of our bonds and say please pay it.

Mr. TOOMEY. No, no. Do you share the view that the market be-
lieves that there is an implicit guarantee, that the market believes
that the Federal Government would not let Fannie Mae fail to per-
form on its financial obligations?
Mr. Raines. You just said two very different things. One is that

there is a guarantee, and the other is that they would not permit
us to fail to perform. I believe that the market believes the latter,
that the Grovemment would require us to perform and to be run in

such a way as that we would perform in all but the most extreme
circumstances.
Mr. ToOMEY. I am going a step further, saying I think that the

market believes, in fact, that if all best efforts failed, the Federal
Grovemment would do whatever it took to make sure that investors,

certainly at least in debt securities, were made whole, and I think
that that is a rational conclusion that the market draws from a se-

ries of benefits that Fannie Mae derives from explicit policy.
If you look at things—^you know, the fact that banks are per-

mitted to invest unlimited amounts in GSEs, the authority to use
the Federal Reserve Bank in ways that other institutions are not
able to, exemption from State and local taxes, I mean there is a
whole series of measures that treat the GSEs uniquely, and I think

they go to this issue, and I think that the pricing of Fannie Mae
debt clearly reflects that. I mean, Fannie Mae has a lower cost of

funds than it could have without the implicit backing of the Fed-
eral Grovemment.
Mr. Raines. Actually, let me quibble with you a little bit on that,

because if you look at the pricing of our debt and compare that to

Treasures, which is riskless, on our ten-year debt we pay 125 basis

pointb more. On our thirty-day debt we pay 110 basis points more.
Mr. ToOMEY. I am not sa3dng that they are exactly equal.
Mr. Raines. But that is a lot. I mean, that is the market saying

we see a big difference here in the matter of guaranteed debt.

Mr. ToOMEY. Here is the thing. The folks at S&P have publicly
stated that if Congress moved in the direction of changing the rela-

tionship and changing that implicit backing, there would have to

be a reassessment of the credit rating, and given the capitalization
of Fannie Mae and the size of its balance sheet, that would make
sense, and that would suggest higher cost of funds in that event.

So the market is attributing of value and it is quantifiable.

My point is that I think, like any guarantee, there is a cost to

that. The cost is not necessarily explicitly paid in cash, but there

is a cost in the form of a risk transfer to taxpayers, and that is em-
bedded in this guarantee.
So when we look at the activities of Fannie Mae, we have to ask

ourselves, how is that cost being divided? It seems to me it is di-

vided, in part, to the shareholders of Fannie Mae who have earned

superior rates of return by just about any measure you could apply,
and it also extends to lower mortgages. So there is a combination
of the subsidy that comes from this implied guarantee. It goes in
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a combination of ways to the shareholder and to lower cost mort-

gages. Do you accept that?
Mr. Raines. Well, we believe we have demonstrated consistently

over a number of years, that the entire benefit that we receive from
our charter is passed on in lower costs to consumers, and it is not
shared by our shareholders.

Indeed, Fannie Mae's financial performance is outstanding, but
it is no more outstanding than other outstanding financial compa-
nies. There are other companies that have higher returns than we
have and they certainly have higher stock prices and higher P/E
ratios than we have. So a superior company can achieve the re-

turns that we have achieved without partaking of the subsidy, as

you described it, as part of that return.
We believe that it is clear, based on a request actually from the

Chairman to OFHEO when he asked S&P to rate us, most recently
S&P rated us AA-minus. There are only seven financial institutions
in the United States who have a AA-minus rating, so we are one
of the top-rated companies, putting aside any kind of Government
backing that we may have, and we believe our financial returns
have more to do with our risk management capability than with
the subsidy.
Mr. TOOMEY. I fully acknowledge the quality of the risk manage-

ment of Fannie Mae; it is well-known. But CBO certainly thinks
that part of the taxpayer subsidy goes to the benefit of share-

holders, and if you look at the consistent well-above-market-retums
that Fannie Mae has generated over time, when compared to any-
thing resembling a peer group, I think it is hard to attribute all

of that superior return to just being more sophisticated and better
at managing risk.

Anyway, my point is that—and we may disagree on this, but it

strikes me that the evidence is pretty strong anjrway—that this

subsidy that comes from the taxpayer goes both to lowering mort-

gage rates and to generating better rates of return. For instance,
in the absence of the implicit guarantee, it seems to me quite likely
that Fannie Mae would be compelled to raise equity capital in the

marketplace to—^you know, if you played out a scenario in which
there was no Government involvement.
Chairman Baker. You have exhausted all of your time, Mr.

Toomey, if you could wrap it up.
Mr. Toomey. I will wrap it up.
My point being, that I think this issue of how this cost is shared

between the mortgage, lower mortgage cost and shareholders, is

one that obliges Congress to look very closely into expansion in the
new areas of activity which could actually increase the cost to the

taxpayer, while not necessarily, or at least not proportionately,
benefiting the cost of home ownership,
Mr. Raines. Mr. Chairman, if I could just respond quickly, I

agree with you that that is a legitimate question that this sub-
committee has to look at consistently. In 1992, this subcommittee
and Congress did look at that and came to the conclusion that they
needed to make adjustments, and they made those adjustments, by
increasing our obligations in terms of our affordable housing goals,
and £dso increasing the capital requirements placed upon us.
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In terms of whether Fannie Mae could operate successfully as a
business in the absence of its charter, I think the answer is simply
a resounding yes. We are rated AA-minus without the charter. The
only difference you would have is that the benefits we now pass on
to consumers, they wouldn't get, because we wouldn't have them to

pass on to them, but Fannie Mae would be a successful company
with or without the charter.

The last point I would simply make is on the CBO subsidy esti-

mates. If you take the CBO subsidy estimates and correct them
simply for errors that they made in the calculation of the esti-

mates, you move from us receiving any of the benefits, according
to their terms, to us having a net payout of benefits of $3 billion.

Remember, even CBO said two-thirds of the benefits passed on. So
we are only talliing about the $2.1 billion that is in doubt. If you
correct that for errors, in fact, using CBO's methodology, you would
see that all of the benefit is, in fact, passed on to the marketplace.
Chairman Baker. Mr. Brendsel, did you want to respond?
Mr. Brendsel. I am not certain whether to enter into this dis-

cussion or not. It is the age-old question about the implied guar-
antee, and so let me just summarize my view this way with regard
to part of this question.
One is benefit to homeowners versus the benefit we enjoy in the

capital markets. I don't think there is any doubt but that we are
able to finance ourselves in a way, access to the capital markets,
size, liquidity, rate, albeit a much higher rate than paid by the

Treasury or whatever, than what we would otherwise be able to do
were we not a very special company chartered by the United States
Grovemment.
The question then is whether or not the homeowners benefit ex-

ceeds or is smaller than this capital-raising capability. I think the

CBO numbers, which goes back to the 1996 hearing around this,

my view is more discredited. I think Chairman Raines shed some

light on that. And second, beyond that, there are benefits to home
buyers that don't get simply measured by that.

Indeed, a different way of looking at this, asking the question,
is what would happen if Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae weren't

there as Government-chartered corporations? All you have to do is

look to other parts of the market, look to the subprime market,
look to predatorial lending and so forth, where Freddie Mac and
Fannie Mae aren't today directly involved, and you can start to see

a vision and a picture for what the mortgage markets, what the

housing finance system at least might be like or trend to.

So we bring competition, we bring small lenders, we bring a
whole host of things into the marketplace, into the local commu-
nities, that aren't directly captured by simply measuring a dif-

ference in currently jumbo rates, or whatever it is, and conven-
tional mortgage rates, which is in the way of how some of these

calculations are done.
The final point I would make is that, the fundamental question,

are we a risk to the taxpayers? Our securities aren't guaranteed,
but are we still a risk to the taxpayers, because of whatever obliga-
tions might occur in the future that frankly the Nation, Congress,
feels that they might have? The 1992 legislation clearly put in

place an approach to regulation, an approach to capitalization that
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says these companies, chartered for a special pubHc purpose, we ex-

pect to remain safe and sound, and they put in place an approach
to capital regulation and regulation in general that would do every-
thing possible to make certain that they would remain safe and
sound, as judged by the Government, without at the same time im-

posing unnecessary costs on home buyers and renters.
Chairman Baker. If I may suggest as to process, we still have

four Members who have yet to be recognized the first time, and
there are some Members who are indicating a desire to ask a sec-

ond set of questions. So to the extent—I want to facilitate your ap-
pearance—^that your remarks can be targeted for the remaining
discussion, it would be helpful to everyone.
Mr. Mascara.
Mr. Mascara. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I would ask permission

to enter an opening statement into the record.
Chairman Baker. Without objection.
[The prepared statement of Hon. Frank R. Mascara can be found

on page 209 in the appendix.]
Mr. Mascara. While I don't profess to be an expert on Fannie

Mae or Freddie Mac, I do want to compliment you for doing a great
job, and that might be part of your problem. I will get to that later.

While I do not want to diminish the importance of these hear-

ings, I congratulate the Chairman and Ranking Member Kanjorski
for holding them, I do question the genesis of H.R. 3703, GSA re-

form. I understand you are not perfect and you don't claim to be

perfect about what you do, but in earlier testimony and questions,
I think we got past the issue of solvency, and I am satisfied with

your response, Mr. Raines, to the earlier questions regarding that
matter.
But I took some notes, and my notes said you create no debt, you

have equity in the loans you purchase, you carry some form of in-

surance, the full faith and credit of the United States is not issued
in this case; there is no risk of insolvency. In fact, you would prob-
ably be the last to go if everything went. You are rated double-A,
is it? Minus 2, whatever that means, it must be good. And the obli-

gations you have are solely the responsibility of Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac. You invest in high liquid assets. If a bank or thrift

finances a mortgage, the paper which it is financed through,
Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, replaces short-term debt for the banks
with long-term debt by Fannie Mae. I mean, it goes on and on.

What I am asking is, and I don't want to put you on the spot,
but could it be possible that you are performing too well and that
the banks and thrifts that you serve feel that you are encroaching
upon their domain somehow?

I ask this question, because in earlier testimony, you talked
about the Internet and the use of the Internet, and to either Chair-
man Brendsel or Mr. Raines, one of you or both of you recently
partnered with Microsoft to provide on-line services which could
even further speed the process, and it would appear that these

technological developments blurred the distinction between loan

origination and secondary mortgage market. What assurances can

you provide this subcommittee that these activities remain within

your mission and do not pose a threat to the market for loan origi-
nation?
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I would like to cut to the chase. There is something wrong here
that I must be missing. What you do, you do well; you are sound,
you are serving a lot of people in this country who want to own a
home and couldn't own a home if you weren't available to them. Is
that part of the problem? Is technology a part of the problem?
Mr. Brendsel. Congressman, you brought up Home Advisors

and Microsoft, and that is a venture, a partnership by Freddie Mac.
Freddie Mac has always been at the forefront of innovation, explor-
ing new frontiers; how to use technology to link up with our cus-

tomers, with mortgage lenders, and in this case, Home Advisor,
which is a newly created company involving several manager mort-
gage lenders as investors, and Microsoft. But a separate company
uses Freddie Mac's technology for automated underwriting, under-
writing mortgage loans, combined with the Internet, to allow lend-
ers that are on that site to be able to originate a mortgage loan
and sell it into the secondary market using the latest technology
and using the efficiencies of the Internet.

Indeed, we are not permitted by charter to originate, to close a
mortgage loan and, indeed, we are not in this venture, and I will
be happy to provide, in fact, a letter that I recently wrote to Con-
gressman Royce regarding this particular venture, since I am very
excited about it. Indeed, I think it is one of many ways that we can
use technology and the Internet to make the mortgage lending
process and the financing process more efficient.

Mr. Mascara. Thank you.
Chairman BAKER. Mr. Raines.
Mr. Raines. We are not involved in the Microsoft venture. But

going to your core question, I believe there are—putting aside this

particular bill, because I believe that the Chairman's interest in
this bill stems from his interest in systemic risk. So putting that

aside, there are people who criticize us because they believe that
we will, in fact, bring the benefits of the secondary market to the

underperforming parts of the mortgage market in which they have
been operating. When they look at that they say, what are we
going to do? We have been charging higher points, higher interest
rates and giving worse service. And Fannie Mae is now going to

bring a system that has worked well for middle class America,
worked well for moderate income America, they are now going to

bring that to lower income America, and they see that as a chal-

lenge and they would prefer not to have that challenge.
So they have banded together, as in the old Washington tradi-

tion, to come to Congress and to go to the Administration, go to our

regulators and say, please slow them down, stop them, do some-

thing to keep them from bringing this market to customers that

they have traditionally served.

Now, we only can go anywhere with lenders, so it is an ironic de-
bate. It is really a debate amongst lenders in which one set of lend-
ers is saying, don't let these other lenders in, because they think
these other lenders are going to bring Freddie Mac and Fannie
Mae with them. But neither of us can originate a loan, we can only
go where lenders want to go; we can only innovate loans that lend-
ers want to offer.

So there is an aspect of competition. But I am sure that you as
a Member of Congress and the other Members, this is not new, this
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is not the first industry in which people wanted to bring competi-
tion to Capitol Hill rather than do it out in the marketplace.
We prefer to do it in the marketplace. If others have a better

product, they will win. If they don't have a better product, why
should they win?
Mr. Mascara. That is a good response, Mr. Raines.
Chairman Baker. Your time has expired, Mr. Mascara.
Mr. Mascara. I thank you, Mr. Chairman. You are doing a good

job.
Chairman Baker. Did you mean me or Mr. Raines?
Mr. Mascara. Certainly, the Chairman also.

Chairman Baker. I was just getting a clarification here.

I would point out that the Members on the Democrat side all

have been recognized at least once to speak. There are a couple of
Members on the Republican side who have not yet been recognized,
so we will do those back to back.
Mrs. Biggert.
Mrs. Biggert. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Before I begin my question, I would just like to say that many

of the local banks and thrifts which originate mortgages in my dis-

trict belong to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago. Alex Pol-

lock, the President of the Chicago Home Loan Bank, has provided
a written statement for today's hearing, so I would ask unanimous
consent to submit Mr. Pollock's testimony into the record on his be-

half.

Chairman Baker. I am sorry, I was diverted in my attention.

Could I ask you to restate? I will give you your time back.

Mrs. Biggert. Since there are many local banks and thrifts in

my district which belong to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Chi-

cago, and the CEO and President, Mr. Alex Pollock, has provided
a written statement or testimony for today's hearing, and I would
ask unanimous consent to submit his testimony.
Chairman Baker. Absolutely. Without objection.
[The information can be found on page 339 in the appendix.]
Mrs. Biggert. Thank you. Based on that, in his testimony, when

you get to the end, most every question has been asked, so I would
ask your indulgence.

In his testimony, Mr. Pollock suggested that the focus of this leg-
islation should be to encourage competition among the three GSEs
that are here by leveling their regulatory playing field for the GSEs
to the greatest extent possible. He suggested that the more com-

petitive and efficient secondary mortgage market will benefit both

community mortgage lenders and the American home buyers.
So I would like to ask the witnesses if they agree with this sug-

gestion that by encouraging GSEs to compete against one another,
the consumer would benefit greatly?
Mr. Brendsel. Absolutely. We already compete against each

other. With regard to—an additional comment about the Federal
Home Loan Banks. I would only say that I think, as Mr. Hage has
said to start out with, the Federal Home Loan Banks have a some-
what different mission, have a somewhat different purpose, have a
different capital structure and capital standards. So we are kind of

comparing apples to oranges in regard to the nature of the institu-

tions.
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But certainly in the secondary market, I can guarantee you today
and in the future, Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae will be very in-

tense competitors, which is to the benefit of America's home buy-
ers.

Mr. Raines. Indeed, it was a brilliant stroke to have created both
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, because we have been very competi-
tive over the years. But let me say a word about the Home Loan
Banks. The Home Loan Banks and their traditional role of making
advances have a unique role. It is the GSE for banks and it helps
them obtain the funding they need to manage their businesses.

The Chicago Bank, and Mr. Pollock in particular, has been lead-

ing an effort to try to expand the range of the Home Loan Banl^s
into actually owning assets, owning mortgages in particular, and to

become an active participsmt in the secondary market. We take no

position on whether or not that is good policy or bad policy, but we
think it does raise a number of issues that are not addressed in the

bill before you.
There are issues of capital, whether or not the risk-based capital

standards that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have to live with in

the secondary market will apply to them. Issues of taxation—as

Chairman Leach said, we pay Federal income taxes, they do not.

There are issues of housing goals; if you are going to be in the sec-

ondary market, do the housing goals, percentage of business hous-

ing goals, apply to you as they apply to Fannie Mae and to Freddie
Mac? And in terms of the nature of your capital, do you have to

have permanent equity that is not refundable, not callable, not in

any way temporary, but permanent equity owned by entities that

are not using insured deposits to pay for?

I mean, those are big differences. So that if the Home Loan
Banks would like to become a bigger competitor in the secondary
market, we think there are a whole range of issues that the bill

doesn't deal with as to will they have the same structure that has
worked so well for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in doing that.

Mrs. BiGGERT. No comment?
Mr. Hage. a lot has been said and a lot has been well intended.

The change that is underway at the Federal Home Loan Bank sys-
tem challenges us all to find the appropriate way for us to respond
to our mission. Our mission hasn't changed; it is to be a provider
of funding for home mortgages. The notions of purchasing assets

has some merit, but it does have many of the considerations that

have been already mentioned in terms of capital implication, and
risk management implication.
Mrs. BiGGERT. Thank you.
Chairman Baker. Thank you, Mrs. Biggert.
Dr. Paul.
Dr. Paul. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Before I ask my question, I did want to relate to Mr. Raines that

our office, too, has some experience in calling some of our constitu-

ents, and some of them did volunteer the term "Fannie Mae Foun-
dation" that they were approached by, and whatever that means,
I don't know, but they definitely did volunteer that term.

In my opening statement I mentioned that I was interested in

what the Government Sponsored Enterprises do in relationship to

monetary policy. Last year, when the Y2K crisis was approaching,
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the Fed took it upon themselves to be prepared, nevertheless, by
increasing credit significantly. Since there were not enough Treas-

ury bills available, the Fed started purchasing the Grovemment
agency securities, and they had a large number of these. They
started in October and they said they would do this for a period
of six months.

After the first of the year occurred and there was no crisis, they
sold a lot of these, but they maintain a significant amount, $25 to

$30 billion worth, and they then canceled the program in April like

they had initially indicated.

To me, this may or may not have some significance, but you are
concerned about losing an $8.5 billion line of credit which you have
never had to use, and at the same time, it looks like the Fed is ac-

commodating support; I mean the Fed is a lot stronger lender of
last resort than anybody, since they can create the money out of
thin air, endlessly. So it seems to me that the stage is set for

maybe losing the line of credit and you relying on the Federal Re-
serve to take care of any potential problems. That certainly came
about with a foreign company. Long-Term Capital Management
happened to be a foreign company. They came to the rescue there
in a hurry to make sure that there were no problems. So I see no
reason why the Fed wouldn't come to the rescue.

My question is, are you ever involved in discussions with the
Fed? Did you know this was coming about? Does this have any sig-
nificance? Do you expect the Fed to provide the credit necessary if

there were problems in the marketplace? It seems like this is every
bit as significant as the line of credit to the Treasury, and maybe
even more so. Could you comment?
Mr. Raines. Well, let me make a couple of comments. First, my

understanding is the Fed activity at the end of last year was to

make eligible for repurchase agreements, mortgage-backed securi-

ties as collateral for a hank to take to the Fed as collateral for the
advances from the Fed. Not that they were buying mortgage-
backed securities, but that this was an eligible collateral.

Dr. Paul. That becomes an asset of the Fed; that is listed as an
asset.

Mr. Raines. Yes, if they were to buy it. I don't know if anyone
actually did repos with the Fed, using that collateral, but that is

what they did. It wasn't that they were expanding their own pur-
chases. They had a program of expanding the use of that collateral

as one of the things that people can use.

Second, I think Chairman Greenspan in a recent speech made
very clear what he viewed the role of the Fed with regard to finan-

cial institutions that may get into financial difficulties is, and that
was to worry about systemic risk and not about the fortunes of an
individual entity. I think that is right. I think that the focus should
be on maintaining liquidity in the marketplace. Indeed, our risk

management techniques depend on the Fed doing its job in main-

taining liquidity. And one of the reasons that we invest in such

highly liquid assets is to benefit from the market's perception of li-

quidity. So we are quite comfortable with the Fed's position that
if they maintain liquidity in the marketplace, that well-financed

companies like Fannie Mae will indeed benefit from that t3T)e of a
Fed role.
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Dr. Paul. But let me suggest again that the Fed actually holds
these securities as assets. Don't you think this would provide a
service for you, other than in the broad sense of just increasing
credit? I mean the actual purchase of these assets? They are capa-
ble of doing it; it is legal for them to do it. There is no law that

says they can't. So it seems to me that you have the protection that

you need, and the line of credit of the $8.5 billion doesn't have as
much meaning.
Mr. Raines. The Fed has the discretion to buy a variety of assets

to carry out their activities. They look for high quality, highly liq-
uid dollar denominated assets. Ours are our debt, and our MBS
would fit that category. But they, in their discretion, would decide
how to operate in that realm, and I would not want to give the
Chairman any advice as to how to do that.

Chairman Baker. Thank you, Dr. Paul.
Mr. Royce.
Mr. Royce. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think there is a little

bit of an irony here when we look at the underlying bill that we
are speaking to, H.R. 3703. It seems to do very little to manage or
restrict the expanding risks of the Federal Home Loan Bank sys-
tem. And I just wanted to ask Mr. Hage a few questions about

that, because the Federal Home Loan Finance Board is pushing
regulatory changes that would drive your system to participate
more heavily in the Chicago mortgage partnership finance pro-

gram. This program started as a $750 million pilot. It is now tout-

ed by the Chairman of the Federal Housing Finance Board as "the
future of the system," in his words. You might know that I have

expressed concern over the past few years over the Chicago mort-

gage partnership finance program.
I believe the so-called Chicago pilot goes beyond the mission of

your Federal Home Loan Bank system. I think it significantly in-

creases the risk, both credit and interest rate risk. I am concerned
that it takes the system too far away from the traditional advances
business and too close to basically managing a portfolio. I am fur-

ther concerned that the program is now actively purchasing FHA
loans expressly guaranteed by the Federal Grovernment. Finally, I

am extremely concerned that the capital requirements of the sys-
tem are significantly lacking.

I don't know how much retained earnings or core capital the sys-
tem has beyond what members must hold for membership in bor-

rowing. I am sure you could tell me that. I would like to know the
new risk-based capital standard in Graham-Leach-Bliley. Does that

mirror the risk-based capital standard maintained by Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac? That would be my second question. Third, does
the Federal Home Loan bank system have a ten-year stress test

that measures extreme swings in interest rate and extreme credit

losses? That would be my third question of you.
Mr. Hage. Congressman Royce, those questions are not answered

today because the capital regulations are still being formed and

presented for final rulemaking. There certainly is concern that the
addition of member-purchased assets does change the risk profile
of the traditional baJance sheet of the Federal Home Loan Bank
system, and it is my understanding that that risk is being assessed
and weighed as the capital regulations are being formulated today.
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Many of our members have concern about that risk profile and
whether that is an appropriate risk and how we are going to man-

age it, because our underlying concern is that the system remain

strong and safe and sound in any environment that it is in.

Clearly, the membership of the Home Loan Bank system still

views the advances as the traditional product that it looks to get
from the Home Loan Bank system, and that product does allow us

to provide credit to housing finance and economic finance in our

communities.
Mr. ROYCE. Well, that is reassuring, but apparently there is a

conflict division here, because as the Chairman of the Federal

Housing Finance Board, he says no, the Chicago program is the fu-

ture of the system. So I am reassured that your board members
view that differently, but it does highlight, I think, a little conflict

in debate here.

Mr. Hage. As I said, the debate is still emerging.
Mr. ROYCE. OK. Well, my other question would be to Mr. Raines.

I think that Chairman Baker is appropriately focused on the risk

to the American taxpayer and I would like to explore this area with

you a little further.

At least for banks and thrifts, we have all learned a very tough
lesson, that the American taxpayer can be called upon to provide
a backstop to the Federal Grovemment. And I can assure you that

I would be the strongest opponent to any taxpayer bailout of

Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac, and I am rather convinced that the

debt obligations and securities of these companies expressly state

that there is no backing. We in Congress have made that law. But
as Mr. Baker stated, I want to make sure that there is no such
risk.

So perhaps if you could walk us through how a home mortgage
becomes risky, what credit and interest rate protections are there

in statute, in regulation, or in your business practice, that stands

between the GSEs and the American taxpayer. Perhaps the way
you could do this so that we could follow it would be if you took

us through the process that occurs when a mortgage goes into fore-

closure. What does it mean to the bank; what does it mean to the

GSE; what does it mean to the investor? I think that would be

helpful.
Mr. Raines. Sure. I would be delighted to walk you through that.

The key elements in managing the risk in our business are two

things; one is the credit risk and the other is interest rate risk. Let

me say something about the credit risk, which was the example
that you were giving.
When we measure the credit risk of an asset, we first start with

underwriting. What are the terms under which we will buy a loan,

and what must be the terms that the lender uses in making the

loan? What are the criteria for down payment, for credit, for the

collateral that we have backing up the loan, what kind of appraisal

requirements? So underwriting is a key way that we begin in im-

plementing the process.
Then we look at the issue of who is going to bear which risk, and

we are big believers in risk-sharing. We believe that in order to

manage the large level of credit risk we have, we can't simply take
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all of that risk on to ourselves and believe we can put a price on
that; we have to share that risk.

What this chart; shows you, for example, on our book of business,
$1.2 trillion, how much credit loss protection there is, even before
our capital is involved. What you can see here is that we have over
$740 billion of borrower equity protecting us in the event that a
loan were to go bad. On the average loan that we have out-

standing, it is about 40 percent of the value of the home is in eq-
uity. So if a loan were to go bad and we were unable to help the
consumer stay in the home—which, by the way, we are able to do
that in 50 percent of the cases, because people don't just stop pay-
ing their loan because they want to stop paying, they stop paying
because they got sick, divorced or lost their job. So 50 percent of

the cases we work out. And the other 50 percent, you look to the

equity, you acquire the loan and you sell it. If there is sufficient

equity in the home, then you pay off the loan. If there is not suffi-

cient equity in the home, the second place you would look for a loan
that had a lower-than-normal down pajonent, lower than 20 per-
cent, would be mortgage insurance. So the mortgage insurance in-

dustry essentially exists solely for the purpose of insuring investors
like Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac against defaults. These entities

are rated AA or AAA, and we would second look to them and look
to mortgage insurance to help people, whatever the loss would be.

The third place we would look would be to recourse from the
lender. This might have been a transaction in which the lender

kept some of the credit risk in a negotiation with us, so we would
look to them. That is another $30 billion.

So we have $838 billion standing, before any losses would occur
at Fannie Mae. And that is the reason that you can see, on a very
large book of business, in excess of $1 trillion, our average credit

losses over the last ten years was $285 million. Last year it was
$124 million against capital of $19 billion.

So our credit losses are a fraction of those of other financial insti-

tutions, and they are a fraction of it because we start with a great
asset and we do an enormous amount of risk-sharing. We, unlike

most depository institutions, don't say we will take the entire risk

and we will manage it all. We say we want to find risk-sharing

partners with us.

I don't have the equivalent chart on interest rate risk, but I could

give you exactly the same scenario on interest rate risk. We buy
loans and we match their funding, but, because there is this option
for the homeowner to give the loan back to you when it is in their

interests, when it is probably not in your interests, when rates

have dropped, we try to match that potential cash flow. We don't

just guess what they will do, we sell debt that has the same option.
So if the homeowner has an option to give us back the loan, we

have an option to give back the debt. If the homeowner decides to

keep the loan, we have the option to keep the debt. So we engage
in risk-sharing there. That is why I said in my testimony, we spend
$6.4 billion a year to buy risk-sharing with other players. We spend
over $4 billion to buy that for interest rate risk, and we spend over

$1 billion to buy that for credit risk.

So this whole risk-sharing structure that has been put in place
is the major protection for our capital. So you would have to go



128

through all of this, through all of our protection on interest rates

before you touch our capital.
That is why Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac can withstand the ten-

year stress test as rigorously as we have and why other entities

can't. Because if you ask them, what is the stress test you use, they
will say well, we assume interest rates might move 100 basis

points or we assume that our losses might double. Whereas we are

facing what at least one analyst referred to as the nuclear winter

stress test. I mean if all of those things really happened, it would
be an unusual world, but it would be the case that Fannie Mae and
Freddie Mac would still be there, and all of the people who have
been criticizing us as being undercapitalized would be out of busi-

ness.

Chairman BAKER. Mr. Royce, you have well exceeded your time,
and he may have expired you as well. I don't know.
For Members wanting to ask a second round of questions, we will

start those now, and I would start.

To clarify for the record, Mr. Raines, I am sorry Mr. Mascara has

departed, the genesis of H.R. 3703 is modestly, after some years of

concern, an expression on the subject going back to the day of prior
CBO reports to this subcommittee in 1996 that I requested relative

to systemic risk issues. Again to say that this is not a criticism of

anyone at Fannie Mae or Freddie Mac or Home Loan Bank today,
but we have an obligation to perform regular and routine mainte-

nance. If this were an airplane, you would not want to wait until

the engine went out to ask the question, what is our maintenance
schedule? I think while you are high-flying and doing well, that is

the time when you spend a little resources on wonying about ad-

verse circumstance.
To that end, when an institution is as large as any of the institu-

tions represented at this table, in your case, the third largest asset-

sized corporation in America, the potential for that organization to

have financial difficulty and, thereby, harm innocent third parties
is quite obvious, and the Fed, in many cases, has interceded to pre-
clude those adverse economic circumstances from having that rip-

ple effect in the economy.
I believe it is our mission to provide market discipline through

enhanced transparency, so people do understand the business plan
and understand the true risk they are assuming when they either

buy a security or take an equity position. The trouble is that in

marketing securities, and I am not saying that you market it this

way, I am just saying this is information provided to me about how
securities may be marketed, prospective investors are told that

members of the board are appointed by the President, the Fed ex-

empts agency securities, including mortgage backs—accepts, rath-

er, securities, including mortgage backs as collateral; that there is

no limit on the amount of holdings that a bank may have of GSE
debt, which, in fact, there are 4,003 banks today which have be-

tween 100 and 500 percent of total capital invested in GSE securi-

ties; that you are regulated by HUD and that you are subject to

OFHEO's stress test, which of course is almost there. The mar-

keting approach would skew market discipline, because it tells the

prospective investor, don't look at the underlying business fun-

damentals necessarily.
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Now, of course, any analyst is going to do that, but I didn't turn
to Moody's rating, to which you made reference. Moody's said its

ratings reflect good financial fundamentals; granted, the strong im-
plied Government support of the Gk)vemment Sponsored Enter-

prises and the competitive advantages they enjoy as a result of
their special status.

Now, I take that to mean that a respected rating service is say-
ing, you are priced where you are because you are good, number
one; and two, because of the implicit guarantee.
That is exactly the point which I have been trying to make for

some time. I think we are performing an excellent opportunity in
the secondary market by standardizing mortgages. I think the un-

derwriting criteria are excellent. I think it facilitates home owner-
ship. It is my role, however, I think appropriately, to ensure that
the market is not having its vision of the underlying business fun-
damentals totally skewed by the belief that there is an implied
guarantee; therefore, no risk.

It is clear Chairman Greenspan, in recent remarks, has said

many are operating on the basic assumption that there are large
financial institutions in this country—and I think he chose those
words very carefully

—not to say banks, that are being viewed as
above all risk in the market because of the implied guarantee, and
that is a false assumption.
So can you work with us here?
What I am getting back from Fannie Mae is that there is not one

thing that we could suggest that we alter with this legislation that
is worthwhile to pursue. In fact, it has been described as sand in

the gears of a well-oiled machine. I just want to make sure I know
where the machine is going and whose collateral it is going to take
to make sure it runs at double digit return for the next generation.
There has to be some way to get our arms around the enormous
growth, the simple rate of return and, frankly, the lack of a safety
and soundness regulator being functional.

You and I have had conversations where I think you have indi-

cated to me that you would like to see a strong functional regu-
lator, because it would help you marketing your product in the sec-

ondary market. Can we at least start there? Can you respond?
Mr. Raines. Well, Mr. Chairman, I think those are very helpful

comments, and I hope I said properly, in answer to Mr. Mascara's

question, that I believe that your interest in this legislation stems
from the issue of systemic risk. I hope I have made that clear.

Chairman Baker. Absolutely, yes, sir.

Mr. Raines. I have no doubt in my mind that that is what your
interest is.

Chairman Baker. At best, arm's length, but further than that,
as far as I am concerned, with any other economic group trying to

press any other advantage within the Congress, and I would tell

all Members that. The provisions of this bill have been out and
about for a long time and I shared them with all of the principals
before the bill was introduced, so there has been no effort to take

anybody by surprise.
Mr. Raines. Right. But just a couple of points. On your last

point, we do not say that the system that we have now is abso-

lutely perfect and no one could conceivably think of any change
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that would make it better. Indeed, when you invited me to review

your bill, I did so with the thought that we would be involved in

a discussion. But for, I am sure, good and sufficient reasons, you
introduced your bill and went forward on the bill, so we have not
had further discussions of what might be changes that could be

made, not driven by one particular bill. Our comments so far have

gone to the bill as introduced as opposed to the issue of is there

anything that could make the system better.

So I don't rule out that there are things that could make the sys-
tem better, and I would be delighted to talk to you about things
that deal with issues of systemic risk that might make the system
better and could relieve concerns that you may have.

In terms of the marketing, I just came back last week from Eu-

rope, in which I had the opportunity to meet with a number of our
debt investors, and a couple of things became very clear. They
clearly understand that our debt is not guaranteed. Indeed, some
of them resent the idea that smart institutional investors are oper-

ating under a total misapprehension about billions of dollars that

they have invested of their investors' funds, so they are very clear

on that question.

They also, though, are very clear that there is something called

this agency market that is somewhere between the Grovemment
and ordinary corporations, and they know that there are certain in-

dicia that go with that and they look for those indicia, because they
believe that what that says is that these are entities carrying out
an important public purpose and that they will be closely regulated
from a financial standpoint, and therefore, they are not easily dis-

pensable. The GrOvemment will not simply look and go, well, it is

gone and we don't care, which it might very well do with an indi-

vidual bank or an individual S&L.
So they are looking for the Grovemment to protect its own inter-

ests in the public policies that we advance by ensuring that we are
safe and sound. That matters to them. It doesn't make us guaran-
teed by the Federal Government, because they charge us dramati-

cally more than they charge the Treasury, but it does make us a
better investment than if we were an ordinary corporation not pur-

suing a matter of public importance.
Chairman Baker. Well, if you took out the name Fannie or

Freddie and the "security," and you put almost any other name in

America in that slot, and then said there are 53 banks in the coun-

try today, this morning, that have 500 percent of their total capital
invested in GSE securities. Now, I have always operated on the

premise that concentration in a single line, in a geographic area—
the great lesson I learned from the S&L problems of the 1980*s,

coming from Louisiana and the oil and gas turmoil, was that diver-

sification, geographic and business line, was extraordinarily impor-
tant to management of risk.

When we have institutions at this level of concentration, which
no other corporation enjoys that exemption fi*om that level of con-

centration, isn't that some small measure—I guess you dispute
Under Secretary Grensler's remarks in that area as well?
Mr. Raines. Well, let's just go to the facts. I think the factual de-

scription is just inaccurate in this case.
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There are two limitations that banks have, a 10 percent hmita-
tion on investments in securities and a 15 percent Umitation on
loans. It only applies issuer by issuer or borrower by borrower. It

doesn't apply to a class. So there is no class of GSEs that is limited
for banks, just as there is no class of oil companies or no class of

department stores. So it is an individual-by-individual issue.

If you look at Fannie Mae holdings, the average holding of
Fannie Mae securities by banks is only 15 percent. If you look at
the banks who hold 100 percent or more of their capital in Fannie
Mae, they represent 1.28 percent of total bank assets. They are lit-

tle banks. If you look at the 20 percent of the banks that hold two-
thirds of the assets in the system, they hold less than 10 percent.
They all would qualify under the rule as currently established.
So from a systemic risk situation or circumstance, it is the big

banks you worry about. They don't hold excessive amounts of
Fannie Mae debt.

Chairman Baker. But 41 percent of all banks have 100 percent
of capital in GSE securities. I mean it can't be dismissed so simply,
because
Mr. Raines. But the rule doesn't apply to GSE securities. It ap-

plies to Fannie Mae securities, to Freddie Mac securities, to Gen-
eral Motors securities.

Chairman Baker. I understand, I understand.
Mr. Raines. If you look at it issuer by issuer, what you find is

relatively few banks—there are 725 banks that hold more than 100

percent of their capital in Fannie Mae, and that is only 8 percent
of all banks and they represent 2.1 percent of bank assets.

Chairman Baker. Well, your point is well made and I imder-
stand your point, but once you get past Fannie and Freddie and
you go to the list of the GSE securities that are available beyond
your two organizations, my level of concern only goes up incremen-

tally. You are well-run and well capitalized, and I have no concern
about business risks with you, but the further you go out on that
GSE limb, the weaker it gets. Somewhere I am looking for some-

thing we can agree on where we might be able to communicate that

there are points that are worth pursuit.
I have far exceeded my time.

Mr. Raines. Mr. Chairman, I think you have just put your finger
on one that we can sit down and talk about. We believe that in the

legislation passed in 1992 you set up a state-of-the-art capital re-

quirement on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and it is very tough.
We believe that similar requirements being applied to all of the

GSEs would be a step forward. We believe that if others can sur-

vive the same stress test that we can survive, it would give you a
lot of assurance on just the issue you pointed to, and we woiild be

delighted to work with you on how can you get that same level of

insurance that all of the GSEs can survive that same kind of very
difficult stress test that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are going to

be required to survive.

Chairman Baker. I just wish we had it in effiect now.
Mrs. Jones, you are next.

Mrs. Jones. You wore me out, Mr. Chairman. I don't have any
more questions.
Chairman Baker. I don't believe it. Ms. Waters does, though.
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Ms. Waters. Mr. Chairman, I apologize if this has been dis-

cussed already.
I was concerned about the requirement in the legislation for

HUD to have to approve new products. I don't understand the rea-

son for that, and I don't understand what obstacles would be placed
in the way of implementing new products that may be very mean-
ingful and cost-effective and good for the consumer.
So let me just ask both Mr. Raines and Mr. Brendsel about this

requirement in the bill.

Do you think it is a good idea for HUD to be further involved
with the GSEs, particularly as it relates to the oversight and the
concurrence and new products? And if they are, how could that

help you or hurt you?
Mr. Brendsel. Frankly, I think it is a bad idea. It would stifle

innovation and, frankly, just add to costs. We respond to our cus-

tomers, our lenders, and occasionally we come up with a new idea
ourselves along the way. Regardless, it would require, particularly
in terms of introducing this to the market, it would require endless

delay, add to the cost; and ultimately, who would want to work
with a company like Freddie Mac to bring a new mortgage program
to the marketplace if they had to go through a lengthy delay of
three months, six months or whatever as a result of this entire

mortgage or new product approval process?
All of the products, all of the programs that we do must meet the

test of being consistent with our charter, and today, under the cur-

rent legislation, if there is a significant new activity, a new pro-

gram, frankly it already must meet that regulatory requirement of

being approved by the Department of Housing and Urban Develop-
ment, as our mission regulators. So this particular provision would
just go way beyond that and add a bureaucracy that frankly would
not achieve, I think, the intended purpose, which is really to make
certain that we have very strong, safe and sound regulation, an
independent regulator. It would not enhance that regulatory struc-

ture at all.

Ms. Waters. Mr. Raines.
Mr. Raines. I agree with that. In the 1992 legislation there was

put in place a program approval process where if we were to begin
a brand-new program of activities, we had to go to HUD to get ap-
proval. And the authors of that provision were very clear that it

was not to get into the level of products and processes which would
burden the companies and keep them from innovating. As we read
the draft of the legislation at this point, it says that any new proc-
ess that we enter into with a lender would require approval by
HUD.
So that means—^for example, we have been working with Mrs.

Maloney for a while now on co-op loans, which has always been
hard to get into the secondary market, and we have tried a variety
of different loans to see what will work. That would have meant
every time we did that, we would have to go to HUD and say ap-
prove this, approve that. If we had a lender who said I have a new
way of servicing loans that I think will make a difference in terms
of the value of this loan to you, we would have to ask HUD to ap-
prove that.



133

So as written now, it is the most extensive activity approval proc-
ess that I have ever seen in CJovernment. I don't know of any other

regulated entities whose everyday normal business practices would
require approval by a Gk)vemment agency filing in the Federal
record, and then an independent determination by that agency
whether it thinks it is a good idea.

Chairman Baker. If I may suggest, you are just about out of
time. In any event, we have two Members that want to wrap up
and then we could perhaps close this hearing. Can we just proceed
at this moment.
Ms. Waters. Am I out of time yet?
Chairman Baker. Well, you are about 10 seconds away.
Ms. Waters. Were you stopping, Mr. Raines? You are finished?
Mr. Raines. Yes, I am finished.

Ms. Waters. Thank you very much.
Chairman Baker. I thank you for your courtesy.
Mr. Ryan, and then we will go to you, Mr. Riley.
Mr. Ryan. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I will try and be brief.

I would like to revisit the mortgage-backed security issue. My
purpose for asking these questions, I am not trying to drive an
agenda, I am just simply trying to get to some facts. It looks like

there has been a change in policy by both Freddie and Fannie in

that beginning in 1993, your share of outstanding mortgage-backed
securities, the retention or the repurchasing or purchasing, what-
ever terminology you want to use, was for Freddie, 3.5 percent and
for Fannie, 4.9 percent in 1993. That grew dramatically in 1999 to

Fannie repurchasing or retaining 29.3 percent of the MBSs, and
Freddie, 28.2 percent. So there is a dramatic increase in the reten-

tion or repurchasing of your mortgage-backed securities.

Let me start with you, Mr. Brendsel, because the last vote cut
us off and I feel bad about that. Let me just ask two quick ques-
tions which I think you can answer very quickly. Does the repur-
chase or purchase, whatever terminology you choose to use, does
that advance home ownership? Does the repurchase of a mortgage-
backed security put a person into a home that they otherwise
would not have been able to afford?

Mr. Brendsel. Yes.
Mr. Ryan. How so?
Mr. Brendsel. Because it provides additional liquidity, it re-

duces mortgage rates. It reduces costs.

Mr. Ryan. OK. So I think the point that is worth clarifying is

that this is an interest rate risk, not a credit risk, and I think Mr.
Bentsen brought that up, which is that bringing the mortgage-
backed security back on your books represents an interest risk.

So are you saying that you are calculating the perceived reduc-

tion in interest rates by buying those mortgage-backed securities

back on your books, does that exceed the interest risk that you are

putting on your books by concentrating that risk or by repur-
chasing that mortgage-backed security?
Mr. Brendsel. I would put it this way. We are redistributing

that risk to different investors through different techniques. If you
go back to 1993, that period of time and prior to that, what you
had developed during the 1990's is the market for additional types
of financial instruments, callable debt, as an example, that didn't
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really exist in the 1980's to be able to fund mortgage loans, mort-

gage-backed securities.

Mr. Ryan. The market has diversified and that is why the great-
er concentration of the repurchasing of these securities?

Mr. Raines. Well, actually it is not a concentration. I think what
Leland is saying is it actually disburses it. If you own the mort-

gage-backed security, you have all the risk. If we own it, we then
share that risk with a lot of investors, some of whom buy callable

debt, some of whom buy bullet debt, and the residual risk remains
with us. So we can take that risk and spread it around to more
people.
Mr. Ryan. OK. So by repurchasing the mortgage-backed securi-

ties, you are saying you are not concentrating that interest risk,

that you are actually spreading that risk out?
Mr. Raines. That is because we are in the risk management

business, not in the risk aggregation business. We are in the busi-

ness of taking risk and spreading it to the best possible investors.

Sometimes we are the best investor, but usually we are not. Usu-

ally there are other people who are the better holders, so we give
them what they want.
Mr. Ryan. I think it is clear and I think it would be irrefutable

that a good profit is derived from repurchasing those mortgage-
backed securities, correct, by Freddie and Fannie?
Mr. Raines. But no different really than purchasing whole loans.

Mr. Ryan. But a profit is derived.

Mr. Raines. Well, absolutely. We hope so. We hope so.

Chairman Baker. Can you turn him loose? Because I want to get
to Mr. Riley.
Mr. Ryan. I think we are going in circles here, but I appreciate

having you spend the whole day here answering these questions.
I would probably like to follow up another time and maybe we can
meet in person to get to that issue.

Chairman Baker. Thank you.
Mr. Riley.
Mr. Riley. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Gentlemen, I want to thank you for staying here today. Your pa-

tience exceeds that of Job. But there are a couple of issues that I

would like a clarification on.

Mr. Raines, if I understood your testimony today, you said that
the actual proposal of this legislation had no impact on mortgage
rates, if I understood you right?
Mr. Raines. No. The only impact on mortgage rates was the peo-

ple assuming that this legislation would be enacted. Because in a
lot of countries, you know, it is not the long path from the introduc-

tion of legislation to it actually being enacted. They don't have a

system like we do.

Mr. Riley. OK. I guess that is my point. In your letter that all

of us received, it says: "However, today, there is a bill, H.R. 3703,
that has already had a negative impact on mortgage costs." Can
you quantify that? Can you tell me how much of a negative impact
there was?
Mr. Raines. We can walk you through. It has varied over time.

Mr. Riley. Give me a ballpark figure of what it costs. Was it 1

basis point, 100 basis points?
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Mr. Raines. Well, I think the impact that various outside observ-
ers have measured is anywhere between 20 basis points and 40
basis points, depending on the day.
Mr. Riley. OK. Well, based on that, assume it was 20 basis

points, and according to a statement made by someone in your or-

ganization that said that just the consideration of this bill would
cost 208,000 families a chance at home ownership.

If that is based on 20 basis points, give me a calculation of how
many houses that Chairman Greenspan has caused not to be fi-

nanced in the last year-and-a-half. The best I can calculate if this

is 20 basis points, then there would be 1,500,000 people that did
not have the opportunity to buy a house because of the action of
the Fed and Chairman Greenspan. Would that be an accurate as-

sumption?
Mr. Raines. Well, actually, it is much more complicated than

that, because Chairman Greenspan only can affect the short-term
rates directly. And when he raises short-term rates to fight infla-

tion, which you will often find is long-term rates actually declining,
so if Chairman Greenspan were sitting here he would explain to

you, I think, and I hate to—I may say it more clearly than he

might.
Mr. Riley. I know he would appreciate that comment.
Mr. Raines. I think he would say that his actions have actually

helped home ownership, because he has held down long-term rates

from where they were. But I think that would be his answer.
Mr. Riley. So you are telling me that if he raises interest rates

another one-half point today, it will lower long-term rates for most
homeowners?
Mr. Raines. Well, I think if the Fed is viewed as a credible infla-

tion fighter, long-term rates would be lower than they otherwise
would be, and I think we have seen some action of that just in the

last few days. Just yesterday, long-term rates actually came down
a little bit as people believed the Fed would step in and be a tough
inflation fighter.

I am as big an advocate of growth as anyone, so I don't want to

come across as being in favor of the Fed overreacting, but I do
want to give them fair credit. Because of the Fed's, I believe—their

very good management of the monetary policy, in conjunction with

good fiscal policy, I think we have had lower home ownership costs

in this decade than we otherwise would have, and I think that has
been important.
Mr. Riley. We are running out of time. But if this bill were en-

acted, how much of a rate increase do you believe there would be?

Would it still be around 20 basis points, or would it be higher if

we enacted the legislation that we are considering today?
Mr. Raines. It is impossible to know, but I believe it would be

significantly higher. I believe the 20 basis points was discounted by
the likelihood of people thinking it was going to pass, but if people

thought that these companies would be saddled with these restric-

tions, I think the rates would be substantially higher.
Mr. Riley. Substantially, to 50 basis points, 100, 150?
Mr. Raines. I would be guessing at that level.

Mr. Riley. That is exactly what I would like for you to do; guess.
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Mr. Raines. I don't want to guess. I think one basis point that
was unnecessary is too many. I mean every basis point that is nec-

essary is all right, but one that is unnecessary I think is too many.
Chairman Baker. If we can, gentlemen, we need to wrap this up,

because Members need to make this vote. Mrs. Maloney wants to

know, Mr. Raines, if Fannie Mae will take another creative look at

Kiddie Mac.
Mrs. Maloney. I really first want to thank you for this thought-

ful hesiring.
Maxine Waters mentioned earlier, new products. And there is

one that I would hope that you would take a look at and expand
to. I think it would be appropriate to bring the GSE structure to

child care, an area that has been failed by the private markets.
You literally revolutionized home ownership in this country, it is

now at an astonishing 70 percent, yet child care, we can't get the

financing. It is not supported. I would like to know, would Fannie
and Freddie be opposed to having the authority to buy child care

facility mortgages?
Chairman Baker. If you would, let me suggest we are down now

below five minutes on this vote. Please let me make the formal re-

quest that you respond to Mrs. Maloney and myself with regard to

her question in writing at a later time, if that is acceptable.
Mrs. Maloney. OK.
Chairman Baker. Certainly any Member who has an interest in

Kiddie Mac.
Chairman Baker. Let me say thank you to all of you gentlemen

for your time. I wish to announce that our next hearing on this

subject will be June 7, and that next week we do expect to get a
letter back from the Federal Reserve in response to our questions
concerning systemic risk, which we will be sharing with the agen-
cies.

Mrs. Maloney. Mr. Chairman, wh^ will the witnesses be at the
next hearing? \

Chairman Baker. We are waiting on confirmations. We will have
that for you next week.
Mrs. Maloney. But what kind of witnesses?
Chairman Baker. Good.
Mrs. Maloney. Good witnesses.
Chairman Baker. Yes. They will be financial.

But I do thank you for your courtesies. We do have follow-up
questions. I think my staff has prepared some, and I would like to

leave those with you as well. Thank you.
[The information referred to can be found on page 199 in the

appendix.]
[Whereupon, at 2:15 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.]
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mission compliance.

rhono: (202) 22b-0471 uuu. house."ov/b.inkinf



139

Although the current regulatory structure works, the GAO study concluded that a single independent

regulator would lead to improved oversight and more effective regulation. GAO believes a single

regulator would be more independent, objective and prominent in its oversight capacity.

H.R. 3703 proposes a five-member board consisting of the HUD Secretary, Treasury Secretary, and three

citizen members appointed by the President and confirmed by the Senate. The board's principal duties

would be to ensure the housing GSEs operate in a financially safe and sound manner, cany out their

mission, and remain adequately capitalized.

The housing GSEs are large and growing larger. Their total debt obligation is about two-thirds of the

roughly $3.5 trillion federal debt held by the public. By improving the existing regulatory structure of the

housing GSEs in today's good economic climate, we can reduce future risk to the taxpayer and the

economy.

This bill will give the board the authority to approve new activities pursuant to the public interest and

review ongoing activities of the housing GSEs to ensure legal compliance. The non-mission related

growth into capital markets by the housing GSEs is an area not covered sufficiently by the current

regulatory structure. The board will be required to limit nonmission-related assets that the housing GSEs

may hold at any time.

The bill will eliminate each GSEs' line of credit with the Treasury, require annual credit ratings and

mandate a study of the effects a GSE failure would have on depository institutions.

This bill seeks to improve supervision and diminish systemic risk now rather than waiting for a time of

crisis to expose the faults of a hobbled regulatory structure.



140

Today we will hear first from a representative of the Treasury Department who will identity the potential

risks involved and advise us on how best to organize a regulatory structure to protect against this potential

liability. After that, we will hear from the regulators of the housing GSEs who will provide us their

expertise in how to set up a new regulatory framework. I look forward to the witnesses' comments on this

legislation.
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Statement for Rep. Judy Biggert (R-IL)

Hearing on H.R. 3703

The Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act

March 22, 2000

Mr. Chairman, it is a pleasure to be here this morning.

Homeownership is one of the core values we have as Americans and one of the most

fundamental bases for stability in our communities.

Govemment sponsored enterprises have helped make the American Dream of owning
a home a reality for thousands of renters and low income families.

For example, Fannie Mae has invested some $6.2 billion in mortgages in my district,

providing mortgages money for some 60,000 families in Illinois' 13* Congressional
District.

However, I do have some concems about the safety and soundness and mission

compliance of the GSEs and share your goals of streamlining the GSE regulatory

process.

Therefore, Mr. Chairman, I very much look forward to this hearing and the others to be

held in the future on this very important issue.

Thank you.

\
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Opening Statement of Congressman Merrill Cook
March 22, 2000

In August of last year, Fannie Mae opened a partnership office in Utah The purpose of

this office is to work with the constituents and the lenders in my district to come up with

innovative solutions to the housing problems facing the greater Salt Lake City area, and

they are already having an impact.

Last month the local Fannie Mae office was able to partner with Neighborhood Housing
Services of Salt Lake City to create the Home at Last program. Under this initiative,

borrowers at or below 80% of area median income will be able to get into a home in Salt

Lake for $1,000 down.

That said, I will be interested to hear the testimony of the witnesses here today and their

responses to this bill. 1 believe as members of Congress we are accountable to the

taxpayers and if we can improve the regulation and supervision of the housing GSEs then

we should do so, but more importantly I am interested to see how consumers will stand to

benefit from this legislation

As the housing GSEs continue to pile on debt I think it is important for us to be watchful

and diminish any systemic risk these GSEs may pose to the economy and taxpayers $1.8

trillion outstanding debt is a lot of money and I thank Chairman Baker for having this

hearing.

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac currently are in compliance with the risk based capital

standard which mandates that they have enough capital in place to endure a ten-year

nationwide financial collapse
- a standard far more stringent than the capital

requirements for any bank, thrift, or any other financial services company I am

particularly interested to hear what the effects of creating a single regulator will be on

this risk based capital structure.

America's housing finance system seems to be running fairly smoothly It should be

noted that the overall homeownership rate in America is approaching 68% I want to be

sure that this legislation will not prevent the housing GSEs from fulfilling their missions

The kinds of neighborhood specific solutions I spoke of earlier and very important to my
district and to me.

I have a number of questions about the scope and intent of H.R 3703, and I look forward

to hearing the views of the witnesses on how consumers stand to benefit from this

legislation



143

OPENING
STATEMENT

H.R. 3703

Housing Finance

Regulatory Improvement
Act



144

Good Morning, Chairman Baker, Ranking Member Kanjorski and Members of

this Committee. Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent that my full statement be

included in the Record.

Mr. Chairman, H.R. 3703, the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act, is a

bill designed to improve regulation and supervision of the housing GSEs following
GAO's recommendation to consolidate regulation of GSEs into one independent board.

However, Mr. Chairman, I must say, from my reading of this bill, that the language

"improve" GSEs regulation and supervision seems somewhat out of place.

As a former Prosecutor and Judge, my experience and training taught me how to

focus on "intent", analyzing patterns and trends. In 1992, Congress passed Federal

Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act (FHEFSSA) that mandated

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to "lead the mortgage finance industry in making credit

available for low- and moderate-income families.
" From my understanding of GSEs,

they were fulfilling this mission. My question, then, is "Where Is the Problem?"

It is difficult, therefore, for me to find the intent of this bill other than to work to

thwart the efforts of GSEs. This bill seems to be a solution in search of a problem. I

must admit Mr. Chairman, I find it uniquely odd for your party, to call for greater

regulation of anything, particularly in an area where there are no current deficiencies nor

financial crisis. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have both received passing grades on each

and every OFHEO (Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight) capital adequacy
test.

Mr. Chairman, while the interest of your legislation is laudable, in that it hopes to

avoid a repeat of any bailout, I fail to see the payoff for all the regulatory burden of this

bill. Simply mixing and matching regulators like people change clothing outfits will not

produce, what I am most concerned about, more homeownership opportunities in

Cleveland, Ohio. If anything, from my reading of this bill, it could dilute the GSEs'

focus on housing. In light of the high flying politics of Washington, I cannot seem any

improvement with a five-person politically appointed board as a model for safety and

soundness regulation.

As a member of this committee and as Chairperson of the Congressional Black

Caucus Housing Task Force, I have had the opportunity to see various products of both

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Those products, I believe, even as a housing finance

novice, would be enticing to mortgage lenders in providing homeownership opportunities

to families. I am not sold that this bill will somehow bring some magical lenders and

other entities out to deal with creative ways of addressing affordable housing and

homeownership.

Mr. Chairman, I am a realist. All about the Halls of Congress, we rave about our

efforts to empower citizens. I want real empowerment for my constituents of the 1 1

'

Congressional District and for citizens all across this nation. Fannie Mae, in my district.
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provided $371 million in mortgage financing to 5,484 families. Owning a home. Mr.

Chairman, is the best form of empowerment.

Mr. Chairman, under H.R. 3703, any new product to expand homeownership
would be subjected to a process more burdensome than the issuance of most government

regulations
—and certainly far more than what was in place in the 1992 GSE Safety and

Soundness legislation. Some of us, on this committee, moan and groan about onerous

regulations, layered governance and cry out, "if it ain't broke, don't fix it."

There is no way product creativity and innovation can occur when there is a 90-

day waiting period, much like a new government program or regulation. With the growth
and speed of the internet, technological advances, e-commerce and new e-mocracy,

companies will not be successful imder those constraints, thus consumers are hurt.

How do we reconcile, as a committee, calls for reduced regulations in just about

every instance, and now call for increased regulation in a select few instances. We
should call for regulations where regulations are warreinted.

I hope that this hearing helps to clear the record. H.R. 3703 does not save the

taxpayers money. It creates an unworkable regulatory burden. Also, this bill, 1 believe

would cause great delays in bringing new products to the market and hinders,

subsequently, new and innovative products to consumers.

I realize that there is much more to be done by GSEs with respect to affordable

housing. I have been pleasantly surprised by HUD's Housing goals for the GSEs as well

as Fannie Mae's new goal of reaching many more households.

Mr. Chairman, in the midst of positive news about housing, I do not see bringing

forth additional regulations where there is not increase in safety nor soundness, which I

thought should be the basis for any improvements.

Mr. Chairman, I want to be clear. Cleveland and Cuyahoga County are both

undergoing a crisis in affordable housing. In order to address this crisis, I have been

working with Fannie Mae in my district on challenging affordable issues as we speak. I

see very little in the regulatory changes, that your bill makes, that would produce tangible

benefits to my constituents in Cleveland, Ohio. Until someone can demonstrate to me a

tangible "quality of life improvement" for families living on the East side of Cleveland, I

will remain opposed to this bill.
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Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to speak briefly about H.R. 3703, the

Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act, the subject of today's hearing.

Let me begin my remarks by once again commending the Chairman for his leadership. In

H.R. 3703, he has developed a legislative proposal certain to provoke considerable public debate

about the future regulation of the housing government-sponsored enterprises, or GSEs. He has

also focused our Subcommittee in recent years on a number of public policy issues affecting the

operations of GSEs. Last year, for example, I worked closely with him to finally enact

legislation to reform the operations and mission of the Federal Home Loan Bank System

Additionally as a result of the Chairman's initiative, our Subcommittee held several

hearings in the 105 Congress on the effectiveness of the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise

Oversight, the Department of Housing and Urban Development, and the Federal Housing
Finance Board in pursuing their respective mission compliance oversight and safety and

soundness supervision objectives. The Chairman also requested and received a series of reports

fi-om the General Accounting Office about the operations of the current GSE regulators. Then,

after building a substantial legislative history about the performance of the GSE supervisors, the

Chairman introduced H.R. 3703 in the 106 Congress, a bill designed, among other things, to

create a single overseer for the housing GSEs.

From my perspective, we need to have strong, independent regulators that have the

resources they need to get the job done. Moreover, as one of the few remaining Members of the

Conmiittee who experienced the Congressional battle to resolve the savings and loan crisis, I am

acutely aware of the need to protect taxpayers from risk. It is in the public's interest that we
maintain a strong regulatory regime over Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan

Banks. I am, therefore, pleased that our current GSE regulators are operating effectively.

Additionally, our nation's current system for housing finance is not only extremely

successful, but it is also the envy of the world. Almost 67 percent of Americans own the homes

in which they live. This success, however, should not stop us from asking whether and how we

can do a better job of increasing homeownership rates. We should always examine ways by
which we can lower mortgage rates and improve regulatory efficiency

THIS STATIONERY PRINTED ON PAPER MADE WITH RECYCLED FIBERS
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That said, we should move forward cautiously in this area The Federal Housing

Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992 is only now beginning to produce its

intended results. By the end of this year, OFHEO hopes to finalize its dynamic risk-based capital

standard for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. That rule will fijrther help to protect taxpayers

against systemic risk HUD will also complete its work on updating the affordable housing goals

for the two enterprises. These goals, as I understand, will force the GSEs to aggressively

increase lending in underserved areas Finally, the Finance Board is developing the many

regulatory changes needed to implement the Federal Home Loan Bank Modernization Act of

1999. The creation of a single regulator at this time could delay all of these important activities.

Furthermore, pursuing significant legislative changes could upset the housing finance

marketplace Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan Banks all help to lower

mortgage rates for consumers. We must work to ensure that our work does not raise those costs

for consumers or inappropriately discourage investors.

In closing, I hope that we are not on a fast track toward marking up this legislation

There is no pressing need for reform at this time. We should, however, carefully, deliberately,

and objectively proceed in examining the public policy issues related to the mission compliance

and safety and soundness regulation of GSEs. I look forward to debating the merits of this

legislation.

\
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Committee on Banking, Subcomittee on Capital Markets

Hearing on Oversight of GSE's

Congressman John E. Sweeney
March 22, 2000

I thank the Chairman, Mr. Baker, for the opportunity to address this important issue

of oversight of GSE's.

I agree with the Chairman that the Congress, and particularly this subcommittee,

should be actively engaged in oversight of the housing GSE's. It is our responsibility

to assure the public that they are acting in a manner that is financially responsible and

that they are utilizing their charters to achieve their intended purpose of improving

affordable home ownership.

That said, our country's housing finance system is the envy of the world and has

provided Americans with greater access to home financing than at any point in

history. Some of that success must be attributed to the contributions of the GSE's to

the secondary mortgage markets.

As a new member of the Banking Committee, I was not involved in past deliberations

which produced the 1 992 GSE charter revisions that created OFHEO and the housing

goals for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Therefore, I am looking forward to the

testimony of the witnesses to describe the effects of the legislation before us in light

of these past actions taken by the Congress.

1 am also concerned that any effort undertaken here should encourage innovation in

the marketplace and fair market competition
- and should not burden the mortgage

marketplace with unnecessary regulations. Lastly, we need to ensure that we are not

jumping to address a problem that is not there.

I come to this hearing with an open mind and look forward to the testimony of the

witnesses today and to fijture hearings and discussions on this issue.
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Statement of

Honorable Lee Terry

Subcommittee on Capital Markets, Securities, and Government

Sponsored Enterprises

March 22, 2000

H.R. 3703, Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act of 2000

Mr. Chairman, H.R. 3703, the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act of

2000 is being addressed at a time when more people are buying affordable homes with

the assistance of FannieMae, FreddieMac and Federal Home Loan Banks. Since the

establishment of these three govenmient sponsored-enterprises, these enterprises have

provided American's with the reality of a dream- the dream to own their own home. All

three government sponsored-enterprises have pursued a mission to provide financial

products and services that increase the availabilty and affordability of mortgage credit for

low-, moderate, and middle-income Americans. These government sponsored-

enterprise's have effectively played an invaluable role in making the American dream of

owning a home reality.

Since FannieMae, FreddieMac and Federal Home Loan Banks have been efficient

and effective in providing affordable homes to American's for nearly a decade, we should

not initiate a regulatory regime that could adversely affect their successful ability to

continue to provide Americans with their dream ofowning a home. Reforming and
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consolidating the current regulatory stmctures that oversee FarmieMae, Freddie Mac and

Federal Home Loan Banks could put a severe encroachment on these enterprises. The

combination of the federal oversight regulators of these companies would create an

inefficient, incoherent and ineffective bureaucratic structure that would impose a new set

of regulatory requirements and impediments on companies whose mission is to facilitate

the efficient delivery of affordable housing.

H.R. 3703 does not address the fact that Federal Home Loan Banks and

FannieMae and FreddieMac have capital regimes and requirements that are different.

Not only are their capital regimes different, but the housing goals for Federal Home Loan

Banks and FannieMae and FreddieMac are also different. This bill does not make any

effort to conform the difference in capital regimes and housing goals. The lack of

conformity would provide for a very cumbersome responsibility for the new overseeing

regulator by having the duty to carry out two very different schemes of regulation.

If enacted into law, H.R. 3703 could hamper product innovation. Under this

legislation, any new product or housing finance activity that would expand

homeownership would be subjected to the formal notice-and-comment process. It gives

the new regulator the discretion and responsibility to determine if the public should have

access to this new product or housing finance activity. This process is burdensome, slow

and encroaches on the ability of these government sponsored-enterprises to effectively

provide homes to Americans.

Another concern that I have with this legislation is the fact that it gives the new

regulator the ability to make any corporate data about the companies, open to the public.

This unfettered discretion that the new regulator would have, would be a strong deterrent

to innovation. Consumers would suffer as a consequence of this action.

This legislation has the potential of creating an unworkable regulatory burden on

the secondary mortgage market. FannieMae, FreddieMac and Federal Home Loan

Banks have been effective in doing their job by providing Americans with the ability to

own their own homes. We should not impede upon these institutions and their ability to

continue their tireless and invaluable efforts to make home ownership more affordable

and accessible to current and potential homebuyers by adding a new level of regulation.
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TREASURY UNDER SECRETARY GARY GENSLER
HOUSE BANKING SUBCOMMITTEE ON CAPITAL MARKETS, SECURITIES

AND GOVERNMENT SPONSORED ENTERPRISES

Mr. Chairman, Representative Kanjorski, Members of the Subcommittee, I appreciate the

opportunity to testify on the supervision and regulation of government sponsored enterprises. Your

bill, H.R. 3703, the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act, focuses on the supervision and

regulation of three government sponsored enterprises (GSEs) whose original purpose was devoted

to housing. I will divide my remarks into four parts: first, a general discussion on the background
of GSEs; second, a description of the GSEs' role in the capital markets; third, a discussion of

Treasury's general approach to mitigating systemic risk in capital markets; and fourth, the

Administration's view on how aspects of the Baker bill meet this general approach.

The nation's interest in a vital housing market is strong. Congress originally created the

housing GSEs — the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), the Federal Home Loan

Mortgage Corporation (Freddie Mac), and the Federal Home Loan Bank System — to improve

consumers' access to mortgage credit. These three GSEs have done much for home ownership in

this country. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, along with government-owned Ginnie Mae, helped

create a market for mortgage securitization. Credit fi-om Federal Home Loan Banks, along with the

creation of the Federal Housing Administration, helped banks and thrifts to establish the long-term,

fixed-rate mortgage in the 1930s and 1940s.

Currently, we are enjoying the longest period of economic growth in our history. Our

financial markets have unquestionably been major contributors to America's economic success, and

our financial sector continues to be the world leader. Our capital markets are the most competitive

and efficient in the worid. They generally operate without the government providing differential

treatment among financial institutions.

Government sponsored enterprises are an exception to this general approach because the

government provides them benefits in order to affect market outcomes. The potential benefits that

GSEs bring to a particular market must be balanced, therefore, against potential risks to the

financial system and potential effects on market competition.
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Reconsideration of this balance is appropriate from time to time and as financial conditions

change. The GSEs have significantly increased both their size and their market share. They have

now become the dominant institutions in the secondary mortgage market, and constitute an

increasing percentage of the overall credit markets. At the same time, our government's fiscal

discipline is leading to less Treasury debt. Together, these fectors have caused the GSEs to occupy
a more central role in capital markets than ever before.

At the same time, technology and innovation have revolutionized capital markets. Markets

are broader and more efficient than they have ever been. Our capital markets have developed

increasingly sophisticated techniques for securitizing mortgages and other assets, broadening the

holders of mortgages and lessening the need for government intervention.

The housing markets and the overall economy are currently strong. With no particular

problems on the horizon, this is an ideal time to review the supervision and regulation of the GSEs.

What are GSEs?

GSEs are privately owned but federally chartered companies, created by Congress to help

overcome barriers to the flow of credit into certain segments of the economy.
'

Fannie Mae and

Freddie Mac are publicly traded companies. The Federal Home Loan Banks are cooperatives

owned by their member banks and thrifts.

The federal government created the Federal Home Loan Bank System in 1932 to provide

credit to illiquid thrifts and to encourage the development of long-term, fixed-rate mortgages.

Freddie Mac was created, and Fannie Mae was transformed from a government corporation to a

GSE, during the turbulent fmancial period of the late 1960s and early 1970s. One of the primary

goals of creating Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac was "... to provide supplementary assistance to the

secondary market for home mortgages by providing a degree of liquidity for mortgage investments,

thereby improving the distribution of investment capital available for home mortgage financing."^

During the 1970s, Fannie Mae provided this assistance primarily by buying mortgages
while Freddie Mac concentrated on securitizing mortgages. As there was not a significant

secondary market for conventional mortgages at the time, the two GSEs provided assistance to the

traditional originators and holders of mortgages, such as thrifts and mortgage banks. By the 1980s,

however, securitization had broadened the potential holders of mortgages. Pooling mortgages into

securities brought many more potential purchasers into the secondary markets for home mortgages.

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae helped lead the development of this important market.

With rising interest rates in the early 1980s, Fannie Mae's cost of funds rose above the

interest rate it was earning on its long-term, fixed-rate mortgages. This interest rate mismatch was

similar to that faced by the savings and loan industry. Fannie Mae became insolvent on a mark-to-

'

Today there are five GSEs: Fannie Mae; Freddie Mac; the Federal Home Loan Bank System; the Farm Credit

System; and Farmer Mac. A sixth GSE, Sallie Mae, is in the process of being fully privatized.
^
S^ Federal National Mortgage Association Charter Act, sec. 301(a) (amended 1989); Sg also S. Rep. 91-761, 91"

Cong., 2d Sess. 7 (April 7, 1970) (explaining Freddie Mac's mission: "The Corporation (Freddie Mac) would be a

supplement to, and would have parallel authority to, the Federal National Mortgage Association under its expanded

authority proposed by title n of the bill.").
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market basis. A combination of legislative tax relief, regulatory forbearance, and a decline in

interest rates allowed Fannie Mae to grow out of its problem. Also, the Farm Credit System was in

serious financial trouble in the late 1980s, and the federal government ultimately provided financial

assistance to the System.

In 1989, Congress restated Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's charters, directing the GSEs to

"provide stability" and "ongoing assistance to the secondary mortgage market."'

Since the early 1990s, each of the three housing GSEs has significantly expanded the size

and scope of its activities. The FHL Banks now provide both banks and thrifts with advances. In

addition, the FHL Banks now directly hold approximately $170 billion in investments. Similarly,

Faimie Mae and Freddie Mac now derive significant earnings fi^om purchasing their own mortgage-

backed securities in the market. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac now hold about $850 billion of

mortgages and mortgage-backed securities in portfolio, plus another $80 billion in non-mortgage

securities.

Today, the GSEs are large, sophisticated financial institutions that retain and manage credit,

interest rate, and liquidity risks. They are owned by the private sector. In these ways, the GSEs are

very similar to other large financial institutions. As financial institutions, the GSEs earn money in

four basic ways:

Credit Guarantees. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac purchase mortgages and issue mortgage-backed

securities on which they guarantee the timely payment of principal and interest. This credit

enhancement is similar to what Ginnie Mae and FHA do for securities backed by FHA mortgages.

As of year-end 1999, guarantees by Faimie Mae and Freddie Mac totaled $1.2 trillion. On

average, they charged roughly 19 basis points (nineteen one-hundredths of a percentage point) per

dollar of security guaranteed. The GSEs bear the credit risk of individual borrowers defaulting on

their mortgages after losses covered by private mortgage insurance. While in the mid-1990s losses

averaged 5 to 6 basis points, last year they subtracted only about 1 basis point from the 19 basis

points charged.

Mortgage Im>estments. All three housing GSEs purchase whole mortgages, mortgage-backed

securities, and other mortgage-related securities in the capital market. By the end of 1999, the three

GSEs held about $920 billion of such assets. The GSEs take on three forms of risk with these

investments — credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. An important component of interest

rate risk relates to forecasting the behavior of borrowers in prepaying their mortgages. In addition,

the history of financial markets shows that the significance of liquidity risk increases with size and

leverage.

Similar to other financial institutions, the GSEs choose to hold and manage risk rather than

attempting to completely hedge it. They thereby seek to increase returns to their shareholders.

Thus, the GSEs earn a spread between the interest rate on their mortgage investments and their own

'
Financial Institutions Reforai, Recovery, and Enforcement Act, Pub. L. No. 101-73, sec. 731(m)(I), 103 StaL 183,

435 (August 9, 1989) (codified at 12 U.S.C. sec. 1716).
*

This figure excludes securities held in portfolio by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, as the GSEs are the beneficiaiy of

their own guarantee.
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below-market cost of funds. This spread has recentiy been approximately 80 basis points per dollar

of assets for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and about 50 basis points for the Federal Home Loan
Banks.

Advances. The Federal Home Loan Banks make secured loans, called advances, to the

approximately 7,000 banks and thrifts that are System members. These subsidized funds are

frequently used by the member to make further mortgage loans, but are also used for non-housing

purposes. The Federal Home Loan Bank System Modernization Act liberalized the uses to which

small institutions can put those advances. As of year-end 1999, outstanding advances totaled $396

billion, on which the FHL Banks earned about 20 basis points per dollar of advance.

Non-Housing Investments. All three housing GSEs invest in non-housing assets such as asset-

backed securities, commercial paper, and other money market instruments. As of year-end 1999,

the GSEs held about $180 billion in non-housing assets. Generally, the spreads earned on these

investments are smaller than the GSEs' other business lines, ranging between roughly 10 and 30

basis points per dollar of asset.

Benefits ofGSE Status

The GSEs' growing role in the capital markets is aided by the numerous benefits derived

from their federal charters. The GSEs receive no funds from the federal government, and the

government does not guarantee their securities. GSE status, however, does provide a set of benefits

that are not available to other financial institutions. These statutory benefits are listed in an

appendix to my testimony.

Taken together, these statutory benefits provide the GSEs with three advantages in financial

markets: lower funding costs; the ability to operate with less capital; and lower direct costs. These

advantages have been identified by past government studies of the GSEs, notably studies by the

Congressional Budget Office, the General Accounting Office, and the Treasury Department in

1996, and studies by these same agencies in 1990 and 1991.

Funding. First, the GSEs are able to borrow money at lower interest rates than other financial

institutions. Over the last six months, the GSEs borrowed at approximately 40 basis points less

than AA-rated banking and financial firms on one- and five-year debt. The spread to AA-rated

financial firms is particularly relevant since Standard and Poor's gave Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
a "risk-to-the-govemment" rating of AA- in 1996, the last time such a rating has been done. Even

if one compares to AAA-rated banking and financial fums, the advantage still averaged almost 30

basis points. They also borrow at approximately 1 8 basis points below three-month LIBOR, which

represents the rates at which banks generally obtain inter-bank funding. These spreads may widen

or shrink over time. What remains true, however, is that the GSEs operate with a significant

funding advantage over other private companies in equal or better financial condition.

Leverage. Second, GSEs operate with less equity capital per dollar of debt than other financial

institutions. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have roughly $32 of debt for each dollar of capital. The

FHLBanks have roughly $19 in debt per dollar of capital. In contrast, per dollar of capital, large
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banks have about $11.50 of debt, thrifts have $12.50 in debt, and the five largest securities firms

have approximately $25 in debt.

Lower direct costs. Third, GSEs receive direct cost savings from their charters. In 1999, the GSEs

saved approximately $280 million by being exempt from SEC registration. In addition, Fannie

Mae's and Freddie Mac's exemption from state and local taxes was worth approximately $690

million for 1999, based on the GAO's 1996 estimate that this exemption saved those GSEs about 8

percent of net income.

These funding, leverage and cost advantages are particularly significant to the GSEs

because of the markets in which they operate. The U.S. capital markets are the most competitive

and efficient in the worid. Relatively small advantages, even those measured in single basis points,

over time can allow firms to dominate their markets.

While a portion of these benefits is passed on in lower mortgage rates, the rest of the cost

reductions provide higher returns to GSEs' shareholders. Studies conducted by Treasury, CBO,
and GAO over the past ten years concluded that the GSEs retain a significant amount of their

federal subsidy. Although those estimates have not been updated recently, the high return on

equity of the publicly traded GSEs in part suggests that this pattern continues. Between 1995 and

1999, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac's average return on equity was about 24 percent. In

comparison, over that same time period, large banks' average return on equity was 15 percent, large

thrifts' average return was 12 percent, securities firms averaged 17 percent, and the largest

insurance firms averaged 12 percent.

GSEs in the Capital Markets

The advantages of GSE status have also enabled the GSEs to grow rapidly and gain an

increasing share of ^e capital markets. The GSEs now control a central position in the mortgage

market and an increasing share of the U.S. debt markets.

Size

The $1.4 trillion ofGSE debt is large on any relative scale. It is now roughly the size of the

entire municipal bond market - the outstanding debt of the fifty states and localities that issue

publicly traded debt. The GSEs' debt of $1.4 trillion is now more than one-half of the $2.7 trillion

of outstanding privately held marketable Treasury debt.' Adding the $1.2 trillion in GSE-

guaranteed mortgage-backed securities to the mix, GSE involvement in the credit market is

approaching the size of the Treasury market.

Expected growth

Based upon recent trends and growth forecasts, GSE debt may double to $3 trillion by

2005. With the government's continued fiscal discipline, GSE debt is forecast to surpass privately

held marketable Treasury debt in the next three years.

'
This is the most relevant measure of Treasury debt for comparisons of market size, as it excludes amounts held by

the Federal Reserve and non-marketable securities such as Savings Bonds and those held by municipalities.
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As the Treasury market declines in size, financial markets will be able to make a smooth

adjustment. Investors and hedgers will be able to switch to other securities and derivatives,

including those of GSEs. In this environment, the GSEs have been promoting their debt securities

as an alternative market benchmark. Like other large firms, the GSEs see benefits in having fewer,
more liquid issues of their debt. Such efforts could lower the GSEs' funding costs and increase

their returns to shareholders. In addition, futures contracts on Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae debt

securities began trading last week. These are the first contracts on individual private sector debt

securities to trade on the futures exchanges.

The Federal Reserve has principally used Treasury securities and repurchase transactions on

Treasury securities to carry out monetary policy. Although the Federal Reserve does not currently

purchase GSE debt securities, it has done so in the past and in recent years increasingly has used

their debt as collateral for repurchase agreements. Furthermore, in response to liquidity needs

spurred by Y2K concerns, the Federal Reserve began to take GSE-guaranteed mortgage-backed
securities as collateral in repurchase agreements.

Share ofMortgage Market

The GSEs have become the dominant institutions in the secondary mortgage market. Over

the last decade they have grown over four-fold, from just over $300 billion in size to $1.4 trillion.

As of year-end 1999, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac either owned or guaranteed roughly 63 percent
of all outstanding conforming, conventional mortgages. Their retained portfolio of mortgages

currently represents 26 percent of outstanding conforming, conventional mortgages.

To the extent that the GSEs now finance a significant portion of their sector of the mortgage

market, the willingness of a GSE to purchase a mortgage has become a far more significant factor

in deciding whether to originate that mortgage. The GSEs' automated underwriting systems are

increasingly becoming the means by which originators decide to lend. This technology will make
the process more efficient. In the long run, however, this trend may result in less diversity in credit

decisions and less price competition.

Ownership ofGSE Debt bv Depository Institutions

GSE debt also has become a significant portion of the assets of the banking system. Banks

held over $210 billion in GSE debt at mid-year in 1999. This constituted just under 4 percent of

total bank assets and over one-third of total bank capital. Banks held 75 percent more GSE debt

than their holdings of Treasury securities. In addition, banks held over $355 billion in mortgage-
backed securities guaranteed by the GSEs.

To protect the exposure of banking institutions, current law places limits on an individual

bank's credit exposure to any one entity. National banks may hold no more than 10 percent of their

capital in the corporate bonds of any one issuer or lend unsecured more than 15 percent of their

capital to any one borrower. Most state banks are subject to similar limits. Among all debt

securities issued by private companies, however, only GSE debt securities are exempt from this

investment limit.
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Principles for Mitigating Systemic Risk

As the GSEs continue to grow and to play an increasingly central role in the capital

markets, issues of potential systemic risk and market competition become more relevant. In 1997,

Treasury established an Office ofGSE Policy in order to monitor these issues.

Treasury's general approach to mitigating systemic risk in capital markets emphasizes the

role of the private sector. The public sector has three roles: creating an environment in which

market discipline can work effectively; promoting the maximum degree of transparency; and

maintaining the competitiveness of the system as a whole. For institutions where the public has a

special interest - for example, depository institutions carrying federal deposit insurance - further

government involvement such as on-site examinations and capital standards is appropriate.

Promoting market discipline means crafting government policy so that creditors do not rely

on governmental intervention to safeguard them against loss.

Transparency is the necessary corollary to market discipline. The government cannot

impose market discipline, but it can enhance its effectiveness by promoting transparency.

Transparency lessens uncertainty and thereby promotes market stability.

Promoting competition in financial markets lessens systemic risk. The task of public policy

must be to ensure the stability and integrity of the market system. In any sector of the financial

market, the dominance of one or two firms can lessen competition and the efficiency of the market

pricing mechanism. In addition, the entry of a subsidized financial institution into a market may
motivate other firms to take on greater risks and weaken their operating results.

We also recognize the important role this Committee has played in addressing risk in the

capital markets. Most recently, the Committee reported out a hedge fund bill supported by the

President's Working Group on Financial Markets.

H.R 3703

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate your efforts to highlight these issues and would now like to turn

to your legislative proposal, which takes various steps to accomplish these goals.

Promoting Private Market Discipline

H.R. 3703 contains several provisions designed to promote private market discipline.

H.R. 3703 repeals the housing GSEs' conditional line of credit with the Treasury. Congress
first authorized the Secretary of the Treasury to lend to the housing GSEs decades ago. The dollar

amounts of these lines of credit are now a mere fraction of the GSEs' actual borrowings. For

example, since its line of credit was established at its current level in 1957, Fannie Mae's mortgage

holdings have increased 320 times in size. Each of the GSEs has gone from being a small,

relatively unknown borrower in the capital markets to being among the largest debt issuers in the
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worid. Any function the lines perform at this point is purely symbolic. Repeal of the line of credit

would be consistent with the congressional requirement that all GSE securities cany a disclaimer

that they are not obligations of the U.S. government. Thus, as part of a package of reforms, we
would support repeal ofthe line of credit.

The bill also repeals the Federal Home Loan Banks' so-called "superlien". A law adopted in

the midst of the thrift crisis treats a Federal Home Loan Bank's secured, but not perfected, interest

in any collateral as having a priority over any other secured, but not perfected, interest in that same
collateral. Because the Banks need not take the legal steps necessary to perfect, they typically

place a general, or "blanket," lien on most or all of a member's mortgage assets. If the member

fails, the combination of the superlien and blanket lien places a Federal Home Loan Bank in a

position superior to other secured creditors who have not perfected their interests. Repealing the

superlien would restore maiicet discipline by increasing the Banks' incentives to distinguish among
their members with regard to credit risk. This in turn would reduce risk to the deposit insurance

fimd and taxpayers.

For the same reasons, we believe that the Committee should consider repealing a provision
of current law that requires the federal banking agencies to provide confidential bank examination

ratings to the Federal Home Loan Banks. No other lender possesses this information. We believe

that GSEs, just like any other private sector financial institution, should not have access to

confidential governmental examination data.

H.R. 3703 provides new authority to appoint a receiver to resolve a troubled GSE. This

provision grants the GSE regulator powers comparable to other regulators of government chartered

companies. For example, the Comptroller of the Currency can appoint a receiver for national

banks. The availability of this authority would contribute to market discipline and enhance

stability in the event there were ever a market strain.

Increasing Transparency

H.R. 3703 contains several provisions that increase transparency.

The bill allows the regulator to make public information that it determines would increase

the efficiency of the secondary mortgage market or the housing finance system. This provision
could enhance transparency. In crafting such language, however, it would be appropriate to

recognize that some data is proprietary and may not be appropriate for public disclosure.

The bill also requires the GSEs to obtain an annual credit rating from nationally recognized
statistical rating organizations. Such ratings could improve transparency and market discipline by

giving investors an independent view of the GSEs' financial condition. It would also be a useful

outside tool for the regulator. In determining such ratings, the bill specifically requires the ratings

agencies to consider that the United States government does not guarantee the GSEs' obligations.

Current law authorizes OFHEO to obtain ratings. We believe this proposal is an improvement over

current law, as it requires annual ratings and specifically sets a standard for such ratings.
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Promoting Market Competition

H.R. 3703 also contains provisions that are designed to preserve market competition,

reducing the potential for subsidized competitors to distort financial markets. Limiting the new
activities of the GSEs also has the potential to limit their scale.

The bill sets up a mechanism whereby the regulator would have authority to approve new
activities. We have some concern that the notice and comment procedures for such approvals

could interfere with the ability of the enterprises to innovate, while leaving the regulator to interpret

a rather vague standard. We believe that it is appropriate for Congress, the chartering authority, to

provide clear guidance about what activities the enterprises' charters allow and how broadly they
should be interpreted. For example, to what extent does Congress wish the GSEs to expand from

their current housing fmance business into general consumer finance or mortgage origination?

Limiting the non-mission investments of the housing GSEs could also increase their focus

on mission-related activities. Such an action could enhance accountability for the GSEs' benefits,

and improve market competition.

Other Restrictions

Ejqx)sure Limits

The bill highlights an important issue - the potential for problems at one financial

institution to cause instability in the financial markets or at other institutions. As I noted earlier,

GSE debt obligations are exempt from banks' investment securities limits. We believe that

Congress should seriously consider the best way to repeal such exceptions, including a sufficient

transition period to prevent any market disruption.

Further Regulatory Authorily

H.R. 3703 also addresses the regulatory structure for the GSEs. We believe that there is an

appropriate regulatory oversight role with respect to the GSEs. First, oversight is appropriate to

determine whether government sponsored enterprises carry out their public mission, as Assistant

Secretary Apgar will later explain. Second, there is also a role for oversight of their financial

condition. Such regulatory role should reflect, however, the fact that GSEs are private sector firms

with uninsured liabilities.

We believe that any regulator charged with oversight of the financial condition of the GSEs
must have a clearly defined and limited mandate. The bill grants the GSE regulator greater

flexibility in setting capital standards than current law permits. We support such flexibility, though

Congress may wish to provide the regulator greater guidance on the goals of capital regulation in

the GSE context.

We believe that the standard for regulation and the tools available to the regulator are issues

of primary importance. But the identity of the regulator is important as well. We agree with you.
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Mr. Chainnan, that it may be appropriate to have common regulators for the three housing GSEs.

We also believe that supervision ofGSEs should be a duty of the Executive Branch of govenunent,

which is charged with economic policy, including banking and housing policy. Responsibility for

regulating financial condition could be placed with an agency responsive to those in the Executive

Branch who oversee the soundness of the financial system. Experts in housing could supervise

mission.

That said, we would not wish for regulatory reform to interfere with current efforts by

existing regulators. For example, we support the efforts of the Ofiice of Federal Housing

Enterprise Oversight to finalize its risk-based capital rule and the Department of Housing and

Urban Development to finalize its affordable housing goals. Any regulatory consolidation should

allow this effort to be completed without interruption.

In any regulatory scheme, there may be important interactions between regulating mission

and regulating financial condition. Congress can best balance these interests by giving the

regulators clear guidance as to the mission of the GSEs and the standard for regulatory oversight.

Furthermore, although the three housing GSEs share a common overall goal
-

increasing the

availability of credit for housing
- the charter of the Federal Home Loan Banks mandates a

different business fi'om the charter of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. Each GSE should be focused

on those market failures they were intended to solve. By clearly specifying the mission of each

GSE and the regulatory standards for their financial health, Congress can best promote housing

finance while providing for financial regulation for these GSEs.

Conclusion

Mr. Chairman, the economy and the financial markets are strong. With no particular

problems on the horizon, this is an ideal time to review the supervision and regulation of the GSEs.

The GSEs play a central role in the nation's housing finance and debt markets. Thus, your

Committee is providing a valuable service by thinking through the best framework for supervision

and regulation of these enterprises. These are important matters of public policy that require

balanced, thoughtful review by all interested parties.

-30-
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APPENDIX A

The following benefits ofGSE status are contained in the GSEs' charter acts and other laws:

• Their debt and mortgage-backed securities are exempt from r^stration with the Securities and

Exchange Commission.

• The GSEs are exempt from state and local corporate income taxes.

• The GSEs have a line of credit from the Treasury that authorizes Treasury to purchase up to

$2.25 billion of Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's obligations and up to $4 billion of the Federal

Home Loan Bank System's obligations.

• Banks are permitted to make unlimited investments in GSEs' debt securities, whereas there are

limits placed on their investments in any other company's debt securities.

• GSE securities are eligible as collateral for public deposits and for loans from Federal Reserve

Banks and Federal Home Loan Banks.

• GSE securities are lawfril investments for federal fiduciary and public funds.

• GSEs are authorized to use Federal Reserve Banks as their fiscal agents, including issuing and

transferring their securities through the book-entry system maintained by the Federal Reserve.
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Chaimian Baker and members of the subcommittee, my name is William Apgar
and I am the Assistant Secretary for Housing/Federal Housing Commissioner at the U.S.

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD). I am pleased to be here today
on behalf ofHUD Secretary Andrew Cuomo, and would like to thank you for the

opportunity to testify on the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act, H.R. 3703.

To place my comments today into perspective, I will offer a briefsummary of

HUD's current regulatory activities as they relate to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

Under the leadership of Secretary Andrew Cuomo, HUD has achieved a solid record as

an effective regulator. Even so, more could be done to enhance the oversight of these two

entities. To the extent that provisions in H.R. 3703 strengthen regulatory oversight of the

Government Sponsored Enterprises, or GSEs, they merit careful consideration. More
effective regulation will help ensure that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, as well as the

Federal Home Loan Banks, are achieving their public purposes as mandated by

Congress.

HUD's CURRENT OVERSIGHT IS EFFECTIVE

Recognizing that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac enjoy tremendous advantages over

their private sector competitors the Department is actively involved in ensuring that

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac achieve their public responsibilities. Under the leadership

ofHUD Secretary Cuomo, HUD has recently proposed substantial increases in the

affordable housing goals, initiated a major review of Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's

automated underwriting systems, and stepp>ed-up its oversight of the GSEs' non-mortgage
investment portfolios. Let me review our accomplishments in these and other areas with

you.

Proposed Increases to Affordable Housing Goals

In July 1999, Secretary Cuomo announced a plan to increase Fannie Mae's and

Freddie Mac's affordable housing goals. The higher goals, announced after a period of

extensive consultations with Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, will require the two
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enterprises to purchase $2.4 trillion in mortgages over the next 10 years, providing
affordable housing for about 28.1 million low- and moderate-income families. The

higher levels for the three Congressionally mandated goals will increase their mortgage

purchases by $488.3 billion over the next 10 years, providing affordable housing for

seven million more low- and moderate-income families than they currently serve. The

rule proposing the increased housing goal levels was published in the Federal Register on

March 9, 2000 and conrunents are due to the Department by May 8, 2000.

The substantially higher goals will require that at least half of all of Fannie Mae's

and Freddie Mac's mortgage purchases will benefit families of low- and moderate-

income. Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have been successful in meeting their housing

goal requirements in the past, yet their share of the affordable housing market is

substantially smaller than their share of the total conventional conforming market. Lower

income families, certain minorities, central-city residents, and immigrant populations

continue to be underserved by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. These new more

challenging goal levels will close the gap between the GSEs' performance and the

opportunities available in the primary markets.

For example, in 1997, the GSEs purchased mortgages financing 39 percent of all

owner occupied and rental units available in the market, but only 30 percent of the units

available to low- and moderate-income families, 24 percent of the special affordable units

available in the market, and 33 percent of the units located in underserved areas.

Additionally, when GSE mortgage purchases are analyzed by property type, it

becomes clear that the GSEs' purchases of mortgages on multifamily properties,

particularly small multifamily properties, lag those that are available for them to purchase

from the conventional mortgage market. The GSEs' market share for single-family

owner units was 49 percent, for single family rental properties 13 percent, for small

multifamily properties (5-50 units) 2 percent and for large multifamily properties 34

percent. This analysis indicates there is substantial room for growth, particularly in the

areas of single-family rental properties and small multifamily properties
-
properties that

traditionally provided significant housing opportunities for low- and moderate- income

families.

Fair Lending Review of Automated Underwriting Systems

This past year HUD initiated the first review by Goverrunent of Fannie Mae's and

Freddie Mac's underwriting and appraisal guidelines. This is a massive and historic

undertaking. The Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of

1992 (FHEFSSA) requires HUD to review these guidelines periodically to ensure that the

GSEs' do not discriminate and are consistent with the Fair Housing Act and FHEFSSA.

Moreover, in light of the importance of the GSEs' underwriting standards and the growth
of their automated systems in determining whether many families actually realize the

dream of homeownership, this review is timely and essential. Unlike most other areas of
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GSE mission regulation for which I have been delegated lead responsibility by the

Secretary, primary responsibility for this effort and for Fair Lending regulation of the

GSEs is assigned within HUD to the Assistant Secretary for Fair Housing and the

General Counsel.

The GSEs' underwriting and appraisal guidelines are the standards that lenders use to

determine whether the GSEs will purchase a borrower's mortgage and allow the borrower

to receive the most favorable interest rates available in the conventional mortgage market.

Within the last five years, both GSEs have separately introduced automated underwriting

systems (AUS) that computerize the GSEs' guidelines. Although the GSEs' AUS are

relatively new, they are rapidly becoming the prevailing means by which borrowers are

approved for conventional conforming mortgages.

While virtually everyone agrees that this new technology is making the process of

obtaining home financing faster and possibly cheaper, little is known yet on whether

these systems are helping all prospective borrowers, particularly minority borrowers,

obtain mortgages on favorable terms. Today, minorities are underrepresented in the

mortgage market. They are less likely to obtain mortgage financing and less likely to

receive loans on as favorable terms as whites. HUD has determined that the GSEs have

purchased proportionately fewer loans for AfHcan-American and Hispanic borrowers

than are originated in the overall private mortgage market. The HUD underwriting

review will assess whether Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are in fiill compliance with Fair

Lending requirements and identify whether it is possible to adapt GSEs' underwriting to

expand minority mortgage lending.

Early last year, HUD requested extensive information fi-om both GSEs on how the

underwriting systems were developed and how they work, including how their

"scorecards" fimction in deciding which borrowers will be accepted. HUD also requested

extensive computerized data on the characteristics of the millions of loans that were

processed by the GSEs' automated systems since 1995 in order to examine how

borrowers and potential borrowers were actually treated by the systems.

The GSEs have submitted a large volume of information and data in response to

HUD's request much of which the GSEs indicate is highly confidential or proprietary

business information. HUD expects that it will be able to provide the first results of its

review within 6 months, and that it will complete the review by the end of this year.

New Program Reviews

HUD's new program review and approval responsibility is an integral part of the

Department's regxilatory fi-amework. Considerable resources are being made available

within the Department to ensure that new activities are identified, analyzed, and, if

appropriate, reviewed as new programs. HUD monitors tlie GSEs' business activities on

an on-going basis and recently requested information on a number of their initiatives
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including their mortgage insurance initiatives and their various internet activities which

involve the delivery of various mortgage services and products over the internet through a

variety of partnerships and joint ventures.

Neither GSE takes the view that these activities constitute "new programs" as

defined in current law, and they did not submit them to HUD for approval prior to

introducing them in the market. HUD, through its regulatory authority, requested

comprehensive information on these activities to determine independently if, in fact, they
constitute new programs. This information was recently submitted to HUD by the GSEs
and HUD staff are reviewing the material to make these determinations.

Non-Mortgage Investments

The Department increased its oversight activities in the area of non-mortgage
investments several years ago. HUD issued an Advance Notice of Proposed Rulemaking
on the subject. In addition, the Department now regularly receives and analyzes quarterly

reports from Farmie Mae and Freddie Mac on their non-mortgage investment portfolios.

HUD also engaged a contractor to study on this issue. The research report will assist the

Department by identifying and analyzing various policy options to consider in

determining the most appropriate regulatory approach to take with regard to the GSEs'

non-mortgage investments. HUD expects to receive the final report very shortly and will

actively analyze and consider its findings.

Availability of Public Information on GSE Activities

Educating the public about the GSE activities in order to assist the public in

evaluating those activities is another area regulatory responsibility that HUD actively

carries out. Each year since 1993, HUD has released a public use data base containing
loan level information on Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's mortgage purchases. The
March 9 proposed affordable housing goals rule also contains certain rule changes in the

classification of the GSEs' mortgage data. These changes would classify data in a

manner more compatible with loan information reported by primary lenders under the

Home Mortgage Disclosure Act (HMDA). Greater consistency between these two

important data sources will increase the comparability and therefore, the usefiilness of

the GSE public use data base.

In addition, HUD recently determined that certain cross tabulations ofGSE data

are not proprietary even if they were aggregated fi-om loan level elements that are

identified as proprietary. HUD believes that when certain information is aggregated at

national and certain regional levels it loses its proprietary characteristics and should be

made available publicly. HUD is continuing to identify whether certain other

aggregations of data should be made publicly available.
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OFHEO's Risk-Based Capital Rules

The Office of Federal Housing Enterprises Oversight (OFHEO) functions as an

independent office within HUD. As the safety and soundness regulator for the GSEs,
OFHEO was mandated by Congress to develop a risk based capital rule for Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac. OFHEO's proposed rule described a comprehensive model to use for

determining the appropriate level of capital the GSEs must hold. The comment period for

the proposed rule ended earlier this month and we expect that a final rule will be

published within the next year.

EXISTING STRUCTURE WORKS WELL

The existing regulatory structure governing Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac -v^Wch

separates the mission and safety and soundness regulatory functions but creates

mechanisms for consultation and coordination — allows for a careful balancing of public

policy needs with legitimate safety and soundness considerations. Congress understood

this in 1992 when it created the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight or

OFHEO, as an independent agency ofHUD responsible for the safety and soundness of

the enterprises and charged the HUD Secretary with mission oversight. At the same time,

we recognize that for the long haul, revisions to the existing regulatory structure may be

necessary to keep pace with changing market conditions.

By placing regulation of Faimie Mae and Freddie Mac under the jurisdiction of

HUD, Congress recognized that this significant regulatory function merited cabinet level

emphasis that would ensure that there was an integrated and coordinated housing policy

for the nation. At the same time, OFHEO's role as the safety and soundness regulator

was designed to be sensitive to the GSEs' critical housing missions. While OFHEO was

designed to be independent. Congress recognized the importance ofOFHEO maintaining
a link with HUD to ensure that the safety and soundness regulation interfaced with the

GSEs' programmatic missions.

After seven years of experience, we can affirm that the current structure between

HUD and OFHEO is working, as intended by Congress. HUD and OFHEO frequently

communicate on issues ofcommon interest. Most recently, the two organizations worked

closely to ensure that the two proposed rules issued recently by HUD and OFHEO - the

affordable housing goals and the risk-based capital requirement -were consistent and

coordinated.

With regard to the Federal Housing Finance Board, I am the Secretary's

Representative on the Finance Board. I am in contact with staff or other Finance Board

members regularly. The overlap in my responsibility on the Finance Board with my
responsibility for regulating the mission of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac allows for the

Administration to have critical input on housing policy issues of the Finance Board and
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allows for coordination of mission oversight activities between both agencies where

appropriate.

HOUSING FINANCE REGULATORY IMPROVEMENT ACT - H.R. 3703

H.R. 3703 includes a number of helpful elements for GSE regulation that are

worthy of careful consideration. HUD Secretary Cuomo and I look forward to working
with the Chairman and the Committee to make needed improvements in mission

regulation that will further the GSEs' public purposes. Three items in the bill that would

strengthen HUD's mission oversight are those that provide for (1) authority to assess the

GSEs for the cost of regulation including mission regulation outside of the appropriations

process; (2) strengthened authority to review new program activities; and (3) additional

legislative direction for limiting non-mortgage investments.

Assessing the GSEs for the Cost of Regulation (Sec. 105)

HUD supports the principle that the GSEs' should pay for the full cost of their

regulation including mission regulation.

It is important to recognize that Congress gave HUD specific responsibilities for

mission oversight of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac that are separate from the other areas

of the Department's responsibilities with regard to housing. For example, the fair lending

provisions of the GSE Act go beyond the standard enforcement of the Fair Housing Act.

Adequate resources need to be devoted to mission oversight if it is to be fully effective.

New Program Review Authoritv (Sec. 1 10)

The Department also supports the principle of strengthening and clarifying the

approval authority for new activities of the enterprises. The Secretary currently has

authority to review new programs of the GSEs under its new program authority and

ongoing activities of the GSEs under the Department's general regulatory authority. But

unquestionably, the provisions in this section would further clarify these authorities and

change the standard for review by requiring the regulator to affirmatively conclude that

the GSE activities are in the public interest.

Even so, this provision may be too limited since it does not expressly permit the

regulator to review activities except those that are connected, or related, to mortgages.
For example, the proposal does not address instances where the GSEs pursue new diverse

activities that are asserted by the GSEs to fall within their existing charter authority to

invest. While these activities are addressed under the Government's current general

regulatory authority, H.R. 3703 does not expressly authorize the regulator to review such

activities.
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HUD reserves judgment on the advisability of Federal Register public notice of

proposed new activities. While providing interested parties with an opportunity to

comment, we have some concerns that the procedure may be too unwieldy and/or tend to

stifle innovations in the mortgage market.

Non-Mortpape Investments (Sec. Ill)

HUD believes it currently has regulatory authority over the GSEs' non-mortgage

investments but welcomes clearer direction from Congress on its responsibilities and

enforcement powers in this area. Some express limitation on non-mortgage investments

may be appropriate to ensure that GSEs do not take advantage of their GSE status and

that they further their public purposes.

Fair Lending Oversight (Sec. 109)

In addition, the Department believes that its fair lending responsibilities with

regard to the GSEs are significant and unique in that there is no other regulator assessing

the GSEs' fair lending practices. With other financial institutions, banking regulators

conduct fair lending reviews as part of compliance examinations. Faimie Mae and

Freddie Mac scrutiny comes fix)m HUD. Given the significant role the GSEs play in the

mortgage market, it is important that their underwriting practices are reviewed to ensure

that they are consistent with the fair lending laws.

For this reason, it is critical that the current fair lending enforcement authority

governing the GSEs not be weakened. As we read H.R. 3703, responsibility for the fair

lending provisions contained in FHEFSSA would be retained by HUD, but the power to

enforce this responsibility, which currently resides with OFHEO, would be transferred to

the new entity. Such a provision fragments fair lending responsibility for the GSEs and

thereby hampers the Government's ability to carry out this critical frinction.

OTHER MATTERS WORTHY OF CONSIDERATION

With regard to the provisions of H.R. 3703 that govern the elimination of the

GSEs' line of credit with the U.S. Treasury, the conforming loan limit governing the

upper limit on the mortgages the GSEs can purchase, and the release of information on

the GSEs activities, the Department does not take a specific position but raises several

issues for consideration.

Treasury Line of Credit (Sec. 136)

As part of their Congressional Charters, the two enterprises, receive significant

benefits that are not enjoyed by any other shareholder-owned corporations in the

mortgage market These benefits include access to the $2.25 billion line of credit from

the U.S. Treasury, exemption fit)m the securities registration requirements of the
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Securities and Exchange Commission and exemption from all State and local taxes

except property taxes. These benefits, conferred upon the GSEs by Congress, lead the

markets to provide the GSEs with advantages over wholly private companies.

Consequently, all of these benefits need to be reviewed regularly to determine their value

and continued need. We defer to the Treasury Department's testimony on whether repeal

of the line of credit would be consistent with the GSEs' Congressional status.

Release of Information (Sec. 103)

H.R. 3703 provides that the new board will make available information to the

public on the GSEs. Increased light on the GSEs' activities and financial position is

helpful. Given their status as GSEs and their market dominance, Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac should be subject to a higher standard when it comes to the release of such

information. More expansive and detailed information will allow the public to

independently determine the benefits of public sponsorship.

At the same time, the need for broad public disclosure must be carefiiUy weighed

against the GSEs' concerns about protecting proprietary or trade secrets, the release of

which could have a negative impact on their business operations and their financial

condition. HUD now has extensive experience in working with the GSEs on these

matters and would be pleased to work with the Committee to draft language that expands

public access to GSE information while at the same time protecting legitimate proprietary

interests.

Conforming Loan Limit (Sec. 1 12)

This provision governing the determination of the conforming loan limit that

establishes the upper limit on the dollar amount of an individual mortgage a GSE may

purchase appear to leave an ambiguity that has presented a problem in the past. The

conforming loan limit language does not appear to adjust for decreases as well as

increases.

Safety and Soundness Provisions

The provisions in the bill that address safety and soundness related areas, such as

the broader stress test authority, certain supervisory actions, the use of ratings agencies

and the appointment of receivers are matters within the responsibility ofOFHEO. We,

therefore, defer to OFHEO's and the Treasury Department's testimony on these topics.

CONCLUSION

In summary, HUD believes that it is a strong and effective regulator ensuring that

the regulatory responsibilities assigned to it under current law are carried out prudently.

The current regulatory structure is working well and is having a valuable impact on

affordable housing markets. But, there is more, much, much more that can and must be

done. There is a crisis in need for affordable housing and the need is growing not

diminishing. There are actions Congress can and should take to make HUD's mission

oversight more effective that will allow Americans to receive the fiill benefit of Fannie

Mae's and Freddie Mac's government sponsorship.
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Mr. Chairman, Representative Kanjorski, and Members of the Subcommittee, I

appreciate the opportunity to appear before you today to discuss H.R. 3703, the Housing
Finance Regulatory Improvement Act. The bill takes a two-track approach at improving
the regulation of government sponsored enterprises (GSEs). One track is consolidating
the regulation of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan Banks into a

new independent agency. The other track makes a number of amendments to the GSEs'
charters addressing safety, soundness and systemic risk issues.

Mr. Chairman, first I want to commend you for your ongoing commitment to

ensuring the best possible oversight of the GSEs and reiterate my support to achieving
this end. You and Representative Kanjorski have brought real leadership to GSE issues

in general and I look forward to working with you and your colleagues on the full

Conmiittee to ensure the best possible oversight structure.

As you know, since OFHEO began operating in 1993, Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac have doubled in size. The Enterprises' exposure to credit risk has doubled to over

$2 trillion. The bulk of this growth has occurred in their retained portfolio of mortgages
and mortgage-backed securities, which grew by over 350 percent. The amount of

mortgage assets on which they manage interest rate risk now exceeds $846 billion. The
need for strong oversight is more critical now than ever before.

As Congress considers the changes you have proposed, I want to assure you that

there is a very strong regulatory system already in place. OFHEO works well as the

safety and soundness regulator for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (the Enterprises). The

only shortcoming, which I will address later in my testimony, is OFHEO's lack of

financial independence.

OFHEO's top-notch examination program is an annual comprehensive, risk-based

assessment of the health and management of the Enterprises. We recently completed our

1999 examinations of the Enterprises and will be reporting our results and conclusions to

their respective Boards in the near fiiture. The results and conclusions of these

The views expressed herein are my own and do not necessarily represent the views of the Secretary of

Housing and Urban Development or the President. The Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight

(OFHEO) is an independent office within the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD)
charged with ensuring the safety and soundness of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac (the Enterprises).



173

examinations will also be communicated to Congress in June in OFHEO's Aiuiual

Report.

Also, as I'm sure you aie aware, the comment period on our risk-based capital

proposal closed on March 1 and we are currently in a "comment on comment process"
that will end in April. It is my intention to move expeditiously to a final risk-based

capital rule that will truly be state-of-the-art. In the end, the rule will be dynamic so that

it can evolve over time to reflect new products, irmovations in risk management, and new

techniques for measuring risk. This will provide the Enterprises with the flexibility to

operate their businesses while closely matching capital to risk.

In order to understand how changes in the market impact the Enterprises Jind how

changes in Enterprise operations impact the market, OFHEO also conducts sound and

authoritative research and analysis. The information and insights gained from our

research and analysis shop helps OFHEO — and Congress — become even more proactive

in its oversight of the Enterprises. This is critical given today's rapidly changing
markets.

Mr. Chairman, while the current system is working well, that doesn't mean it

can't be improved. Consolidation of the safety and soundness regulation of the housing
GSEs could lead to even stronger oversight, if done right. However, the consolidation of

mission regulation with safety and soundness regulation is not essential for OFHEO or its

successor to properly fulfill its safety and soundness responsibility. Any need OFHEO
may have to be aware of developments in mission regulation is satisfied through the open
lines of communication that exists between OFHEO and HUD. For example, OFHEO
was fiilly consulted on the development ofHUD's affordable housing rule regarding the

safety and soundness implication of the new goals.

Nor has mission regulation suffered. Secretary Cuomo and Assistant Secretary

Apgar have demonstrated their strong commitment to fulfilling HUD's mission oversight

responsibility. I have several general comments to make on H.R. 3703. In addition, as

the bill moves forward in the process, I will be happy to provide the Subcommittee with

whatever technical assistance it needs.

Strong and Independent Safety and Soimdness Oversight

The structure and authorities of the regulator created under H.R. 3703 would

maintain and, in some ways, even improve the existing strong and independent regulatory

framework for safety and soundness oversight of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. This is

ever more important, given the continued rapid growth of the Enterprises.

I am fiilly supportive of increasing the transparency of the Enterprises' operations
to the public. More disclosure would serve to increase the efficiency of the secondary

mortgage market. In addition, more complete and timely disclosure about the

Enterprises' activities and risk exposures would also help to strengthen the ability of the

market to better evaluate and price the Enterprises' securities.
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OFHEO already contributes to this process by disclosing the resiilts and

conclusions of our comprehensive risk-based examinations. And while I recognize the

need to protect proprietary Enterprise data fh>m public disclosure, OFHEO will be

looking for additional ways to increase the public's understanding of the Enterprises'

activities and risk exposures.

Consistent with this approach, the bill would require the regulator to obtain

annual credit ratings for the Enterprises from nationally recognized statistical rating

organizations. OFHEO exercised its existing authority to obtain such a rating in 1996.

With adequate funding, regular updates of this type would provide more information to

investors about the Enterprises' financial condition and would provide an additional

source of information about the Enterprises' financial condition to the regulator.

The bill also reflects prudent public policy by providing for the appointment of a

receiver for a GSE under certain circumstances, which is an important option for a

regulator and one that does not exist in current law. Under some dire circumstances,

receivership may be the most cost-effective and efficient resolution of an Enterprise's

problems. Furthermore, the absence of such provisions serves to weaken market

discipline by reinforcing the market's conviction that Enterprise securities are implicitly

guaranteed by the government.

Finally, I am fully supportive of a transparent regulator. The regulator should

report on all of its actions to Congress and to the public, and should be held accountable

for its actions. Having comprehensive reporting requirements provides a means for

Congress to have effective oversight of the regulator's activities. It also provides

meaningful discipline to the regulator in the execution of its oversight responsibilities.

Now I would like to address the regulatory structure contained in the bill.

Board Structure

The bill consolidates the current safety and soundness and mission regulatory

responsibilities ofOFHEO, HUD, and the Federal Housing Fiiumce Board into a new,

independent agency. The new agency will be managed by a five-member Board

comprised of a Chairman, two full-time Directors, and the Secretaries of Treasury and

HUD.

Mr. Chairman, I believe that a single agency head is preferable to a Board. It is

not unprecedented for independent agencies to be headed by a single individual. There

are many examples ofthis structure, including the National Aeronautics and Space
Administration (NASA) and the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). This structure

has proven to be effective and efficient

First, a single agency head focuses accountability on one individual, rather than

diffusing accountability among numerous Board members. Second, a single agency heald
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unifies day-to-day management of the agency in one person, which avoids the confusion,

dissension, and gridlock often associated with Boards. Also, a single agency head allows

the agency to move nimbly in reacting to the risks of the companies it regulates.

Transition and Effective Date

Whatever Congress decides on the final structure of the new agency, I know you
will agree that the bill should do everything possible to ensure success of the new agency.

To that end, I strongly believe that the bill's transition period needs amending.

First, the 9-month period is far too short. Also, under the bill, until at least two members

of the new Board are confirmed, authority is vested jointly in Treasury and HUD. This

seems inconsistent with the intent of providing further independence.

I recommend that the bill include a longer, more practical transition period.

During this transition period, the duties and functions of the existing agencies would be

combined into one agency, allowing the integration of the agencies before the new

agency assumes responsibility. This is especially crucial if the new agency is set up

under a Board structure, because it would allow the new Board to inherit a fially

integrated agency, rather than having to grapple with integration while also learning how

to work together.

A longer transition period will also allow OFHEO £md the Federal Housing

Finance Board to conclude the major regulations which are already in process.

Finally, this longer transition would accommodate a more orderly merging of the

technological and regulatory infrastructures of the three current agencies.

Agency Funding

Mr. Chairman, as you know, we share a view that safety and soundness regulators

need to be free of the uncertainty of the annual appropriations process and have the

flexibility to set resources in response to any rapid changes in the GSEs or the market.

That is why I wholeheartedly and enthusiastically support the bill's funding mechanism.

I feel very strongly that the current situation of subjecting OFHEO to the

appropriations process is bad public policy. That is why I have asked Congress to

remove OFHEO fi-om the annual process. This would put us on par with other safety and

soundness regulators such as the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency, the Office of

Thrift Supervision, the Federal Housing Finance Board, the Federal Reserve Board and

the National Credit Union Administration.

I wjint to be clear that this change would in no way remove OFHEO fi-om

appropriate congressional oversight. OFHEO would continue to be subject to the

oversight of this Committee and would still have to meet all annual statutory reporting

requirements. Removing OFHEO would simply provide me with the flexibility I need to
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respond quickly to changing conditions, especially a deteriorating one, of the Enterprises
or the market.

1 wemt to thank you for your support of our previous budget requests. I also want

to thank you for taking the lead on the appropriations issue. 1 hope that our combined

efforts will achieve this goal this session.

Conclusion

Mr. Chairman, I want to thank you again for the opportunity to testify this

morning. As 1 stated in my testimony, the current regulatory system is worldng well, but

that does not mean that improvements can't be made. I am committed to working with

Congress to ensure that the system for regulating the GSEs is as strong as possible.
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1. Introduction.

Good morning Mr. Chairman, and members of the subcommittee. I would like to thank

you for the opportunity to appear today to testify on the Housing Finance Regulatory

Improvement Act of 2000 (H.R. 3703). I should point out that the Board of Directors of the

Finance Board has not reviewed my testimony and it does not represent the Administration's

view or position.

I would like to preface my comments by commending you, Mr. Chairman, and Chairman

Leach for your work on this legislation that embodies the concept of a single housing-finance

GSE regulator. I would also like to thank Mr. Baker and Mr. Kanjorski, as well as Mr. Leach

and Mr. LaFalce for the vote of confidence they gave the Federal Home Loan Bank System with

their leadership in the passage of the Federal Home Loan Bank Modernization Act as part of the

Gramm-Leach-Bliley legislation in October. The legislation effectively ends the debate about

the viability of the FHLBank System and gives it the structure and tools for the new century.

The small-bank provisions in particular will greatly increase access to FHLBank liquidity

for these institutions, and allow Main Street institutions the chance to compete with Wall Street

institutions, and to serve their communities more effectively.

Let me now return to H.R. 3703. The issue of consolidating the regulators of the

housing-fmance GSEs was before this subcommittee most recently in July 1 997. At that time, I

testified that I agreed with the underlying premise of the legislation: that a single independent
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agency regulating safety and soundness and mission for Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the

Federal Home Loan Banks is preferable to the current structure. Since my views are

substantially unchanged, I have attached a copy ofmy testimony previously delivered to this

Subcommittee on July 24, 1997. My further comments presented here will expand upon those

views and discuss provisions specific to H.R. 3703.

II. Effective Mission Regulation is Central to GSE Oversight.

Congress long ago decided that promoting homeownership is desirable and worth the cost

of granting special advantages to homebuyers, such as the mortgage interest tax deduction, and

the establishment of specially advantaged GSEs to facilitate housing finance and other socially

desirable activities. In exchange for public support, the American taxpayer has the right to

expect responsible behavior by the GSEs. It is obvious that it is critically important to protect

the taxpayer from potential loss by monitoring and regulating GSE financial risk. It is also

critically important to ensure that the low cost-of-funds and other advantages entrusted to the

GSEs are well directed and ultimately reach their intended beneficiaries. There is a risk that

much of the government's benefit is absorbed as profits in the GSE conduit. Mission regulation

ensures that this valuable GSE benefit passes through to its rightful beneficiaries and makes the

difference between helping consumers and enabling corporate welfare.

GSEs are created to accomplish statutorily prescribed missions and are provided with

advantages, including state and local corporate tax exemptions and a U. S. Treasury line of

credit, which taken together produce lower cost of funds and operations. It is up to the regulator



180

to ensure a public benefit at the rightful price for that lower cost and to enforce the mission

prescribed by Congress.

Mission regulation and safety and soundness regulation are closely related. H.R. 3703

recognizes this by giving the new board authority to limit nonmission-related assets. Many

assets are perfectly safe and sound from a financial point of view. But, because the GSEs were

created for very specific purposes, only some assets are consistent with the mission of those

GSEs. A GSE may be less profitable if certain assets are prohibited and this could have safety

and soundness consequences. A combined safety and soundness and mission regulator can

weigh the tradeoffs between profit and mission suitability to determine the proper policy much

more safely and efficiently than can two separate regulators where the responsibilities for safety

and soundness and mission are housed in different agencies.

Some in the GSE community believe that mission regulation should be left entirely to

congressional oversight, but I believe that is unworkable. As much as we would like statutes to

unambiguously prescribe behavior in every circumstance, the reality is that financial sector

regulators face questions of statutory interpretation on an almost daily basis. Legislation alone

can never be nimble enough to handle the day-to-day realities of regulating multi-billion dollar

businesses.

Additionally, the best way to ensure that the GSE benefit is passed through to consumers

is to create a structure where market competition forces the distribution of subsidy through the

GSE conduit. A single regulator for the housing GSEs would facilitate this by creating a level
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playing field for the three GSEs and by design create equalizers such as competitive capital

levels and competitive product authorizations. H.R. 3703 allows for this by specifying a

common new activity approval process for the three GSEs.

I recommend the FHFB's pilot approval process as a model. Starting in mid- 1995, the

Finance Board encouraged the FHLBanks to engage in activities aimed at improving housing

fmance and community lending opportunities in their respective districts through limited scale,

and therefore limited risk, pilot programs. The most visible success resulting from this initiative

is the Mortgage Partnership Finance (MPF) product developed by the FHLBank of Chicago. The

Finance Board's role was to ensure oversight of safety and soundness, legality, and mission

suitability, and to require appropriate control, regulatory review, and examination procedures at

all stages of development.

111. GSE Oversight Requires Independence in its Regulator.

Regardless of the particular structure ofGSE regulation, certain characteristics are crucial

if independent regulatory judgments are to be made. H.R. 3703 contains some improvements in

this area, but could do more.

The proposed legislation removes the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise and

Oversight from the appropriations process. I fully endorse this provision. OFHEO is dependent

on Congress to set the formula for its funding, a process that could prevent the agency from
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responding rapidly to emerging problems, and limits its flexibility and resources in ensuring that

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are operated safely under changing economic scenarios.

The proposed legislation also calls for the President to designate an appointed director to

serve as chairperson of the board, with this privilege expiring with a change of administrations. I

would favor a provision to allow the chairman to be nominated by the President and confirmed

by the Senate as chairperson for the duration of his or her term. Such a provision would increase

the independence and credibility of the new board and add prestige to the position, which would,

I think, result in more effective regulation of the GSEs.

I also recommend expanding the board from five to seven members. The

Administration is amply represented by HUD and Treasury. An expanded board would allow for

a more diversified view and a wider range of expertise. The positions other than the Chairman

should be part-time. This not only saves money in salaries, but it also encourages more

prominent and experienced individuals to accept these positions than would normally be the case

given the sacrifices of full-time government service.

IV. Avoid Rawing GSE Costs Without Benefit.

Some aspects of H.R. 3703 acknowledge the reality that the government has created

special GSE benefits which must be safely administered and directed toward public benefit.

Other provisions seem intended to reduce the benefit, but do not achieve any real reduction in

public sector risk. Such changes impose costs without real benefits.
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H.R. 3703 would eliminate the so-called "superlien" that is granted by statute to the

FHLBanks. I believe this would impose a cost on the FHLBanks which could raise prices to

members with no real benefit.

The superlien was created by Congress under the Competitive Equality of Banking Act of

1987. This provided that any security interest granted by a member to a FHLBank would be

entitled to priority over the claims and rights of any other party, including the Federal Deposit

Insurance Corporation (FDIC) as a receiver or conservator. The only exception is with regard to

claims of other creditors of a member that have been secured by a more senior perfected security

interest. Prior to 1987, the FHLBanks could achieve the same priority status by perfecting their

security interest in specific assets of the member, but doing so would have been time consuming,

cumbersome, and expensive. But since the FHLBanks and the insurer of most of their members,

the Federal Savings and Loan Insurance Corporation (FSLIC), were both under the control of the

Federal Home Loan Bank Board, there was little concern over competition between the two in

liquidations.

If the superlien were eliminated, the FHLBanks would be forced to perfect their security

interests on an asset-by-asset basis rather than using a "blanket lien" as they do for most of their

lending today. The expense of this process would not result in any benefit to the FDIC insurance

funds, because the perfected security interests of the FHLBanks still would be entitled to a

priority over the claims of other creditors, including those of the FDIC.
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As deposits are disintermediated from banking institutions to the capital markets,

FHLBank advances serve to recapture those funds and return them to local use. It would seem

that a member bank's use of safe and nonvolatile FHLBank advances would be preferable to

relying on brokered deposits and other sources of "hot money" that caused the industry and the

taxpayer so much grief in the past. Borrowing from the FHLBanks should remain as efficient and

inexpensive as possible.

The proposed legislation also would eliminate the lines-of-credit the GSEs have with the

U. S. Treasury. This, I believe, would send a wrong message to purchasers ofGSE debt.

Granted, the $4 billion FHLBank System line of credit is insignificant when viewed in the

context of the $500+ billion in outstanding obligations of the System. But, the line-of-credit now

exists and it contributes to the lower funding costs supplied by capital market pricing of

FHLBank System consolidated obligations. Removal of the line-of-credit could adversely affect

these costs with no reciprocal reduction in government exposure. These increased costs will

raise the prices of FHLBank products.

That concludes my testimony for today. I will be happy to answer any questions you

may have. Thank you.
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Good momine >.!r Chairman. Congressman KaniorsKi ana omer Memoers oi the

Subcommittee. Niv name is Bruce A Mornson. ana I am Chairman or' the Federal Housing

Finance Board I welcome tne ooponunitv to appear oetbre vou toaay to testiiv regarding the

recent reoon otthe General Accounting OtTice on tne aavantages and disaavantages ot'creaung a

single housing GSE regulator Please note mat the views 1 express wiii be my own: this statement

has not been reviewea bv the Boara ot" Directors of the Finance Boara It does not reoresem a

tatement oi Administration Dosition or •. lews

At the outset. I wish to thank ail of vou for your suppon of the Federal Home Loan Bank

Act amendments that are included in the Financial Services Competition Act of 1997, H.R. 10. In

panicuiar. I warmly and strongly commend Chairman Baker and Mr Kanjorski for their

leadership and skill in developing and successtlilly advocating the adoption of these amendments.

The Federal Home Loan Bank System is tinanciaily strong and has a long and positive track

record of service to its members and the communities thev serve However, like other financial

services providers, the System needs to adapt to changing conditions The amendments address

the need for a strengthenea capital structure, make membership hjlly voluntary, remove the

regulator trom inappropnate involvement in the Bank governance process, rationalize the

REFCORP burden, and recognize the useJulness and appropriateness of a broader Bank System

as a wholesale funding mechanism for commuiuty banks. The amendments, if enacted, would

empower the FHLBanks to be active and effective in meeting community credit needs in the next

centurv
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rumina to the G.\0 repon. 1 wish tirsi to note tnat. in my view, it is aiwavs timely tor

Congress to review Executive Brancn structures in an eifort to acmeve cost savings and

operauonai efficiencies. Such reviews cenainiv should not oe conrined to times ot'cnsis. Indeed,

the tact that there currentlv is no signiiicam oroblem. much less anv cnsis. aifeaing the retmlation

of the housing GSEs should contnbute to a more measured approach to evaluating the ments of

the consolidation being proposed.

Conceptuaily, I am in accord with the premise of the GAO repon that a single independent

agency regulating safety and soundness and mission for Fannie Mae. Freddie Mac and the

FHLBanks is preferable to the current structure. .\nd, it is likely that some cost savings ultiinately

could be realized through such an agency consolidation as redundant positions were eliminated.

We have not attempted to quantify such possible savings, but I expect they would be modest,

given the small size of the existing agencies. As the repon correctly notes, there would be some

transitional costs associated with a merger, as well as some operational disruption stemming irom

the general employee anxiety accompanying such situations, and the need for internal

restructunng. I doubt the transitional cost or disruption would be significant.

The central question for this Committee to consider is whether consolidation will yield

more eifective regulation. I believe that the answer is "yes". Regulatory effectiveness would be

enhanced at a number of different levels. The consolidated agency's larger mission would make it

a more interesting place for employees, thus helping to attract and retain high-quality
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protessionais. It would bnng tne aaency a broaaer woriang kjiowiedge or the mongage tinance

marketoiace that is the toundation or" the operations or" the housing GSEs ana their members and

customers. Most imponantiv. as GAO points out. the broader rmx or" competitive entities to be

regulated would enhance tne maeoenaence or the oversight process, panicuiariy in evaluating the

competitive etfeas or" reguiatorv decisions, and assure, to the extent possible, more evenhanded

regulatory treatment The net result should be more etfective. consistent regulation.

As a structural matter. 1 believe GAO outlines preciseiv the nght approach to take in

advocating the unrncation or reguiatorv responsibilities tor ensuring both mission compliance and

safety and soundness of the regulated entities .My experience at the Finance Board has convinced

me that a urufied mission and safety and soundness regime offers the most appropriate way to

administer a regulatory Iramework. .A bifurcated approach necessanly will require greater staffing

levels and more expense without any assurance that it will yield improved results. In

circumstances where there is no conflict between safety and soundness and mission regulation,

there is no reason to place responsibiiitv for them in separate places. Where there is a conflict,

separation only invites making the balancing of the two policy objectives more awkward and less

precise. Instead of one Board or Administrator, who is thoroughly familiar with the competing

priorities, making a balanced judgment, the conflict must be negotiated between regulators,

offering the regulated entities the opportunity to play one regulator off against the other.

Before leaving this point, let me stress my conviaion that it is entirely necessary and

appropriate for the regulator of a government sponsored enterpnse to oversee that GSE's mission
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-.ompiiance GSEs are creaiea lo accomoiish statuton.' prescnoea cuiDoses ana are orovided with

ipeciai onviieges. sucn as tix exemotions ana a L S Treasurv line or creait. that create an imoiied

r'ederai government backing lor their ooligaiions In extenaing these oeneiits. ii nas been standard

Congressionai praaice to authonze eacn GSEs regulator to make sure that the regulated

insutution is doing wnat it .vas createa to ao That this is as it should be mav seem entirely clear

to vou. but 1 note trom the GAO report that some in the GSE commuiurv believe that mission

regulation should be left entirely to Congressionai oversight, a wholly inaopropnate structure

except to those seeiung to minimize tneir cuoiic ooligations

Some claim that regulatory bifurcation comes to us as a lesson oi the thrift cnsis. If so, it

is a lesson that has been very unevenly applied, as all the federal banking regulators, including the

Office of Thrift Supervision, have imponant mission responsibilities
~

extending beyond

chartenng to Community Reinvestment Act and consumer disclosure compliance matters — as

well as salety and soundness duties. In fact, I suggest that the real structural lesson of the thrift

debacle is that the lob of admirustenng federal deposit insurance is sufficiently large and important

that It should remain independent trom unrelated regulatory duties. I find unsupponable the thesis

that the events leading to the thrift cnsis point to the need for a biftircated. OFHEO/HUD-style

approach to GSE regulation It would be untbrtunate if one of the ultimate negative consequences

of the thrift cnsis were mistaken lessons leading to inappropnate regulatory structures.

GAO in my view is correct on the issue of independence. In the case of the housing

GSEs. independence would be a considerable virtue. The regulated entiues in question are
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economically ana poiiticaiiv powenui organizations tnat can oe expecied to maKe unusually

strong, continuing etfons to aifect tneir reguiatorv treatment Placing resoonsibility tor their

oversignt in an indeoenaent agencv oifers tne regulator imcortant insulation irom political

pressures, while orfenng Admimstration poiicvmaKcrs some aetacnment irom controversies which

otherwise would invite traae-otfs with other concerns and pnonties.

I agree with GAO on tne general Domt that indeoenaent. arms-lengtn regulation requires a

structure where ousmess governance is riiilv deiegaiea to tne reguiated entities In the case of the

FHLBank System, the Finance Boara aireaav is delegating these matters to the extent allowable

by statute. I have already mentioned that H R 10 would complete this lob by tully removing the

Finance Board from governance as opposed to regulatory issues.

While I thus agree with GAO on the need to distinguish between regulation and bustness

governance. I disagree with GAO's assertion that the Finance Board's appointment of the public

interest directors of the FHLBanks compromises this agencv's ability to be an arms-length

regulator of the Banks. This is a highly theoreucai point. In praaice. there simply is no instance

of which I am aware of the Finance Board or its predecessor seeking to steer the management

direaion of the Banks through seleaion of public interest directors. Frankly, the rulemaking and

supervisory processes would offer the regulator a vastly easier and more effective way to

influence Bank policy than would the appointment of public interest directors, who enjoy four

year terms (often outlasting the terms of the appointing Finance Board members) and can be

dismissed only for cause. Public interest direaors are an appropnate feature for a GSE, and I
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believe there is areat ment in Keeoing meir aDpoinimeni at me regulator levei. as the regulator nas

a sironB, ovemdina interest :r. -.aentitving ana seiectma individuais with bacKgrounds and

personalities that wiii add reai sirengtn to tne boaras or" the Banks Presiaemial aopomtment

exchanges theoretical inaeoenaence ror tne intrusion or political considerations wnolly

unconnected to enhancing the ouolic interest perspective on the boaras.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my remarKS. 1 will be happy to answer any quesuons you

may have.

Thank vou.
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Chairman Leach and other members of the

Subcommittee for allowing me, as one of three Directors of the Federal Housing Finance

Board, this opportunity to offer my comments on the "Housing Finance Regulatory

Improvement Act of 2000". My comments are my own, and not that of the other

members of the Federal Housing Finance Board.

For the reasons listed in my testimony before this subcommittee on July 24, 1997,

a persuasive argument can be made to allow the two housing-related government

sponsored enterprises to continue to exist as separate entities. Those two reasons were: 1)

the mission and safety and soundness of the Federal Home Loan Bank System are

currently well-regulated together by the Federal Housing Finance Board. The System has

not experienced a credit loss since its creation in 1932, and the System continues to

successfully meet its public purpose. In other words, as 1 stated in my prior testimony,

"if it isn't broken, don't fix it." 2) Creating a single government sponsored enterprise

violates the GAO criterion of the separation of the primary and secondary maricet
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regulation. Keeping the oversight of these public missions separate is a healthy policy to

maintain for effective regulation.

In addition, another reason to allow the entities to exist separately is found in their

inherent differences. The secondary markets are centralized in nature while the Federal

Home Loan Bank System is entirely decentralized with its 7,000 members throughout the

United States. To try to regulate two such different bodies - the secondary

market/centralized entities and a primary market/decentralized entity
- under one

regulator may be counterproductive.

If, however, the U.S. Congress decides to consolidate the housing-related

government sponsored enterprises under the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement

Act of 2000, the following are my concerns:

1) If enacted. Section 101 which establishes a 5 ftill-time member board, including

the Secretary ofHUD and the Secretary of the Treasury
- - could end 67 years of

independence for the regulator of the Federal Home Loan Bank System. Given

the System's glorious history through some rather tumultuous times, I think the

regulator's independence from the Administration has served the United States

well. I strongly feel that having three out of five Board Members who are not

private citizens impairs the mandated independence of the Board. I prefer the

status quo that allows for a Board independent of the Administration, especially

since safety and soundness are not, and should not be partisan issues.

2) If enacted, Section 1 1 1 which establishes a limitation on non-mission related

assets— could pose serious problems for the liquidity and the membership of the

System during an economic downturn. Care must be taken not to straightjacket
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the FHLBanks in the belief that the current economic prosperity will continue

indefinitely. Section 1 1 1
, as written, does not provide flexibility for the Federal

Home Lx>an Banks to maintain liquidity in the event of an economic crisis.

3) If enacted. Section 1 38 which eliminates the super-lien priority for the Federal

Home Loan Banks over the assets of a member financial institution that fails—
could pose serious problems for the Federal Home Loan Bank System. Care must

be taken not to destabilize the Federal Home Loan Bank System while removing

the super-lien.

In conclusion, I believe the current method of separately regulating the housing-

related government sponsored enterprises has fared well for the Federal Home Loan Bank

System, a system that continues to successfully meet its public purpose without ever

having incurred a credit loss. Maintaining separate oversight of a primary market/de-

centralized entity such as the Federal Home Loan Bank System from the oversight of the

secondary maricet/centralized entities of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac is a healthy policy

for effective regulation. If, however, the U.S. Congress should decide otherwise and the

Housing Finance Regulatory Act of 2000 becomes law, it is my hope that the Act better

addresses the three above-listed concerns.
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On behalf of the Subcommittee. 1 would like to welcome Chairman Raines, Chainnan Brendsel, and

Chairman Hage and express my appreciation for their appearing before us today. Because 1 am cognizant

of each of the chairmen's valuable time, and because I hope to allow for sufficient time for questions, I

have requested limitations on all opening statements, and hence will quickly outline my objectives in

calling this hearing.

Before I begin, I believe it is essential for me, in light of increased media attention of late regarding this

legislation, to stress that the intent of the bill is no way dependent upon personal matters; it should be

common knowledge that I have the utmost respect for the professionalism of each of the housing GSE
chairmen, and I trust that by working within an atmosphere of mutual respect we may all further our

understanding of these complex issues.

I would add. with equal importance, that I have always been and continue to be completely supportive of

the mission that Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan Banks fulfill. Hence, 1 believe it

is in all our best interests to gauge today how best any reform effort will enhance and not diminish the

secondary mortgage market.

The purpose of today's hearing is to engage, I hope, in a constructive dialogue about matters of great

importance. The subject we take up today relates solely to the housing GSEs, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac,

and the Federal Home Loan Banks, and not to any other industry and not to any other entity that may
have ties to the federal government.

The legislation at hand is designed to consolidate, strengthen, and increase regulatory oversight of the

three housing GSEs in order to enhance transparency and market discipline with regard to the housing

GSEs and thus avoid and reduce problems related to both systemic and taxpayer risk.

It has been suggested of late that the best litmus test for any reform initiative is to make sure that the end

result of the initiative is good for home owners. I agree completely, and would add that the initiative
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should also be seen as providing some significant good for American taxpayers. And since every single

homeowner, to my icnowledge, is also a taxpayer, these two ends are not, and should not be perceived to

be, mutually exclusive.

My interest in these issues dates back at least five years, to the time 1 first became Chairman of the

Capital Markets Subcommittee. In that time I have conducted numerous hearings and been involved in

numerous consultations with the General Accounting Office, the Congressional Research Service, and the

Congressional Budget Office. And it is primarily their studies and proposals for more efficient oversight

that form the backbone of the legislation we discuss today.

In our first hearing, the Subcommittee heard extremely constructive testimony from the regulatory

agencies OFHEO and FHFB. The Subcommittee also received generally positive testimony from the

Treasur>' Department and the Department of Housing and Urban Development. Indeed, the

Administration's nnging approval of many of the bill's proposals give us sound reason to pursue

subsequent rounds of inquiry that we may weigh every possible perspective on these matters.

According to the Administration, the explosive level of growth of the housing GSEs, and the amount of

growth in their combined debt holdings, poses significant concern for systemic risk, risk that deserves the

fullest attention and response if Congress is to avoid passing along that risk to taxpayers.

Federal Reserve Board Chairman Alan Greenspan doubtless is on the minds of many today, and although

he has not commented directly on the issues here, I believe it is constructive to consider some of his

remarks at a May 4 meeting of the Chicago bank, when he stated;

'We must he careful not tofoster an expectation that policymakers will ultimately solve all serious

potential problems and disruptions. Such a conviction could lullfinancial institutions into believing thai

all severe episodes will be handled by their central bank and hence that their own risk-management

systems need not be relied upon. Thus, over-reliance on public policy could lead to destabilizing behavior

by market participants that would not otherwise be observed-what economists call moral hazard.

"There are many that hold the misperception that some American financial institutions are too big

tofail. I can certainly envision that in times ofcrisis thefinancial implosion ofa large intermediary could

exacerbate the situation. Accordingly, the monetary and supen'isory authorities would doubtless

endeavor to manage an orderly liquidation ofthefailed entity, including the unwinding of its positions.

But shareholders would not be protected, and I would anticipate appropriate discounts or haircuts for

other than federally guaranteed liabilities.
"

Our task today is to discover the views of the housing GSEs themselves, and to receive from the wimesses

who represent them insight on a number of unanswered questions:

First, do the witnesses agree with the Administration that their securities are not backed, explicitly and

implicitly, by the full faith and credit of the United States Government? Do the witnesses agree with the

Administration that their various lines of credit with the Treasury should be repealed? If, as it has been

maintained by many, these lines of credit are merely symbolic in nature, what reservations do these

witnesses have in their possible repeal?

Second, and more broadly, do the witnesses desire to see the oversight of their institutions strengthened,

and do they agree with the General Accounting Office that there exists a need for stronger, more efficient,

and independent oversight of their activities? Likewise, do the witnesses agree that greater scrutiny needs

to be given to their expansion into new activities, particularly those outside the scope of their missions?

Finally, 1 hope we may discuss questions related to a variety of specific topics, including the practice of

and possible greater risk involved in the GSEs buying back their own MBSs; the relationship between
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fluctuations in mortgage rates and the profits earned by the GSEs; and the relationship between the

govenunent subsidy received by the GSEs and the relative benefits it imparts to potential home buyers.

I think I speak for every member of the Subcommittee in expressing my interest in strengthening the

secondary mortgage market. Consequently, I am hopeful that today's hearing may be an opportunity for

us to begin a constructive process of working together, building consensus, 2md demonstrating mutual

respect in each other's efforts to make that possible.

To that end, I would like to emphasize that we should all consider not only what is good for the secondary

mortgage market today, but also what is good for the secondary mortgage market tomorrow, the next day,

and ten years hence. Let us remember and agree that the American dream of home ownership must be

preserved not only for our generation but for future generations of Americans.
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1) What gives Fannie confidence that the asset-liabihty mismatch of the early 1980s

could not happen again?

2) What gives Fannie confidence that, should economic stress occur, its interest-rate

risk counterparties (swaps and interest-rate caps and floors) will be able to

perform?

3) How much would it cost the average American homeowner if the mortgage and

swap market would ever falter in the unlikely event that Faiuiie Mae ever

experienced serious balance sheet problems? The purpose of this committee and

of Congress in general is to protect the best interests of the American taxpayer.

Would Fannie not agree that the cost of crisis prevention or of not regulating the

GSEs would far outweigh the alleged costs of simply asking reasonable and

prudent questions about the safety and soundness of Fannie's operations?

4) Does Fannie have or can it provide an estimate how much the spreads would

widen if in the unlikely event of balance sheet stress, Fannie Mae had to liquidate

inventory?

5) If, as Fannie has discussed with many investors, the implicit guarantee is only

"symbolic" what type of government involvement would Fannie anticipate if

FNMA were to experience fmancial difficulties?

6) If the implicit guarantee is only "symbolic" what rating would FNMA expect to

have without this perception of the government standing as the lender of last

resort? Explain the basis for this opinion.

7) Fannie Mae has argued that the line of credit is purely symbolic, if so, what does

it symbolize and what role does it play in yoxu" operations and in your marketing?

8) Should any investor or stockholder rely on the Government to protect you in case

of fmancial difficulty or default?

9) In the case of LTCM, no taxpayer money was actually spent in its rescue, but

instead the private sector bankers to LTCM were asked to put up additional

capital. This concept of "bailing in" investors or creditors to an institution has

become a key policy objective of the US Treasury, the International Monetary

Fund, and indeed the international financial regulatory authorities. Does Fannie

think that such a "bail-in" of creditors and investors, if it should ever be applied to

Fannie Mae in the unlikely event of it experiencing serious balance sheet

problems, is adequately recognized by its investors and reflected in its yield?

10) What role did Fannie Mae play in helping Orange County, California and Long
Term Capital Management out of their financial difficulties? Did you issue debt

securities to assist in the process of salvaging the county or the company?
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11) What is Fannie's position in reply to the extensive points made by chairman

Greenspan in his recent speech in Chicago and does Fannie think the chairman

was referring to a situation similar to that of the GSE's when he warned that:

"Tliere are many that hold the misperception that some American financial
institutions are too big to fail. 1 can certainly envision that in times of crisis the

financial implosion of a large intermediary could exacerbate the situation.

Accordingly, the monetary and supervisory authorities would doubtless endeavor

to manage an orderly liquidation of the failed entity, including the unwinding of
its positions. But snareholders would not be protected, and I would anticipate

appropriate discounts or "haircuts" for other than federally guaranteed
liabilities...

"
Would Fannie expect its investors to take "haircuts

"
in the event of

a dramatic corporate or economic crisis?

1 2) Both Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are on record as saying that the stress test must

adequately capture the risks that you actually face. In what ways is the statutory

stress test too rigid to allow the regulator an ability to capture those risks?

13) What series of tests would Fannie recommend constitute the core of a risk-based-

capital stress test? What types of economic conditions? What correlations of

interest rate and credit risk? Explain your recommendations?

14) Fannie Mae has stated on several occasions that a bank or thrift institution would

require much more capital if it were to meet the risk-based capital requirement
now being developed by OFHEO. Provide documentation of this assertion,

including clear statement of all assumptions, and submit to the Subcommittee the

complete specifications of any models that support the assertion.

15) It is our understanding that First Manhattan, New York, New York, prepared the

analysis for Fannie Mae that allowed Fannie Mae to assert that the capitalization

requirements for Farmie were at least as stringent, if not more so, than a bank or

thrift. Please submit First Manhattan's complete analysis for the record.

16) Treasury Undersecretary Gary Gensler testified that at mid-year 1999, banks held

$210 billion in GSE securities -just under 4% of total bank assets and over one-

third of total bank capital
-

constituting a "significant portion" of the assets of the

US banking system. Currently, Fannie and Freddie debt does not come under the

same restrictions as other debt. Current law limits the bank's amount of credit

exposure to any one entity. While national banks cannot hold more than 10% of

their capital in the corporate bonds of any one issuer or lend unsecured more than

1 5% of their capital to any one borrower, there are no limits on the holdings of

GSE debt. TTiere seems to be an over-concentration of risk in the US banking

system if one-third of bank capital can be held in GSE securities. Do you oppose
efforts to limit the banks' holding of GSE debt? If you do oppose limitations on

the amount of GSE debt, then why not eliminate the restriction that national banks

caimot hold more than 10% of their capital in the corporate bonds of any one

issuer?
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17) Officials at Fannie Mae have asserted that higher capital requirements will

prevent them from fulfilling their affordable housing commitment. HUD studies

show that financial institutions with higher capital requirements than Fannie Mae
are doing a better job at meeting affordable housing needs than Fannie Mae is -

and these institutions have higher capital requirements. Why does Fannie Mae tie

affordable housing goals to capital?

18) What impact would there be to FNMA's borrowing costs if bank holding

requirements were limited to 30% of their total capital, as opposed to current

unlimited exposure?

19) H.R. 3703 offers a defined new-program-review process which sets deadlines for

regulatory action. We are sensitive to Fannie's concern that such reviews do not

hamper your abilities to innovate and test new products on a trial basis. HR 3703

provides a materiality criteria in order to protect you in this area. Now you must

also understand Congress' concern that we guard against any profit motives for

you to breach the limitations of your charters by expanding into new markets.

WTiat are your ideas for balancing these two competing interests?

20) Given that the Fannie Mae charter act states that the corporation may deal only in

mortgages that are of institutional quality, how do you justify your entry into

subprime markets?

21) Most so-called subprime mortgages are used to serve moderate-to-higher income

people who use their homes to consolidate outstanding obligations. Is Fannie Mae

willing to commit to purchase only those subprime loans that are purchase money
mortgages for first-time, low-to-moderate income homebuyers who intend to live

in the homes they are purchasing?

22) Are you trying to position your debt securities to become replacements for

Treasury benchmarks in the years ahead?

23) Why does Fannie oppose taking OFHEO out of the appropriations process?

24) It has been reported that Mr. Raines recently commented at an investor analyst's

meeting in New York City where he assured the analysts that Fannie Mae had

plenty of room to grow in terms of percentage of revenues in the mortgage

industry and that this growth is not limited to loan purchases, but all aspects of

mortgage creation and servicing. Would you please comment on this?

25) Do you not agree that efficiencies could be gained by combining the regulation of

GSEs engaged in managing the same risks? (Interest-rate risk on debt issuances

which support home mortgages; credit risk on the home mortgages themselves.)
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26) Bloomberg reports on your briefing in London last week at which Fannie said it

was optimistic about meeting its goal of doubling Fannie Mae's eamings-per-

share by 2003. Fannie Mae already earns ROEs of at least 25 percent each year.

Would you object to sharing some of this government-sponsored profit by

contributing 10 percent of net income each year to an Affordable Housing Fund?

27) What would be the impact to consumers, on a monthly after-tax basis, if Congress

passed a law to cap the size of Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's portfolios at

several hundred billion dollars, and required the two GSEs to securitize the

remainder of their mortgage purchases? In responding the question. We would

prefer that the consumer impact be broken out by mortgage size, beginning at

$50,000, in $25,000 increments. Please provide the underiying assumptions for

your calculations. If this cannot be answered at this moment, please submit the

appropriate data for the record.

28) You have spoken about the many contributions that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac
have made to the American system of housing finance. Would you object to

legislation to permit the creation of new GSEs that would operate under charters

that are virtually identical to those of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac?

29) Fannie Mae has a home improvement pilot partnership with Home Deport in

which it purchases loans offered at Home Depot stores. As we understand it, at

least some of the loans will not be secured by a residential property. Chevy Chase

Bank is the lender in the Home Depot/Fannie Mae pilot and borrowers are

allowed to purchase home improvement products on a list approved by Fannie

Mae. How does financing hot tubs and marble countertops fit with your mission

of providing liquidity to the secondary mortgage market or promoting

homeownership? Wouldn't these homeowners be able to get financing for these

products without a GSE subsidy? This not what Congress intended the GSEs to

subsidize. Please explain how participating in this program puts those most in

need in a house?

30) While the Fed has been trying to reign in the booming economy, concerns have

been mounting that the GSEs' rapid growth may be creating a "economic credit

bubble," which artificially raises home prices and creates economic distortions in

the market. Are the GSEs fueling a "mortgage or economic bubble?"

31) Describe all agreements by Fannie Mae to manage and/or dispose of real estate

for third parties, such as the U.S. Marshals Service. How much real estate has

Fannie Mae managed or disposed of in the past five years for third parties?

32) Fannie Mae does not pass all of its savings it receives from paying no taxes and

implying it has a federal guarantee along to homeowners. Instead it uses almost a

third of that subsidy to finance the compensation of its senior executives and to

pay its shareholders such a high rate of return, which in turn is also driving the

value of the options granted to the senior executives. In addition, it is able to set
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such a high ROE and compensation level because Fannie has no competition in

the market that could force them to pass on more to the homeowner. We are

concerned with this fact and would like to know how much the average

homeowner would save if the entire subsidy Fannie receives was to be passed

along to the homeowner?

33) HUD Assistant Secretary Apgar recently stated that the consequence of Fannie

Mae's automated underwriting system was to potentially result in the

disqualification of low income applicants. His words were that "the system was

potentially discriminatory." Fannie took great oflense to that allegation. Can

Fannie provide this Committee information that disputes this claim? And further,

can Fannie explain why its percentage of minority loans is well below that of the

average for commercial banks nationwide?

34) In determining the total costs of a loan to an individual with a poor credit score,

does Fannie Mae attach a premium, that is, a higher interest rate to that borrower,

contrasted with a fully credit qualified borrower? If you do, shouldn't it be the

other way around for a GSE? Shouldn't the wealthier borrower help to subsidize

the low income applicant?

35) Does Fannie Mae receive different prices for mortgage guarantees for the same

loan amount with the same credit risk depending on the potential market share

represented by the loan originator? We have on good authority that Fannie offers

lower guarantee pricing to large originators such as Countrywide and then charges

smaller or less established originators higher guarantee fees to compensate for the

differential. Is this true? If so, how does that practice promote lower

homeownership costs and achieve consistent mortgage pricing throughout the

market?

36) Why did FNMA create the Fannie Mae Foundation? What can the Foundation do

with regard to issues before Congress? What is the total income to the

Foundation and where does it come from? Who decides how or where the

Foundation spends its money? Where has the Foundation sponsored projects over

the last ten years? Has the Foundation ever been audited? Are there other

"outreach" programs that complement Fannie Mae?

37) Since Fannie Mae is a corporation subject to Congressional oversight, we can

understand some allocation of resources to maintain a balance in potential

political risk. Given Fannie Mae officials historically have stated that

management of political risk is as significant as management of other business

risks, how many employees are assigned a government relations responsibility

and what is the total expenditure annually for them? How many outside firms or

organizations do you currently have under contract and what is the total

expenditure annually for each representation? Is this activity intended to help low

income, first time homebuyers have access to homeownership?
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38) How is it thai Fannie Mae's repurchase of its own mortgage backed securities

expands homeownership opportunities? It sounds more like an arbitrage play.

Isn't it a fundamental rule of economics that if there are more buyers in the

marketplace, the price of a product is increased? Don't Fannie Mae's purchases of

its own MBS simply prop up the price of these securities? Doesn't the retention

of MBS in portfolio increase interest rate and credit risk to enrich shareholder

wealth? What, if any, are the benefits to homebuyers?

39) Why is Fannie Mae's return on equity so much higher than its private sector

secondary mortgage competitors? Give reasons other than its lower cost of funds.

40) If these lower costs of funds (interest rates) lead to a higher return on equity
- a

rate which is lower because of Fannie and Freddie ties to the government - doesn't

this amount to an indirect federal subsidy to Fannie Mae's stockholders, and why
should the federal taxpayer subsidize Fannie stockholders' income?

41) What is it in Fannie Mae's performance
- not in its chartered mission - that

justifies its exemption from state and local taxes and from SEC registration fees?

42) How would a refinancing boom caused by a severe drop in interest rates affect

Fannie?

43) Why does Fannie issue so much short-term debt?

44) How much of Fannie's long term assets are funded by short term debt and how
would severe losses in Fannie's portfolio effect Fannie's ability to borrow funds?

45) If Fannie was forced by market conditions to sell its portfolio quickly, how would

that affect the secondary market for mortgage-backed securities?

46) Fannie is one of the biggest users of the derivatives markets. Does this imply that

there may be some other risks that are not properly capitalized?

47) Please describe how Fannie Mae is using Community Development Financial

Institutions (CDFIs) to meet its affordable housing goals.

48) Now that Fannie Mae is purchasing more loans of lower credit quality (subprime),

how will it manage the higher credit risk?

49) As a challenge to those who say that outstanding Farmie Mae/Freddie Mac debt

will shortly exceed outstanding Treasury debt, Fannie Mae has referred to "debt

to the penny" estimates that include the Social Security Trust Fund in outstanding

Treasury debt. These are not the debt numbers cited by the Clinton

Administration and the Treasury when they estimate that debt to the public can be

fully repaid by 201 3. Why does Fannie Mae use different numbers?

50) Fannie Mae has a very visible advertising campaign on national television and

radio as well as in local and national print media. How does advertising to the

general consumer help lower homeownership costs? What business purpose is

Fannie trying to achieve?
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Rep. Stephanie Tubbs Jones

Good Morning. Chairman Baker, Ranking Member Kanjorski and Members of

this Committee. Mr. Chairman, I ask unanimous consent that my full statement be

included in the Record.

Mr. Chairman, we are here this morning to discuss H.R. 3703, the Housing

Finance Regulator)' Improvement Act. This bill is designed to improve regulation and

supervision of the housing GSEs. It is my hope this morning that we will be able to

discuss the issues surrounding this legislation and the challenges it presents, not

singularly to GSEs, but to the ability of future homebuyers to secure homes and for others

to obtain affordable housing.

Housing, Mr. Chairman, as we well know, is a key public policy concern. It was

a concern in 1968 when the GSEs were formed and it is a concern even in the year 2000.

In cities and suburbs nationwide, there is an affordable housing crisis. There are citizens,

in this nation, including the 1 1* Congressional District, where individuals and families

are struggling with skyrocketing rents as well as inadequate housing stock.

GSEs were established to address these problems. In 1992, Congress passed

Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act (FHEFSSA) that

mandated Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to "lead the mortgage finance industry in

making credit available for low- and moderate-income families." From my
understanding of GSEs. they are fulfilling this mission Thus. I am glad today that we

have representatives from the GSEs to make their own case to include Chairmans Leland

Brendsel. Freddie Mac. Curtis Hage, Council of Federal Home Loan Banks and Franklin

Raines. Fannie Mae. I applaud you and the Ranking Member's efforts to provide this

committee with a balanced view of the issues surrounding this legislation.

Let me be clear. To clarify the National Journal's statement relative to my

legislative position. I want to be clear that I support affordable housing and increased

homeownership. be it Fannie Mae. Freddie Mac. mortgage lenders, etc. I am committed

to affordable housing and increased homeownership to spread economic prosperity

around in this nation.

Mr. Chairman. I proudly represent the 1 1"" Congressional District of Ohio. It is a

richly diverse district of nationalities, religions and economics. It includes the wealthiest

citizens to those with little or no means. It includes the well-educated to those who

struggle to secure a decent education. However, there is one key commonality with both

ends of this population continuum—housing.

1 realize Mr. Chairman that putting a family into a home is much more than

originating a mortgage, automated underwriting systems or implicit/explicit relationships.

Putting a family into a home provides a family with, in many instances, its first real asset

or even provides a legacy for future generations. Homeownership. I believe, is one of the



206

key first steps to true empowerment. Thus, we camiot take this process nor this

legislation lightly.

With the provisions granted GSEs, I believe in the importance of safety and

soundness. 1 believe that the GSEs have met this challenge. Both Fannie Mae and

Freddie Mac have both received passing grades on each and ever)' OFHEO (Office of

Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight) capital adequacy test. Thus, if the question is

adherence to mission and charter, then let us discuss that and move on to the business of

providing new hope via housing for citizens.

As our nation transformed itself from its industrial base to an information and

technological power, we, as members of this Committee, have championed public/private

partnerships as well as market innovation, yet 1 sense we have taken a different approach

with respect to the GSEs. 1 do not wish to legislate where no legislation is warranted.

Moreover, 1 do not support efforts to increase the regulatory burden placed on GSEs,
burdens that will ultimately be passed on to consumers. If the information suggests GSEs
have not done what they are required to do, let's fix it and move on. If the GSEs,

however, are on track and are accomplishing their mission, again, let us move on. We all

should remember the market impact stemming from Mr. Gensler's testimony. It is my
hope that this committee continues to support the mission of the GSEs and support

affordable housing and homeownership.

Mr. Chairman, I am challenged by some aspects of your bill. I am concerned

about:

• Increased regulatory burden of the legislation. Simply mixing and matching

regulators will not accomplish desired goals.

• A five-person politically appointed board does not seem to me as a model for

a safety and soundness regulatory structure.

• Creating great delays in bringing new products to the market and hinders,

subsequently, new and innovative products to consumers.

Mr. Chairman Fannie Mae, in particular, in my district, provided $371 million in

mortgage financing to 5,484 families. There is no way product creativity and innovation

can occur with any GSE when there is a 90-day waiting period, much like a new

government program or regulation. With the growth and speed of the internet and e-

commerce in our new e-mocracy, companies cannot be successful under those

constraints, thus, consumers are hurt.

I hope this hearing serves to clear the record. I realize that there is much more to

be done by GSEs with respect to affordable housing. While homeownership rate sit at or

around 67%, there is still room for minorities and homeownership opportunities.

Mr. Chairman, in the midst of positive news about housing, I do not see bringing

forth additional regulations where there is no decrease in safety nor soundness, which 1
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thought should be the basis for any improvements. Let us improve upon what is already

in place.

Mr. Chairman. Cleveland and Cuyahoga County are undergoing an affordable

housing crisis. In order to address this crisis. I have challenged Fannie Mae, in my
district, to address and improve upon their efforts in dealing with this concern. Until

someone can demonstrate to me a tangible "quality of life improvement" for families

living on the East side of Cleveland. I will remain opposed to this bill.

Mr. Chairman, there has been some good to come out of these hearings. 1 must

say. Since our initial hearing on H.R. 3703. the work and effort, or lack thereof, of many
banks, mortgage lenders. GSEs, etc, have become more transparent and that's good for

all consumers. Thank you again Mr. Chairman and 1 look forward to the hearing.
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HEARING ON H.R. 3703,

THE HOUSING FINANCE REGULARTORY IMPROVEMENT ACT

TUESDAY, MAY 15, 2000

Mr. Chairman, thank you for the opportunity to speak briefly before we begin our second

hearing on H.R. 3703, the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act.

At our last hearing in March on this legislation, we heard from the present regulators for the

housing government-sponsored enterprises, or GSEs, as well as the U.S. Department of the

Treasury. During my opening remarks at that hearing, 1 noted that we should move forward

cautiously in considering this bill so as to ensure that we maintain the delicate balance that has led

to 67 percent of U.S. families owning their homes.

Another issue that I raised during my March statement concerned the possible effects of

H.R. 3703 on investors. Some have suggested that our last hearing may have inappropriately

discouraged investors and raised homeownership costs. As noted in the Wall Street Journal and

other news outlets, our capital markets experienced disruptions in which the cost of funds for

Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan Banks increased in the days following our

initial hearing. According to these accounts, the spread
— or the difference in yields between GSE

debt and 10-year Treasuries — increased by as much as 14 basis points. Spreads on mortgage-
backed securities guaranteed by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac also widened.

As we proceed today, we must renew our efforts to ensure that we do not accidentally raise

homeownership costs. Moreover, Mr. Chairman, as I indicated in my letter of March 3 1 to you, we
should not move precipitously and attempt to legislate in the 106* Congress on this complex and

important set of policy issues. We should, however, continue to use H.R. 3703 as a focus for our

oversight activities.

In the weeks following our last hearing, I have also had the opportunity to meet with many
of the parties affected by this legislation, including those who support, those who oppose, and those

who remain neutral on the bill. During these discussions, I have heard many reasons for and against

moving ahead Many of the arguments for and against the bill appear credible when made on their

own merits and without someone testing their basis.

In my opening remarks at our last hearing, I suggested that we should convene a roundtable

discussion with the interested parties to better understand the need for and implications of this

legislation on our housing finance system. I still believe that a roundtable discussion is the most

appropriate forum for our consideration of these issues

A roundtable discussion would force the participants to challenge each other's assumptions

and assertions in an open environment. It would also provide us with greater insights than

testimony that has been vetted and sterilized through the clearance process. A roundtable debate

would further allow us to more fully educate Members about the substantive issues involved in this

debate and the real effects that this legislation would have on the housing fmance marketplace.

In closing, Mr. Chairman, I hope that as we continue to consider these important issues you
will join me in working to lower homeownership costs. I also hope that for our next hearing you
will invite the parties interested in this bill to participate in a roundtable debate so that we can have

a free, fair, and vigorous deliberation on the future role of the GSEs in our housing finance system.
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Opening Statement of Frank Mascara

Thank you Chainnan Baker and Mr. Kanjorski for focusing our attention, today on
a very important role of this Committee, the role of the federal government in

promoting home ownership.

I would be remiss if I didn't commend the GSEs for their role in providing

opportunity to homebuyers in my community. Their value to Southwestern

Pennsylvania cannot be understated.

I greatly appreciate that all three chairmen took time out of their busy schedules
to appear before us today.

This is a very timely issue receiving considerable media attention. And for a very

good reason. Homeownership has never been available to so many people as it

Is now. Mortgages have never been as affordable as they are now.

Our nation's housing finance market is a model for the intemational community.
There is significant competition, providing consumers a wide range of services at

competitive rates.

The concems I have today relate to the rhetoric that has escalated on both sides

of the GSE issue. I hope that our panelists today can shed some light on these
matters with some direct and thorough testimony.

Much has been made atx}ut debt escalating out of control. There are dire

predictions that the GSE debt will soon exceed the U.S. Treasury debt, and
Assistant Secretary Gary Gensler of the Treasury recently compared the GSE
debt to that of the thrifts preceding the savings and loan crisis. I hope that our

panelists would address the nature of GSE debt relative to Treasury's and that of

the savings and loans.

The other concem I have is regarding the automation of loan purchases in the

secondary market. Chairmen Raines and Brendsel, your companies have

developed programs that can approve loan purchases in the secondary market

during the process of loan origination.

Chairman Brendsel, Freddie Mac has recently partnered with Microsoft to provide
online loan services which could even further speed this process. It would

appear that these technological developments blur the distinction between loan

origination and the secondary mortgage market.

Hopefully, the panelists will explain to this Committee how these activities remain
within their mission, and do not pose a threat to the market for loan origination.
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Marge Roukema
Fifth District— New Jersey

2469 Rayburn House Office Building/Washington, D.C. 20S1S (202) 22S-446S

Contact: Release:
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Roukema Statement on GSE's

U.S. Congresswoman Marge Roukema, R-N.J.-5th, today issued the following statement

at a hearing on regulation of housing-related Government Sponsored Entities, held by the House

Banking Committee's Subcommittee on Capital Markets.

"I would like to make my position perfectly clear. This legislation is highly complex. We
should not move legislation until we have examined it thoroughly and understand the possible

consequences on the American Dream. It is absolutely essential that we identiiy and quantify tilie

potential positive and negative consequences from any legislative or regulatory changes. This

must be done before Congress takes any action. I think most Members want more Americans to

own more homes, not less. Clearly, we must be alert to the potential Uabilities of the GSE to the

taxpayers and alert to their capital standards, hi other words, we don't want to be setting us iq> for

a taxpayer bailout."

"Finally, I am specifically concerned about GSE mission creep. GSEs are not siq>posed

to, as a general rule, compete with the private sector except where exphcitly authorized by

Congress. I know that there are real concerns about Fannie and Freddie expanding their lines of

business. For instance, some suggest that they are getting into real estate brokerage, consumer

lending, mortgage insurance and other areas which are arguably not part of their mission. These

are serious charges which I strongly believe Congress should examine."

— 30—
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Congressman John E. Sweeney
Committee on Banking and Financial Services

Hearing on H.R. 3703, Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act of 2000

May 16. 1999

Thank you , Mr. Chairman for holding this hearing on the Housing Finance Regulatory

Improvement Act of 2000.

I think it is also imperative for us to determine if the GSE system actually requires additional

regulation. Does a problem truly exist?

Or, are GSE structures and regulatory procedures currently correct?

My office has recently received an overwhelming amount of form consistent mail on this topic.

This gives me the suspension that additional attention should be given to these proposed changes.

I am sure this hearing will help answer some of those questions.

Conversations regarding oversight ofGSEs are important because our actions protect the public's

interest in these affairs. We must ensure that the GSEs are not operating outside of their

established charter. Our charter is to keep tabs on the risk GSEs assume, as increased risk could

equate to significant losses should our economy cool down.

Conversely, our nation's housing finance system is the envy of the world and has stimulated

home ownership to great heights
- 67% of Americans now own a home. GSEs significantly

contribute to that success through their investments in the secondary market.

I am also concerned about Wall Street's reaction to our most recent hearings on this subject.

Following that hearing, the spread between long term interest rates and bonds expanded rapidly.

That reaction certainly warrants close examination. What is the investment communities'

perception about this legislation? Did that percq>tion influence the rate movements?

I look forward to hearing the opinions of the witnesses called before the subcommittee today. I

am interested in hearing their view on what the impact of this legislation will be on the citizens

ofmy Upstate New York Congressional District.

Thank you, again, Mr. Baker, for holding this important hearing.
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Statement of Representative Maxine Waters

House Banking and Financial Services Committee

HR 3703, the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act of 2000

May 16, 2000

Fannie and Freddie Pass Their Benefits to American Consumers in the Form of Lower

Mortgage Rates

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs) that are

congressionally chartered, but shareholder-owned corporations They enjoy federally-granted

benefits in support of their important public purpose which is to increase nationwide access to

residential mortgages by developing and supporting a secondary mortgage market for housing

fmance. Fannie and Freddie pass their federally-granted value on to mortgage borrowers in the

form of lower interest rates.

According to a June 2000 article in Money magazine. America's soaring homeownership rates

and the reduction in downpayment requirements are evidence of Fannie and Freddie's benefits to

American consumers. Similarly, a 1996 Congressional Research Service report stated that

"Comparisons of mortgage rates in conforming and non-conforming markets have led analysts to

conclude that the presence of the GSEs has lowered mortgage rates between 25 and 50 basis

points." Lower mortgage-rates result in thousands of dollars saved for American consumers.

In addition to making homeownership affordable for American consumers, Fannie Mae and

Freddie Mac's organizational efficiency is also noteworthy.

A Strong-Capital Base, Efficient Management, and Diversity make Fannie Mae and

Freddie Mac two of the strongest companies in the country

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are two of the strongest companies in the country. Fannie Mae
ranks 26* and Freddie Mac 62"'' on the Fortune 500 list of top American companies. Currently,

Fannie Mae holds more than $19 billion in capital. In its 1999 report to Congress, the Office of

Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight (OFHEO)-the congressionally-appointed safety and

soundness regulator for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac-found both "Enterprises to be financially

sound and well managed." OFHEO also stated that "Fannie Mae exceeds safety and soundness

standards in all categories."

In 1997, at the request of OFHEO, the rating agency Standard and Poors evaluated Fannie Mae
and assigned them a AA- rating in terms of their risk to the government- a rating only a handful

of institutions meet. Additionally, in July 1 999, Fortune magazine named Fannie Mae the second

best company for employment in the country for Asian-Americans, African-Americans, and

Hispanic Americans.
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HR 3703 and FM Watch will lower mortgage rates for consumers so banks can make a

bigger profit

I>espite the benefits they provide to American consumers and the efficiency of their

organizations, there are entities that seek to undermine the ability of Fannie and Freddie to lower

mortgage rates. A June 13, 2000 article in the National Journal, stated that Baker's legislation

(legislation that creates unnecessary regulatory burdens and stifles innovation for the GSEs) "is

likely to get a boost from FM Watch, the cadre of disgruntled lending companies that fears

Freddie and Fannie's quest for additional business and profits will create new subsidized

competitors."

Money magazine was more specific. Referring to FM Watch, Monev magazine stated "What

most concerns the coalition is Fannie and Freddie's desire to move into the lucrative area of

subprime lending. That would do borrowers who don't have perfect credit a world of good."

Chuck Gabriel, a Prudential Securities analyst stated the issue succinctly when he said, "Every

new product Fannie and Freddie aimounce seems to bring direct benefits to consumers. The only

problem? More business for the GSEs could hit big lenders in the pocketbook."

IfFM Watch Wins, Consumers Lose

Homeownership is without question the single most important means of accumulating assets. If

HR 3703 is passed and FM Watch gets their way, mortgage rates will rise and American

consumers will lose.
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Thank you, Chairman Baker. I appreciate the opportunity to speak to the

Subcommittee today about Fannie Mae, our regulatory structure, our role in the

marketplace, and the concerns you have raised.

I also want to take this opportunity to recognize the importance of this

Subcommittee's oversight of the housing fmance system. The housing fmance system is

crucial to the American people who overwhelmingly aspire to be homeowners. I

appreciate the work that you and your colleagues on the Subcommittee have done to

strengthen homeownership in America, and I look forward to an ongoing dialogue.

The United States Housing Finance System

From the perspective ofboth consumers and investors, the U.S. housing fmance

system is the best in the world. While most of the G-7 countries have a well-developed

mortgage fmance industry, the mortgages they offer are less consumer- friendly. In the

U.S., for example, we take the 30-year, fixed-rate mortgage for granted, with

downpayments as low as five and three percent. That is not the case in Germany, France,

the United Kingdom, or Japan. In Germany, the down payment is typically 35 to 40

percent, and in Japan, homebuyers have to put 50 to 60 percent down.

And unlike in the United States, the long-term fixed-rate mortgage is a rarity in

these countries. Last year, 66 percent of all conforming mortgages originated in the

United States were 30-year fixed-rate mortgages. In Canada, rollover mortgages have a

fixed rate during the first one to five years, with a prepayment penalty equal to 3 months

of interest; at rollover, borrowers select another mortgage period. The fixed-rate term in

Spain and France is about 15 years, and 5-10 years in Germany. And homeowners

cannot refinance during this period unless they pay a huge penalty.

Why are low down payment, fixed-rate mortgages with an option to refinance at

little or no cost so common here and a rarity elsewhere? The difference is Congress's

long-standing commitment to homeownership and Congress's decision to create what has

become a well-developed, sophisticated secondary mortgage market that meets the needs

of both homebuyers and investors.

I
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It is worth spending a few minutes on how the secondary market works.

(CHART 1] Lenders onginate mortgage loans in the pnmary market. (Fannie Mae does

not onginate loans. Our charter does not allow it and we are not equipped to handle

direct contact with consumers.) Lenders can either sell the mortgages they originate to

investors in the secondary market or retain them in their own portfolios. When lenders

sell their mortgages, they replenish their funds so they can lend more money to

homebuyers.

Fannie Mae's role is to transform mortgage risk into the various forms that

investors want to buy. (CHART 2| For example, some investors want the higher returns

they can get from investing in mortgage-backed securities (MBS). MBS are created when
a lender comes to us with a pool of mortgages and pays us a fee to guarantee the

creditworthiness of those loans. The lender then sells the mortgage-backed security to

Wall Street and other investors. Some investors choose to buy MBS because they want

the yield that comes from taking the prepayment risk — the risk that borrowers will repay
their mortgages (if interest rates fall) and thus reduce the cash flow from the MBS
investment — but want the liquidity and lack of credit risk in MBS. (Indeed, if investors

want to take both interest rate and credit risk and sacrifice liquidity, they can buy whole

mortgage loans from lenders without the Fannie Mae credit guarantee.)

Fannie Mae performs a similar role with regard to credit risk, working with our

risk-sharing partners such as lenders, mortgage insurers and others to transform the risk

of default on each loan into exposures each partner is best suited to hold.

There are a few important points 1 want to emphasize about the MBS market.

First, Fannie Mae does not ordinarily sell MBS to Wall Street; lenders do. Once Fannie

Mae has securitized a pool of mortgages into an MBS, the lender owns that MBS and can

either hold it or sell it to investors, one ofwhom may be Fannie Mae.

Second, the price ofMBS is set by a highly liquid and efficient market. The most

recent data available indicate that dealers traded S70.6 billion worth of MBS during the

week of May 3, 2000, and April 2000 MBS settlements were approximately S330 billion.

Fannie Mae does not set prices in that market. The fee that we receive from securitizing

mortgages is related only to the credit risk (and the remittance schedule) on those loans.

Indeed, when the demand for MBS rises and prices go up, Fannie Mae's credit fees

remain the same.

The benefit that Fannie Mae MBS receive from our charter flow directly from

Wall Street to lenders and then to consumers. Fannie Mae is also an investor in the MBS
market, however, and as such, we compete with other investors on equal footing. Like

any other large investor, we can influence the market to the extent that the addition of our

demand in the market raises prices and, in turn, lowers mortgage rates. That is precisely

the role we played in the 1998 credit crunch. When other investors withdrew from the

market, we stepped up our purchases, which kept mortgage rates low.



216

Third, the market price is set by the actions of many buyers and sellers. Because

we help supply the market with securities in demand by investors, we increase the flow of

funds into the mortgage market and thereby drive down mortgage rates for consumers.

But some investors do not want to take the prepayment risk that comes with MBS.
Instead, they may want to purchase an investment that has a more predictable cash flow
— at the cost, of course, of a lower yield. Fannie Mae's role is to make it possible for

these investors to participate in the mortgage market. We do this by purchasing

mortgages and MBS and selling debt securities to pay for those purchases. Our various

debt securities give investors two basic choices. Investors can buy some— but not full

— prepayment risk by purchasing our callable debt securities. Callable debt is debt that

Fannie Mae can redeem earlier than its stated maturity if interest rates fall and

homeowners refinance their mortgages faster than expected. Or investors who want the

liquidity and predictability of a traditional debt instrument can buy our bullet — or non-

callable — debt securities. These debt securities provide the greatest predictability;

Fannie Mae must repay at, and only at, the stated maturity date.

MBS, callable debt, and bullet debt are the three primary ways that Fannie Mae
transforms the nsk of fixed-rate, long-term mortgages

— which have illiquid, unrated,

unpredictable cash flows — into securities that are liquid, high-quality, and have cash

flows covering a range of predictabilities. The reason that the U.S. mortgage market is so

efficient is that investors can find almost any combination and level of prepayment risk

and yield in one of these three securities. And within these three categories, we create

highly specialized security structures for large investors who have very specific risk

demands. By creating securities that are attractive to the broadest universe of investors,

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac increase the demand for mortgages, which raises the prices

of MBS and, in turn, lowers mortgage rates for homebuyers.

The Legislative Framework For Fannie Mae

The best starting place for a discussion of Fannie Mae's role in the market is the

Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of 1992 (the "1992

Act").' This law made significant changes to Fannie Mae's charter and our regulatory

structure, providing the foundation for the successful secondary market that exists today.

In the early 1990s, Congress took up legislation to change Fannie Mae's and

Freddie Mac's overall structure for mission and financial soundness. Congress
considered the issues against the backdrop of the failures in the thrift and banking
industries during the 1980s and early 1990s — the resolution of which cost the American

taxpayer about $125 billion and took close to a decade to resolve. The Banking
Committee was deeply involved in the policy decisions needed to correct the poor

regulation, reckless investments, and inadequate capital that caused many thrifts to fail

and left taxpayers with an exorbitant bill.

'

Title XIII of the Housing and Community Development Act of 1992, Pub. L. No. 102-550, 106 Stat.

3672.
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The stability of the banking system was also in question. Between 1980 and

1994, more than 1,600 banks failed or received financial assistance from the FDIC.

Many of these losses were associated with rapid growth and unsound speculative real

estate lending. Exacerbating the situation, exams of many banks became infrequent in

the early and middle 1980s. In addition, bank regulators did not adopt uniform capital

standards covering all federally regulated banks until 1985, and did not adopt any form of

risk-based capital until 1990.

Some of those weakened banks were so large that regulators decided to avoid

liquidation for fear of damaging public confidence in the banking system as a whole. In

1984, such concerns led the FDIC to prop up Continental Illinois after it began to

experience enormous withdrawals of foreign deposits in a high-speed electronic run.

Again in the early 1990s, regulators quietly intervened to help avert another major bank

failure, exercising veto power over every significant decision made by bank management
until business restructuring and the Federal Reserve's lowering of interest rates restored

financial health.

Simply stated, the troubled banks and thrifts of the 1980s and early 1990s reached

a crisis point because of the weakness of their regulatory regime and the riskiness of their

lending activities. This is precisely why Fannie Mae will never be the source of such a

crisis. Congress ensured in 1992 that we would always be subject to rigorous safety and

soundness regulation and oversight, and our investments are geographically diverse and

limited to one type of low-risk and liquid asset— residential mortgages. The thrift

bailout cost taxpayers $125 billion and the FDIC spent over S36 billion from the deposit

insurance fund to prop up the banks. In contrast, since our privatization in 1968 — and

even though we, like all other financial institutions, experienced financial difficulties in

the early 1980s — Fannie Mae has never cost the American taxpayer a single penny.

(Even as it suffered losses in the early 1980s, Fannie Mae never became insolvent on a

generally accepted accounting principles basis.) Indeed, Fannie Mae helped mitigate the

effects of the thrift crisis by consistently maintaining liquidity in the mortgage market.

Congress responded to the problems of the banking and thrift systems in the

1980s and eady 1990s by enacting sweeping reforms in 1989 (the Financial Institutions

Reform, Recoveiy and Enforcement Act of 1989, or FIRREA) and 1991 (the Federal

Deposit Insurance Corporation Improvement Act, or FDICIA). These reforms addressed

the need to identify possible problems early on through increased supervision and

examination and to deter risky behavior through risk-based capital and risk-based deposit

insurance premiums.

With the lessons of the thrift and bank crises still fresh and with the reforms

enacted in FIRREA and FDICIA as a context. Congress tumed in 1991 to the housing

government-sponsored enterprises (GSEs). Congress recognized the public policy

successes of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac as well as the consumer and market benefits

that our companies produced. Most important. Congress wanted to ensure that as many

homebuyers as possible were served by Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's role in the

market, that the companies were regulated effectively, and that the companies maintained
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the financial soundness to fulfill their housing missions through varying economic

conditions.

Two years of hearings, the preparation of many government studies, and

committee consideration covering numerous mission, capital and enforcement proposals,

ultimately produced the 1992 Act. In crafting and enacting the 1992 Act, Congress

reassessed the benefits, restrictions, and obligations of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac and

the safety and soundness regulation needed to ensure fulfillment of the companies'

responsibilities to consumers and the housing market. The result is a complex and

interdependent set of benefits and responsibilities that maintains the critical role of

private equity capital and private management, allows Fannie Mae to link more

efficiently than ever the international capital markets with the U.S. housing finance

market, and, at the same time, requires the company to serve affordable housing and

homeownership needs throughout the country. The critical role of private equity capital

and private management were maintained in the legislation.

In this way, Fannie Mae's Congressional charter is a "compact"
— an agreement

between pnvate investors and the Congress. By investing in Fannie Mae, our

shareholders provide capital to a company upon which Congress has conferred a structure

and business purpose aimed at furthering the public policy priority of homeownership.

As part of this compact. Congress gave Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac certain benefits and

tools paired with certain restrictions, including limiting these companies to a single line

of business— the residential mortgage market within our loan limits. Congress also

reinforced the nature of our relationship with the federal government, requiring the

explicit "non-guarantee" that appears on the front of every debt and mortgage-backed

security. The work that Congress did in 1992 was a reaffirmation of this compact, the

success of which is evident across America today.

The mandate of the 1992-revised charter is summarized in the purposes set forth for

Fannie Mae:

• To provide stability in the secondary market for residential mortgages;

• To respond appropriately to the private capital market;

• To provide ongoing assistance to the secondary market for residential mortgages

(including activities relating to mortgages on housing for low- and moderate-

income families involving a reasonable economic return that may be less than the

return earned on other activities) by increasing the liquidity of mortgage

investments and improving the distribution of investment capital available for

residential mortgage financing; and

• To promote access to mortgage credit throughout the Nation (including central

cities, rural areas, and underserved areas) by increasing the liquidity of mortgage

investments and improving the distribution of investment capital available for

residential mortgage financing.
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The 1992 Act is a Clear Success

In every area of concern that Congress addressed in 1992, the record of the last

eight years has been one of remarkable achievement. Since the 1992 Act, Fannie Mae's

performance
— in terms of our housing mission, our safety and soundness, providing

liquidity and stability in the market, and delivering and fostering innovation — is a clear

success story.

Housing Mission

Ensuring Fannie Mae's continued focus on affordable housing and affordable

homeownership was one of the main objectives of the drafters of the 1992 Act. Congress

determined that Fannie Mae should vigorously reach underserved markets. Fannie Mae's

response to this challenge was particularly dramatic, even though the company's efforts

to reach more low- and moderate-income borrowers had already begun. For Fannie Mae,

expanding access to affordable homeownership for more borrowers throughout the

country is much more than a regulatory requirement. It is what we as a company and as a

business are all about. As I have said on many previous occasions, expanding

homeownership and affordable rental housing is good public policy and good business.

My predecessor, Jim Johnson, embraced this philosophy when he announced, in

1994, Fannie Mae's Trillion Dollar Commitment. This commitment was a pledge to

invest $1 trillion to serve 10 million underserved families— including low- and

moderate-income families, minorities, new Americans, residents of central cities and

rural areas, and people with special housing needs— by the end of 2000. This promise
transformed our company. In 1993, just over 31 percent of our single family business

served borrowers with incomes at or below the area median. In 1999, this percentage
was over 40 percent. (CHARTS 3 & 4| In 1999, 68.6 percent of our total business

served families targeted in this initiative, and over 500 of Fannie Mae's 3,900 employees
work full-time on affordable housing. (CHART 5) The result has been a strong focus on

overcoming the barriers to homeownership. Through product innovation, underwriting

experimentation and flexibility, and technology, Fannie Mae achieved greater

efficiencies, lowered mortgage costs, created easier access to financing, and revitalized

communities. I will mention a few brief examples:

• In partnership with Holy Name Housing, NuStyle Development, and the Equity

Fund of Nebraska, and the City of Omaha, Fannie Mae has an $800,000 equity

investment in 40 single-family homes, which are homeownership incubators.

Known as Omaha Crown, this $4.5 million project is helping to maintain the

historic Kountze Park neighborhood and to educate qualified families about

homeownership skills. A portion of their monthly rent goes to a homeownership

savings account so that after several years of affordable renting, the families are

able to buy a home of their own.
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• In 1991, Fannie Mae launched a new experiment in cooperation with the National

Training and Information Center in Chicago to create a low downpayment

mortgage with extended undervsriting flexibilities. The Community Home

Buyer's initiative provided a standard, secondary market product that enabled

many of our lender partners to begin offering significant volumes of low

downpayment mortgages, targeted to low- and moderate-income families and

those living in underserved neighborhoods. Since the introduction of the

Community Home Buyer suite of products. Fannie Mae has built a portfolio of

about S50 billion in these mortgages, and created a standard that is used by

lenders throughout the country.

• In 1998, Fannie Mae launched a unique partnership with the Self Help Venture

Fund of North Carolina, one of the nation's foremost community development

financial institutions, and the Ford Foundation to finance up to S2 billion over five

years in home loans to 35,000 minority and low-income home buyers nationwide.

Fannie Mae is providing a low cost secondary market outlet that provides

liquidity for a market segment that in the past has relied more heavily on portfolio

lending by depositories. This unique risk sharing arrangement gives us the

opportunity to work with others to transform risks in the market to provide new

and tangible benefits to consumers. To date, through this initiative, we have

financed nearly S500 million in loans to reach traditionally disadvantaged groups

as reflected in the demographics of the borrowers: 24.9 percent African

American, 7.4 percent Hispanic, 38 percent female-headed household, 4.6 percent

rural with an average income, as a percent of median, of 70 percent.

As many of you know, I announced earlier this year that we met the goals of the

Tnllion Dollar Commitment in April, eight months early. Not wanting to rest on our

laurels and recognizing that much remains to be done, I also announced Fannie Mae's

new American Dream Commitment — a 10-year, S2 trillion commitment to serve 18

million targeted families. This initiative will place a special emphasis on increasing

homeownership among minorities, young families, women-headed families, new

immigrants, and others whose homeownership rates lag the general population. This

effort will also target Americans who have not fully benefited ft-om the economic

expansion of the past nine years, including many who live in economically depressed

urban and rural areas.

One manifestation of Congress's emphasis on our housing mission is the

affordable housing goals established by the 1992 Act. Under the statute, we are required

to meet annual, percent-of-business targets in terms of our service to low- and moderate-

income borrowers, to residents of central cities and other underserved areas, and to very

low-income borrowers. No other company in America has percent-of-business goals as

tough as the ones Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac must meet.

Fannie Mae has met or exceeded each and every one of our affordable housing

goals every year since 1994. [CHARTS 6 & 7) Here are a few snapshots that provide a

perspective on our commitment to meeting both the letter and the spirit of these goals:
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• In 1993, Fannie Mae provided S62.3 billion in mortgage Hnancing for over

994,000 low- and moderate-income borrowers. In 1999, we provided SI 01 6

billion to serve over 1.34 million low- and moderate-income families.

• In 1996, Fannie Mae provided S36.3 billion in financing for over 534,700 families

living in underserved areas, including central cities and rural areas. In 1999. the

level of this business reached $65.9 billion and 790,450 families."

Meeting our annual affordable housing goals has been a challenge, and this

challenge will only grow. When the Federal Housing Enterprise Safety and Soundness

Act of 1992 passed. Congress had set an interim low- and moderate-income goal at 30

percent of our annual purchases for 1993 and 1994. This goal remained in place for 1995.

Then, in 1996, HUD published the first formal rule governing the affordable housing

goals, increasing the low- and moderate-income goal to 40 percent in 1996 and to 42

percent for 1997, 1998, and 1999. Then, on March 9"" of this year, HUD announced

another round of proposed increases in our goals. The proposed HUD rule would

increase the low- and moderate-income goal to 48 percent in 2000 and to 50 percent for

the 2001-2003 period.

HUD proposes to increase our other goals. Our special affordable housing goal

for business serving very low-income families or low-income borrowers in low-income

areas is now 14 percent. The proposed HUD rule would increase this goal to 20 percent.

And, our goal for borrowers living in underserved geographic areas, which is now set at

24 percent, would rise to 31 percent under the proposed HUD rule. We are committed to

trying to reach these stretch goals. (CHART 8)

Although none of our housing goals specifically focuses on minority

homeownership, I would like to take a moment to address this issue. Minority lending is

a key part of our mission and our business, and it represents an ongoing challenge for all

of us in the housing finance industry. Minority homeownership rates have grown

tremendously during the 1990s, but they continue to lag the national homeownership rate.

In 1993, the Hispanic homeownership rate was 39.4 percent; today it is 45.7 percent. The

African-American homeownership rate was 42 percent in 1993, and today it has reached

47.8 percent. Yet, today, the national homeownership rate stands at over 67 percent, and

the white homeownership rate is 73.4 percent. (CHART 9) Clearly, much more needs

to, and can, be done— and we are committed to playing a leadership role to increase

minority homeownership.

At Fannie Mae, we have long recognized that minority families seeking to buy a

home and obtain mortgage credit face barriers of wealth, income, credit, information, and

discrimination. Through the expansion of low down payment mortgages, innovations in

credit assessments and underwriting flexibilities, as well as our support for a variety of

The goal for underserved areas first took effect in 1996.
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educational initiatives, Fannie Mae has sought to break down these barriers. These

efTorts have borne tangible results:

• In 1993, we provided S36.8 billion in mortgage financing for over 355,000

minority families— this included $5.7 billion in mortgages for over 65,000

African-American families.

• In 1999. Fannie Mae provided S45.6 billion in housing finance for nearly 412,000

minority families, including S8.4 billion for nearly 86,000 African-American

families.

These numbers reflect an increase from 1993 to 1999 of nearly 31 percent in

financing for African-American homeownership, and a 16 percent increase in financing

for minorities overall. (CHART 10] I fully expect that I will be able to report to you
continued progress in Fannie Mae's service to the minority community over the coming

years.

Safety and Soundness

Those who worked on the 1992 Act recognized that the housing finance system
needed further assurances that our company would be able to carry out its mission in both

good and bad economic conditions. They saw that the public policy benefits that Fannie

Mae and Freddie Mac delivered would be only as good as our financial strength.

Congress determined that, while the companies then posed a low risk of financial

insolvency, more effective Federal regulation was needed to further reduce the

companies' low risk of failure.

Office ofFederal Housing Enterprise Oversight (OFHEO) Examination Process

The 1992 Act created the Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight to

monitor Fannie Mae's and Freddie's Mac's safety and soundness. Since 1994, OFHEO
has been conducting regular, on-site safety and soundness examinations. The scope and

rigor ofOFHEO's examinations equal or exceed those to which any regulated financial

institution is subject.

OFHEO's exam program closely resembles the risk-focused large bank exam

programs of the OCC and Federal Reserve System. In fact, OFHEO's Chief Examiner

was formerly OCC's Deputy Comptroller for Risk Evaluation and Capital Mar'Kets and

also led the OCC exam teams at Chase and Citibank. Like other financial regulators,

OFHEO examiners must compile and maintain an individual risk profile for Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac. The profile, which is updated continuously based on exam results,

reflects each company's specific risk level as well as the quality of its risk management.
The examiners also benchmark Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's risk-management

practices against those of other regulated financial institutions.
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The size of OFHEO's examination staff relative to the number of regulated

entities highlights the resources that OFHEO is able to devote to its examination duties.

OFHEO has 26 examiners for 2 regulated institutions — a 13 to I ratio. In comparison,
the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) has 1,902 examiners for 2,485

regulated entities, or about 0.75 examiners for every institution; the Federal Deposit

Insurance Corporation has 1,796 examiners for 5,807 regulated entities, or 0.30

examiners for every regulated institution.

Moreover, the size of OFHEO's examination staff is comparable to the number of

examiners that other financial regulators assign to large institutions. For the 28

institutions in the OCC large bank program, the OCC has an average of 12 examiners per

institution. The OCC has 28 examiners assigned to Citicorp, a company that is far more

complex than we are, operating as it does around the world and in a broad range of

activities. The Federal Reserve has approximately eight examiners assigned full-time to

Chase.

Also important is the transparency of OFHEO's examinations and oversight.

Congress requires public disclosure of summary findings in OFHEO's Annual Report to

Congress. While OCC, OTS, and the Federal Reserve also issue annual reports, only

OFHEO reports individual companies' exam results to the public. In reporting its 1998

exam results, OFHEO wrote that "the 1998 examinations found both Enterprises to be

financially sound and well managed" and that "the results of the 1998 examination show

that in all categories, Fannie Mae exceeds safety and soundness standards."^

In 1997, at Chairman Baker's request, OFHEO contracted with S&P to rate

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac on their risk to the government. Both companies were

given a AA- rating. Fannie Mae's AA- rating was an improvement from the A- rating

that S&P gave us in 1991 . S&P cited our consistently strong profitability and our

improvements in hedging, especially our ability to weather changing market conditions

and interest rate environments. There are only six bank holding companies with a AA-

rating. Some of the best known companies such as Bank of America and Wells Fargo

have lower ratings.

Minimum Capital Standard

The 1992 Act requires that Fannie Mae meet a ratio-based minimum capital

standard as well as its stress-test requirement. Under this leverage requirement, we must

have capital equal to 2.50 percent of on-balance sheet assets. We must also hold capital

equal to 0.45 percent for off-balance sheet assets. Farmie Mae must meet this minimum

capital requirement using "core capital"
— common stock, perpetual noncumulative

preferred stock, paid-in capital and retained earnings.

1999 Report to Congress, Office of Federal Housing Enterprise Oversight, June 15, 1999, pp. 11,18.
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Risk-Based Capital Standard

Congress also set in place a forward-looking capital standard for Fannie Mae.

This Subcommittee — and Chairman Baker in particular
— has devoted significant time

and energy to oversight of OFHEO's implementation of the risk-based capital standard in

the 1992 Act. We believe that a great deal of progress has been made over the seven

months since Director Falcon has taken the helm at OFHEO. We hope and expect that

this will continue as the regulatory process moves forward. We would like to see the

final risk-based capital standard in place as soon as possible.

The risk-based capital standard requires Fannie Mae to be able to withstand

extremely severe economic conditions that are far more severe and persist far longer than

those of the thrift crisis in the 1980s. As stated in the statute, the standard requires each

company to hold enough capital to withstand a 10-year stress period characterized by

unprecedented interest rate movements and credit losses occurring simultaneously. The

standard is truly extraordinary, and Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are unique in having to

meet such a test.

• The credit stress component takes the worst regional economic environment in the

U.S. in the last 20 years and extends it across the entire country for a full 10 years.

That downturn was the recession in the oil patch in the 1980s. To get comparable
conditions across the entire country would constitute an economic disaster

comparable to a major nationwide depression in effect for a period of time longer

than this country has ever witnessed.

• Not only does the stress test envision a ten-year period of nationwide depression
but it couples it with dramatic and sustained changes in interest rates. The interest

rate stress scenarios call for interest rates to rise or fall up to 600 basis points and

remain at that level for 10 years. The market currently estimates that these

interest rate changes are extremely unlikely. The possibility of these two credit

and interest-rate scenarios happening simultaneously is vanishingly small.

Nonetheless, to demonstrate the robustness of our risk-management techniques,

we are measured against a confluence of highly unlikely events.

• Our risk-based capital standard requires us not only to have sufficient capital to

maintain solvency throughout both events while doing no new business, but also

to maintain a 30 percent capital cushion over and above these stresses. Therefore,

we must maintain 130 percent of the capital necessary to survive the stress period.

OFHEO is in the final stages of promulgating regulations to implement the

standard in the 1992 Act, but Fannie Mae designed its own stress test from the

specifications in the statute in 1993 and has complied with that risk-based capital test

ever since.

In developing our risk-based capital requirement. Congress sought to tie closely

our capital to the specific risks of our business. Furthennore, the standard set out in the
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1992 Act is an explicit rejection of the leverage and traditional "risk-based" ratios to

which other financial institutions are subject. Unlike our risk-based capital standard,

traditional leverage requirements do not adequately contemplate or measure all types of

risk and impose a "one-size-fits-all" standard on sophisticated institutions operating in

technologically advanced markets. Furthermore, bank capital requirements are not based

upon the quantification of risk under protracted stressful interest-rate and credit

conditions. Rather, their regulatory risk-based minimums derive from arbitrary formulas

using only four credit risk categories.

Improved Interest Rate Risk Afanagement

Fannie Mae's approach to debt issuance gives us the ability to match, in a very

wide range of interest rate environments, the cash flow we receive fi-om the mortgages

we buy with the payments we have to make on the debt funding those mortgages. The

basis of our strategy is to invest in mortgages and issue debt securities that are matched in

duration and perform similarly in different interest-rate environments. We are

continually assessing the sensitivity of our portfolio to changes in interest rates and

rebalancing the portfolio in the context of a well-defined risk-management process and

strict limits imposed by our Board of Directors. As part of this strategy, we use option-

embedded instruments such as callable debt and option-based derivatives. Long-term

callable debt locks in lower-cost funding if interest rates rise, and Fannie Mae can call the

debt prior to maturity if interest rates fall and the mortgages funded by the debt prepay.

Off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments, such as interest-rate swaps, also

protect Fannie Mae against losses caused by swings in interest rates.

In 1981 and 1982, Fannie Mae suffered substantial losses because of dramatic

changes in interest rates that raised its borrowing costs. The interest rate environment

caused similar problems for thrifts and banks. At that time, Faruiie Mae had a

significantly shorter liability structure and made far less use of callable debt, interest rate

swaps, and other hedges to protect it against swings in interest rates.

Today, Fannie Mae is far safer than it was twenty years ago, in part because of

our greater use of option-imbedded funding instruments. Indeed, if the interest rate

scenario of the early 1980's were repeated today, Fannie Mae would not only avoid

substantial losses — we would continue to show strong earnings. In 1990, option-based

instruments were 10 percent of our mortgage assets. Other financial institutions either

choose not to or are unable to use option-based funding instruments to the same extent as

Fannie Mae. In 1999, Fannie Mae issued $93 billion in long-term callable debt,

compared with less than $1 billion in such debt issued by the largest bank holding

companies.

In 1999, the gross revenue available to us from mortgage financing was $8.1

billion. But because we chose to spend $4.6 billion to hedge the interest rate risk on

those mortgages by extending our liability durations, issuing callable debt, and

*
See A New Capitol Adequacy Framework , Consultotive Paper, Basel Committee on Banking Supervision,

Basel Committee (1999)(hereafter "Basel 11"); available on the Intemet at www.bis.org/publ/bcbs50.pdf.
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purchasing option-based derivatives, the amount we actually booked as revenue was $3.5

billion. That is a concrete commitment to risk management that few, if any, other

mortgage investors can match. Fannie Mae incurs two types of costs to hedge its interest

rate risk. The first is the cost of funding with longer-dated liabilities to create a duration

match to the mortgages we buy. The second is the cost of adding optionality to our

liabilities, either in the form of callable debt or option-based derivatives.

Through callable debt and other hedges, Fannie Mae protects itself from changes

in interest rates. We routinely test the performance of our portfolio under adverse market

conditions. Even if the 10-year Treasury rate were to move up or down by two standard

deviations over the next six months— movements that cover 95 percent of probable

interest rate changes
— and then fluctuate randomly after that, our net interest income

would vary only slightly over 2000-2003. And, indeed, despite interest rate swings of

almost 5 percentage points during the 1990s, Fannie Mae experienced consistent double-

digit growth in operating earnings
—

powerful evidence that our interest rate risk

management strategy is sound and effective. [CHART 11)

Improved Credit Risk Management

Fannie Mae manages credit risk by using sound underwriting guidelines to

determine which mortgages we will buy or securitize, by paying close attention to loans

with a higher risk of default, by monitoring the performance of those who service loans

held by Fannie Mae, and by sharing risk across a broad range of structures and partners.

Over the past three years, Fannie Mae has made strategic investments in new credit risk

management tools, creating the finest mortgage credit risk management capabilities of

any financial institution. These investments -
coupled with a strong economy and robust

housing market - have yielded dramatic results. Fannie Mae's credit losses have plunged

to a very low 1.1 basis points of our outstanding book, from $367 million in 1995 to $125

million in 1999. [CHART 12] Specifically:

• 1999's credit losses of $125 million were the lowest dollar losses since 1984,

when Fannie Mae's book of business was one-tenth its current the size.

• 1999 marked the third consecutive year of declining credit-related expenses.

• The $1 .2 trillion in mortgages we owned or guaranteed last year generated a total

of $400 million in gross credit losses, but Fannie Mae took only $125 million of

those losses (the rest were borne by risk sharing partners such as mortgage

insurers). Approximately $1.8 billion of gross revenue in 1999 went to Fannie

Mae's credit risk sharing partners, providing Fannie Mae with significant

protection against credit losses.

• In 1999, Fannie Mae's single family credit losses were 1 . 1 basis points of average

assets compared with bank credit losses of 61 basis points of average assets.

[CHART 13]
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Additionally, over the past four years. Fannie Mae has instituted a variety of loss

mitigation efforts aimed at identifying and assisting borrowers who, for one reason or

another, are in danger of having their homes foreclosed upon. Our Risk Profiler

technology enables servicers to predict with great precision which delinquent borrowers

are likely to catch up on their payments and which ones need immediate intenention. In

1999, for the first year ever, more than half our delinquent loans were resolved without a

costly foreclosure because we had servicing consultants on-site working every loan with

our major loan servicers. The combination of advanced technology and human judgment
allowed 44 percent of our delinquent loans in 1999 to be resolved with consumers not

losing their homes. For those loans where foreclosure is unavoidable, we have lowered

costs and helped home values by selling properties quickly.

Liquidit>' and Market Stability

The rigorous safety and soundness structure created by the 1992 Act and our

credit risk and interest rate risk management efforts are aimed at ensuring our constant

presence in the market in every community through good and bad economic times. Our

charter mandates that we fulfill this role as a market stabilizer, and we have consistently

demonstrated our ability to fulfill this obligation.

At times of financial crisis, or when there is a high level of mortgage originations,

demand for mortgages ft-equently does not keep pace with supply. At those times, we can

sell debt securities and use the proceeds to buy mortgages. In this way, we can expand
the financing available to mortgages and help reduce mortgage rates by increasing

demand. Our purchases provide two additional important benefits to consumers in

addition to lowering mortgage rates: (1) they reduce the volatility of mortgage rates; and

(2) they provide stability to the flow of mortgage funds.

We serve this role especially well during financial crises. The most recent

significant crisis was in the fall of 1998 when the commercial mortgage market dried up

and even some sovereign nsitions found themselves unable to borrow. Homebuyers, on

the other hand, enjoyed uninterrupted access to affordable housing finance. The reason

for this "privileged" position of homebuyers is clear. As Grant s Interest Rale Observer

noted: "It was the extraordinary purchases by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. ..that righted

the...market."^ Similarly, the Wall Street Journal, referring to Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac, explained: "Their presence helps to keep the market liquid and mortgage rates

reasonable."**

Similarly, in 1994, there was a rise in interest rates that caught many leveraged

debt holders by surprise. Yet through this upheaval, Fannie Mae provided stability and

maintained liquidity in the residential mortgage market — even as other markets were in

turmoil — by increasing our mortgage purchases and debt issuance.

'
Grant's Interest Rate Observer . May 7, 1999.

*
Wall Street Journal, October 29, 1 998. p. C 1 .
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Reducing volatility is valuable in and of itself, as borrowers are not subject to

such large swings in mortgage rates. But volatility also affects mortgage pricing
- the

greater the volatility, the higher the rate investors will charge borrowers. As a result,

reducing volatility also reduces mortgage rates. First Manhattan Consulting Group,

applying sophisticated econometric techniques to a unique and comprehensive data set, is

completing the first quantitative study examining this issue. Their results show that

during the global financial crisis of the fall of 1998, the reduction in mortgage rate

volatility alone saved mortgage borrowers 33 basis points
- that is a third of a percentage

point.

Innovation

Expanding homeownership opportunities for underserved families and meeting
the needs of our primary market partners require that we develop new products and new
business processes and bring these initiatives to market in real time. In the 1992 Act,

Congress designed a regulatory system to address these very requirements. The new

program approval provisions of the Act strike the right balance between mission

oversight and the realities of our business and our industry, while avoiding

micromanagement of our day-to-day operations. As Senators Donald Reigle and Jake

Gam wrote recently, "Congress thought it vital that these companies be able to bring to

market new products and initiatives in a timely manner and free of unnecessary

micromanagement."'

Since enactment of the 1992 Act, Fannie Mae has had tremendous success in

developing mortgage products that are extensions of its successful mortgage programs
and that well serve our lender partners and their customers, the consumer. Of particular

note are the product enhancements made possible as a result of our development of

Desktop Underwriter (DU), our automated underwriting technology. DU evaluates

specific pieces of information to help the lender make objective, informed decisions

about the relative credit risk of mortgage loans, and whether those loans are eligible for

purchase by Fannie Mae. DU improves lenders' efficiency, delivering time and cost

savings.

Most importantly, DU has allowed our lender partners to serve more borrowers

and reduce costs — savings that are passed to borrowers. More than 75 percent of

eligible mortgage applicants can be approved through DU in two to three minutes, based

on a reduced set of data as compared with traditional underwriting. We have been able to

expand the scope of mortgage products we offer to lenders, reduce mortgage insurance

requirements, stretch loan-to-value ratios, and reduce the time and costs associated with

property valuation.

A recent example of products DU has made possible is our new Timely Payment
Rewards mortgage for borrowers with tarnished credit histories. With this mortgage,
borrowers who qualify will be able to finance their home at a mortgage rate as much as

Lener to Housing and Uiban Development Secretary Andrew Cuomo, April 25, 2000.
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two percentage points lower than what credit-impaired borrowers typically pay, and

automatically will be guaranteed a mortgage rate reduction of an additional one

percentage point after 24 monthly payments without a delinquency. This option gives

credit-impaired borrowers a lower rate than they would get currently in the A-minus

market, and gives them the chance to bring their interest rate down still more by making

mortgage payments on time. This product is now in the pilot stage, and is being offered

by 20 lenders throughout the country. Fannie Mae was able to launch this pilot as a result

of the more sophisticated risk analysis available from DU.

We have also been an industry leader in conventional, low downpayment lending.

Our Flexible 97 mortgage is a 3 percent down payment loan for home buyers who have

trouble amassing funds for a down payment and closing costs and who have good credit

histories. In addition, in our portfolio of community lending products, we have a 3

percent down payment Community Home Buyer's mortgage designed for low- and

moderate-income homebuyers who earn no more than 100 percent of the area median

household income and who have the income to handle their monthly payments but have

difficulty accumulating cash for a down payment.

Fannie Mae's innovation is not limited to mortgage products. On the funding side

of the business, we are constantly looking for new debt products to meet the demands of

investors in the U.S. and abroad. One good example is our Benchmark Notes program,
which we launched in early 1 999. We recognized that, with the federal government

moving toward a balanced budget, the size of Treasury debt issuances would decline. We
saw the opportunity to step in to meet the needs of fixed-income investors with larger,

more liquid securities issuances, conducted on a regular monthly basis. The introduction

of the Benchmark Note products has drawn over 500 new investors to the market for

Fannie Mae's debt.

Setting the Record Straight

Clearly, Fannie Mae's record demonstrates that we manage mortgage risk with a

high degree of expertise and efficiency. This is what Congress chartered us to do, and

since 1992 we have enhanced how we fulfill this obligation. Recently, some critics have

argued that we somehow increase risk. These comments reflect a misunderstanding of

the mortgage market and the role that we and others play. Often these comments also

reflect misapprehension about certain key facts.

1. The U.S. housingfinance system is safe and stable.

Compared with other forms of credit (commercial credit, credit cards, and other

forms of consumer credit), mortgages are far less risky because they are secured by a

very safe asset — borrowers' homes. In addition to the security of the underlying assets,

the housing finance system is transparent and liquid. Mortgage risk is relatively easy for

investors to value; and in the primary market, market efficiencies and the ease of entry

have created tremendous competition and transparency, providing borrowers with a wide

range of financing options. The secondary market's activities are similarly transparent:
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Fannie Mae transforms mortgage debt into liquid, easy-to-value instruments that meet a

wide range of investor demands. Moreover, the mortgage market is heavily

collateralized: the average Fannie Mae borrower has 40 percent equity in their home.

Additionally, while mortgage debt in our country is growing, it is growing at a

slower pace than consumer debt and at about the same rate as business debt. (CHART
141 In fact, the growth of mortgage debt has a very positive element: it is a sign of

expanding homeownership, a product of low interest rates and a strong economy.

2. Fannie Mae is growing steadily based on the needs ofother investors to share

risk.

Fannie Mae's growth is a reflection of the demands of the market in which we

operate. Over the last decade, Fannie Mae grew as mortgage debt outstanding continued

to grow. In 1990, Fannie Mae held 5 percent of mortgage debt outstanding. During the

1990s, the thrifts' share of mortgage debt declined by 13 percentage points, while the

share held by Faruiie Mae and Freddie Mac increased. Even so, by 1999, commercial

banks, thrifts and credit unions together still held 46 percent of mortgage debt

outstanding, while Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac held 17 percent. (CHART 15]

Between 1990 and 1997, Fannie Mae grew at an average rate of 17 percent

annually, a growth rate slower than that of the largest bank holding companies during

1994 to 1997. (CHART 16) Our growth expanded at the end of the 1990s as rates fell to

historic lows and the demand for mortgage financing increased at record rates. We do

not expect history to repeat itself over the next several years, particularly as mortgage
rates are on the rise. We anticipate that Fannie Mae's growth will come from a general

expansion in the market and some modest shifts in market share. An examination ofGSE

growth that lumps all of the housing GSEs together fails to appreciate certain differences

and distinctions: Fannie Mae's 1999 growth rate of 19 percent was far eclipsed by the 34

percent growth in Federal Home Loan Bank System assets, the benefits of which accrued

to FHLB member depositories. (CHART 17]

Farmie Mae holds or securitizes 23.6 percent of mortgage debt outstanding. But

in terms of revenues available for managing interest rate and credit risk, our market share

is not 23.6 percent
— it is far less, just under 9.4 percent. In other words, we purchase or

guarantee 23.6 percent of the mortgage debt in the market, but we receive 9.4 percent of

the revenues available for managing the credit and interest-rate risk on it. The difference

between the 23.6 percent and the 9.4 percent is the mortgage risk we share with other

partners. About one-half of the revenue available to us goes to our risk-sharing partners.

This takes our revenue share down from 9.4 percent to around 4.7 percent. This is also

why, of our $12.8 billion in gross revenues last year, we reported $6.4 billion net. The

other $6.4 billion went to our risk-sharing partners
-
mortgage insurance companies,

mortgage lenders through recourse arrangements, and investors in our debt securities.

We shared or hedged our risks with all of these partners to bring our credit losses to a

very low level.
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This should answer two questions that often arise about our growth projections.

Is Fannie Mae too big to grow? The answer is no, we have only 9.4 percent of the gross

revenues - and only 4.7 percent of the net revenues - available in our market. And as we

grow, are we taking too much risk? Again, the answer is no. Not only do we specialize

in risk management on mortgages, we don't take all the risk - we share most it with

others in the market.

3. Fannie Mae's expansion ofthe market is consistent with its charter.

Some critics have claimed that we cannot grow without exceeding the limits of

our Congressional charter. To the contrary, we can grow precisely because our charter

directs us to expand homeownership opportunities for all Americans. Our investors

choose to invest in us because of our charter and the public policy mission that Congress
has charged us with fulfilling. The composition of our assets reflects our commitment to

our charter. Just over 91 percent of our assets are mortgages or mortgage-related, e.g.,

Low-Income Housing Tax Credit investments. The remainder is mostly made up ofcash

and other short-term assets that we need for liquidity. [CHART 18)

Part of our charter mandate requires that we work to increase the liquidity of

mortgage assets and to promote access to mortgage credit throughout the Nation.

Through initiatives such as our S2 trillion pledge to reach 18 million underserved families

during this decade we are fulfilling our mission by expanding the universe of consumers

able to achieve the dream of homeownership. Homeownership rates among minorities,

women-headed households and residents of central cities and underserved areas are well

below the national average. The wave of immigration during the eighties and nineties

will play out in this decade with more families seeking homeownership. These are the

fastest growing mortgage markets, and Fannie Mae is committed to help these families

achieve the dream of homeownership.

We will also grow as a company, increase the number of borrow^ers served by the

conforming market, and fulfill our liquidity function by helping lenders to offer our low-

cost conventional financing to consumers that are now being sent to higher-cost segments

of the market. We estimate that about half of the borrowers today getting subprime loans

are A-minus borrowers, j ust a notch below qualifying for our conventional financing.

And many consumers are being offered FHA and VA loans when they could qualify for a

Fannie Mae loan and save money. Our job is to lower mortgage costs, and by helping

lenders offer consumers our low-cost loans we can achieve both our mission goals and

our business goals.

4. The secondary mortgage market transforms debt— // does not add to

outstanding debt

Fannie Mae is a financial intermediary; it does not create mortgage debt. To

illustrate, when the company buys mortgages originated by a lender and issues debt,

Fannie Mae transforms the mortgages
— which have illiquid, unrated, unpredictable
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cash flows— into debt securities that are Hquid, high-quaUty, and have predictable cash

flows.

Here is an illustration of how this works. When a lender originates SI billion in

mortgages, the lender creates SI billion of mortgage debt financed with short-term

borrowing. Having made the loans, the lender then swaps the SI billion into mortgage-
backed securities, which are sold to Wall Street. The transformation of the loans into

MBS and the sale to Wall Street eliminates the debt the lender took on to fund the initial

loans — thus, the amount of outstanding debt is still SI billion.

Of the SI billion in mortgage-backed securities. Wall Street sells $160 million to

Fannie Mae and the rest to other investors. The amount of debt outstanding is still SI

billion. Fannie Mae has now purchased 16 percent (or SI 60 million) of the original SI

billion in outstanding mortgage debt, and we fund our purchases by issuing effective

long-term debt. The loans and MBS that we have purchased are now, for us, assets

delivering income streams. (Wall Street firms use the proceeds fi-om investor purchases
to pay down their debt.) Thus, we have transformed these obligations into liquid and

marketable assets, and the amount of debt outstanding remains SI billion, funded by SI

billion of borrowing by Fannie Mae and others. (CHART 19)

Risk transformation is Fannie Mae's essential role in the system. We create

mortgage products that consumers want, such as our 3 percent down payment loans. And
we raise capital to finance them by creating debt securities that investors want, such as

our Benchmark series. Once we purchase or securitize the mortgages, we then manage
and/or disperse the credit and interest rate risk on the mortgages.

5. Fannie Mae 's debt is not guaranteed by the U.S. government.

An increase in Fannie Mae's debt does not increase the indebtedness of the U.S.

government. Our obligations are in no way backed by the full faith and credit of the

United States government.

The 1992 Act requires that the front page of all our debt and mortgage-backed
securities state that they "are not guaranteed by the United States and do not constitute a

debt or obligation of the United States."* The market recognizes that fact by pricing our

debt at yields that are far higher than U.S. Treasury yields. Our 10-year debt, for

example, yields more than a percentage point over U.S. Treasury debt. If investors

believed that a Fannie Mae obligation was a full-faith-and-credit obligation, the yield

would be the same or virtually the same as Treasury obligations.

Nonetheless, our critics have asserted that our debt will soon be larger than the

federal debt, so it is worthwhile to take a few moments here to clarify the numbers.

(CHART 20]

'
See Section 1381(0 of the 1992 Act; see also Sections 314(b), (d) and (c) of the Fannie Mae Charter,

codified at 12 U.S.C. sec. 1719 (b), (d), and (e).
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• At the end of 1999, federal debt held by the public was $3.7 trillion and the total

federal debt (including debt held by government trust funds) was $5.8 tnllion.

Our critics like to claim that the relevant number for federal debt is $2.7 trillion.

They do this by using a figure they say is derived from Treasury and CBO, which

they call "publicly held, interest-bearing Treasury debt." In determining the

indebtedness of the United States, such a figure is meaningless. Congressional
and Administration presentations of the federal budget always focus on two debt

figures: gross debt and debt held by the public.

• At the end of 1999, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac had $909 billion in outstanding
debt and the Federal Home Loan Bank system had $543 billion in debt

outstanding
— for a total of $1.5 trillion. Our critics use a figure of $1.9 trillion— 28 percent off.

Our critics also like to assert that in some number of years, Fannie Mae debt will

exceed that of the federal government. Since the government is paying down the

publicly-held debt, of course that is true. Once the publicly-held debt is paid off, every

company in America that issues debt to finance its operations will have more debt

outstanding than the federal government. At the same time, consumers will still seek

mortgage credit to buy their homes— and the secondary mortgage market will help

lenders provide consumers with the financing they need.

6. Fannie Mae 's ability to manage and transform risk makes us an extraordinarily

safe institution.

Much of the misinformation that has been generated about Fannie Mae centers on

the theme of our riskiness. Thoughtful examination of the way that we do our business

and the way that our company is run and regulated demonstrates that Fannie Mae is one

of the safest holders of mortgage risk.

First, Fannie Mae is in only one line of business, dealing with one type of asset.

Our charter limits the company to the residential mortgage market serving middle-,

moderate-, and low-income borrowers. In 2000, Fannie Mae's single-family loan limit is

$252,700. While our business revolves around one kind of asset, our asset base comes

from all regions of the country and consists of various mortgage product types,

diversifying our risk and protecting us from the disproportionate impact of a regional

downturn. For this reason, Fannie Mae has not suffered unsustainable losses when

certain regions have experienced severe economic downturns. (CHART 211

Second, our business centers on managing the risks of our assets and transforming

these risks into instruments that appeal to a wide range of investors. Fannie Mae's

interest rate risk management focuses on tightly matching our assets and liabilities using

a mix of callable and non-callable debt and other duration matching instruments. This

strategy provides us with the ability to match, in a very wide range of interest rate

environments, the cash flows we receive from the mortgages we buy with the payments
we have made on the bonds funding those mortgages. It also enables us to disperse the
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risks inherent in mortgages among a broad range of domestic and international investors

including commercial bank portfolios and trust departments, investment fund managers,

insurance companies, pension funds, state and local governments, and foreign central

banks.

Indeed, Fannie Mae is a safer holder of mortgage interest rate risk than banks and

thrifts. Our national diversification insulates us from credit losses resulting from regional

economic downturns that devastate banks and thrifts that are more geographically

concentrated. And our specialized funding structures are designed expressly for

mortgages and are a better match for mortgage risk than federally insured deposits and

short-term debt, neither of which are consistent with mortgage maturities or perform

similarly to mortgages in different interest rate envirorunents.

• When interest rates rise, homeowners hold onto their fixed-rate mortgages that are

now a bargain relative to what is available in the marketplace. At the same time,

people with short-term deposits will tend to withdraw their funds because they

can get better rates by investing in a new (higher-rate) instrument. The result is

that the lender will have to replace the lost funds with new deposits at a higher

cost.

• When interest rates fall, borrowers tend to refinance their higher-rate fixed-rate

mortgages with new lower-cost mortgages. People who had made longer-term

deposits keep those deposits in place since they have higher-yielding investments

than are now available in the market. The result is that the lender will have

lower-rate mortgages being funded by the same high-cost deposits.

Properly managing the risks of our business also means sharing and managing
credit risk effectively. The efficiency and stability that we bring to the market is due in

part to our ability to properly disperse credit risk among a variety of entities. We share

credit risk with: the homeowner (through down payments and the subsequent equity

buildup); mortgage insurance companies (our charter requires credit enhancement on all

loans where the loan is greater than 80 percent of the value of the underlying property);

our lender partners (through recourse arrangements); and others. Fannie Mae has S838

billion in credit loss protection, including $740 billion of borrower equity, S68 billion in

mortgage insurance, and $30 billion in other recourse. To put this in context, Fannie Mae
has had $285 million in average annual credit losses during the 1990s. (CHART 22|

This credit-risk sharing, along with marked improvements and innovations in our risk

management, has meant that Fannie Mae's credit losses have been declining even as our

book of business has increased.

In addition, banks and thrifts engage in a range of lending activities from

mortgages, auto loans, credit cards, and commercial lending, to far riskier and obscure

activities. In fact, in the post Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act world, these institutions have a

whole range of new business lines available to them, including merchant banking, real

estate development, and insurance underwriting. These viiried activities present a

spectrum of risk levels to be constantly managed.
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7. Fannie Mae is subject to rigorous safety and soundness oversight.

Some of the recent public discussions about Fannie Mae and about the secondary

mortgage market suggest that we operate without sufficient regulation. This claim

ignores the regulatory regime created by the 1992 Act.

Overseeing our interest rate and credit risk management efforts is a regulatory

regime that is both exceptionally rigorous and closely calibrated to the risks of our

business. When Congress examined Fannie Mae's and Freddie Mac's capital and

regulatory structures in 1992, it chose to put together a progressive capital standard that

measures both credit and interest rate risk and that requires us to hold capital in relation

to the amount of risk we take. The risk in our business stems from the cash flow

variability of assets relative to liabilities. Accordingly, the correct risk management and

risk oversight involves stressing absolute levels of interest rates and cash flows. That is

the test that we have been managing our business to since 1993, and this is the test that

OFHEO is now implementing.

No other financial institution is subject to as detailed or rigorous a capital

standard as the one imposed on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac by the 1992 Act. A Fannie

Mae-commissioned study by IPS Sendero found that this standard would require a typical

thrift to hold 50 percent more capital than required by the current Basle standards.

Furthermore, when subject to the rigors of our risk-based capital stress test (which the

company must be able to withstand for 10 years), the Sendero study found that the thrift

industry would deplete its total capital base as early as year 5 or as late as year 7 of the

10-year stress period, depending upon the severity of the credit loss assumption applied.

Similarly, banks would deplete their capital base in 5 to 7 years.

Congress imposed on Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac a stress test with extreme

credit and interest rate conditions while other financial regulators still focused on

leverage ratios. In recent years, bank supervisors have agreed on the need for substantial

changes to the current leverage and risk-based formulas for banks and thrifts. There is a

growing view that these prescriptive standards look backward and focus on past

performance of portfolios; do not adequately measure all types of risk; allow banks to

engage in regulatory capital arbitrage; and impose a "one-size-fits-all" standard on

sophisticated institutions operating in technologically advanced markets.

Indeed, the consensus of banking regulators on the direction of capital standards

demonstrates that the 1992 Act stress test was far ahead of its time, and remains the state

of the art. As Federal Reserve Chairman Greenspan commented recently:

"In estimating necessary levels of risk capital, the primary concern should

be to address those disturbances that occasionally do stress institutional

solvency
— the negative tail of the loss distribution that is so central to

'
Sec, e^. Remarks by Federal Reserve Board Governor Janet L. Yellen, "Recent Developments in the

Financial System," Jerome Levy Economics Instihite of Bard College, September 16, 1996. at 12.



236

modem risk management. As such, the incorporation of stress scenarios

into formal risk modeUng would seem to be of first-order importance.

However, the incipient art of stress testing has yet to find formalization

and uniformity across banks and securities dealers. At present most banks

pick a small number of ad hoc scenarios as their stress tests. And although

the results of the stress tests may be given to management, they are, to my
knowledge, never entered into the formal risk modeling process.

Additional concern derives from the fact that some forms of nsk that we
understand to be important, such as liquidity and operational risk, cannot

at present be precisely quantified, and some participants do not quantify

them at ail, effectively assuming them to be zero. Similarly, the present

practice of modeling market risk separately from credit risk, a

simplification made for expediency, is certainly questionable in times of

extraordinary market stress. Under extreme conditions, discontinuous

jumps in market valuations raise the
specter

of insolvency, and market risk

becomes indistinct from credit risk."'

8. The secondary market reduces systemic risk.

In addition to our ability to closely match our assets and liabilities, our stnicture

and our presence in the market reduces systemic risk in the housing finance market.

Fannie Mae offers depositories an opportunity to lower their risk by purchasing Fannie

Mae debt instead of MBS. Depositories, which lack many of the risk management

advantages of long-term, option-based bonds, are able to avoid the significant

prepayment risk of MBS. Our ability to use such instruments mitigates that risk

substantially.

Fannie Mae's purchase and funding activities are transparent, which applies

market discipline to its operations. We buy liquid, easy-to-value assets, and we sell

liquid, easy-to-value debt. This dynamic makes us different from other leveraged

investors, who are often involved in a wider and less transparent range of financial

purchasing and funding activities.

Fannie Mae's performance during the latter part of 1998, contrasted with that of

the hedge fund Long Tenm Capital Management (LTCM), illustrates the weakness of

comparing Fannie Mae with a hedge fund such as LTCM. Fannie Mae differs from

LTCM in three core aspects: the nature of our business, the scope of regulatory oversight,

and the transparency of our operations. LTCM is an unregulated, highly secretive,

opaque hedge fund. In contrast, Fannie Mae is a highly regulated, transparent company.

LTCM sought to profit from the relative price movements of a variety of exotic

investments, much of them financed with short-term debt. Fannie Mae has a narrow

charter and a simple and safe product line. We hold assets to maturity, not for trading

gains, and we fund them with long-term borrowing.

'"
Remarks to the 36* Annual Conference on Bank Stnicture and Competition of the Federal Reserve Bank

of Chicago, May 4, 2000.
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In 1998, Fannie Mae was ready and willing to step into the market, when other

mortgage investors could not or would not. We had the structure and the tools to

substantially increase our mortgage purchases and to fund these purchases efficiently in

the international capital markets. Our earnings growth was uninterrupted, and

homeownership surged during this crisis. leading to what was then an all-time record

homeownership rate of 66.3 percent.

In contrast, LTCM had to be rescued by a consortium of 1 3 banks and investment

firms, at the urging of the Federal Reser\e. With losses mounting in August and

September of 1998, LTCM had trouble in meeting margin calls and its positions were

threatened with foreclosure. A rescue was the only alternative to the collapse of the firm.

While LTCM was experiencing problems, several other hedge funds also experienced

difficulties. Some of those problems led to the forced sale of mortgage assets held by

hedge funds. Those sales could easily have disrupted the mortgage market significantly,

were it not for our portfolio. By broadening the pool of available financing to include

investors in our debt, we stabilized the mortgage market and kept it in alignment with

other fixed income markets.

9. Restricting bank holdings ofFannie Mae debt would increase risk in the

financial system.

At the hearing held by this Subcommittee in late March, there was some

discussion of whether commercial banks should hold fewer GSE debt securities as assets

on their balance sheets. I would like to offer some perspective on this issue.

First, the "loan to one borrower" restriction currently in place refers to bank

holdings of the debt of individual issuers, not groups of issuers. So to analyze bank

holdings of GSE debt, it is necessary to disaggregate the debt issuances of Fannie Mae,

Freddie Mac, the Federal Home Loan Banks and other GSE issuers.

Second, commercial banks in the aggregate are not over-invested in Fannie Mae.

We estimate that the banking industry holds Fannie Mae debt equal to 1 5 percent of bank

capital
— the same limit imposed on bank lending to individual borrowers — and just

1.28 percent of total bank assets.

Finally, the largest relative holders of Fannie Mae debt are small banks. The 725

banks that hold more than 100 percent of their capital in Fannie Mae comprise only 8

percent of all banks and only 2.1 percent of bank assets. In contrast, the 20 percent of all

banks that hold less than 10 percent of their capita! in the form of Fannie Mae debt are

the banks that control nearly two-thirds of the assets in the banking industry.

The implication of these statistics is that if policymakers decided to impose a limit

on banks' holdings ofGSE debt, the banks most affected would be the smallest banks—
the same banks that pose the smallest threat of any systemic risk in the financial system.

These banks choose to hold Fannie Mae debt— as opposed to MBS or even
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unsecuritized mortgages
— because they want the liquidity of mortgages but are not

well-equipped to manage mortgage risk. GSE debt securities give them a high quality,

highly liquid investment with predictable cash flows and a higher interest rate than

Treasury securities. Forcing small banks to divest most of their holdings of such

securities would likely increase the risk in the system, as these banks would need to

replace GSE debt with investments less suited to their needs. For example, if these small

banks replaced Fannie Mae debt with MBS, they would be taking on the prepayment risk

they now avoid. As a risk transformer, what Fannie Mae does is put our access to the

capital markets and our risk-management expertise at the disposal of smaller depositories.

As Thomas J. Sheehan, President of the Independent Community Bankers of

America wrote recently, "GSE debt is one of a very limited number of investments that

are eligible as collateral for public deposits. Many community banks would have to

replace GSE investments with Treasury securities at rales that currently range from 25 to

50 basis points below comparable GSE securities. The loss in income would be passed on

to public depositors and/or the banks' private customers and owners."'
'

Ironically, the largest banks do not hold a significant portion of their capital in

GSE debt. Thus, a proposal to limit bank holdings ofGSE debt aimed at reducing

systemic risk would have virtually no impact on the largest banks — the very institutions

whose failures could actually pose a risk to the health of the financial system.

The second implication is that by imposing a limit on bank holdings ofGSE debt,

policymakers would reduce the capital available to fund mortgages. This loss of funding
would drive up mortgage rates.

10. The agency debt market is a distinct credit market.

As a result of the status it receives from its charter, Fannie Mae can issue debt in

what is known as the agency debt market. This does not mean Fannie Mae is equivalent

to a federal agency, or that its debt trades at yields similar to U.S. government securities.

Indeed, Fannie Mae borrows at rates far higher than the U.S. Treasury and much closer to

top-rated corporations.

Instead, the agency debt market refers to that part of the private capital markets

that fund private entities (such as Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the Federal Home Loan

Banks) that carry out a specific public purpose. When the government chartered these

institutions to raise private capital for a public purpose (in Fannie Mae's case, the

expansion of homeownership), it helped create and give these institutions access to the

agency debt market.

One way that our access to the agency market helps American homebuyers is that

it allows us to reach a broader range of investors. Foreign central banks, which generally

will not invest in U.S. corporate debt, will buy agency debt. In fact, foreign central banks

Letter to U.S. Treasury Secretary Lawrence H. Summers, March 24, 2000.
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purchase 15 percent of our debt securities — effectively increasing the capital available

for U.S. mortgages and reducing mortgage rates.

One implication of having access to the agency debt market is that investors

assume that the government, in chartering Fannie Mae, also has made a commitment to

regulate Fannie Mae in a manner that ensures our continued ability to pursue our public
mission. The 1992 Act reaffirmed the government's commitment to Fannie Mae's
mission and to its safety and soundness, through the creation ofOFHEO and the

establishment of a risk-based capital standard.

Jl. Fannie Mae passes on the benefits its charter confers
— and the benefits are

not automatic.

The role Fannie Mae plays in the secondary market creates a clear benefit for

homeowners every day. Every academic and government study ever done on this issue

confirms what every consumer knows by checking the Saturday "rate sheets" in their

local newspapers: rates on conforming loans are significantly lower than rates on jumbo
mortgages.

How much do we lower rates? A comparison between conforming and jumbo
rates over time generally shows a range of 20-50 basis points, or about one-quarter to

one-half of a percentage point. Put in dollar terms, a 50 basis point rate reduction can

reduce the cost of a 30-year mortgage by as much as 531,000 over the full life of the loan.

Based on mortgage rates last week, a Fannie Mae mortgage saved consumers 518,700.

Put another way, a loan one dollar above Fannie Mae's loan limit costs 518,700 more
than a loan at or below our loan limit. These savings accrue to borrowers with

conforming mortgages whether or not lenders sell those mortgages to Fannie Mae.

Furthermore, a 25 basis point rate reduction allows an additional 400,000 renter

families to qualify for a mortgage on the median starter home. But even this understates

the benefit we provide. Recent research has demonstrated that rates on jumbo mortgages

"piggy back" off the rate reduction we bring to the conforming market. Without Fannie

Mae and Freddie Mac, jumbo rates would be about 10 basis points higher.'* Thus, the

true rate reduction we bring to consumers is not the difference between conforming rates

today and jumbo rates today, but rather between conforming rates today and what jumbo
rates would be without us. I doubt that other holders of mortgage debt could demonstrate

such quantifiable consumer benefits.

However, it would be a mistake to assume that Fannie Mae's access to the agency
market automatically provides this benefit to the consumer. In fact, the impact Fannie

Mae creates stems from an interplay between the benefits of the agency market, the

efficiency Fannie Mae itself creates, and the role the market plays every day in providing

capital to support homeownership.

"The Effects of Purchases of Mortgages and Securitization by Goveminent Sponsored Enterpnses on

Mortgage Yield Spreads and Volatility," draft report by The First Manhattan Consulting Group.



240

As I noted, Fannie Mae benefits from access to the agency market, but that benefit

does not automatically translate into lower mortgage rates. The yield of longer-term

agency debt is substantially above comparable Treasuries, but it is somewhat below

comparable corporate debt. Fannie Mae enhances that benefit through the efficiency of

its structure.

One way to demonstrate that efficiency is by examining our relatively narrow

margins and low overhead. Our net interest margin is just over 100 basis points,

compared with 420 basis points for major banks. Because we operate efficiently, our

non-interest expense is 18 basis points, compared with banks' 300 basis points. This

leaves us with an 82 basis point return on assets compared to 120 basis points for banks.

These narrow margins mean that we can add to the benefit we receive from the agency
market through the efficiency of our structure.

The market recognizes our efficiency and rewards it. When we issue Benchmark

bonds that provide greater liquidity to the market, we are rewarded with lower yields.

When the market trades our MBS, which carries no explicit government guarantee, it

often sets a higher price and lower yield than Ginnie Mae securities, which do enjoy an

explicit government guarantee.

Despite the daily evidence of lower mortgage rates and efficiencies that the

market rewards, some continue to argue that we do not pass on the benefits of our charter,

citing a 1996 Congressional Budget Office (CBO) study. That study concluded that

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in 1995 received S6.4 billion in federal "subsidies," of

which they supposedly retained S2.1 billion. In addition to its questionable methodology,
the CBO study is plagued by a number of critical errors.

• CBO assumed that Fannie Mae issues debt at yields 70 basis points lower than

AA-rated financial companies (and that Freddie Mac issues debt at 68 basis points

lower). In fact, the debt advantage for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac in the 1990s

has averaged about 35 basis points. Correcting CBO's analysis for this error

reduces the S2.1 billion retained benefit to SO. 8 billion.

• CBO also produced flawed figures for MBS, reflecting a misunderstanding of

how the MBS market operates. In its analysis, CBO claimed that the higher price

investors are willing to pay for Fannie Mae MBS gives Fannie Mae a 40 basis

point "subsidy" in its securitization of mortgage-backed securities. In fact, the

higher price is paid not to Fannie Mae, but rather to the lenders with whom Fannie

Mae has swapped MBS for mortgages. Fannie Mae's only income is the guaranty

fee, which depends on the credit risk of the loans underlying the MBS pool, not

on the market price of Fannie Mae MBS compared with private MBS. CBO
valued this subsidy, which Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac never receive, at $3.8

billion. Correcting CBO's analysis for this error reduces the $0.8 billion retained

benefit to a net positive $3.0 billion. [CHART 23)
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The CBO study also includes other methodological flaws. For instance, it only

credits Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac for the loans they buy or securitize, while the

benefit of lower rates is felt across the entire conforming market. In addition, the impact

of their activity helps pull down jumbo rates as well, which is also not reflected in the

CBO analysis. Simply correcting the errors CBO made in quantifying any advantage

accorded our debt or MBS erases any "retained subsidy." Correctmg the larger

methodological flaws demonstrates that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac deliver a greater

value to the consumer than they receive through access to the agency market.

12. Fannie Mae 's service to homebuyers depends on the company 's profitability.

Our pre-tax income is used for three purposes: to pay Federal taxes, to distribute

as shareholder dividends, and to retain as capital to back the purchase and securitization

of mortgages (subject to our strict risk-based capital standards). In 1999, 28 percent of

our income went to pay Federal taxes, and another 22 percent went to pay a 1 .7 percent

dividend yield to our shareholders. (Our shareholders accept this low return because they

know that we have an opportunity to grow, unlike a public utility that cannot grow and

therefore has to pay much higher dividends to shareholders. If our shareholders decided

that we did not have any growth potential, we would have to pay higher dividends,

reducing the capital available for homeownership.) In 1999, we used the remaining 50

percent of our pre-tax income— S2.7 billion — to provide the capital required for the

$195 billion we invested in homeownership and rental housing. (CHART 24|

Since 1968, when Fannie Mae became a private company, we have increased our

capital from $185 million to $19 billion. That S19 billion in private capital is what keeps

liquidity flowing in the conventional mortgage market, and what keeps interest rates for

homebuyers as low as possible. That $19 billion in capital is what has allowed Fannie

Mae to own or guarantee $1.2 trillion in mortgages for close to 16 million families.

H.R. 3703 Does not Improve on the Successes of the 1992 Act

I have spent a great deal of time today discussing the improvements and reforms

set in motion by the 1992 Act. That is because I believe the 1992 Act — developed when

the lessons of the S&L crisis were fresh in the minds of policy makers — got it right. It

established rigorous safety and soundness requirements; it focused us more than ever on

our affordable housing mission; and it created an environment conducive to innovation.

This is a structure that has demonstrated value — for the market and for home buyers.

With this in mind, 1 would like to offer a few comments about H.R. 3703. I apply

a straightforward test for examining policy proposals affecting our housing finance

system:

• Does it reduce costs for consumers?

• Does it improve the safety and soundness of the housing finance system?
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• Does it expand opportunities for homeownership?

• Does it allow innovation in the market without cumbersome regulatory

requirements?

If the provisions of the Baker bill are enacted, homeownership will be more

costly. This bill seeks to change a system that effectively links the international capital

markets with the U.S. mortgage market by undoing several years of serious work by

Congress and the Executive Branch. Our housing finance system is characterized by the

efficiency and the predictability that comes from market discipline. H.R. 3703 calls into

question the system's current predictability and its future efficiency, and consumers

would pay the price of its passage.

The bill creates an inefficient and unwieldy structure and imposes a new web of

regulatory requirements and burdens on our company— and hence on consumers—
without enhancing safety and soundness. The benefits that consumers receive from the

housing finance system are best protected and promoted by the system's continued safety

and vitality. Unfortunately, despite H.R. 3703's stated objective to enhance safety and

soundness, the bill could very well undermine our safety and soundness, add confusion to

our regulatory structure, and impede the efficiency of the housing finance market.

The bill creates a new regulatory structure that offers nothing in the way of

improved regulatory oversight, while undermining key regulatory priorities. First, the

bill creates a five-member, politically divided board with ill-defined powers
— a

structure prone to division and delay. Although the bill purports to consolidate the

regulation of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac, and the FHLBs, the new regulator would have

the cumbersome responsibility of carrying out two entirely different schemes of

regulation. No attempt is made to harmonize the different capital, tax, and mission

requirements under which the FHLBs operate, compared to Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac.

Second, the inevitable uncertainty of any transition would further delay

implementation of the risk-based capital requirements of the 1992 Act. This would be

caused not only by the problems surrounding any change so significant, but also by the

broad, undirected authonty in the bill for the regulator to change the risk-based standard.

Third, the bill would propose to limit our liquid investment portfolio, threatening

our ability to manage our liquidity in response to market demands. One only has to look

back to the market downturn in the fall of 1998 for an illustration of the centrality of our

liquidity to the stability of the markets and the interests of the consumer.

The failure to improve safety and soundness is accompanied by new and

unwarranted regulatory burdens. The regulatory structure set out in the 1992 Act set the

stage for a tremendous amount of innovation in the housing finance system
— innovation

that has delivered more variety and more affordability to an ever-growing universe of

borrowers, helping to increase the homeownership rate. This innovation came about
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because, as discussed previously, the 1992 Act created a regulatory approval process that

helped keep us focused on our mission, without micromanaging the day-to-day

operations of our business.

H.R. 3703 would create a very different regulatory process
— one requiring that

any new product, or new business process, be subjected to a formal notice-and-comment

process, with publication in the Federal Register. It would give to this multi-headed

regulator the responsibility of deciding whether the public should have access to this new

product based on a vague "public interest" standard. Such a process would be

excessively slow, reveal to our competitors
— and to our lenders' competitors

— our

proprietary product development efforts, and be unpredictable in result. It would choke

off important innovation, stifling our ability to adapt with the lenders we serve in the

changing mortgage market. Finally, it would directly contradict the goal of the 1992 Act

to allow Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to innovate in pursuit of our mission.

As I mentioned at the outset of my testimony, we view our charter as a compact

between Congress and our shareholders. If the charter is the agreement, Fannie Mae

operates under that agreement to provide private capital in support of Congress's interest

in furthering homeownership. H.R. 3703 seeks to surgically adjust certain elements of

this agreement, which would upset the overall balance of rights and responsibilities. The

1992 Act examined this balance and strengthened it. H.R. 3703 fails to improve any of

the areas addressed or reforms put in place by the 1992 Act; indeed, it weakens the

structure created by the 1992 Act.

A section-by-section analysis of H.R. 3703 is attached as Appendix A.

Conclusion

I said at the outset ofmy statement that Congressional and regulatory oversight of

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are important to the vitality of the system. Such oversight

takes place in the context of an international capital market that is being asked to invest

billions of dollars everyday to support the U.S. housing finance system. Because these

investors are making long-term investments, they deserve long-term stability in the

regulatory framework of the issuer. The 1992 Act provided the type of long-term

stability investors need. The Congress should be careful to not create instability by

creating changes to the 1992 Act without compelling justification. Any uncertainty

injected into the housing finance market will ultimately be paid for by consumers in the

form of higher mortgage rates.

Thank you for inviting me to testify before you today. I look forward to working

with the Subcommittee on these important issues.
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Appendix A

Summary of the Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act of 2000

(H.R. 3703 introduced by Ciiairman Baker (R-LA))

Title I-Hoosing Finance Ovenigiit Board

Subtitle A—Improvement of Supervision

Section 101. EstabUshment of Board.

The bill establishes a new independent agency, the Housing Finance Oversight Board (the "Board"), as a

safety and soundness and mission regulator for Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the Federal Home Loan
Banks (collectively referred to in the bill as "the GSEs"). The Board succeeds to all of the authority of
HUD and OFHEO with respect to Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, and the Federal Housing Finance Board

(FHFB) with respect to the Federal Home Loan Banks. The Board is an independent agency in the

Executive branch.

The Board is composed of the secretaries of Treasury and HUD, or their designees (who also must be

officials who have been confirmed by the Senate), and 3 presidential appointees confirmed by the

Senate. The three presidential appointees serve terms of 6 years and are required to have "extensive

experience" or "training in" housing and finance, financial institution regulation or capital maricets. Not
more than 3 members of the Board can be from the same pohtical party.

One of the presidential appointees will serve as the Chairperson of the Board. The Chairperson is

designated to be the spokesp)erson for the Board and represent the Board in its relations with the Federal

government. The Chairperson is directed to serve as the chief executive officer responsible for the

day-to-day responsibilities of the Board. The Chairperson is given authority to exercise all

responsibilities of the Board with respect to personnel.

Vacancies on the Board will be filled in the original manner that the appointment was made. In the event

ofvacancies for the Secretary ofHUD or the Secretary of the Treasury, the Acting Secretary will sit on
the Board.

Notwithstanding that the Act does not become effective until 270 days after enactment, the President

may appoint members of the Board immediately. During the period starting on the effective date of the

Act and ending with the a|}pointment and confirmation of at least two presidential board members, the

Secretary ofHUD and the Secretary of the Treasury shall act with fiiU power of the Board.

Comments: Congress recently has rejected this type ofregulatory structureforfinancial institution

supervision. When the Treasury Department proposed itsfinancial modernization bill in June 1997, a
multi-headed supervisory Boardfor allfinancial institutions was considered too unwieldy and difficult

to get up and running in a reasonable period oftime. Congress in a similar manner rejected
consolidation ofthefederal banking agencies into one, multi-headed institution as proposed by the

Treasury Department during the 1990s. It is unclear what purpose would be served by proposing a
similar type ofconsolidated supervisory bodyfor the GSEs. Safety and soundness would suffer in the

years it would take to accomplish the consolidation.

Moreover, it is unclear what types ofindividuals would serve on the Board. The two cabinet secretaries

can designate an official asjunior as an Assistant Secretary to sit on the Board. This in and ofitself
diminishes the importance ofthe Board. The Chairperson is given authority to represent the Board in its

dealings with the Federal government. This appears inconsistent with the intent to have a checks and
balances system by having 5 persons on the Board. It also diminishes the role ofthe secretaries ofHUD
and Treasury. As drafted, the billpermits presidential appointees to have very vague qualifications to

serve on the Board. One would need only to be "trained infinancial institutions regulation,
"
or have
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some connection to the "capital markets" in order to be appointed to the Board. The Board thus could
become an amalgam ofpolitical appointees with varying degrees ofthe specific type ofknowledge and

expertise required to supervise the GSEs adequately. This is not an improvement over the current system

ofregulation.

The status ofOFHEO, HUD and the FHFB are unclear upon enactment ofthe Act. The President may
appoint Board members immediately, but it is not clear what happens ifthe members are not so

appointed, since section 101(c) f^gins a "transition period" 270 days after enactment. From the time of
the date ofenactment and the beginning ofthe transition, it is unclear whether HUD, OFHEO and the

FHFB would have authority to continue regulating the GSEs. Even during the transition provided in

section 101(c), supervision will be impaired because only the Secretary ofthe Treasury and the

Secretary ofHUD have authority to actfor the Board until the appointment ofat least two other Board
members. The system ofsupervision could be uncertain and highly politicizedfor years awaiting

confirmation ofat least two other Board members.

Section 102. Duties and Authorities of Board.

The "principal" duties of the Board are to ensure that the GSEs operate in a "financially" safe and sound

manner, cany out their missions through activities that are authorized under, and consistent with the

purposes of, the provisions of their charter acts, and remain adequately capitalized. To the extent

consistent with these principal purposes, the Board's duty is to exercise general supervisory and

regulatory authority over the GSEs in accordance with the Act, their chartering acts and any other

provision of law.

Comments : This provision leaves the duties ofthe Board vague and uncertain. In contrast, current law

spells out the obligations ofOFHEO and the FHFB in a more comprehensive manner - in part to ensure

that safety and soundness regulations will not be politicized.

Section 103. Public Disclosure of Information.

This section requires the Board, by regulation, to require public disclosure, on not less than an annual

basis, of financial, business and "other information" of the GSEs that the Board determines would be in

the public interest (because the availability of such information would increase the efficiency of the

secondary mortgage market or the housing finance system).

Comments : This provision preempts the Federal Trade Secrets Act and allows a government agency to

force private businesses to disclose trade secret information. The Trade Secrets Act carries criminal

penaltiesfor government officials who disclose protected information. This bill overrides that current

protectionfor these three entities only and notfor any other businesses. This is an anti-competitive

position, contrary to Congress'posture on all other laws governingfinancial institutions. The standards

under which the Board is permitted to require disclosures are vague and will give the Board

extraordinarypower toforce limitless disclosure. For example, current HUD regulations implement

specific standards regarding when Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac would be required to disclose

confidential information oflenderpartners to HUD, and in very controlled instances to HUD's Public

Use Database. In contrast, this very broad language allows the Board to require public disclosure of
lender information and any other information in Fannie Mae 's possession.

Section 104. Personnel.

This section makes the compensation provisions for the Board and its employees "subject to the

provisions of Title II of the Act." This provision prohibits the Board from delegating any fiinction to the

Federal Home Loan Banks or any employee, joint office or unit thereof The bill strikes provisions in

current law that require OFHEO to reimburse HUD for reasonable expenses and allow OFHEO to

appoint outside consultants and experts.

Section 105. Assessments.
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This provision takes the Board out of the Congressional appropriations process.

Comments: Thisprovision gives the Board authority to levy assessments on these three entities without

any constraint whatsoever. Budgets andforecasts ofthe Board are not required to be submitted to

Congress, as currently required ofOFHEO. Because there is no regulatory competitionfor GSE
charters, as there is in the dual banking system, there will be no check whatsoever on thepower ofthe
Board to charge excessivefees or any requirement that the Board avoid unnecessary expenditures.

Section 106. Public Disclosore of Final Orders and Agreements.

Technical.

Section 107. Limitation on Subsequent Employment

Expands current law to apply to post-Board employment at any Federal Home Loan Bank.

Section 108. Regulations.

This section deletes a section from current law that required OFHEO to issue all regulations associated

with its statutory mission within 18 months of enactment of the 1992 Act.

Comments: This provision highlights the "lag time" effect ofcreating newfederal agencies. Eight years

after its creation, OFHEO still has not issued its risk-based capital regulation
- its mainfunction as

conceived by Congress in 1992. Any new start up body will undoubtedly experience similar delays. This

does not achieve the goal ofimproving safety and soundness regulation.

Section 109. Termination of Authority of HUD.

This provision strips HUD of its role as mission regulator for Farmie Mae and Freddie Mac. However,
HUD retains its role in administering fair housing laws.

Comments : This provision transfers mission regulationfor Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac awayfrom an

agencyfamiliar with housing needs in the country and to a new, untested board that has no particular
commitment to advancing affordable housing. In addition, keeping HUD'sfair housing authority intact

is confusing and leaves significant regulatory responsibilities with HUD. This could be a basisfor

significant continued regulation by HUD on a broad range ofissues that will overlap with the authority

ofthe new Board. This defeats the purpose ofstreamlining regulation.

Section 110. Approval of Board for New Activities.

The bill requires prior approval of the Board for a broadly defined category of"new activities," which
are authorized if: (1) authorized by the respective chartering Act; (2) can be conducted, in the judgment
of the Board, in a safe and sound manner; and (3) are in the public interest as determined by the Board.

New activity requests by the GSEs must be published "promptly" by HUD in the Federal Register for a

comment period of pt least 30 days. Requests generally must be approved or denied within 90-120 days
of publication in the Federal Register .

Comments : No otherfinancial institutions are required to publish innovative business ideas in the

Federal Registerfor public comment andpublic replication. In addition, the language used in this

provision is so vague that any activity undertaken by the three entities could be deemed "new" by the

Board. The ability to innovate would be severely hampered, as the delays allowed by this provision
would be at least three tofour months before any new activity or product is approved - and the Board
could extend even thefour month period by delaying publication ofthe notice under only a vague
requirement that it publish the notice "promptly.

"
This provision also gives the Board extraordinary

power because it must approve a "new activity" only ifthe Board determines the activity is "in the public
interest.

'
This is essentially a standardless standard. This vague provision could be used in a manner

that prevents these three entitiesfrom carrying out their statutory responsibilities. Thus, the bill is
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internally inconsistent because Section 110 will adversely affect the missions ofthe GSEs despite the

requirement in Section 102 that the Board ensure that the GSEs carry out their missions. It also

completely changes Congress' rationale in enacting the 1992 Act ~ which was to promote safety and
soundness ofFannie Mae and Freddie Mac without stifling innovation or micromanaging the business

ofprivate companies.

Furthermore, these provisions define "new activity' differentlyfor Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the
Federal Home Loan Banks. The provisions grandfather all activities ofthe Federal Home Loan Banks
as of2/15/00, but only those ofFannie Mae and FreddieMac engaged in before enactment ofthe 1992

legislation, or within certain dollar limits. This is contrary to the Act's ejqtress intention to streamline

regulation, and defeats the purpose ofconsolidating regulators.

Section 111. Limitation on Nonmission-Related Assets.

This section requires the Board to limit "non-mission related assets" of all three entities. There are

separate provisions for both the Federal Home Loan Banks and Fannie Mae/Freddie Mac.

Comments : This provision deraib regulatory efforts underway at both the FHFB and at HUD. Both

agencies are studying whether and how investments by the three entities should be regulated. Neither

agency has come to a concrete position, due to the complex issues associated with such regulation. All

ofthis information gathering would be repudiated and regulation required without anyfurther study.
This may turn out to be needless regulation.

There is no definition ofthe term "nonmission related asset.
"
In addition, the way the provision is

drafted suggests that the Board could define the term "nonmission-related asset" differentlyfor Fannie
Mae/Freddie Mac thanfor the Federal Home Loan Banks. This is another example ofdefeating the

purpose ofconsolidating regulators and the possibilities embedded in the bill to treat some entities more

favorably than others — with no limits on that discretion.

Section 112. Conforming Loan Limits.

This section changes the loan limit provisions in the current Faiuiie Mae and Freddie Mac charters to

reflect the most recent loan limit of $252,700. The provision retains current practice for setting loan

limits, except that the Board is directed to develop a "successor" to the FHFB house price index

currently used to determine the loan limits and include within that successor index the OFHEO house

price index.

Comments: This provision does not adequately define "houseprice index.
"
Combining the FHFB and

OFHEO house price indices would be confusing and may not be possible. In any event, the Board isfree
to develop its own house price index as a "successor" that need notfollow any ofthe established

economics used by the FHFB or OFHEO. This could result in a long, new regulatoryprocess and could

negatively affect the ability ofthe entities to offerproducts as prices increase.

Section 113. Definitions.

Technical.

Section 114. Supervision of Federal Home Loan Bank System.

Technical.

Section 115. Amendments to Titie 5, United States Code.

Technical.

Subtitle B-Reduction of Systemic Risli
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Section 131. Annual Review of Enterprises by Rating Organizations.

This section requires a yearly assessment of the financial condition of Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and
each of the Federal Home Loan Banks by two nationally recognized rating agencies, including the

ability to repay obligations. In addition, the assessment must include a cr^it rating. The bill requires the
three entities to pay for these credit assessments.

Comments : Fannie Mae endorses efficient mechanisms ofproviding information to investors and to the
markets and thus provides a great deal ofinformation to analysts and investors. In addition, our safety
and soundness regulator examines us regularly andprovides the results ofthose examinations to the

public. The ratings agencies already assess the relative risk ofourfixed income obligations and rate
Fannie Mae at AAA. Thus, the system already has transparency, the ratings requirements ofthis section
would add little additional information to what is currently available. Strong incentives to communicate

information to the equity and bond markets about our risk profile and business prospects already exist.

Equity and bond investors spend a tremendous amount oftime and effort in analyzing and
understanding Fannie Mae's business. In addition, annual "risk to the government" ratings could

politicize the ratings process. At least one ofthe major rating agencies appears to concur. When asked
in 1996 to provide a hypothetical ratingfor Fannie Mae that would rate the "risk to the government,

"

Moody 5 declined to do so on the grounds that their ratings are designed to provide guidance to

investors and should not be the basisforpolicy action.

Section 132. Annua! Reports.

This section extends the reporting requirements of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac to the Federal Home
Loan Banks.

Section 133. Risk-Based Capital Test for Enterprises.

This section makes changes to the current statutory requirements for OFHEO to establish a risk-based

capital test for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. It grants authority to the Board to consider, in its sole

discretion, any appropriate methods of measuring credit risk and allows the Board to consider anything it

deems appropriate in establishing the risk-based capital test. The Board is given discretion to increase

the existing 30 percent add-on for management and operations risk.

Comments : This provision grants very broad and standardless authority to the Board in setting the

risk-based capital standardsfor Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. This provision thus overrides an already
complex statutory attempt to outline a stress testfor the two companies. OFHEO has received extensive

comment on the way it has interpreted the existing statutory provisions. Under this broad new
discretion, the Board could set any standard it wants, without any inputfrom the public. Giving an

entity "sole discretion" to determine complex economic scenarios is unprecedented. The current 30

percent management and operations add on is more than sufficient and is already in addition to the

amount ofcapital required under the stress test. The Board would have the ability to increase the capital

requirements ofFannie Mae and Freddie Mac on the basis ofthis provision beyond any standard that is

economically reasonable.

This provision is not extended to the Federal Home Loan Banks, raising the issue ofuneven and

discriminatory regulatory treatment. The Board will have to propose two different risk-based capital

regulations. The current capital approach proposed by the FHFB is dramatically differentfrom and less

stringent than the OFHEOproposal.

In addition, the provision as drafted does not make it clear whether the current OFHEO regulatory

process will goforward or the Board will startfrom scratch in devising a risk-based capital standard

for Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac— a process that has already taken 8 years.

Section 134. EfTective Date for Supervisory Actions.

This section allows the Board to take supervisory actions 6 months after the effective date of the
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risk-based capital regulations, rather than I year aflcr the efTective date.

SecdoD 135. AppointmcDt of Receivers.

This section authorizes the Board to appoint a receiver instead of a conservator Tor a GSE that is

critically undercapitalized. The Board is given complete discretion to adopt a regulation that will set the
standards that must be triggered for appointment of a receiver. The Board must notify Congress if it

appoints a receiver. This provision also gives the Board authority to establish regulations under which a
receiver may liquidate or "wind up" the affairs of the GSEs.

Comments: This provision reverses the decision ofCongress in 1992 that a troubled enterprise should
be placed in conservatorship untilfinancial problems are solved rather than granting a government
agency authority to liquidate and terminate the existence ofFannie Mae and Freddie Mac in

receivership. The Board is given limitless discretion to determine how the affairs ofthese companies
should be terminated. It is unclear whether this provision is sufficient to terminate the existence of
Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac — companies chartered by Congress. It may be that a specific Act of
Congress would be needed to terminate the companies.

Section 136. Repeal of Treasury Lines of Credit

The bill repeals the Treasury lines of credit for Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac ($2.25 billion each) and the

FHLBanks ($4 billion).

Comments: Testimony on this provision ofthe bill resulted in significant shifts in the agency debt

markets.

Section 137. Board Membership on FnEC.

The Board is made a member of the FFIEC.

Comments : This provision is inconsistent with the different regulatory schemesfor banks/thrifts and the

GSEs. It is unclear whether the Board's regulations would have to go through the FFIECprocess and
how the Board would participate in FFIEC decisions. Would the FFIEC have a role in regulation ofthe
GSEs? Similarly it is unclear whether the Board would have a role in determining the direction of
bank/thrifi regulation.

Section 138. Elimination of Super-Lien for Federal Home Loan Banks.

This provision eliminates the priority given a Federal Home Loan Bank's security interest in the assets of

a member financial institution that fails.

Section 139. Federal Home Loan Bank Finance Corporation.

The bill establishes a Finance Corporation for the Federal Home Loan Banks to issue and service the

debt obligations of the Banks. The Finance Corporation is a federally chartered instrumentality.

Section 140. CapiUl Treatment of Private Label MBS.

The bill contains a sense of the Congress resolution endorsing the proposed rules issued by the banking

regulators that would put the risk-based capital treatment for AAA private-label MBS on Uie same

footing with those of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac.

Comments : This extraordinary provision actually endorses a rule that is going through the OMB
processfor rulemakings in accordance with the APA. The basisfor this endorsement is unclear and

therefore vague.

Section 141. Study of Effects ofGSE Failure on Depository Institutions.

The FDIC, in consulUtion with the Federal Reserve, is required to study the existing exposure of

depository institutions to default or failure of each of the GSEs.

Comments : The bill requires FDIC and the Fed to study the effect on FDIC-insured institutions of a

failure by a GSE to meet its capital requirements or ifa GSE defaults on its obligations. Such a study

would have too narrow afocus.
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Good morning Chainnan Baker, Congressman Kanjorski and Members of the

Subcommittee. It is a pleasure to be here. I am Leland C. Brendsel, Chairman and Chief

Executive Officer of the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, known as Freddie

Mac.

I want to thank you for the opportunity to discuss Freddie Mac, our vital role in the

nation's mortgage finance system, our commitment to making the American dream of

decent, accessible housing a reality and our views on H.R. 3703, the "Housing Finance

Regulatory Improvement Act," introduced by Chairman Baker.

Since our beginning in 1970, Freddie Mac has purchased more than $2 trillion in

residential mortgages, financing homes for more than 25 million families. Because of the

high level of support provided by Freddie Mac and the secondar) market, America enjoys

the world's best housing finance system. Mortgage rates are lower, saving homeowners

thousands of dollars in interest payments. Low-downpa>n;ent loans are more readily

a\ ailable, enabling people to purchase their first homes. Families can count on the

availabilit> of mortgage credit whenever and where ever they need it.

In fact, our nation's mortgage finance system works so well that most Americans take for

granted a reliable supply of low-cost mortgage credit in communities across the nation,

e\er>' day.

This was not always the case. The development of America's mortgage finance system,

v^th Freddie Mac as a private company created to serve a public purpose, is a tremendous

Congressional success story.' This system ensures that America's future generations

continue to receive its many benefits.

' As the Senate Comminee on Banking, Housing and Urban Affairs observed in 1992: "Congress created

[Freddie Mac] under private ownership and management to bring the entrepreneurial skills of the private

sector to bear on the accomplishments of public purposes relating to housing." Senate Repon No. 282.

102nd Cong. 2nd Sess at 25 (1992).
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Freddie Mac appreciates your efforts to assess whether the regulatory structure

established in the Federal Housing Enterprises Financial Safety and Soundness Act of

1 992 (the 1 992 Act) is working effectively and efficiently to ensure that we are operating

safely and soundly and fulfilling our public mission. Freddie Mac shares Chairman

Baker's desire to ensure a strong, independent and effective safety and soundness

regulatory structure. However, we believe the proposed bill in its current form would not

accomplish this objective. America's housing fmance system works incredibly well, and

changes to it run the risk of reducing the availability and affordability of mortgage credit

for America's families and threatening the stability of the $5 trillion residential mortgage

market.

Freddie Mac brings significant benefits to the mortgage market, including: lower

mortgage costs: greater stability; increased innovation; and expanded housing

opportunities. We bring these benefits at no cost to the government.

Before commenting sjjecifically on H.R. 3703, 1 would like to provide an over\'iew of

Freddie Mac and our operations in the global capital markets, review the benefits we

bring to lenders and consumers, and dispel, once and for all, some m>lhs that have

emerged about Freddie Mac and how we meet our mission.

1. FREDDIE MAC'S OPERATIONS IN THE CAPITAL MARKETS

Freddie Mac was created by Congress in 1970 to establish and maintain a national

secondary market for conventional residential mortgages. In our charter. Congress

articulates four purposes for Freddie Mac:

• Provide stability in the secondary market for residential mortgages

• Respond appropriately to the private capital market

• Provide ongoing assistance to the secondary market for residential mortgages

(including mortgages on housing for low- and moderate-income families)

• Promote access to mortgage credit throughout the nation (including central cities,
'

rural areas, and other underserved areas)
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Congress further specified that Freddie Mac accomplish the latter two purposes by

increasing the liquidity of mortgage investments and improving the distribution of

investment capital available for residential mortgage financing.^

Freddie Mac fulfills these purposes every day by purchasing mortgages from our

nationwide network of lenders, overseeing the servicing of nine million loans, providing

tools to keep mortgage lenders at the forefront of a changing market, issuing debt and

mortgage-backed securities to meet investor needs, managing our retained mortgage

portfolio, and maintaining sufficient capital to meet existing and future market needs.

Through superb execution of these fiinctions, we bring stability and liquidity to the

housing finance system. This ensures that mortgages are continually available at lower

cost to an increasing number of America's families, of all incomes, in all neighborhoods.

Freddie Mac is a secondar)' market company. We do not make mortgage loans. Instead,

we pro\ide our benefits to the mortgage market and America's families by purchasing

loans originated b\ primar>' market lenders. We finance these loans in two ways:

securitization and debt.

Securitization Financing. Under this method of financing, we purchase mortgages and

package them into guaranteed mortgage passthrough securities, called Mortgage

Participation Certificates, or PCs. We sell these mortgage securities through security

dealers to investors in the capital markets.

Debt Financing. Under this method of financing, we purchase mortgages and mortgage-

related securities for our retained portfolio and finance them with a variety of debt

securities. We sell these debt securities through security dealers to investors in the capital

markets.

- 12U.S.C. § 1451.
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Freddie Mac's mission requires us to provide a continuous suppi) ofmortgage credit for

U.S. homebuyers in all economic environments. Freddie Mac flexibly employs both

mortgage security and debt fmancing on a daily basis to accomplish this. We pioneered

the development of the markets for mortgage-backed and debt securities that expand the

investor base for America's housing. By using both of these financing methods, Freddie

Mac assures mortgage lenders and America's families a stable supply of mortgage money

at the lowest rates the capital markets have to offer.

Debt, in particular, has enabled Freddie Mac to expand the investor base for America's

housing worldwide. A fixed payment schedule attracts international investors, bringing

greater stability and liquidity to the U.S. mortgage market and making housing more

affordable for the nation's families.

Freddie Mac's participation in the U.S. mortgage market and global securities market

ser\es to link America's homebuyers with the worid's capital markets. Fulfilling this

role requires Freddie Mac to meet the challenge of improving access to low-cost

mortgage financing while maintaining the financial strength that attracts capital to

housing.

Freddie Mac's business is financing the high-quality mortgages backed by the equity in

people's homes. Our mortgage risk management is second to none. Moreover, we hold

sufficient capital to withstand extreme changes in both interest rates and credit

conditions. As a result. Freddie Mac is among the strongest financial institutions.

II. KEY BENEFITS PROVIDED BY FREDDIE MAC

BENEFIT: Freddie Mac Lowers Mortgage Interest Rates for Borrowers

Freddie Mac and the secondary market lower mortgage rates and make housing more -

affordable. As the 1996 studies by the General Accounting Office, HUD, Treasury and

the Congressional Budget Office each concluded, interest rates on mortgages that Freddie

Mac can buy are lower than on other mortgages. An independent study commissioned by

the four governmental organizations found that conforming fixed-rate mortgage rates
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(i.e.. rates on mortgages of a size eligible for purchase by Freddie Mac, currently those up

to $252,700 for one-unit properties) are approximately 25 to 40 basis points, or more,

lower than rates on loans exceeding the conforming loan limit ^

You don't have to rely on these estimates, just look at the mortgage rates reported weekly

in The Wall Street Journal. On May 5, 2000, for example, rates on jumbo mortgages

were 30 basis points higher than rates on the mortgages Freddie Mac can buy.**

As a result of the lower mortgage rates Freddie Mac and the secondary market provide,

homeowners save approximately $12,000 in mortgage interest on a 30-year mortgage.

Collectively, every year America's homeowners save $15 billion in mortgage interest

payments.

Freddie Mac and the secondary market also ensure that mortgage credit is available at

virtually the same mortgage rates nationwide. Because we support a national market,

mortgage funds flow freely to communities across the country to meet the needs of the

nation's homebuyers.

B\ attracting investors for long-term securities worldwide. Freddie Mac makes fixed-rate

mortgages more available. As a result, when interest rates rise, mortgage borrowers are

protected from higher costs.

What might we expect if Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae were no longer looked to as pillars

of the housing finance system? One only need examine the segments of the U.S.

mortgage market we do not serve, the mortgage markets in other countries^ or the U.S.

^ Conennan. Robert F. and James E. Pcarce, "The Effects of the Federal National Mortgage Association

and the Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation on Conventional Fixed-Rate Mortgage Yields," in

Studies on Privatizing Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, ed. by U.S. Department of Housing and Urban

Development, 97- 1 68 ( 1 996).

* The Wall Street Journal, W14.

^ The most common mortgage: in the United Kingdom has a 20 percent downpayment and the interest-

rate adjusts ai the lender's discretion; in France requires a 30 to 40 percent downpayment on a fixed-rate
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market before Freddie Mac was created. Mortgage rates, dowTipayments and the use of

adjustable-rate mortgages would all be higher, which would increase the cost of housing

for America's families, reduce homeownership and put borrowers at greater risk of

foreclosure.

BENEFIT: Freddie Mac Brings Proven Stability to the Nation's Mortgage Markets

Freddie Mac and the secondary market provide a reliable flow of mortgage credit,

supporting the nation's housing finance system in good times and bad. Despite

extraordinar)' upheavals in the mortgage and real estate industries during the past decade,

America's families enjoyed an uninterrupted flow of mortgage credit.

• During the savings and loan crisis fi-om 1986 to 1989, when the nation's primary

source of mortgage credit was failing, Freddie Mac provided more than $300

billion to meet the credit needs of America's families.

• UTien commercial banks tightened lending standards in the early 1 990s as a resuh

of commercial real estate losses, the nation's small businesses experienced a

"credit crunch" but housing credit remained readily available. Freddie Mac

provided nearly $370 billion to finance housing during that period.

• When interest rates fell in 1993 and 1994, homeowTiers in record numbers wanted

to refinance their homes, and Freddie Mac provided more than $350 billion in

mortgage credit.

• During the fall of 1998. woridwide turmoil in the financial markets led to a

liquidity crunch in several domestic market sectors, including commercial and

subprime residential mortgages, as investors fled many investments and poured

funds into U.S. Treasury bonds. Because demand for Freddie Mac's debt

I

mortaage: and in Japan has a subsidized mortgage interest rate but requires a do\^npayment of 40 percent

or more. Ellen Roche, -'Loans Around the World," Secondary Mortgage Markets, April 1997.
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securities remained high, Freddie Mac was able to keep funds flowing into the

residential mortgage market.

Our ability to issue both mortgage-backed securities and debt to finance mortgage

purchases is essential to the smooth functioning and stability of the housing finance

system. A study by Capital Economics stated that our debt-funded purchases "stabilized

home loan rates during the credit crunch of 1998. For consumers in the home loan

market during the financial crisis of 1998, mortgage credit remained available and

afTordable."^

BENEFIT: Freddie Mac Pioneers Innovation in Housing Finance

Throughout our history, Freddie Mac has been a pioneer in inno\ation, exploring new

frontiers that create a faster, more efficient and less costly mortgage finance system. Our

innovation in financial instruments attracts more investors to finance America's housing,

which ensures mortgage money is available at lower cost for homebuyers. We also

inno\ate to streamline the mortgage process, which reduces the time and up-front costs of

getting a mortgage.

Following are examples of the many milestones in the development of the mortgage

market that can be traced to Freddie Mac.

• In 1971, Freddie Mac issued a passthrough security backed by conventional

mortgages, developing the market for securities that expand the investor base

for housing.

• In 1 973, Freddie Mac joined with Fannie Mae in standardizing mortgage loan

applications and single-family appraisal forms.

6 'An Economic Analysis of Freddie Mac's (and Fannie Mae's) Contribution to Liquidity in the

Residential Mortgage-Backed Securities Market During the Credit Crunch of 1998." Capiul Economics,

May 2000 (emphasis in original).
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• In 1 983, Freddie Mac issued the first multiclass mortgage security, the

forerunner to today's Real Estate Mortgage Investment Conduit (REMIC).

• In 1984, Freddie Mac facilitated the first paperless, computer-to-computer

delivery of mortgages to the secondary market.

• In 1 985, Freddie Mac's mortgage-backed securities began trading

electronically in the book-entry system rather than in paper form.

• In 1995, Freddie Mac introduced automated underwriting to the market with

Loan Prospector*.

• In 1 999, Freddie Mac introduced Loan Prospector on the Internet.

• In 1 999, Freddie Mac launched the first corporate debt financing calendar.

All of these innovations deliver benefits to America's families. Freddie Mac operates in

the U.S. mortgage markets and the global capital markets, and as the examples above

demonstrate, we have brought innovation to both.

The markets we have developed for mortgage-backed and debt securities have attracted a

global investor base to finance America's housing. This was not always the case. In

1970. residential mortgage debt outstanding totaled about $0.4 trillion, most of which

was held by thrifts. Now more than $5 trillion in mortgages and mortgage-backed

securities are held by a diverse investor base worldwide. The single- and multiclass

mortgage security markets we developed in the 1970s and 1980s significantly increased

uic share of mortgage debt held by pension funds, insurance companies and commercial

banks. More recently, Freddie Mac's innovations in the debt markets have attracted an

international investor base. This increases the global demand and liquidity of our

securities, which enables us to reduce costs for homebuyers and renters.

For 30 years, Freddie Mac also has lead the way in streamlining the mortgage process, •

reducing the time and cost to get a mortgage loan. Freddie Mac's automated
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undervNTiting senice. Loan Prospector, has ftindamentally transformed the way

mortgages are originated. With Loan Prospector. appro\ ing mortgages is easier and

faster, costs are lower and the application of objective underwriting criteria is more

consistent. Additionally, by more accurately measuring risk. Loan Prospector extends the

benefits of the mortgage finance system to more borrowers.

Freddie Mac uses technology, such as automated underwriting, to make the mortgage

finance system more objective and fair. We also take specific, additional steps to ensure

that our automated underwriting technologies and other recommended statistical tools are

used in a wa\ that promote access to credit and fairness in the mortgage process.

To further distribute the benefits of faster, more accurate approvals and lower costs

throughout the mortgage market, Freddie Mac introduced an Internet version of Loan

Prospector in July 1999. Loan Prospector on the Internet (LPI) is a web-based version of

Freddie Mac's automated underwriting service that delivers a Freddie Mac purchase

decision within minutes at the point of sale. LPI permits lenders to compete in the age of

electronic commerce by bringing the benefits of Loan Prospector to America's

homebuyers as quickly, easily and efficiently as possible.

Automated underwriting se^^'ices such as Loan Prospector can reduce origination costs by

up to $650. and when combined with other online efficiencies, the potential savings from

Internet-based automated underwriting services increase to $2,000. These services also

can shorten the time to loan closing and allow appro\al of loans for borrowers with less

traditional credit profiles and limited savings. Based upon U.S. Census Bureau estimates,

a reduction of $1 ,000 in origination costs could help an additional 11 6.000 renters afford

to become homeowners and a reduction of $2,000 in origination costs could make it

possible for an additional 3 1 4,000 renters to afford a home.''

^ "VC'ho Can Afford to Buy a House in 1995", by Howard Savage. U.S Census Bureau, Current Housing

Reports HI21/99-1. August 1999, Table 5-3.
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BENEFIT: Freddie Mac Expands Housing Opportunities

Freddie Mac serves families at all income levels, in all kinds of communities, in all parts

of the country. In fact, Freddie Mac's purchases closely mirror the activities of the

primar> market in terms of the share of business from central cities, suburbs and rural

areas, as well as by the distributions of borrower income and census tract income.

Freddie Mac takes great pride in these accomplishments. At the same time, we are

continuously improving our business activities to make homeowTiership attainable for

even more families.

In 1999 alone. Freddie Mac purchased nearly $241 billion of single-family and

multifamily mortgages, financing homes for 2.3 million families. ^
Nearly 1.3 million of

these mortgages, representing more than 55 percent of our total purchases, funded

housing for ver>-Iow-, low- or moderate-income families or families living in

underser\ed areas.

Single-Family Housing (One to Four Units). Freddie Mac purchased $233 billion in

single-family mortgages, financing homes for 2.1 million families. Our home-purchase

financing included 178,000 first-time homebuyers, who accounted for 25 percent of the

home purchase loans we bought in 1999. By financing approximately one in eight first-

time homebuyer mortgages originated last year, Freddie Mac played a significant role in

boosting the national homeownership rate to 67 percent. In addition. Freddie Mac's

purchases in 1 999 funded mortgages for more than 259,000 minority families.

Multifamily Housing (Five or More Units). Freddie Mac's multifamily mortgage

financing in 1999 totaled $7.6 billion, financing rental housing for 191,000 families, and

90 percent of these units were affordable to low- and moderate-income families. In

addition, with $244 million in investments in rental housing eligible for Low-Income
\

Housing Tax Credits in 1999, our total investments surpassed $1 billion.

^ These numbers refer to purchases eligible for reporting to HUD for affordable housing goals. Freddie

Macs total 1999 purchases were $272 billion. "We Open Doors to America's Housing,'" Freddie Mac's

Annual Affordable Housing Report for 1999, March 15, 2000.
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Freddie Mac Achieved Our Affordable Housing Goals in 1999. As a result of our

continued efforts to extend the reach of the mortgage market to low- and moderate-

income families and those living in underserved areas, combined with favorable

economic conditions, Freddie Mac met all three of the affordable housing goals

established by HUD in 1999:

• The low- and moderate-income housing goal for 1999 was 42 percent of the

total number of dwelling units fmanced by our mortgage purchases. During

1999, 46.4 percent of the units Freddie Mac fmanced were affordable to low-

and moderate-income families. These purchases totaled $80 billion and

fmanced housing for more than one million families.

• The underserved areas goal for 1999 was 24 percent of the total number of

dwelling units fmanced. During 1999. 27.6 percent of the units Freddie Mac

fmanced were located in underserved areas. These purchases totaled $51.8

billion and fmanced housing for 619,000 families.

• The special affordable housing goal for 1999 was 14 percent of the total

number of dwelling units fmanced. During 1999. 1 7.3 percent of the units

Freddie Mac fmanced were affordable to low-income families in low-income

areas or to very-low-income families. These purchases totaled $22.5 billion

and fmanced housing for 386,000 families. The multifamily housing target

within the special affordable goal was $988 million. In 1999, $2.3 billion of

Freddie Mac's purchases eligible for the special affordable goal were

multifamily mortgages.

Serving Minority Families. Freddie Mac is an active and creative force in reducing costs

and making mortgage money available for minority families. The benefits we bring to the

housing finance system are making homeownership a reality for those who previously

considered it out of reach. We are proud of our achievements in serving the diversity of

America's families. From 1996 through 1999, our mortgage purchases fmanced homes
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for 835,000 minorit>' families, including 200,000 African-American and 307,000

Hispanic families.'

More remains to be done. While homeownership rates for minority families have

increased to record levels during the past decade, overall homeownership rates for

African Americans, Hispanic Americans, and Native Americans remain well below those

for non-Hispanic whites. Freddie Mac is committed to increasing minority

homeownership rates across the country.

In achieving this objective, we use a multifaceted approach that includes working with

minority-owned lenders, creating targeted loan products, reaching out to minority-based

organizations and designing homebuyer education that enables families to achieve and

maintain good credit.

Our newest initiatives will help even more families achieve homeownership. Examples

of our recent initiatives include:

• Five-Year Alliance with the NAACP ~ In early 1 999, Freddie Mac and the

NAACP announced a new five-year alliance designed to increase minority

homeownership. As part of the initiative, Freddie Mac has committed to purchase

up to $500 million in mortgages originated by Bank of America and other

participating lenders.

' The share of Freddie Mac's purchases of loans serving minority families essentially mirrors the share of

loans serving minority families originated in the primary market, when appropriately measured. Freddie

Mac's performance in serving minority families is often evaluated using Home Mortgage Disclosure Act

(HMDA) data. These comparisons create a misleading and inaccurate impression about Freddie Mac's;

service to minority borrowers - particularly African-American and Hispanic borrowers - for a number of

reasons. First. HMDA dau include manufactured housing and subprime loans that are not generally

purchased by Freddie Mac, which have disproportionately high shares of African-American and Hispanic

borrowers. In addition. HMDA dau include low-downpayment loans without mortgage insurance, which

Freddie Mac generally caimot buy. It is simply not accurate to compare our purchases with data that

include these sectors of the primary market.
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• Consumer Credit Education: Freddie Mac has launched a homebuyer and

credit information initiative aimed at explaining the role that good credit plays in

obtaining the most affordable mortgages in the market. Our series of credit

education brochures, sponsored with each of these organizations
- the NAACP.

the Mortgage Bankers Association of America, the National Association of Real

Estate Brokers and the National Association of Realtors - helps consumers

understand the importance of good credit.

Freddie Mac has also announced a joint, multi-year, multi-million dollar

Consumer Credit Initiative with five of the nation" s Historically Black Colleges

and Universities (HBCUs) aimed at increasing minority homeownership rates by

helping consumers better understand credit and develop and maintain solid credit

records.

• Freddie MacAVall Street Project Minorit> Homeownership Initiative: In

April 2000, Freddie Mac and the Rainbow PUSH Coalition/Wall Street Project

entered into a joint campaign to increase homeownership among minority

families. Freddie Mac commined $1 million to help leverage the infrastructure of

the Wall Street Project's "One Thousand Churches Connected" economic literacy

effort to provide information about the benefits of homeownership and the

mechanics of the homebuying process, as well as about mortgage loan products

available as part of the initiative. As part of the campaign. Freddie Mac has

committed to purchase up to $1 billion in mortgage loans made to minority

families by Bank of America and minority-owned lenders over the next five years.

Freddie Mac's Steps to Combat Predatory Lending. Subprime loans are an important

option for borrowers with past credit problems, and not all subprime loans are predatory.

At the same time, there are clear examples of abusive lending practices in this market

segment. This is one reason Freddie Mac's participation in purchasing and sccuritizing

higher-risk mortgages has been gradual and deliberate. We want to take the time to be
;
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sure we promote responsible lending and enable families to build wealth through

homeov\'nership.

Based on our experience in the subprime market, Freddie Mac has taken vigorous steps to

address predatory practices, and to begin establishing standards that can be used across

the entire market.

• HOEPA Loans - Freddie Mac will not purchase high-rate or high-fee loans that are

covered by the Home Ownership and Equity Protection Act of 1 994 (HOEPA) and

current implementing regulations published by the Board of Governors of the Federal

Reserve System.
'^

• Single-Premium Credit Insurance - Freddie Mac will not purchase loans where

single-premium credit life, property, disability or unemployment insurance is

financed out of the loan proceeds.

• Credit Reporting
- Freddie Mac requires lenders we do business with to report

monthly borrower mortgage payments to all three major credit repositories so that

borrowers with good payment records can obtain lower-cost loans when their credit

improves.

• Good Business Practices - Freddie Mac monitors the practices of lenders we do

business with, and we have refused to do business with some of the largest lenders in

the subprime market segment due to concerns with their lending practices.

• Servicing Tools - Freddie Mac provides loan servicers with tools that enable them to

identify homeowners most at risk of foreclosure and work with them to reduce

foreclosures and to avoid late fees that can drain equity.

'0 12 C.F.R. §226.32(1999).
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Freddie Mac is also bringing benefits to the subprime segment of the market by providing

a wider range of mortgage products which make credit less costly and more sustainable

for borrowers. We are continually introducing innovative new loan products aimed at

giving borrowers with impaired credit greater mortgage product choices. Some of our

recent products and initiatives include:

• CreditWorks^"^ - This is a $100 million initiative in which we purchase a market rate

mortgage for borrowers who successfiilly participate in a debt management

counseling program with a nonprofit counseling service. These borrowers otherwise

would likely pay higher rates in the subprime market.

• Affordable MeritRate Mortgage^"
- Our new mortgage product for borrowers with

impaired credit in which the borrower's interest rate is reduced after two years of

timely pa\ ments.

• Lease-purchases
- Working together with state and local housing authorities, our

lease-purchase initiative allows borrowers to use rental payments toward purchase of

a home.

The steps we are taking to promote responsible lending and the new mortgage products

and initiatives we are bringing to the subprime segment of the conventional mortgage

market promise to bring standardization, increased competition, a broader variety of

mortgage products and lower costs. These actions protect borrowers who are \\ilnerable

to abusive lending practices. We have been commended for the steps we are taking by

legislators, consumer advocates and the mortgage industry." •

' ' "Freddie Macs announcement today puts the subprime lending industrs on notice that there is no

secondary market for predatory loans. By saying 'no' to loans with single-premium credit insurance, yes'

to timely payment reporting, and by monitoring lender practices, Freddie Mac will further help

homeowners build wealth for themselves and their families, and not unscrupulous lenders." Sutcment of

Rep. David E. Price; "I am pleased that Freddie Mac is taking these steps, which will help reduce abusive
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Freddie Mac opens doors to housing in many ways, and we are constantly seeking new

ways to bring the benefits of home fmancing to a broader array of America's families.

Freddie Mac Provides These Benefits at No Cost to the Government

Because Freddie Mac was established by Congress to harness the private sector to fulfill a

public purpose, Freddie Mac benefits America's homebuyers and renters at no cost to the

government. We receive no appropriated funds. We receive no federal loans. Our

securities are not guaranteed by the government. Indeed, Freddie Mac is one of the

countr> "s largest federal taxpayers. Freddie Mac has paid approximately $3 billion in

federal income taxes over the past five years.

III. SETTING THE RECORD STRAIGHT

In discussions about Freddie Mac, our role in the housing finance system and the

effectiveness of our regulatory structure, a number of m>ths about Freddie Mac have

emerged. 1 would like to take the opportunity today to set the record straight.

MYTH: Freddie Mac Is the Next Thrift Crisis Waiting to Happen

REALITY: Freddie Mac Is Among the Strongest Financial Institutions

Freddie Mac's assets are the high-quality mortgages backed by equity in people's homes.

The tools we have developed to manage both credit and interest-rate risk are second to

none. We pioneered the development of automated tools that enable us to accurately

and unfair home lending practices. Helping create an environment that discourages abusive practices that

strip wealth and equity from homeowners who can least afTord it will help strengthen neighborhoods

throughout our country." Statement of Sen. Paul Sarbanes, the Ranking Democrat on the Senate BankiQg,

Housing and Urban Affairs Committee, March 24, 2000; "The bottom line is that Freddie Mac is

committing to bring responsible lending to the most vulnerable homeowners in the mortgage market. I

especially commend Freddie Mac for its leadership stand on upfront credit insurance, one of the largest

causes of home foreclosure in America today." Statement of Martin Eakes. President and CEO of the Self-

Help Credit Union and national spokesperson for the Coalition for Responsible Lending, "Freddie Mac

Announces Steps to Protect Borrowers from Predatory Lending Practices." March 24, 2000.



283

assess credit risk and help families avoid foreclosures. By funding mortgages

nationwide, the geographic diversity of our mortgages mitigates the risk of local

economic downturns. We are further protected through the use of third-party credit

enhancements on a large share of our mortgage purchases. Freddie Mac's world class

interest-rate management encompasses funding mortgages with a variety of mortgage

securities, callable debt and other fmancial instruments that enable us to closely match the

maturities of our assets and liabilities.

Not only is Freddie Mac highly skilled at managing risk, we are extremely well

capitalized for the risks we take. Freddie Mac holds enough capital to withstand 1 years

of severe, adverse economic conditions - much like the Great Depression. This is similar

to the risk-based capital standard Congress established for Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae

in the 1992 Act. which OFHEO is in the process of finalizing.'-

In 1996. at OFHEO"s request Standard and Poor's Corporation (S&P) rated Freddie Mac

AA- on a stand-alone basis. Currently only six bank holding companies and no thrifts

ha\ e ratings this high.

The difference between Freddie Mac and the thrifts could not be more stark. Thrifts in

the 1980s were ftinding long-term mortgages with short-term deposits, and taking credit

risk they could not manage.

Even today, the thrift industry has nowhere near the capital strength of Freddie Mac.

Thrift capital requirements are based on a percentage of their assets. No matter how

much risk a thrift takes, its capital standard remains the same. By contrast, the risk-based

'- The 1992 Act requires Freddie Mac to meet a state-of-the-art risk-based capiul standard that requires us

to pass a stringent economic stress test. Under this test, Freddie Mac must hold sufficient capital to

withstand a 1 0-year period during which credit losses equal, on a nationwide basis, the worst actual two-

>ear regional experience. In addition, capital must be sufficient to survive interesi-rate fluctuations of up

to 600 basis points
-
greater interest-rate volatility than ever experienced by Freddie Mac in our 30-year

histors. Be\ond this, Freddie Mac must hold capital of an additional 30 percent above the stress test level

to absorb any possible management and operations risk.
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capital standard for Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae is dynamic and depends on how well

risk is managed.

In a 1999 study, thrift-industry expert IPS-Sendero applied OFHEO's capital standard for

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae to the thrift industr} and found that it could not survive for

five years of the 10-year stress test. TTie study concluded that the industry would need

"more than three times their current capital level" to meet this capital standard. '^

Recently, we asked former FDIC Chairman Bill Seidman to assess the relative stringency

of this capital standard. He concluded that "the risk based capital standard set forth in the

1992 GSE Act creates a very stringent capital standard, one that could be devastatingly

stringent if applied to most other financial institutions."''*

The fact is, if the thrifts had held as much capital relative to risk as Freddie Mac does,

there would never have been a thrift crisis.

Freddie Mac Has No Federal Guarantee: Thrift deposits are backed by the full faith and

credit of the federal government. Freddie Mac has no such guarantee. Our charter

explicitly states that Freddie Mac's securities are not guaranteed or otherwise backed by

the full faith and credit of the United States. Furthermore, the docimients offering every

security we issue clearly state that investments in Freddie Mac instruments are not in any

wa> backed by the government.

' 3 "Thrift lndustr>' Analysis: Implications of Risk-Based Capital Stress Test Requirements," IPS-Sendero.

August 19, 1999.

•^ L William Seidman, Jacqueline Pace and David S. Chung, "Analysis ofOFHEO Risk-Based Capital
•

Standard," Memorandum to Freddie Mac, March 29, 2000.
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MYTH: Freddie Mac Is Expanding Beyond the Charter

REALITY: All of our Activities Are Mission-Related

Over the past decade, Freddie Mac has played an integral part in reducing the time, cost

and complexit>' involved in getting a mortgage
-
changes that directly benefit consumers

and fulfill our public mission. As we consider the housing finance needs of the next

generation of borrowers, the drive to innovate will only intensify. The dynamic nature of

mortgage markets requires us to constantly improve the housing finance system to meet

lender and borrower needs.

Some participcints in the mortgage industry are threatened b>' these dramatic changes and

react by attempting to impede market innovation, claiming that our activities go beyond

our charter. What are we being criticized for?

• Using the latest technology to reduce the time and cost of getting a*mortgage

• Responding to lenders who want to sell mortgages over the Internet

• Improving practices in the subprime sector

Each of these are about making mortgages more affordable, making the mortgage process

easier for lenders and borrowers, and opening doors to homeownership. Each of these

provides direct benefits to consumers and falls squarely within our charter and our public

mission.

MYTH: Freddie Mac's Debt Is Growing Unnecessarily

REALITY: Our Debt Attracts Investors Worldwide to Finance America's Housing,

Reducing Costs and Keeping Mortgage Credit Available

Much has been made of comparisons of the size ofour debt with Treasury's. The truth is

both Treasury debt declining and Freddie Mac debt increasing reflect positive

developments for America's families. Mortgage debt has growTi in response to the
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increase in homeownership, and is backed by the safest form of collateral - the equity in

people's homes.

America now has a record 67 percent homeownership rate. More than 70 million

families own their own homes. As homeownership rates increase, so does the amount of

mortgage money needed to finance those homes. This is illustrated by the fact that

Freddie Mac's growth is consistent with the growth of the mortgage market.

Issuing debt is one of the tools we use to ensure the smooth functioning of the housing

finance s> stem and a key way we hold down the cost of financing homeownership.

Freddie Mac's mission requires us to provide a continuous supply of mortgage credit for

U.S. homebuyers in all economic environments. To accomplish this has required us to

accept this challenge: expand our investor base with financing that meets investors'

vary ing needs while also managing our risk. To this end. Freddie Mac developed a

combination of short-term debt, long-term callable and non-callable debt and other

financial instruments that enable us to manage the interest-rate risk of debt-funded

mortgages. By using both mortgage-backed securities and debt to finance our mortgage

purchases. Freddie Mac is able to provide a stable supply of low-cost mortgage money.

Debt, in particular, has enabled Freddie Mac to expand the in\estor base for America's

housing worldwide. International investors have little experience with long-term, fixed-

rate mortgages, which are largely unavailable outside the U.S. They prefer the certainty

of debt's fixed payment schedule. As a result, Freddie Mac's use of debt to fund

mongage purchases attracts additional investors and brings greater stability and liquidity

to the U.S. mortgage market, making housing more affordable for the nation's families.

In the fall of 1998, for example, international capital markets were in turmoil. In many

markets, credit was expensive and hard to get. Freddie Mac provided liquidity and

stability to the mortgage market by purchasing mortgage securities for our debt-funded

retained portfolio. As a result, there was no disruption to the mortgage market we serve.

This was confirmed by the Capital Economics report referred to earlier, which concluded



287

that Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae stabilized residential mortgage rates during the

international financial crisis of 1998 by providing liquidity to the secondary market for

conforming home loans.

MYTH: Freddie Mac Dominates the Mortgage Market

REALITY: The U.S. Mortgage Market Is Highly Competitive

The United States enjoys the best mortgage finance system in the world. Every single

day America's families are served by a system that works to make their housing dreams a

reality. The housing finance system works so well that its infrastructure is virtually

invisible to most consumers. Behind every mortgage is a highly comjjetitive, intricate

network that links together thousands of mortgage lenders, loan servicers, mortgage

insurers and secondary market entities.

A wide range of lenders compete daily to originate mortgage loans in the primary market.

Federal!) insured banks, savings and loan associations and credit unions and mortgage

bankers, finance companies and other financial services companies compete to attract

homeowners and homebuyers who want a mortgage loan. Private insurance companies

compete with federal agencies such as the Federal Housing Administration (FHA) and the

Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) to provide coverage for the risks attendant with

certain mortgage loans. Secondary market entities, such as Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae,

compete against each other as well as against Ginnie Mae. the Federal Home Loan Banks,

federally insured depository institutions and other financial service providers to fund

mortgage credit.

No single institution or group of institutions dominates the housing finance system.

Fierce competition and changing market conditions work to create a dynamic and fluid;

system where the relative roles of the different participants can—and do—change

dramatically from period to period.
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The constantly changing and intensely competitive mortgage market environment in

which Freddie Mac operates is reflected in dynamic changes in our market share. For

example, in 1990, Freddie Mac's purchase share of total conventional single-family

mortgage originations was 1 5 percent; this rose to 25 percent in 1 993 as millions of

homeowners refinanced their mortgages. By 1997, however, the refinance boom had

passed, and Freddie Mac's share fell back to 1 5 percent. It is hardly the case that we

dominate the market.

The truth is that because of Freddie Mac there is more competition in the industry than

ever before. Thousands of lenders in the mortgage banking industry are able to compete

to make mortgage loans to homebuyers because there is a secondary market able to fimd

those loans. The entry of new mortgage lenders using electronic commerce to expand

homeownership opportunities demonstrates that the mortgage industry is still highly

attractive and comjjetitive.

IV. COMMENTS ON H.R. 3703

Let me now turn to the specifics of H.R. 3703, the Housing Finance Regulatory

Impro\ ement Act, which would amend the regulator> framework Congress created for

Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae in 1992. As I stated at the outset ofmy testimony, Freddie

Mac shares Chairman Baker's desire for a strong, independent and effective safety and

soundness regulation for Freddie Mac. We believe, however, that the best means of

ensuring this outcome is to let OFHEO complete its risk-based capital regulation. We

have concluded that a number of the provisions in the bill would delay implementation of

risk-based capital, stifle innovation and increase costs for homebuyers and renters.

Proposal to Consolidate Regulatory Oversight
^

H.R. 3703 would reorganize the regulatory oversight of Freddie Mac and Farmie Mae,

creating a single regulator with both safety and soundness and mission oversight duties.

The bill also would confer on this same regulator responsibility for overseeing the
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Federal Home Loan Bank System. We have several concerns about whether this

consolidation proposal would enhance our regulator) structure.

First, this is not the right time to consider fundamental changes in regulator) oversight.

With respect to safety and soundness, the highest priority should be the implementation

of risk-based capital regulations. OFHEO is close to finalizing regulations that will be

the toughest, most sophisticated capital regulations in the financial services indusuy.

Congress should permit OFHEO to complete this work. H.R. 3703 could delay the

implementation of final risk-based capital regulations just as OFHEO is finalizing its

regulations. Moreover, implementation of a final risk-based capital rule will give Freddie

Mac clarity regarding the amount of capital that should be held relative to certain

business acti\ities.

Second, by combining regulator)' oversight of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. on the one

hand, and the Federal Home Loan Bank System, on the other, the bill would not achieve

the legislati\e intent of regulatory efficiency, effectively requiring the creation of two,

separate regulator)' regimes housed under one roof The Federal Home Loan Bank

system has entirely distinct statutory authorities and purposes; entirely distinct capital

standards and profiles; entirely distinct risk management profiles and capabilities; and

distinct approaches to the use and volume of non-mortgage investments. As a result,

consolidation would not provide the benefit of regulator)' efficiencies and could

compromise focus on Freddie Mac's and Fannie Mae"s safety and soundness.

Proposals Regarding Regulatory Controls on Business Activities

The bill also would rewrite the existing regulatory requirements relating to Freddie Mac's

business activities. These provisions depart significantly from the regulatory framework

established in 1992. The 1992 Act requires strong regulatory oversight yet ensures that

the regulator does not stifle innovation by needlessly intruding on Freddie Mac's

secondary market operations. Our ability to respond appropriately and effectively to •

rapid developments in the mortgage and capital markets is essential to our success in
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lowering the cost of mortgage credit for millions of families. Thus, Freddie Mac believes

that, so long as we are adequately capitalized and our business initiatives are statutorily

authorized and further our public purposes, regulatory intrusion in our business should be

limited.

Burdensome Review ofNew Activities . H.R. 3703 contains a provision that would

revise the process that Congress established in 1992 for regulatory review of new

mortgage purchase programs. Freddie Mac believes the existing process provides for

appropriate regulatory oversight while ensuring that unnecessary regulatory delay or

micromanagement will not prevent Freddie Mac from responding to the ongoing needs of

the mortgage and capital markets.

H.R. 3703 would create a burdensome regulatory oversight process that would impose

significant costs and delays on new activities. The provision is flawed in many respects.

Among other things, it would broaden the scope of review to encompass virtually every

activity and business process that we undertake. Moreover, Freddie Mac would be

obligated to await public comment and hearings before implementing any business plans.

The result would be the stifling of innovation in the mortgage marketplace and the

impeding of our ability to respond to the market. Last, this provision would be totally

inconsistent with the direction of other financial services legislation and regulation that

have sought to minimize unnecessary regulation and intrusion on business activities.

Unnecessary Regulation of Non-Mortgage Assets . H.R. 3703 also would require

promulgation of new regulations governing Freddie Mac's non-mortgage assets.

However, both of our oversight regulators already are authorized to act in this area and

already are exercising that authority. Every non-mortgage investment Freddie Mac

makes directly assists us in fulfilling our statutory purpose. These investments constitute

a small but essential part of how we meet our mission. They are highly liquid and high

quality. We hold these investments to manage the billions of dollars in cash flows we

handle every month and to provide a diverse source of liquidity to ensure that we can
 

purchase mortgages under a wide variety of financial conditions.
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Both HUD and OFHEO already possess the authority under current law to oversee our

investment activities effectively. HUD has required us to submit information on these

investments for purposes of conducting mission oversight. OFHEO examines our

investment activities as part of its safety and soundness oversight responsibilities and has

concluded that our activities are safe and sound. Because HUD and OFHEO are

appropriately exercising their existing authority in this area, additional regulation is not

necessary.

Proposal to Repeal the Treasury's Securities Purchase Authority

I'd like to address the recommendation to repeal the Treasur>"s authority to purchase

$2.25 billion of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae securities. This pro\ision would repeal a

critical component of the framework that Congress established to support

homeowTiership.

As you know, in March 2000, the Under Secretary of the Treasury testified in support of

repeal of this provision as "consistent with the Congressional requirement that all GSE

securities carry a disclaimer that they are not backed by the U.S. government.'"'
5 This

statement resulted in serious disruption in the mortgage-backed securities and debt

markets. These events demonstrate the importance of careful consideration of the

consequences of any real or perceived change in a well-established policy, since these

types of proposals can unintentionally damage the housing fmance system and increase

the cost of homeownership.

First, it is important to understand what the Treasury's authority is and is not. This

authority is often mistakenly referred to as a "line of credit." In fact, it merely authorizes

Treasury to purchase up to $2.25 billion of our obligations
-

solely at the Treasury's ^

option
- to provide liquidity to the mortgage markets. Treasury has never exercised this

authority. Given the rigor of our safety and soundness controls and the strength of our
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capital base, it is extremely unlikely that the Treasury ever would need to consider

exercising this discretionary purchase authority.

However, we believe Treasury's purchase authority has important value. An examination

of the legislative history shows that Congress, in adopting the provision, intended to

signify that homeownership is a national priority and that Freddie Mac's

accomplishments in providing low-cost mortgage money to the housing finance system

enjoys the support of Congress. Furthermore, the purchase authority is one component

of an intricate and longstanding framework that has allowed for the development of the

best mortgage finance system in the world. In repealing this provision. Congress runs the

risk of uprooting the overall framework and thereby increasing costs to homebuyers. We,

therefore, cannot support repeal of the Treasury's discretionary purchase authority.

Other Proposals

Financial Disclosure. Freddie Mac believes that our financial disclosures regarding the

risk of our business activities, including our management of interest-rate risks, are among

the most transparent in the financial services industry. Section 103 of H.R. 3703 would

authorize the regulator to issue regulations to make public information that it determines

would increase the efficiency of the secondary mortgage market. We find the new

financial disclosure requirements problematic and agree with Under Secretary Gensler,

who recognized in his testimony that this provision fails to recognize that some data are

proprietary and would not be appropriate for public disclosure. '^

Fundamentally, we do not believe that the sweeping regulations required by H.R. 3703

aic necessary because Freddie Mac already takes extraordinary- steps to ensure that

investors and market participants have all the information necessary to evaluate our

business practices and results. Freddie Mac publishes substantial and extensive

'5
Treasury Under Secretary Gary Gensler, House Banking Subcommittee on Capital Maricets, Securities

and Government Sponsored Enterprises, March 22, 2000.

'6 Ibid.
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information that is comparable to what would be required for an SEC-registered

company.

We recently retained PricewaterhouseCoopers to independently compare the

completeness and transparency of our risk management disclosures to a group of large

financial institutions whose financial disclosures are considered "best in class," or "best

practices." PricewaterhouseCoopers found Freddie Mac's periodic risk management

disclosures to be among the best of the disclosures made by this exemplary group.

Rating Agency Reviews . The bill also would require annual reviews and a credit rating

by two rating agencies that would be included in an annual report to Congress. We

support a role for rating agencies in the regulatory process, since they can provide

valuable supplementary information for the regulator to consider in their assessment of

the safety and soundness of an enterprise. In fact, the 1992 Act already allows OFHEO to

obtain these ratings. We do have some concerns, however, regarding whether it is

appropriate to make public the rating.

Thank you for the opportunity to appear today. Freddie Mac is a great Congressional

success story. We look forward to working with Chairman Baker, Representative

Kanjorski and Members of this Subcommittee to ensure that the Congress has confidence

that Freddie Mac is meeting our very important mission in a safe and sound manner. We

are commined to making the world's best housing finance system even better for future

generations of America's families.



294

MEMORANDUM

TO: Freddie Mac

FROM: L. William Seidman

Jacqueline Pace

David S. Chung

DATE: March 29, 2000

RE: Analysis ofOFHEO Risk-Based Capital Standard

You have asked us to answer the following questions:

1. Whether the risk-based capital standard set forth in the 1992 GSE Act is an

appropriate means of determining the capital adequacy of Freddie Mac and

Fannie Mae (the Enterprises).

2. Whether a simple ratio-based approach alone would be appropriate for

determining the capital adequacy of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae.

3. Whether the risk-based capital standard set forth in the 1992 GSE Act is more

stringent than any other regulatory capital standard that applies to a financial

institution.

In arriving at our opinion, we have reviewed the following:

A. The Federal Reserve Letter on Assessing Capital Adequacy in Relation to Risk

at Large Banking Organizations and Others with Complex Risk Profiles

(hereinafter "The Fed Letter").

B. The revised Uniform Financial Institutions Rating System (UFIRS) or

CAMELS rating system that was issued recently by the Task Force on

Supervision of the Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council

(hereinafter "Revised CAMELS Rating System").

C. The Basle Accord's impact on Capital Requirements and Bank Behavior.

D. "Thrift Industry Analysis," the Sendero Corporation ( 1 996).
'

Based on this review, it is our opinion that:

See also Edward L. Golding and Carol A. Wambeke, A Timely Look at Financial Soundness Measures, Secondary

Mortgage Markets, pp. 28-34 (July 1998).



295

The OFHEO risk based capital standard that relies on a 10-ycar stress test to

determine capital requirements is an appropriate means of determining capital

adequacy.

A simple ratio-based ^proach would NOT be appropriate for determining the

capital adequacy of Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae. Simple ratios depend only on
size and do not take into account how well risk is managed. Specifically, ratios are

a rough and unsophisticated method of providing capital to absorb risk losses.

The risk based capital standard set forth in the 1992 GSE Act creates a very

stringent capital standard, one that could be devastatingly stringent if applied to

most other financial institutions.

The following analysis supfrarts our view.

QUESTION 1 : AN ADEQUATE CAPITAL STANDARD

The following sources support the proposition that a stress test designed to indicate required

capital levels is considered the most appropriate means of assessing the Enterprises' stability.

Moreover, they support the proposition that utilization of stress tests is considered the "best

practice" around the world.

A. THE FED LETTER:

Recently the Federal Reserve issued a financial institution supervision letter (The Fed

Letter) emphasizing the growing need for banking organizations to take greater efforts to assure

that their capital adequacy is not only adequate to meet formal regulatory standards, but is also fully

sufficient to support their underlying risk positions.

The Fed Letter suggests the following in regards to maintaining capital adequacy: identify

and measure all material risk, relate capital to the level of risk and state explicit capital adequacy

goals with respect to risk. To fiirther each of these goals, the Federal Reserve suggests the use of a

stress test and implementation of underlying principles similar to those expressed by OFHEO's

proposed rule.

In order to deal with unquantifiable risks, the Federal Reserve suggests the use of more

subjective, qualitative techniques. As for appropriately relating capital to the level of risk, the

Federal Reserve suggests that the amount of capital held should reflect not only the measured

amount of risk, but also an adequate "cushion" above that amount to take account of potential

uncertainties in risk measurement. Specifically, the banking organization's capital should reflect

the perceived level of precision in the risk measure used, the potential volatility of exposures, and

the relative importance to the institution of the activities producing the risk. Capital levels should

also reflect that historical correlations among exposures can rapidly change.

Many of these suggestions have been implemented by the risk-based capital standard
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created by the 1992 Act. Specifically, the OFHEO stress test simulates how Freddie Mac and

Fannie Mae would fare under severe economic conditions. Unlike a capital requirement based on a

simple ratio of assets, OFHEO's stress test standard requires more capital for holding riskier assets,

or more capital for failing to hedge them.

By using computer models to simulate Enterprise cash flows associated with mortgages and

other financial assets and obligations under 10 years worth of severe economic conditions,

OFHEO's stress test is equipped to keep problems under control as they crop up. The modeling of

incoming and outgoing cash fiows captures the risks embedded in those financial assets and

obligations and the benefits of the hedges each Enterprise has set in place. Adhering to the Fed

Letter's suggestions concerning the need for "customization," the OFHEO risk-based cq)ital

standard finds the worst mortgage default experience in any region in history, and jqjplies it to the

whole coimtry. Within a year, rates are assumed to move up by 75% and remain. On top of these

severe credit and interest rate shocks. Congress adds 30% more capital requirement. This

additional capital corresponds to the "cushion," termed by the Fed Letter as an excellent means of

covering other potential risks for large banking organizations (LCBOs).

According to Federal Reserve Chairman Alan Greenspan, "even among the largest banks,

no two institutions have exactly the same risk profiles, risk controls, or organizational and

management structure . . . accordingly, prudential policies need to be customized for each

institution."

The OFHEO risk-based capital standard correctly allows for flexibility and does not

prescribe any particular approach to capital compliance.^ The standard directly captures the bottom

line risk exposure of the Enterprises and takes into account aill of their risk taking and risk

management activities so that an Enterprise can meet the requirements by reducing risk, raising

capital, or a combination of the two. The standard also takes into fiill account credit risk arising

fix)m securitization and other secondary market credit activities, including credit derivatives.'

Because previous capital standards treated most loans alike, institutions in the past,

especially banks, had perverse incentives to reduce their regulatory capital requirements by

securitizing or otherwise selling lower-risk assets, while increasing the average level of remaining
credit risk through devices like first-loss positions and contingent exposure. To counter this

incentive, it is important, therefore, that the Enterprises have the ability to assess their remaining
risks and hold appropriate levels of capital and allowances for credit losses. These institutions,

which are at the fi-ontier of fmancial innovation, should also be at the fi'ontier of risk measurement

and internal «^ital allocation.

The OFHEO risk-based capital standard correctly recognizes operational risk and the wake

of recent, highly visible breakdowns in internal controls and corporate governance by

^ The stress test approach can be flexible enough to address innovation. It can capture the risk of new products

when they are introduced, and just as importantly, capture the reduction in risk from effective use of new fmancial

instruments. This type of flexibility is critical to keeping the stress test from becoming obsolete.

Maintaining detailed and comprehensive credit risk measures is most necessary at institutions that conduct asset

securitization programs, due to the potential of these activities to greatly change
- and reduce tnuisparency of - the

risk profile of credit portfolios.
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internationally active institutions. Although operational risk does not easily lend itself to

quantitative measurement, it can have substantial costs to banking organizations through error,

fraud, or other performance problems. The great dependence of banking organizations on

information technology systems highlights only one aspect of the growing need to identify and

control this risk.

The OFHEO standard is consistent with the guidance for capital requirements set forth in

the Fed Letter and will allow the Enterprises to demonstrate that their capital levels and

composition are adequate to support the risks they face. The test takes appropriate account of the

possibility that adverse events may have disproportionate effects on overall capital levels. Further,

the test incorporates all of the principal credit and interest rate risks of the Enterprises and their

interactions to produce a summary measure of risk. At the same time, the standard need not

interfere with the Enterprise's choices about what activities to engage in or how to hedge their risks.

They are free to pursue very different individual strategies. What the standard does is simply

require that each Enterprise hold capital proportional to its overall risks which is the essence of the

Fed Letter proposal.

THE REVISED CAMELS RATING SYSTEM -

On December 20, 1996, the FDIC Board of Directors adopted the Federal Financial

Institutions Examination Council's (FFIEC) updated statement of policy entitled "Uniform

Financial Institutions Rating System" (UFIRS). The updated UFIRS which replaced the 1979

statement of policy, provides a usefiil background in considering the soundness of the proposed

regulation.

The UFIRS is an internal rating system used by federal and state regulators for assessing the

soundness of financial institutions on a uniform basis and for identifying those institutions requiring

special supervisory attention. Under the UFIRS, each financial institution is assigned a composite

rating based on an evaluation and rating of five essential components of an institution's fmancial

condition and operations. The five component areas were Capital adequacy. Asset qu£ility.

Management, Earnings, and Liquidity (CAMEL).

The CAMEL rating system was updated to become CAMELS by adding a sixth component
called "Sensitivity to Market Risk" to emphasize risk assessment and the risk profile of the

institution. By taking into account economic developments that may cause fiiture problems, the

CAMELS rating system, much like OFHEO' s proposed rule, bridges the gap between the

individual institution and the economic environment in which it operates.

For example, under the capital adequacy component'' of the CAMELS rating system, a

fmancial institution is expected to maintain capital commensurate with the nature and extent of

risks to the institution and the ability of management to identify, measure, monitor, and control

these risks. The similarities between the CAMELS standard and the OFHEO risk-based capital

standard continue as both assess the effect of credit, market, and other risks on the institution's

fmancial condition when evaluating the adequacy of capital. Both recognized that the types and
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quantity of risk inherent in an institution's activities will determine the extent to which it may be

necessary to maintain coital above the required regulatory minimum ratios to properly reflect the

potentially adverse consequences that these risks may have on the institution's capital. Moreover,
the addition of the "S" provides for sensitivity in evaluating the capital adequacy of the fmancial

institution.

QUESTION 2: RATIO STANDARDS

Although a system of simple ratios is a better alternative than no system at all, ratios are no

longer adequate in either the secondary mortgage market or the overall banking industry. The

following sources support the widely adopted contention that ratios need to be supplemented by
more sophisticated tools to set capital standards in today's complex market.

THE FED LETTER -

Institutions can no longer rely on risk-based capital ratios as indicators of capital strength.

The Federal Reserve has concluded that simple ratios - including risk based capital ratios - and

traditional rules of thumb no longer suffice in assessing the overall capital adequacy of many
banking organizations. This is so because ratios often encourage efforts to restructure transactions

simply to receive a lower regulatory capital treatment even though the risk has not changed. Hence,
even high capital ratios are often not indicative of overall capital adequacy, especially for

institutions engaging in securitization of high quality assets and other capital arbitrage techniques.

As discussed in the first section of this paper a one size fits all regulatory scheme (i.e.,

ratios) cannot protect the financial system as it is untenable in a worid in which banks vary

dramatically in terms of size, business mix and appetite for risk. The Fed Letter realizes that in

order to remain competitive, individual banks and supervisory policies and practices must evolve

and adapt over time. Accordingly, rather than adopting a ratio based scheme, prudential policies

should be customized for each institution.

THE BASLE COMMITTEE -

In the past 20 years, a wide range of countries have introduced formalized capital

requirements. Initially, this development was spearheaded by the adoption of minimum capital

requirements in select countries. However, with the introduction of the Basle Accord in 1988,
common minimum coital requirements were adopted by the G-10. Today, the Accord has been

implemented by approximately 100 countries worldwide.

The Basle Committee had two main objectives behind the adoption of a single standard for

internationally active G-10 banks. First, the Committee believed that the framework would help to

strengthen the soundness and stability of the international banking system by encouraging
international banking organizations to boost their capital positions. Second, the Committee
believed that a standard approach ^qjplied to internationally active banks in different countries

would reduce competitive inequities. Importantly, the framework established a structure that was
intended to:
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1) Make reguJatory capital more sensitive to differences in risk

profiles among banking organizations;

2) Take off-balance sheet exposures explicitly into account in

assessing capital adequacy; and

3) Lower the disincentives to holding liquid, low risk assets.

It is now eleven years since an agreement was reached on the Basle Accord and it is

therefore important to consider whether the policy achieved the desired objectives. The Basle

Committee asked the Research Task Force to set up a Working Party on Bank Capital and Behavior

to assess the empirical evidence on the impact of the 1988 Accord before working on amending the

Accord was started.

Two main issues were considered by the Working Party. First, whether the adoption of

fixed minimum capital requirements led some banks to maintain higher capital ratios than would

otherwise have been tlie case and whether any increase in ratios was achieved by increasing capital

or reducing lending. Second, whether the fixed capital requirements have in fact been successfiil in

limiting risk taking by the banks relative to coital as intended, or whether banks have been able to

take actions to reduce their effectiveness either by shifting to riskier assets within the same

weighting band or through coital arbitrage. The Woilcing Party also considered whether the

introduction of fixed minimum capital requirements had unintended side effects, apiat from

encouraging capital arbitrage activity.

The Working Party found that in some periods, banks were constrained by the capital

requirements from increasing lending or may have to reduce lending, thereby causing a credit

crunch and affecting the real economy. Further, it found that the introduction of capital

requirements for banks may have reduced their competitiveness in relation to other forms of

intermediation.

The overall message from the empirical literature and the data is that, the introduction of

formal minimum capital requirements across the G- 10 e^)pears to have induced relatively weakly

capitalized institutions to maintain higher capital ratios. Although it is good to know they have

assisted in stability, the ratios were set arbitrarily without any real researched support. I can attest

to this fact as I personally participated in setting these standards. Consequently, over time the

banks have learnt how to exploit the broad-brush nature of the requirements
- in particular the

limited relationship between actual risk and the regulatory capital charge.

Adapting to today's maricets, in June 1999, the Basle Committee on Banking Supervision

decided to introduce a new coital adequacy framewoii( to replace the 1988 Accord. T^is new

capital frameworii consists of three pillars: minimum coital requirements, a supervisory review

process, and effective use of market discipline. With regard to miiumum capital requirements, the

Committee recognized that a modified version of the existing Accord should remain the

"standardized" ^>proach, but that for some sophisticated banks use of internal credit ratingsand, at

a later stage, portfolio models could contribute to a more accurate assessment of a bank's capital

requirement in relation to its particular risk profile. It was also proposed that the Accord's scope of
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application be extended, so that it fully captures the risks in a banking group.

In constructing a revised coital framework, the importance of minimum regulatory capital

requirements continues to be recognized. This is the first pillar of the framework. The Committee is

now stressing the importance of the supervisory review of an institution's capital adequacy and
internal assessment process as the second pillar. This requires the use of sensitivity stress testing
created by the banks. The third pillar, which the Committee has underiined in recent years, is the

need for greater market discipline. Maricet discipline is of course real time. The Committee
believes that, taken together, these three elements are the essential pillars of an effective capital
framework.

When the Accord was first established, it was primarily concerned with minimum capital

standards to cover credit risk. Insofar as these capital charges covered other types of risk, these

were effectively assumed to be proportional to credit risk. Like OFHEO's proposed rule, the

Committee now proposes to develop an explicit capital charge for other risks (such as operational

risk), and interest rate risk in the banking book for banks where interest rate risks are significantly

above average ("outliers"). Such a fi-amework would formally take account of a wider range of

actual and potential exposures.

Looking to the fiiture, the Committee believes that the Accord must be responsive to

fmancial innovation and developments in risk management practices. The Committee's longer-term
aim is to develop a flexible framework that reflects more accurately the risks to which banks are

exposed. Again, ratios alone are no longer adequate.

QUESTIONS: STRINGENCY

In my view, OFHEO's risk-based capital standard creates a very stringent capital standard

for the Enterprises. While the fixll specifications of the stress test are yet to be finalized, the

OFHEO capital standard would likely be devastatingly stringent if applied to most other fmancial

institutions.

Institutions can no longer rely on risk-based capital ratios as indicators of capital strength.

As the Fed Letter concluded, simple ratios - including risk-based capital ratios - and traditional

rules of thumb no longer suffice in assessing the overall capital adequacy of many banking

organizations. Ratios often encourage efforts to restructure transactions simply to receive a

lower regulatory capital treatment even though the risk has not changed, so even high capital

ratios are often not indicative of overall capital adequacy.

Significantly, ratio-based capital standards fail to take interest-rate risk into account. An
institution with insufficient capital to support a very large unhedged interest-rate risk position
could still meet ratio-based capital standards. In contrast, under the OFHEO risk-based capital

standard, an Enterprise with a comparable level of unhedged interest-rate risk would need far

higher capital levels to meet regulatory requirements.

This point is illustrated in a study by the Sendero Corporation. As the request of Freddie

Mac, the Sendero Corporation applied OFHEO's risk-based capital standard to the thrift industry
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as if it were a single entity. That study demonstrated that such a thrift would not survive the 10-

year stress period, even starting with more than 9 percent capital. While this would not

necessarily be true of all individual thrifts, the study demonstrates the stress test stringency.

The Basle market risk rule does take interest- rate risk into account, but it applies only to

an institution's trading book, and it takes into account only two-week movements in interest

rates. While the rule then multiplies the results by a factor of three to four to calculate the capital

requirement, the result is similar to basing the capital requirement on the amount of capital

necessary to withstand a 1 0-year interest-rate shock greater than an>lhing ever experienced, and

then adds 30 percent. Therefore, if the market risk rule were applied to Freddie Mac's or Fannie

Mae's portfolio, the resulting capital requirement for interest-rate risk would likely be less than

the amount of capital determined under the OFHEO risk-based capital standard.

CONCLUSION

The risk-based capital standard addresses safety and soundness by providing an early

warning signal of potential future problems as it can expose hidden weaknesses in a system that

seems perfectly healthy and sound under normal conditions. The standard also provides the

Enterprises with broad flexibility to choose how to meet the capital standard as the rule does not

prescribe capital levels, risk levels, or risk management techniques. Because the standard

incorporates the same types of risk considerations already used by the Enterprises, it need not

distort business decisions the way simple leverage ratios can. Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae are free

to choose how many and what loans to purchase or guarantee, what securities to buy, and how to

fund their investment portfolios. The OFHEO risk-based capital standard effectively implements

recommendations made by the world's leading regulatory bodies.

In today's environment, the most cost effective approach to prudential oversight will have

the regulatory agency tap into an institution's internal risk assessments and management
information systems. As internal systems improve, the basic thrust of the examination process

should shift from largely duplicating many activities already concluded within the bank to

providing constructive feedback that the bank can use to enhance the quality of its risk management

systems.

Indeed, it should be emphasized that the focus of supervision and regulation
-
especially for

the larger institutions - should be less on detail and more on the overall structure and operations of

risk-management systems. That is the most efficient way to address our interest in both the safety

and soundness of the secondary mortgage market and the overall stability of fmancial markets.

In particular, we believe that OFHEO should avoid mechanical or formulaic approaches

that, whether intentionally or not, effectively "lock" the Enterprises into particular technologies

long after they become outmoded. We should be planning for the long pull, not developing near-

term quick fixes. In sum, it is the frameworic that we must get right.
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Executive Summary

Last April, the Office of Federal Enterprise Oversight (OFHEO) proposed a risk-

based capital stress test to apply to Freddie Mac and to Fannie Mae. At the

request of Freddie Mac, we applied the proposed stress test to the thrift industry

using aggregate thrift industry data as of June 30, 1 997.

Our analysis indicates that the thrift industry would need to triple its capital levels

to meet the proposed risk-based capital requirement. The thrift industry fully

depletes its capital base of $67 billion just AVz years into the 1 0-year test. By the

end of the 10-year test, the thrift industry would have deficits of approximately
$173.5 billion. The resulting capital requirement (including OFHEO's 30 percent
add-on for management and operations risk) is approximately $204 billion, or 27

percent, more than three times their current capital level of the industry.

Since the levels of non-derivative counter-party credit risk "haircuts" specified in

the proposal have been questioned by both Enterprises, we also modified the

proposed stress test to reduce the "haircuts" by 75 percent, and applied the

modified test to the thrift industry. Under this modified scenario, the thrift

industry ran out of capital in the fifth year. The resulting capital requirement,

including the management and operations risk add-on, was approximately $157
billion or 21 percent.

Project Overview

Freddie Mac asked IPS-Sendero to simulate the thrift industry's financial

performance and capital adequacy when subjected to OFHEO's proposed risk-

based capital stress test. Thrift industry assets are substantially the same as

those of l=reddie Mac and Fannie Mae (at the end of the second quarter 1 997,

1 1 74 reporting thrift institutions showed total assets of $752 billion, with more
than 80 percent of those assets relating to mortgage loans or mortgage-backed

securities). Therefore, we were able easily to apply OFHEO's risk-based capital

proposal to the thrift industry.^

The risk-based capital requirement Is based on the up- or down-rate scenario,

depending on which would result in the higher risk-based capital requirement.
Credit losses for the two stress scenarios were defined from rates obtained by
Freddie Mac from OFHEO. Non-mortgage credit risk was based on the non-

derivative counterparty credit risk "haircuts'.

'
It may be appropriate for thrifts to have a higher nominal capital requirement than Freddie Mac or Fannie

Mae since individual institutions tend to lend within concentrated regions. That lack of geographic

diversification creates greater exposure to changes in regional economies. Any resulting risk to taxpayers,

however, is lessened by the existence of the Savings Association Insurance Fund ("SAIF*). At the end of

March 1999, the SAIF had a fund balance of approximately $9.9 billion. Losses on insured deposits from

individual thrift failures would have to exhaust the SAIFs funds before taiq>ayen would be at risk.
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The analysis used aggregate thrift industry data as reported on the June 30,
1997 Office of Thrift Supervision Industry Aggregate Report, Schedule CMR
(OFHEO applied the proposal to Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae as of the same
date). The analysis also applied other operating statistics obtained from thrift

peer groups of IPS-Sendero clients.

The June 30, 1997 profile of thrift industry holdings was subjected to an interest

rate stress test for both rising and falling rate scenarios. According to the

statute, the up-rate stress test was defined as the 10-year Treasury rate rising
from 6.49 percent initially to 1 1 .44 percent over the first year. This rate (1 1 .44

percent) then remained constant throughout the subsequent nine years. The
down-rate stress has the 10-year Treasury falling to 3.27% over the same time

horizon.

Income simulations were performed using mortgage credit loss and prepayment
experience assumptions based on rates provided by OFHEO. Loss rates for

non-mortgage assets were based on the "haircuts" described for counterparty
credit risk in the proposal. Levels of non-interest income and expense were held

constant as a percentage of assets at levels existing at June 30, 1997.

Our analysis includes an additional 50 basis point cost of funds increase for the

beginning balance yield, as provided for in the proposal. This mirrors the

required increase that Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac are to assume as depicted

by the 12 CFR Part 1750 risk based capital rule.

Stress Test Model Assumptions

A number of environmental and operating assumptions are required to make the

stress test operational. Aside from the movement of interest rates and schedule
for credit loss experience supplied, the proposed regulation requires no

recognition of new business or investment be made for the stress test period.

Accordingly, balances of interest bearing assets and liabilities were allowed to

"runoff for the two stress test scenarios.
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Key Environmental Assumptions



306

Stress Test Model Results

The appendix of this analysis depicts the simulation results for the two stress test

scenarios. In the up-rate stress, the interest rate risk resulting from funding long-

term assets with short-term deposits leads to net losses in the first year. Losses

amounting to $4.27 billion were recorded in the first year of the simulation. By
the end of the 53rd month of the 120 month simulation time horizon, the thrift

industry has used all of its initial capital and is in a "deficit" equity position.

Assuming continued access to short temn funding sources, the balance sheet at

the end of the ten years shows a capital deficit of almost $173.5 billion. Included

in this capital calculation were prior period tax loss carry back credits of

approximately $7.6 billion for the first 3 years of the simulation.

The capital deficit at the end of this stress scenario is about $173.5 billion. After

inclusion of the 30 percent add-on for management and operations risk, the risk-

based capital requirement is 27 percent of initial assets. This capital requirement

is more than a threefold increase over capital held by the thrift industry at the

start of the stress scenario. An injection of about $137 billion in additional equity

at the start of the stress test would enable the thrift industry to maintain positive

capital for ten years in this scenario.

In the same up-rate scenario, with "haircuts" reduced by 75 percent, the thrift

industry has a capital deficit of about $104 billion at the end of the stress period.

Including the management and operations risk add-on, this risk-based capital

requirement is about 21 percent of assets.

The down stress test model yields different results. The same short-temn

funding mode that exposes the thrift industry to rising rate movement proves

beneficial in a down-rate stress scenario. Though the thrift industry still loses

more than $17 billion over ten years, initial capital is adequate to absorb these

losses. Our projections show that the industry would require total capital of $17
billion to survive the down-rate test. The associated $22.1 billion risk-based

capital requirement is dwarfed by levels generated in the up-rate stress test.

Since the risk-based standard is based on the rate scenario that produces the

highest need for risk-based capital, further attention of the down-rate stress test

was unwarranted.

$ in Millions
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Conclusion

Based on the results generated by the IPS-Sendero income simulation model,

the thrift industry would have to substantially increase its current capital levels to

comply with the proposed risk-based capital standards. Our estimates show that

the thrift Industry would need to increase its June 30, 1997, capital base by more

than $137 billion (including the 30 percent management and operations risk add-

on). This would equate to boosting the thrift industry's capital base over 305

percent to meet the risk-based capital requirement.
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ABC Bancorp
"Matured instrument has

Time Deposits

a Cun-ent Balance greater than zero"

Date: 8/18/99

Count: 25

Account Number
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Introduction

Good morning, Chairman Baker, Congressman Kanjorski and Members of the

Subcommittee, my name is Curt Hage and my bank. Home Federal Savings

Bank of Sioux Falls, South Dakota is one of over 7,400 owners of the Federal

Home Loan Bank (FHLBank) system. We have been members of the

FHLBank of Des Moines since its founding in 1932, and I am here today to tell

you that partnership with the FHLBank of Des Moines is very important to our

bank's success. Moreover, our success is important to the communities, small

and large, that we serve in South Dakota

For disclosure purposes, I should mention that I wear several hats. I am a

member of the Board of Directors of the FHLBank of Des Moines; the 2nd Vice

Chair of America's Community Bankers; and serve as Chair of the Council of

Federal Home Loan Banks (the Council). I am here today on behalf of the

Council.

Mr. Chairman and Congressman Kanjorski, I would like to take this opportunity

to publicly thank you both for the extraordinary effort you have put forth over the

years to enact legislation to modernize the FHLBank system. Your leadership

and efforts came to fruition with the passage of the Federal Home Loan Bank

System Modernization Act of 1999 (the Modernization Act), which was Title VI of

the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act. The changes resulting from that legislation are

significant in many ways.

First, the legislation decentralized management of the FHLBanks, delegating it

to the Boards of Directors of each respective FHLBank. Local governance

decisions are most effectively and most timely made at the local Board of

Director level.
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Second, "leveling the playing field" of membership status was an important

change. Permitting voluntary membership for all members guarantees that all

members can access the FHLBank system on equal terms.

Third, the addition of small business loans, small farm and agri-business

loans as eligible collateral enables smaller community financial institutions,

those with assets below $500 million, to access funding from their FHLBank.

This new funding source is critical to communities throughout the country, but

no more so than in the Des Moines district where this category applies to over

95% of the FHLBank's membership (over 1,000 small bank and thrift

members.) As more and more deposits to flow out of the banking system,

sources of funding for loans become increasingly difficult. This negatively

impacts credit availability. Without that dependable source of low-cost funds,

financial institutions, like Home Federal, cannot make residential housing,

community development and small business loans. And without those loans,

communities around the country will begin to atrophy.

Finally, thanks to this legislation, the capital structure of the FHLBank system is

being revised for the first time in 68 years. This is an extremely important and

dramatic revision for the FHLBanks and their membership. If carefully crafted

with coordination and support from the FHLBanks members, it can improve an

already strong system. On the other hand, if done without member input and

coordination, it could trigger unintended negative consequences.

Again, Mr. Chairman, we want to emphasize how constructive you were In the

legislative process over the last several years and know that your intentions

with H.R. 3703 are constructive as well.
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General Overview of Federal Home Loan Bank System

There are three key points I'd like to make here today. The first is that the

FHLBanks are unique. The FHLBank system is a child of the depression,

created in 1932. It was designed to partner with local financial institutions that

were starved for liquidity and unable to lend. The FHLBanks' liquidity mandate

is no less important today than it was 70 years ago.

The FHLBanks are fully capitalized by their members, not the government . It is

upon this private equity base that the system has raised the funds that allow for

$400 billion in advances to fund housing and community lending, $200 million

in affordable housing grants throughout the country and $400 million in

Resolution Funding Corporation bond payments. And those are just the

numbers expected for this year.

The FHLBanks are growing because their members' needs are growing. In

1990 there were just over 3,000 mutual funds in the country with assets of

slightly over $1 trillion. Today there are over 7,500 mutual funds and their

assets exceed $7 trillion. A great deal of that growth came from what used to

be deposits in local banks. Yet, in spite of this massive deposit drain, banks

and thrifts continue to flourish and provide credit to their communities, due In

no small part to the role that the FHLBanks play in providing a dependable, low

cost source of funds.

This brings me to my second key point of the day: The FHLBanks fill this

funding need in a very safe and sound manner. We are subject to annual

safety and soundness exams. We have, by regulation and practice, an

extremely low tolerance for credit and interest rate risk. Furthermore, the

FHLBanks are managed to be stable resources for their members at all points
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during a business cycle and that serves as a powerful incentive to avoid

significant risk taking.

Finally, the third point I want to make today is that the biggest job facing the

FHLBank system is the daunting task of capital restructuring. It is in the context

of that challenge that I'd like to discuss H.R. 3703.

Issues Raised by H.R. 3703

Regulatory Structure

As an owner of the FHLBank of Des Moines, and as someone who

experienced S&L crisis of the late 1980s, I want to emphasize that the most

important responsibility of the regulator of the FHLBanks is to ensure safety

and soundness of the system. This is especially true as the FHLBank system

implements the significant changes mandated by the Modernization Act.

Obviously, determining compliance is also an Important regulatory function but

it should extend only to ensuring that the congressional intent is met.

The sweeping capital changes of the Modernization Act require all FHLBanks to

prepare to implement a new capital structure. These capital requirements will

not only Impact the FHLBanks' balance sheets, but also effect the stock

purchase requirement for each member financial institution. Many complex

issues and decisions need to be made and broadly understood to create a

sound new permanent capital structure. In the new capital structure where

members will take on new risks (including credit risk and what is likely to be a

different risk based capital requirement) they will need to receive an adequate

return to compensate them for increased risks. The FHLBanks will need to

generate sufficient earnings to compensate members for holding permanent

capital.
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Recently, the Federal Housing Finance Board (FHFB) approved a new

proposed rule defining "core mission activities" that could additionally impact

the make-up of the FHLBanks' balance sheet. The Council is concerned that

the proposal may limit the FHLBanks' ability to generate sufficient earnings in

all economic cycles. The Council believes that any mission asset regulation

needs to consider the effect of investment limitations and provide the

FHLBanks with sufficient flexibility so that they can invest in asset classes,

such as mortgage backed securities (MBS) where necessary to generate a

sufficient return to their members. If we can ensure a sufficient return we can

assure a strong capital base for the system.

Super Lien Authority

Although one of the key skills of the FHLBanks is handling financial risk, we

tend to face very little credit risk in the course of our day-to-day business. In fact

the system has never experienced a credit loss. There are at least two

reasons for this. All FHLBank advances are fully collateralized. In addition, the

FHLBanks have certain statutory lien protections for any collateral a member

pledges. H.R. 3703 proposes removing this authority in Section 138. In our

view, that removal is problematic and serves no purpose.

Current law requires the FHLBanks to secure their loans with specified

collateral. Rather than identifying, assigning or perfecting that collateral (a

costly and time-consuming process), well-capitalized community banks and

other portfolio lenders may use a blanket lien to cover their entire portfolio of

eligible collateral. This is practical, efficient and holds down the cost of

advances and the administrative burdens for both the membership and the

FHLBank. Furthermore, in the event of a loss by a financial institution, the

super lien (like a perfected lien) would have first claim on the failed bank's

assets. Removing the super lien would not, as some purport, place the

Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) in a better position in the event



329

of a bank failure. Without the super lien the FHLBanks would perfect their

security interests and thus have a first claim on the assets. Thus, eliminating

the super lien would not change the FDIC's position at all.

Finally, removing this authority from the FHLBanks would be a huge burden on

our members. Now they can readily access their line of credit from the

FHLBanks and in a matter of minutes secure the funding they need to transact

their business. If this authority were removed, and the FHLBanks and their

membership have to go through the process of perfecting liens on specific

collateral, the process could take days.

We see no benefit to this provision and we strongly oppose it.

Treasury Line-of-Credit

As we have recently seen, comments by senior Treasury officials stating that

Treasury's line of credit to GSEs is merely symbolic spooked the capital

markets and raised the cost of bonds for FHLBanks and others. That line of

credit, however symbolic, gives the FHLBanks better access to low cost funds

which, in turn, provides our 7,400 members with better advance rates. And our

members, in turn, provide their customers with lower costs of credit. Our line of

credit must be handled cautiously to prevent dramatic increases in the cost of

funds, particularly for institutions like ours that are chartered to meet affordable

housing and community development needs.

New Activities

Currently, when a FHLBank wants to undertake a new program, the FHLBank

must generally follow the steps outlined in Section 110. We are, however,

concerned that the public comment period currently described in the legislation

would hinder the advancement of new products or activities. The fact is that as
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a cooperative owned by its members, no FHLBank would attempt to market a

product that is not supported by bank membership. In fact, the Council recently

signed and sent a joint letter with the American Bankers Association, the

America's Community Bankers and the Independent Community Bankers of

America to the FHFB, which incorporated a statement that we believe is the

proper guideline for the FHLBanks. It said the FHLBanks should:

"Only develop, approve, or implement activities or programs, consistent

with the system's user-cooperative structure, that do not use their GSE

advantage to unfairly compete directly or indirectly with the system's

shareholders or subsume the roles of the shareholders;"

Limitations of Non-mission Related Assets

We are opposed to arbitrary limitations to the FHLBanks' ability to manage its

balance sheet in both good economic times and bad. The FHLBanks' credit

loss-free record is due in great part to the management of the FHLBanks and

the flexibility they have had to manage their balance sheets in difficult times.

For example, the FHFB currently limits our purchase of MBS to three times

capital. We believe that limitation Is an overly restrictive limitation and,

consequently, we are definitely opposed to anything more restrictive. MBS are

readily tradable commodities that our members use daily, are very low-risk and

are ideal investments in which to invest surplus FHLBanks funds, as provided

for in statute. The housing finance market is a cyclical business, which means

our advances business is also cyclical. MBS has been critical to the FHLBanks

in managing that cyclicality.

Summary

In summary, Mr. Chairman, Congressman Kanjorski, although the FHLBanks -

unique among the GSEs - face a tremendous challenge this year to create and
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implement a new capital stnjcture, we are prepared for the task. But to

succeed they need to remain safe, sound and undiverted from the job at hand.

We ask for your support in allowing us to maintain this focus. We have

attached comments on specific sections of the bill to this testimony that further

illuminate our thoughts on H.R. 3703. I would be happy to answer any

questions you many have.
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An Analysis of Key Sections in H.R. 3703, the

'Housing Finance Regulatory Improvement Act of 2000"

Purpose: This Act is to consolidate regulation of the three housing-related

government-sponsored enterprises, Fannie Mae, Freddie Mac and the Federal Home
Loan Banks (FHLBanks), under a newly created agency (the Housing Finance

Oversight Board) that would replace OFHEO (which currently regulates Fannie Mae
and Freddie Mac) and the Federal Housing Finance Board. The new Board also

would succeed to HUD's current regulatory responsibility vis-a-vis mission

achievement by Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac. The purpose for introducing the bill is

the view that combining safety and soundness regulation and mission achievement

regulation over the three housing GSEs under a single regulator would lead to more
effective and efficient regulation.

Impact to FHLBanks: The Act makes a number of significant changes that would

impact the FHLBanks beyond simply having a new regulator. Among these are:

• Elimination of FHLBanks existing super lien protection

• Repeal of Treasury's back-up lines of credit

• New approval requirements for any new business activities

• New threshold for a FHLBank's placement in receivership

• New regulatory limits on non-mission-related assets

• Equal treatment of private label mortgage-backed securities (MBS)

A section-by-section review of the sections of the Act most important to the

FHLBanks follows:

Section 101. This section would establish the new Oversight Board with five full-time

members. Its composition includes the Secretaries of HUD and Treasury (or their

designees, provided such designees are appointed by the President with the consent

of the Senate) plus three U. S. citizens (with appropriate financial or regulatory

experience) appointed by the President. No more than three Board members can

come from the same political party. Board members' terms are six years (or as long
as the Secretary or the Secretary's designee remains in that position); initial terms of

the three appointed members are staggered.

Comment: While Congress has the responsibility to set up the regulatory framework
for the GSEs, we believe the proposed makeup of this Board is not the best structure

for promoting unbiased and strong safety and soundness regulation. Consistent with

the purpose of the Act, the primary focus of any new regulator should be safety and
soundness of the GSEs. The regulatory role in regard to mission should be ensuring
that any specific goals established for a GSE by statute should be met. While the
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Council does not take a position on whether a single regulator for all three housing-
related GSEs could fulfill this role better than the current two regulators, the Council
does feel strongly that any effective regulator must be as non-political and unbiased
as practicably possible.

Sections 102 through 115 (except for Sections 103, 106, 110 and 111). These
sections enumerate the duties and authorities of the new Board, how it would
succeed to the personnel, resources and assessment powers of the Finance Board,
OFHEO and HUD (in certain areas) and how the Board should enforce its new duties

via regulations. While many of the enumerated duties and authorities are consistent

with those of existing regulators, there are areas of concern, as noted below.

Sections 103 and 106. These sections would impose additional public disclosure

requirements regarding financial, business and related information, as well as

regulatory orders and agreements, on the FHLBanks, Fannie and Freddie.

Comment: While the Council supports legitimate disclosure requirements, the

Council is concerned about the extent to which any new requirements would generate
additional costs and burdens for the FHLBanks with little additional public benefits. In

this regard, requiring the regulator to do some type of cost/benefit assessment before

imposing additional disclosure requirements seems appropriate.

Sections 110. SectionllO would require prior Board approval before any "new

activity" can be conducted by any of the three GSEs.

Comment."

It is also vitally important that new activities be developed in close

coordination with their FHLBank members to ensure member participation, which is

vital to success of any new activity. In the context of the FHLBanks, which are

cooperatives that serve their member-stockholders, it is important regarding new
business activities that the needs of and impact on FHLBank members of any new
business activity be fully considered. This is something that needs to be done by the

FHLBanks themselves at the regional and local levels; a regulator isolated inside the

Washington beltway cannot effectively accomplish this. Accordingly, the Council

believes the Act should clarify the role of the regulator in this area. Its role should be

limited to reviewing proposed new activities and asset composition from a safety and

soundness standpoint as well as the statutory parameters set out by Congress in

order to determine that the new business activity is consistent with the charter

established for the GSE by Congress. In addition, any regulatory review process must

be expeditious and effective insofar as the GSEs are concerned.
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Section 111. This section would require the Board, by regulation, to limit the non
mission-related assets held by any of the GSEs. The Act would give the Board wide
latitude in deciding what "new activities" would require approval and how to define

"nonmission-related assets."

Comment: This section needs to be revised. By giving the Board broad powers to

detennine how 'nonmission-related assets" can be defined and what nonmission-
related assets limits should be imposed, the Act could easily deprive a GSE of the

ability to effectively manage its balance sheet in all business cycles. As previously

rrated, the Council fully supports the regulator's role in ensuring any 'new activities,"

as well as "mission" and "nonmission" related assets of a GSE are conducted

consistently with safety and soundness. However, it is Congress' role to define tfie

mission parameters. In the case of the FHLBanks, which as lenders to their

members serve as liquidity providers, it seems dear that MBS are consistent with

their congressionally defined purpose of providing support for housing and ensuring
an adequate central system of liquidity for community financial institutions that finance

housing. MBS are a readily tradable commodity that our memt)ers use daily that offer

a very low-risk investment. Our activity in this market helps to provkle market

stabilization and is an ideal investment, as provkJed for in statute, for the FHLBanks to

invest surplus funds. The housing finance market is a cyclical business, which

means our advances business is also cyclical. MBS has been crucial in managing
that cydk^ality.

Section 135. This section provides for the appointment of a qualified receiver by tfie

Board for Fannie or Freddie, if the GSE shouM become "critically undercapitalized"
arKJ for any FHLB that foils to meet its capital requirements.

Comment: The threshoM for a Home Loan Bank to go into receivership is

significantly k>w (i.e. foil one capital requirement). The threshoM should be the

ifKJustry accepted standard for finandai institutions (i.e. FOICIA standards) rather than

this low artifidal standard.

Section 136. This wouki repeal and remove the kxig-sfonding lines of credit

extended from the U. S. Treasury to each of the three GSEs.

Comment The Council t)elieve8 this repeal wouk) be unwise and counterproductive,
since it wouW lead to higher costs for GSE funding and correspondingly higher costs

for housing. These l>ack-up fines of credit have rarely, if ever, t)een used and provkie a

flenble and convenient vehKie for the Treasury to provkie support to a GSE in the

unfikely event that such action is required. The existence of a strong and contmuous
framework of safety and soundness regulation for ttie GSEs provkles appropriate

protection against the need to use ttiese back-up lines of credit.
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Section 138. This section would remove the FHLBanks' super-lien status vis-^-vis

the FDIC and other creditors of depository institutions with respect to assets pledged
to secure advances.

Comment: The provision is unacceptable since it would effectively eliminate the

FHLBanks' ability to use a "blanket lien" to secure advances and, consequently,
cause significant unneeded regulatory costs and burdens for many borrowing
members. This would be particularly difficult for smaller members who rely on the

"blanket lien" to liquefy their entire non-conforming residential mortgage loan

portfolios. In addition, both the FHLBanks' super-lien and perfected lien have the first

claim on assets in the event of a bank's liquidation or failure. Consequently, repeal of

the super-lien authority would not place the FDIC in a better position when a bank
Allure occurs, since the FHLBanks would protect their priorify claim against their

collateral by holding a perfected security interest in the failed bank's assets. As a

perfected secured creditor the FHLBank's claim would still have priority over the FDIC.

Eliminating the super lien would merely raise the cost of credit that meml)er financial

institutions provide to their communities not put the FDIC in a better position.

Section 140. This provision expresses Congressional preference for the proposed

regulatory rules issued by the Federal Resen/e, FDIC, OCC and OTS that give AAA-
rated private label MBS the same risk-based capital treatment as agency MBS.

Comment: The provision is cleariy a positive step in reinforcing the need for and

correctness of equalizing capital treatment for securities that carry the same level of

credit risk.

Sections 161 to 204. These are the remaining sections of the bill, which contain

technical provisions and conforming amendments to existing law. They deal with

abolishment of OFHEO and the Finance Board (since the Oversight Board replaces

them), transfer of OFHEO and Finance Board employees and property to the Oversight

Board and the effective date of the new Act, which is 270 days after its enactment.

Comment: The Council is concerned that the mere existence of these provisions,

without providing some certainty for employment, could cause instability in the

regulatory agencies personnel which cleariy would not t>e a goal of the legislation.

Consequently, clarification of the status of affected personnel in the Act itself would

seem desirable.
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Covemmcnl Relations

(202) 434-««00

1 101 Pennsylvinia Avenue. N.W.
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Wishington. DC 20004

May 15.2000

The Honorable Ed Royce
U.S. House of Representatives
1 133 Longworth House Office Building

i;^,;^^^^^ Washington, DC. 205 1 5

Dear Congressman Royce:

Thank you for taking the time and effort to acquaint yourselfwith Freddie Mac's

agreement to provide our automated underwriting technologies (Loan Prospector) and

other support to HomeAdvisor Technologies, Inc. I wanted to follow up our meeting
with some additional information and clarify some misperceptions that have been

reported in the press about our involvement in HomeAdvisor Technologies, Inc.

As we discussed, HomeAdvisor Technologies, Inc. is a new company that Microsoft is

creating with the support of a range of mortgage industry leaders. Our relationship with

HomeAdvisor is aimed at providing mortgage lenders using HomeAdvisor's services with

a host of tools to promote access to mortgage credit. Through our relationship, we are

once again leading the industry in innovative solutions, lowering costs for consumers and

promoting the ability of our lending customers to obtain internet lending capabilities that

they will control and operate in their own names.

Innovation is a halhnark of competition in the private sector. Throughout our history,

Freddie Mac has been a pioneer in innovation, exploring new frontiers that hold the

promise of creating a faster, more efficient and less costly mortgage fmance system for

consumers throughout the Nation. Along the way, Freddie Mac has taken steps to

improve every aspect of the mortgage finance system and to reduce the cost of

homeownership.

Our relationship with HomeAdvisor is just the type of pathbreaking innovation that

promises extraordinary benefits to homebuying families. Our statutory purposes require
us to promote access to mortgage credit throughout the nation. We believe that we can

save families up to two thousand dollars per loan on closing costs ifwe streamline the

processing of mortgages using internet technologies. This is the type of breakthrough
that can usher an entire generation of families through the doors of homeownership.

Our agreement with HomeAdvisor also promises to benefit our lending customers.

Freddie Mac believes that HomeAdvisor will level the playing field by helping all lenders

capture the benefits of Internet mortgage channels by reaching new and existing
customers. This is especially true for smaller lending institutions, credit unions and other
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lenders who lack the coital and expertise to build their own internet-based lending

systems, and, once HomeAdvisor Technologies, Inc. is up and running, will be able to

obtain Internet lending capabilities from HomeAdvisor.

Providing our secondary market tools for use with internet technologies does not change

the purpose or effect of Freddie Mac's role in the world of mortgage finance: In this

arrangement, as in all of our activities, we continue to do what we have done for the past

30 years
- serve as a reliable partner to mortgage lenders of all kinds. We have neither

the intention nor the authority to originate mortgage loans, nor to engage in direct

mortgage transactions with consumers. Freddie Mac, like all mortgage market

participants, must respond ^propriately to the changes the Internet is bring to the

mortgage marketplace. This "next generation" of technology, designed for Freddie Mac

seller/servicers who wish to make mortgage loans on line, does not constitute an

expansion of our activities, it simply delivers them in another way.

Unfortunately, media and other accounts purporting to describe Freddie Mac's

relationship with HomeAdvisor create a misleading impression both of our purposes for

entering the arrangement and the nature of the arrangement. Let me correct some of these

misperceptions. First, HomeAdvisor Technologies will neither fimd nor close mortgage

loans. Mortgages made through these Internet operations will be approved, fiinded and

sold to Freddie Mac only by a mortgage lender that is an approved Freddie Mac

Seller/Servicer. Neither HomeAdvisor itself nor Microsoft is entering the lending

business.

Second, Freddie Mac will not be the only purchaser of closed mortgages sourced through

HomeAdvisor. A number of secondary market investors are likely to participate in this

business, providing opportunities for lending institutions to fund loans for their own

portfolios or to partner with secondary market investors or both. Of course, we hope that

lenders vn\l partner with us, but that is a matter of lender choice and not of business

design.

Finally, let me address the concerns regarding our financial interest in HomeAdvisor

Technologies. Our agreement calls for Freddie Mac to provide HomeAdvisor with certain

mortgage underwriting and valuation technologies and related services for redistribution

to mortgage lenders that subscribe to HomeAdvisor' s products and services. This is an

arms-length agreement under >^ch Freddie Mac is being compensated for providing our

technologies. You should be assured, however, that Freddie Mac does not have an equity

investment in HomeAdvisor. In fact, the agreement expressly prohibits Freddie Mac

fi?om ever owning voting securities or any other type of equity security in HomeAdvisor.

As part of this agreement, Freddie Mac is also purchasing subordinated debt of

HomeAdvisor, vvliich Home Advisor has an unconditional obligation to repay. Because it

is a startup, we have agreed to accept interest on this debt from HomeAdvisor in the form
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of warrants. But these warrants will be restricted: Freddie Mac will never be permitted

to exercise the warrants to own stock; instead, we may realize the value associated with

the warrants only by selling the warrants to third parties.

This type of financing - subordinated debt with interest in the form of warrants - is

clearly not an equity investment, even under the federal banking laws. That is, a national

bank, ^lich is expressly prohibited fix>m making equity investments, is permitted to

make loans in wliich interest is paid in the form of warrants, so long as the bank has no

authority to exercise such warrants. 12 C.F.R. § 7.1006.

We believe that this relationship with HomeAdvisor - a company >^ose purpose will be

to promote the efiBciency ofthe residential mortgage market ~ is well within our charter

powers. Indeed, our collaborative agreement with HomeAdvisor Technologies is aimed

at promoting increased access to low-cost mortgage credit nationwide. This and similar

iimovations that will bring the speed and accuracy of on-line systems to lenders and

consumers has the potential to save a family thousands of dollars in buying a home.

Ultimately, consumers will benefit fix>m lower origination costs and a faster, more

efficient mortgage process.

Again, I thank you for your interest in our collaboration with HomeAdvisor Technologies

Inc. and am luq)py to discuss any further questions you may have.

Sincerely,

MitcheU Delk

Senior Vice President—Government Relations
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FEDERAL HOME LOAN BANK OF CHICAGO

TO THE
SUBCOMMITTEE ON CAPITAL MARKETS, SECURITIES AND

GOVERNMENT SPONSORED ENTERPRISES

OF THE
COMMITTEE ON BANKING AND FINANCIAL SERVICES

OF THE
U.S. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES

REGARDING
H.R. 3703

THE HOUSING FINANCE REGULATORY IMPROVEMENT ACT OF 2000

MAY 16, 2000

The Federal Home Loan Bank of Chicago sincerely £^)preciates Chairman Baker's

invitation to present our written testimony on H.R. 3703 and related issues.

We agree with the goal of improving the regulatory structure of the three housing GSEs,
but wish to suggest that enhancing competition should be the guiding principle.

As many members of the subcommittee are aware, the Chicago Home Loan Bank has for

years advocated the view that the best way for Congress to insure that GSE charter advantages
are passed through to local mortgage lending and homeownership, is to encourage competition

among the three housing GSEs. Our positions on this bill and any legislative proposal affecting

the Federal Home Loan Bank System reflect this perspective. We believe the market forces of

competition and innovation are the best disciplines for all enterprises, including GSEs. We also

recognize that, due to their special advantages, the only viable competitor for a GSE is another

GSE.

The Mortgage Partnership Finance® Program, which was developed by the Chicago Home
Loan Bank and in which ten of the twelve Home Loan Banks currently participate, is putting
these concepts into practice. MPF* adds much-needed competition to the secondary mortgage
market to benefit our local financial institution members and their homebuying customers. The
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innovative risk sharing struchire of the MPF Program also disperses the credit risk ofmortgages

among the hundreds of participating lenders, rather than concentrating them in the GSEs.

We believe the proper purpose of H.R. 3703 would be to create a level regulatory
environment for the three housing GSEs, in order to promote competition among the GSEs and

increase the benefits to community lenders and homebuyers. As the co-sponsors recognize, the

current structiu^e of three Federal agencies regulating various aspects of three GSEs is redundant

and leads to disparate regulations, capital requirements and regulatory burdens. We propose

giving housing GSEs a conunon set of regulatory principles along with a consistent regulatory
structure. This will benefit the American mortgage system and the participants in the housing
fmance process.

With these principles in mind, we recommend any housing GSE legislation include the

following key provisions.

1. Definition ofMission

In our judgment. Congress should not delegate the definition of the mission of a GSE to a

regulatory body, which we believe would put far too much discretion into the hands of unelected

officials. Thus a common mission statement is needed in the bill. This statement, in our

opinion, should be: "The mission of the three housing GSEs is to promote sound, economical

and readily available home mortgage finance throughout America by creating wholesale, capital

market-based financing opportunities for mortgage lenders."

2. Statement of Intent to Promote Competition

We also recommend that the bill include a statement declaring the intention of the

Congress to promote competition by treating all three housing GSEs as equally as practicable for

regulatory and supervisory purposes. While the goal should be to create a level playing field for

GSEs, the structure of H.R. 3703 appears to contradict this by treating Fannie Mae and Freddie

Mac one way, then treating the Federal Home Loan Banks in a different way, in most of the

provisions. The identical language should apply to the greatest extent practicable to all three

GSEs and the regulatory agency should be directed to have its actions reflect this principle.

3. Role of the Regulatory Agency

H.R. 3703 gives the "chief executive officer" (we would recommend a normal title of

"director" or "chairman") of the newly created regulatory agency broad, undefined discretionary

powers. The fiinction of any regulator, including a GSE regulator, should be clearly limited and

defined, in this case, to regulate safety and soundness of three GSEs and approve new programs
consistent with their mission as defined by Congress.
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4. Leverage and Risk-Based Capital Ratios

Today, Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have a competitive advantage because of their lower

capital requirements, which do however more closely reflect true economic risks of mortgages
than FHLB or depository institution capital standards do. The FHLB Modernization Act,

enacted last fall as part of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act, establishes a leverage floor of4% for

the Home Loan Banks while Farmie Mae and Freddie Mac are allowed a 2.5% capital to assets

ratio. A level regulatory field should include the same required leverage capital ratios for all

three GSEs.

The different regulatory treatment for Freddie Mac and Fannie Mae, on the one hand, and

for the Home Loan Banks on the other, contained in H.R. 3703 is also problematic in risk-based

capital requirements. Different risk-based capital requirements structurally advantage one or the

other GSE competitor. We recommend that the risk-based capital requirements for the GSEs be

based on the same economically correct risk-based factors, so that among all three GSEs,

equivalent risks give rise to the same risk-based capital requirements.

To have one regulator applying two different risk-based capital standards to the same risk

would certainly be an anomalous situation and seems to us inconsistent with the basic concept of

the bill.

5. Permanent Capital

During the consideration of the Gramm-Leach-Bliley Act last year, the Chicago Home
Loan Bank consistently proposed giving the FHLBs the authority to create non-redeemable,

permanent capital. True permanent capital is particularly appropriate now that all membership in

the FHLB System is voluntary. The Chicago Home Loan Bank continues to believe that

permanent capital and equal capital standards should apply to all three GSEs.

6. Innovation

The three housing GSEs should be encouraged to create innovative programs, consistent

with their high credit quality, which profitably serve their housing finance missions. Currently,

Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac have such innovation authority in statute, while the FHLBs do not.

We suggest that the ability to innovate in H.R. 3703 be identical for all three GSEs.

7. Director Appointments

Currently, all three housing GSEs have appointed directors on the boards. The President of

the United States chooses the appointed directors in the case of Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac,
while the Federal Housing Finance Board chooses the appointed directors for the Federal Home
Loan Banks. A single regulator for all three GSEs should clearly not be appointing directors to
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one of its three regulated entities, as would be a result ofthe bill. The provisions for appointed
directors ofthe three GSEs need to be consistent.

8. Tax Status

Currently, Fannie Mac and Freddie Mac are subject to federal corporate income taxes. The
Home Loan Banks do not pay federal income taxes, but instead pay the Resolution Funding
Corporation (REFCorp) obligation and statutorily mandated Affordable Housing Program
contributions, which result in a de facto high rate of taxation. We recommend that the bill make
the REFCorp obligation and the mandated AHP expenses tax credits, while applying federal

corporate income taxes to the FHLBs. This would make FHLB taxation equivalent to the other

housing GSEs.

Thank you for the opportunity to present our written testimony. We would be happy to

provide any information or additional comments which would be helpful to the subcommittee.

o
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